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About us

We are an award-winning UK specialist bank, providing savings
accounts and lending services to over a million customers.

In 2022 the Group celebrated 70 years of helping consumers
and businesses fulfil their ambitions.

Our approachable teams are based at our Solihull headquarters
and offices in Cardiff, London, Manchester and Reading. We are
making good progress towards our vision to be the most trusted
specialist lender in the UK.

Our vision Our strengths
To be the most trusted specialist Spedialist
lender in the UK
Expert
Our purpose Diverse
To help more consumers and Ambitious
businesses fulfil their ambitions
QOur strategy . Our values
Grow ‘ Customer Focused
Sustain Risk Aware
Care Future Orientated
Teamwork
Ownership

Performance Driven
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Strategic Report

Key performance indicators

The following key performance indicators are
the primary measures used by management
to assess the performance of the Group.

Certain key performance indicators represent altemative
performance measures that are not defined or specified

under International Financial Reporting Standards (1FRS").
Definitions of the financial key performance indicators, their
calculation and an explanation of the reasons for their use can be
found in the Appendix ta the Annual Report on pages 182 1o 184.

Key performance indicators have been presented in the Financial
review on a continuing basis, unless otherwise stated.

Continuing businesses include the Retail Finance, Vehicle
Finance, Real Estate Finance and Comimercial Finance businesses
only. Discontinued businssses include the Debt Managemant,
Consumer Mortgages and Asset Finance businesses. As a

result, certain ratios have been restated on a ‘cantinuing’ bas’s.
Further details on discontinued businesses can be found in

Note 10 to the Financial Statements.

Further explanation of the financial key performance indicators
is discussed in the narrative of the Financial review on pages 12
to 17, where they are identified by being in bold fort.

Further explanation of the non-financizal key performance
indicators is provided in the Managing our business responsibly
{pages 37 to 49} and Climate-related financial disclosures

{pages 50 to 59) sections.

The Directors’ Rernuneration Report, starting on page 80, sets
out how executive pay is linked to the assessment of key financial
and non-financial performance indicators.

Grow

CHART REMOVED

CHART REMOVED

[Fram 31 December 2020)

CHART REMOVED

CHART REMOVEDJ
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Sustain

Care

CHART REMOVED

CHART REMOVED

{Tha reductian in the cost to income
ratia reflacty an impraving trend.)

{mark out of § based onstar rating fram
990 reviews,2021: 937, 2020: 1,464)

CHART REMOVED

CHART REMOVED

{based an afl employee survey}

CHART REMOVED

CHART REMOVED

{The increase in the cost of risk
reflects a warsening trend)

{fotal Seope 1, 2 and certain Scope
3 emissions per £n Group oparating
income. See page 56 for further detailsy
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s statement

Excellent progress against
key strategic objectives

Glé

Facing the future
with confidence.”

IMAGE REMOVED ‘r

Lord Forsyth
Chairman

New lending in our businesses reached record levels despite us tightening lending criteria and

improving the credit quality of new business. The simpilification of the Group to focus on markets

where we have specialist skills was completed with the sale of the Debt Managers (Services) Limited's

loan portfolic,
Of course, 2022 profits were always going to be impacted by the normalisation of impairment charges. However, strang loan :
book growth, active management of net interest margin in a rising rate environment and excellent cost contro) have delivered

an impressive total profit before tax of £44.0 million (2021: £556.0 million) and continuing profit before tax of £39.0 mitlion

{2021: £55.9 million). As 2 result, the Board are proposing a final dividend for 2022 of 29.1 pence. This brings the total dividand far :
the year to 45.1 pence and meets our commitment to return 25% of eamings to sharehalders i

A new environmental, social and governance (ESG') policy has been approved by the 8oard to meet our climate change targets and
ESG has been integrated into our overall strategy.

I am particularly proud that we have been ranked 25 among 79 Large organisations named as the UK’s Best Waorkplaces™ for Wellbeing
in 2023. In Decernber we were awarded the Silver Talent Inclusion and Diversity Evatuation Mark for the second year running by the
Emplayers Network for Equality and Inclusion.

| am pleased that we were successful in issuing £90.0 million of Tier 2 capital in February 2023, This new capital enables refinancing of
the 2018 Tier 2 capital, and supports our growth ambitions. Further information can be found in Note 47 to the Financial Statements.
These are challenging times and our success could not have been achieved without a first-class leadership team and the dedication
and creativity of our employees. On behalf of the Board | would like to express our thanks and appreciation to all of them.

Thanks are due to the Board too. An external effectiveness evaluation concluded they have the necessary skills and are carrying out i
their duties well. Lucy Neville-Rolfe stepped down in September to join the Government and | am most grateful for her contribution
over the last four years.

We are all acutely aware of the headwinds facing the UK economy and the consequences for consumers and businesses. The energy

bills crisis, high rates of inflation, tightened monetary policy, rising interest rates, political turmoil and the heartbreaking conflict in

Ukraine have created significant uncertainty. However, our business model is robust and demonstrated througrout the COVID-19

pandemic that it is sufficiently agile to adapt to changing economic conditions. We are active in explaring merger and acquisiticn

opportunities which could complement our businesses and be'ieve that the Group is well placed to meet its strategic objectives

and to face the future with confidence.

Lord Forsyth
Chairman

29 March 2023
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Chief Executive's statement

Strong lending growth
in target markets

(A6

Our performance has demonstrated the
team’s ability to help more customers,
become more efficient and scale our
specialist lending businesses.”

IMAGE REMOVED (

David McCreadie
Chief Fxecutive Officer

We delivered a strong performance in 2022, with signiflicant growth in continuing profit before tax pre
impairments, record new business and loan book growth, and disciplined cost control. We continued
10 provide customers with excellent service and our capital position remains very healthy.

A key strategic objective has been to simplify our business model. We delivered ancther important part of this strategy in March 2022,
with the announcement of our exit from the debt purchase market. The sale of Debt Managers (Services) Limited's {TDMS”) loan portfalio
was completed in May 2022, with the: migration of the pentfolio completed in Novemnber 2022, The szle generated a prafit of £6.1 milllion!,
which includes selling casts and some closure costs. We expect to incur further costs over the next couple of years as we fully wind down
the business. | would like to extend my appreciation and thanks to all colleagues whao supported the transfer of the loan portfolio to the
purchaser. By exiting this loss-making business, we reset our medium-term market guidance for net interest margin to be >55% and cost
income ratio to be <50%. Given the change in Group structure following the disposal of non-core assats, all commentary in my report refers
to the continuing operations of the Group unless atherwise stated. Further information on discontinued operations can be found in Note 10
ta the Financial Staternents.

A second area of strategic focus has been on cepturing a grester share of prime customers in our Consumer Finance businesses,
Within Retail Finance, our loan book has shifted mora towards low-risk interest free credit propositions and at the year-end arrears were
at historically low levels, Within Vehicle Finance, we have had good success with the Personal Contract Purchase and Hire Purchase
products that were launched for prime customers during 2021, and which combined accounted for 24.2% (2021: 5.3%) of the Vehicle
Finance loan book at 31 December 2022, At year-end, Vehicle Finance arrears were in line with pre-pandemic levels.

Loan book growth was particularly strong in the first half of 2022 Medium-term targets
as we benefited from the recovery post pandemic and from Total return on average equity 14-14%
our stratedic move in tecent years to expand our addressable

market and our distribution. We took proactive steps in the Cost income ratio —_ i <50%
second half of the year, as the econamic outlock deterioratad, Common equity tier 1 ratio >12%
to manage effectively the risk for both our business and our Net interast margin - =5 59,
customers which had the desired effect of slowing the rate of -

9 Compound annual growth rate of the lending biook 15%+

loan book growth,

We delivered record new business lending across our Consumer Finance and Business Finance businesses, achieving volumes of
£2,067 8 miffion {2021: £1,441.1 miflion). We achieved 11.4% (2021; 8.4%Y market sharein new business lending for Retail Finance and
1.1% (2021: 0.7%)* for Vehidle Finance. This contributed to net lending growth of 19.1% {2021: 12.2%) and drove & significant increase
in aperating income.

1. Includes selling casts of £1.2 millian, and £2.6 miflian of associeted costs to wind down the Rebt Management husiness. Sea Note 1010 the Financlal Statements for further deteils,

2. Source: Finance & Leasing Assotiation [FLA): New business values within retall stare and onfine credit: 2022: FLA total and Retail Finance new business of £%,844 millioa (2021: £9,146 million)
and £1,124.3 millian (2021: £771.5 millon) respectively.

3. Source: FLA. Cars bought on finance by consumars thraugh the point of sale: Mew business values: Used cars: 2022, FLA tota] and Vehicle Finance tatal of £23,472 millian (2021: £19.838
mitlion) and £262.9 million {2021: £134.3 million} respectively.
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive’s statement
continued i

The higher interest rate backdrop has contribited to higher funding costs for new and existing depcsits as we re-priced managed
rate savings praducts several times in the year, offering attractive rates to customers whilst rmaintaining a sufficient levet of funding.
The savings market remains cormnpetitive, and our product mix shifted towards fixed-term praducts, as customer behaviour evelved
as interest rates rose, Variable rate lending portfolios within our Business Finance businesses reflected changes in Base Rate
immediately. Whereas, for our fixed rate lending portfolios, funding cost increases were passed on through new business price :
increases, which take a short time to crystallise into pricing and the incorme statermnent, as pipeline cases complete and introducer i
arrangements are reset. Combined, this generated a net interest margin of 5.7% (2021: 6,134,

| am pleased with our management of costs during & period of high inflation. We have worked hard to identify apportunities to remove
and avoid costs. The delivery of our strategic priority to simplify the Group has allowed us to improve our operational efficiency.
This enabled us to reduce our cost income ratio by 500 basis points to 55.0% {2021: 60.0%).

The combination of stong loan book growth, well managed nat interest margin and excellent cost controt delivered significant growth
in profit before tax pre impairments of £76.1 million, an increase of £16.7 million (2021: £59.4 million). We saw the cost of risk retumn to
pra-pandemic levels to 1.4% (2022: 0,2%) and this resulted in profit before tax of £39.0 million (2021: £55.9 million). Total profit before
tax was £44.0 million (2021: £56.0 million).

in February 2023 we issued £90.0 million of subordinated debt, which qualifies as Tier 2 regulatory capital. At the same time we
repurchased £25.0 million of our existing 2018 Tier 2 subordinated debt, and we repurchased the remaining £25.0 million in March !
2023. We are pleased with the support we have received from new and existing investors for the new issuance. With an enlarged and
optimised capital base we are strongly pesitioned to continue to help consumers and businessas to fulfil their ambitions.

Vision and purpose

We shared our refreshed strategy at the end of 2021, where we announced a renewed focus on aur core markets where we have depth \
of expertise and specialist skills, through our three strategic pillars of grow, sustain and care. This is now fully embedded across our
organisation as we look to optimise for growth and make further progress towards our medium-term targets. As noted above we have
further simplified the Group with the sale of the DMS loan portfelio. We have made progress against our strategic objectives, and
medium-term targets, notably on lending book growth and cost income ratio. Further details are presented on page 11. This strongly
supports our vision to become the UK's most trusted specialist lender,

As we look to the future, in May 2022 we completed the purchase of AppToPay Ltd, which will provide the proprietary technology
platform to enable the Retall Finance business to enter the digilal ‘Buy Now Pay Later’ market with a fully regulzted product in 2023,
As with all our lending decisions we will undertake affordability and credit assessments. We are excited about entering this new
market, but we wilt do this cautiously during these uncertain times, We will also contirue to consider potential merger and acquisition
opportunities that can camplement and leverage our businesses and take advantage of our existing well-established distribustion
natworks of retailers, dealerships and intermediary relationships.

Helping our customers

We understand these are challenging times for many of our customers, with the high level of inflation and the cost of living crisis.
Helping our custamers achiave their ambitions requires us to support them through these uncertairn times, We do this through

our digital channels and contact centres for the Consurner Finance businesses and relationship managers for the Business Finance
businesses. We have long established relationships with more than 1,500 retailers as part of the Retail Finance business, and now work
with over 560 dealers, brokers or intemet introducers in the Vehidle Finance business. We continue to wark to maintain our effective
working relationships, using our expertise to make sure our products continue to meet the needs of our custorners.

We routinely review the customer experience across our businesses, particularly enhancing our digital offering and customer journey.
In a key achievement towards the end of 2022, we partnered with Mastercard to launch a new payment method within the Retail
Finance business. This uses open banking technology, offering seamless and fast account to account payments made via a customer's
current account banking app, without the need for customers to provide their debit card details. The uptake has been positive, with
more custamers than expected using this easy option to make one off and early repayments. We |ook forward 1o embracing this
davelopment and technology across other businesses during 2023. We have also launched a project 1o introduce a mobile app for
our Savings products in 2023.

We were tecagnised for several awards for our customer service and products during the year. Most notably, we achieved the
Custermner Senvice Excellence Standard for the tenth year running, as well as awards from Feefo and Moneyfacts. Feefo awarded us
the Platinum Trusted Service award for Vehicle Finance and Retail Finance. This is awarded to those companies who have achieved
the Gold service award far three consecutive years, and recognises our consistent support for customers during a challenging
periad. Feefo scores continue to rate highly at 4.6 stars out of 5{2021: 4.6 stars out of 5). In addition, Monayfacts awarded us ‘Best
Notice Account Provider’, We also achieved 'Highly Cormmended' recagnition in four categories at the Savings Champion Awards
in December 2022,
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Operational efficiency

We launched a programme as part of the refreshed strategy in 2021, which sought to laok at where we can operate more effectively
across the Graup. Alongside the improvement in payment experience nated above, we have looked at intemal technolagy, digitalisation,
operational processes and sourcing and supplier management to enable us to operate as efficiently as possible across all our operational
sites, and this programmec hes delivered tangible henefits Alnngside this, we have listened to our Savings custorners and considered
the environmental impact of customer carrespondence. This has enabled us ta transition 89% of our customers to use internet banking
to access their statements, and all certificates of interest are now provided via this method.

Having adopted a hybrid working mode!, we then reviewed our property portfalio considering the new ways of warking. As 2
consequence, in the second half of 2022, we reduced from two sites to one at our Retail Finance site in Cardiff, and plan to do the
same at the head office site in Solihull during the first half of 2023,

As we have simplified the Group and reduced the number of businesses we are in, we hava taken the opportunity to review leadership
structures, roles and spans of control, and delivered further cost savings.

Our people

Last year | annaunced several new senior appointments. | am pleased to say the team is working well together and facused on delivering
our strategic abjectives. Having simplified the business further, and due to a number of retirements, five members of the senior
management team left the Group in 2022. | would fike to thank those colleagues for their support and wish them well for the future.
Julian Hartley joined the Executive Committee in October 2022 as Managing Director, Vehicle Finanice and Savings, further broadening
the experience of the leadership team. Geoff Ray, Managing Director, Real Estate Finance joined our Executive Committee in January
2023. Geoff has been with us for over six years.

We had some wonderful achieverments during the year, In 2022, we were listed as an official UK's Best Woikplaces™ for the fourth year
running, We ware ranked 29 cut of 47 companies and we have now been awarded a trio of accolades from Great Place to Work®: UK’s
Best Workplaces™, UK’s Best Workplaces™ for Women and more recently for UK's Best Workplaces™ for Wellbeing.

Our Yaur Vaice employee survey showed us that 89% {2021: 80%) of those who took part in the survey are proud to work here, and
we also achieved a Trust Index of 85% (2021: 80%), the highest we have achieved in an annual survey since we started partnering with
Great Place to Work® and on par with the UK’ Best Workplaces™. | am also pleased to say we have signed up to HM Treasury’s
Women in Finance Charter which underlines our commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion.

We understand that as well as our customers, our colleagues may be facing financial challenges. We took the decision tc award a
cne-off payment in October 2022 to colleagues who earn £35,000 annually or less, which acknowledges the impact of the cost of living
crisis on our lower level eamers. We also introduced a range of rescurces and information on financial wellbeing for all our colleagues
during the year,

We continue to support employee wellbeing and provide all employees with a ‘wellbeing hour' each month, and in 2022 we
established a mencpause policy along with awareness sesslons and provided ‘everyday allyship® training for all managers.

[ would like to thank all our colleagues for thelr continued hard work and commitment to the Group.

Outlook

2022 has been a year of significant progress for the Group. We remain vigilant, adapting to the evolving economic environment.

Our size and expertise provide us the agility to do so, and ourtrack record has dernonstrated our resitience through previous periods
of uncertziniy. We will do this while continuing to help consumers and businesses fulfil their ambitions. We have made good progress
against our medium-term ebjectives; | am confident that we will make further progress in the year ahead and that we are well placed
for the future.

David McCreadie
Chief Executive Officer

29 March 2023
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Business model

How Secure Trust Bank
does what it does

Retail Finance

LOGOS REMOVED

Consumer

Vehicle Finance

Finance

L LOGOS REMOVED

Real Estate Finance

[ LOGOS REMOVED

Business
Finance

Commercial Finance

LOGOS REMOVED

Savings

LOGOS REMOVED

Savings

Creating value for stakeholders
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How we help more consumers
and businesses fulfil their ambitions

How do we do it?

We provide quick and easy finance cptions at point

of purchase:

* Helping consumers purchase lifestyle goeds and services without
having to wait.

* Supparting the growth of UK retailers by offering integrated finance
options which drive sales.

\We aperate a market leading orline service to retailers, providing
dnzecured, lending products to the UK customers of its retail
partners to swiftly facilitate the purchase of a wide range of
consumer praducts.

Qur online processing system allows customers to digitally sign

their credit agreements, thereby speeding up the pay-out process,
and removing the need to handie sensitive personal decuments.

We help to drive more business in UK car dealerships:

* Providing funds to customers to help them buy used vehicles from
dealars via Vehicle Finance,

* Providing funds to dealers to help them buy vehicles for their
farecourts and showrooms via Stock funding.

»

We lend in the form of hire purchase or personal contract purchase
to prime and near prime customers.

Lending is provided via UK mator dealers, brokers and internet
introducers with a technology platform that allows an automated
end-to-end customer journey.

We land money against residential propetrties to professional

fandlords and property developers:

* Providing mortgage-style borrowing to professional landlards to allow
them to improve and grow their portfolio.

* Providing development facilities to property developers and SME
house builders ta help build new homes for sale or letting.

We lend on partfolios of residential property where the rental .
income will repay the undedying borrowing over a fixed term
period, as well as the develapment of new build property.

= Qur products are sourced and supparted both directly and via

introducers and brokers,

We support the growth of UK businesses by enabling
effective cash flow:

* Providing working capital finance to UK SMEs.

+ Providing funds for strategic evants.

»

We lend predominantly against recalvables, typically releasing
90% of qualifying invoices under invoice discounting and
factoring services.

We also provided additional lending to existing customars through
Government guaranteed schemes.

QOur products are sourced and supported both directly and
via introducers,

Customers trust us to lock after their savings and provide
a competitive return:

* Helping our customners save for special events such as a holiday,
wedding or retirement.

= Helping our lending businesses fund their product sets to enable
them to lend in the market we compete in.

We offer a range of Savings accounts that are purpesely simple
in design, with a cholce of products from same day withdrawal to
180-day notice, and skx-month to seven-year fixed terms across
both bonds and ISAs.

Our praducts are supported through a highly commended online
banking service.

Secure Trust Hank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022
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Strategic priorities

Our vision

To be the most trusted specialist lender in the UK

Purpose

To help more consumers and businesses fulfif their ambitions

Strategy

Grow Sustain ‘ Care

* (GGenerate growth and attractive returns in + Create sustainable value through * Help customers with simple, clear and
specialist segrnents market axpertise and deep compelling products

= Exploit digital capabilities to build scale customer knowledge » Deliver consistently excelleat customer

Utilise strong credit disdpline, care and swift outcomes
capital allacation and risk
management capabilities

and drive cost efficiency

Always act with integrity and transparency, delivering value for all stakeholders

Strengths

Specialist Expert Diverse Ambitious
Foous on attractive returns in our Strong market expertise, Diverse portfolios in consumer and | Clear opportunities for growth and
core markets relatianships and digital capabllities 1 business lending strategy for long-term value creation
Values
Customer Rislc Aware Future Teamwerk Ownership Performance
Focused Orientated Driven
Because they are at It keeps our customers | Embracing chenge Wae achieve Each of us need We will only be the
the heart of everything and us safe and secure | andimplementing more when we to take personal most trusted specialist
wa do good ideas give work well together rasponsibility fender in the UK
us a competitive by sacn of us
advantage taking personal
eccountability for
our performance
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Corporate Governance Report

Financial Statements

How will it be delivered

Progress we are making

Targets and future priorities

Grow

* Generate growth and
attractive returns in
specialist segments

* Exploit digital
capabilities to build scale
and drive cost efficiency

Consumner and Business Finance achieved a total

return on average equity of 10.7%, with a 19.1% annual
growth in the loan book during 2022, and compound
annual growth' of 15.6%, reflecting growth across all

our divisions,

Traction gained with naw products in Vehicle Finance
through the new prime Hire Purchase and Personal
Contract Purchase products which are targeted at lower
credit risk customers. Prime lending now malkes up 24.2%
(2021: 5.3%) of the Vehicla Finance loan bock.

Delivered first phases of our cost and operational
efficiency programme which comgrrised sourcing

and supplier management, technology optimisation,
arganisational design and people, and reducing the
Group's property foctprint, resulting in a cost income
ratio of 55.0% (2021: 60.0%).

Non-core laan book of Debt Managers (Services)
Limited was sold during the year; and we completed
the acquisition of AppToFay Ltd, which will provide the
technalagy for Retall Finance to enter the digital Buy
Now Pay Later sector.

. Compound anntal growth measured fram 31 Dacember 2020,

Maintain growth in the lending balance

sheet, targeting in the medium-term 15%¢+
compound annual growth in appropriate
market conditions, whilst maintaining returm on
average equity of |4%-16% through scaling our
specialist businesses.

Widen our distribution and addressabla

markets, both through new products in
Consumer Finance.

Continue the cost and operational efficiency
journey to achieve a <50% cost income ratio.
Build-aut our existing digital capabilities to win
share and drive scale, including transitioning
legacy products to new scalable platforms.
Exploit merger and acquisition opportunities
that complement our existing businesses and
leverage costs, systeims and market expertise.

Sustain

+ Create syustainable
value through market
axpedise and deep
custorner knowledge

Utilise strong credit
discipline, capital
allocation and

-

Achieved a net intarest margin of 5.7% {2021:6.1%), whilst
operating in a challenging rising rate environment.
Capital was deployed to support growth in loans and
advances to customers, resulting in a common equity tier
1 {'CET 1) ratic of 14.0% {2021: 14.5%).

Manage credit scorecard cut-offs and affordability
threshalds to improve quality of credit in a challenging
market anviranment.

Ongoing Investrent In regulatory compliance, finance
automation and financiai crime prevention.

Cantinge to build on experienced spedalist
teams, deep expertise and knowledge to deliver
sustainable value growth, ensuring a proactive
approach to product design and pricing in a
rising interest rate environment to maintain a
net interest margin in excess of 5.5%.

Manage the mix and risk profile of the business
to maintain the CET 1 ratio above 12%.

Drive sustainable scale and growth whilst
maintaining credit discipline, risk management
and optimising our capital allecation.

Pravide products relevant to the external market

risk management and custemers.
capabilities
= Continued investment in digital platforms, allowing = Increasa customer self-service through digital
dealers and ratailers to integrate seamlessly, as well as capabilities, including a Savings proposition
continued growth of online engagement and self-service, delivering native mobile apps, biometric
with enhancements across all our businasses. authentication for enhanced security and enabling
Care confirmation of payee to improve customer safely

+ Help customers with
simple, clear and
compelling products
Deliver consistently

excellent customer care
and swifi outcomes

Strong customer satisfaction and advocacy across

all areas of the Group as evidenced by independent
customer review ratings, and recagnition from third
parties such as Feefo, Moneyfacts and Customer
Service Excellence.

Launched a Board approved environmental, sodial and
governance (ESG? strategy lfor further details see pages
37 t0 39).

Appointed a Board member as our Cansumer Duty
Chainpion, and approved our plan far compliance with
the regulation.

and satisfaction.

Develop new products, including Buy Now Pay
Later and Near Prime PCP, as well as sajzing
opportunities presented by emerging areen
markets, such as the Greener Homes Scheme,
and consumer and retailer demand for finance on
environmentally friendly products and services.

Embedding the ESG strategy, which includes the
further progression of an Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion strategy.

Implement our Consumer Duty plan.
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Financial review

Income statement

Continuing operations Emﬁﬁii fmﬁgzr‘\ M
Interest income and similar income 203.0 163.9 239
Interest expense and similar charges (50.4) (27.7) 81.9
Net inferest income ) 152.6 1362 120
Fee and cormmission income 17.4 133 308
Fee and commission expense {0.4) {0.6) (33.3)
Net fee and commission income 17.0 12.7 33.9
Qperating income 169.6 148.9 13.9
Net impairment charge an loans and advances to customers (38.2) (5.0) &64.0
Gains on modification of financial assets 11 1.5 (26.7)
Fair value losses on financial instruments (0.3) 0.1) 200.0
Qperating expenses 93.2) {82.4) 4.3
Profit before income tax fram continuing operations 3%9.0 55.9 (30.2)
{ncome tax expense (9.4) (104} (9.6
Profit for the year from gt;nii;uing aperations 29.4 45.5 (34.%9)
Discontinued operations
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations 5.0 0.1 4,900.0
Income tax expense {0.9) — -
Profit for the ;;é;iod from discontinued operations S 4.1 0.1 4,000.0
Profit for the year N 337 45.6 (26.1)
Basic earnings per share {pence) - Total 180.5 2447 (26.2)
Basic earnings per share (pence) — Continuing 158.5 2447 35.1)
Selected key perfarmance indicators and performance metrics
Total profit before tax ' 44.0 560 (21.4)
Percentage
% % point movement
Net interest margin 5.7 6.1 {0.4)
Cost of funds 1.9 1.2 0.7
Caost to income ratio 55.0 &.0 (5.0)
Cost of risk 1.4 0.2 1.2
Total return on average equity 10.7 15.9 (5.2)
Common Equity Tier 1 {CET 1’} ratio 14.0 14.5 0.5)
Total capital ratio 16.2 16,8 0.6)

Certain key performance indicators and perfarmance metrics represent alternative performance measures that are not defined or
specified under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS'). Definitions of these alternative performance measures, their
calculation and an explanation of the reasons for their use can be found in the Appendix to the Annual Report on pages 182 to
184. In the narrative of this review, key performance indicators are identified by being in bold font.

Key performance: indicators and perfarmance metrics have been presented in this review on a continuing basis, unless
atherwise stated.

Continuing businasses include the Retall Finance, Viehicle Finance, Real Estate Finance and Cammaeicial Finance businesses only.
It excludes the Debt Management, Consumer Mortgages and Asset Finance businesses. The associated [oan pertfalios for these
businesses were sold In 2022 or 2021. As a result, certain ratios for 2021 have been restated on a ‘continuing’ basls, Further details
of continuing businesses can be found in the Appendix to the Annual Report onpage 182. The Directors’ Remuneration report,

starting on page 80, sets out how executive pay is linked to the assessment of key finandial and non-financial performance metrics.
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Sustained growth
in revenue and lending

616

Successfully navigated the uncertain
macroeconomic environment and
delivered healthy loan book growth.”

IMAGE REMOVED }

Rachel Lawrence
Chief Financial Officer

2022 was another strong year for the Group, with good progress against our medium-term financial
targets. The Group successfully navigated the uncertain macroecenomic environment and delivered
healthy loan book growth of 19.1% (2021: 12.2%}) while at the same time shifting cur Consurner Finance
business towards better quality prime business. Net interest margin was well managed against this
fower yielding book and profit before tax pre impairments was significantly increased due to loan
book growth and disciplined cost control. Our capital position remains healthy, with a CET 1 ratio

of 14.0% {2021; 14.5%) well ahead of our medium-term target and our total return on average equity
was 10.7% (2021: 15.9%).

The Group achieved a profit before tax of £32.0 million (2021: £55.9 million). Although this was a reduction of 30.2% on 2021 as a result

of narmalisation of impairment charges, profit before tax pre impairments of £76.1 million was 28.1% higher (2021: £58.4 million)
reflecting record growth in net lending balances and disciplined cost management.

in addition, the Group benefited from the recognition of the profit on disposal of the Debt Managers (Sewvices) Limited (DMS) ioan
portfolio of £6.1 million in the year and at a total level the profit befare tax was £44.0 million (202%: £56.0 million).

Total earnings per share decreased from 244.7 pence per share to 180.5 pence per share, and on a continuing basis earnings per
share decreased from 244.1 pence per share to 158.5 pence per share. Total return on average equity decreased from 15.9% to
10.7%. Earnings per share and return on average equity performance were impacted by the normalisation of impairment chargas.
Detailed disclosures of earnings per ordinary share are shown in Note 11 to the Financial Stalements. The components of the Group's
profit are analysed in more detail in the sectiens below,

Operating income

The Group's operating income increased by 13.9% to £169.6 million {2021: £148.9 million).

Net interest income on the Group's lending assets continues to be the largest component of operating income. This increased by
12.0% to £152.6 million {2021: £136.2 million), driven by growth in net lending assets, with average balances increasing by 20.5% to
£2,699.3 million {2021: £2,240.5 million).

The Group's net interest margin decreased to 5.7% [2021: 6.1%), reflecting the increased interest raie environment and the continued
shift towards lower yielding but better quality prime interest free lending in Retail Finance as well as the reduction in higher yielding
development loens in Real £state Finance.

The Group’s other income, which relates to net fea and cammissian income, increased by 33.9% to £17.0 million (2021: £12.7 million),
predominately driven by an increase in overall net lending assets.
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Financial review
continued

Impairment charges

Impairment charges increased to £38.2 million (2023: £5.0 million), reflecting a retum 1o a normalised level of impairment charge
following releases of COVID-19 driven provisions in 2021, and delivering a cost of risk of 1.4% {2021: 0.2%), which is comparabla to
pre-COVID Jevel of 1.7% in 2019. Overall impairment pravisions remain robust at £78.0 million (2021: £60.2 million} with the aggregate
coverage level at 2.6% (2021 2.4%) for continuing loan books,

During the year the Group enhanced its IFRS 9 process by engaging exlernal economic advisors to inform our macroeconomic
variables model assumption inputs. During the fourth quarter of the financial year, the Group refreshed these macroeconomic inputs
incorporating a weaker UK economic outlook, The forecast economic assumptions within each IFRS 9 scenario, and the weighting
applied, are set out in more detail in Note 17.1 to the Financial Statements.

The Group has applied Expert Credit Judgements (ECJs) where management beliaves the IFRS 9 modelled output is not accurately
reflecting current risks in the loan portfolios. Further details of these ECJs are included in Note 17 to the Financial Statements,

Operating expenses

The Groups cost base increased in the year by 4.3% to £93.2 million {2021: £89.4 million), with an improvement in the cost to income
ratic of 500 basis points te 55.0% (2021: 60.0%).

included within costs were £1.2 million relating to non-recurring corporate projects (2021; £nif), which if excdluded would have reduced
the cost income ratio to 54.2%, an underlying improvement of 580bps.

The irnprovement in the ratio reflects beth the increase in operating income and the ongoirig programme of initiatives which seek

to achieve more efficient and effective operational processes, including digitisation of processes, supplier and procurement reviews,
organisationat design and property management.

Taxation

The effective statutory tax rate has increased to 24.1% (2021: 18.6%). The effective rate for 2022 has increased above the Corporation
Tax rate of 19% due to a reduction to deferred tax asset values which are linked to the expected levels of future tax relief based on
enacted rates, mainly arising from changes to the banking surcharge enacted in 2022. Further details can be found in Note 9 to the
Financial Statements.

Discontinued businesses

In May 2022, the Group disposed of the [oan portfolio of DMS, realising an overall initial profit en dispasal of £6.1 million. Further wind-
down costs are expected to he incurred over the next couple of years. DMS continued to operate as a servicer for the purchaser whilst
the toan book was migrated ta its operating platform, which concluded in November 2022. During 2021 the Group disposed of the
Asset Finance and Consumer Mortgage portfolios. Further details of the impact of these businesses are provided in Notes 3 and 10 to
the Financial Statements.

Distributions to shareholders

The Board recarnmend the payment of a final dividend for 2022 of 27.1 pence per share which, together with the interim dividend of

16.0 pence per share, represents a total dividend for the year of 45.1 pence per share {2021: 61.1 vence per share). This is in line with
the Group's policy to pay total annual dividends reprasenting 25% of annual earnings.
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Summarised balance sheet

2022 201

fmillion £millian
Agssets
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 3701 2357
Loans and advances to banks 50.5 50.3
Debt securities - 25.0
Leans and advances to customers — continuing 2,219.5 24510
Loans and advances to customers — discontinued’ - 80.9
Fair value adjustrment for portfalio hedged risk {32.0) {3.5
Derivative financial instruments ' 34.9 38
Other assets 37.3 427

3,380.3 2,885.9
Liabilities
Due *o banks 400.5 390.8
Deposits from custemers 2,514.6 2,103.2
Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk {23.0) {5.3)
Derivative financial instruments 26.7 6.2
Tier 2 subordinated liabilities 51.1 509
Other liabilities B3.5 377
3,053.4 2,583.5

1. 2021 includes a loan portiolio classihad as Assats held for sale of £1.3 mitlion.

New business

Loan originations in the year, being the tolal of new lcans and advances to customers entered into during the period, incressed by
43.5% to £2,067.8 million (2021: £1,441.1 million). Further detail on the divisional split of this new business can be found in the Business
reviews on pages 18 to 21.

Customer lending and deposits

Group lending assets increased by 19.1% to £2,%19.5 million (2021: £2,451.0 million) primarily driven by strong growth in our Consumer
Finance business.

Consumer Finance balances grew by £399.5 million or 38.9%, driven by strong demand in the first half of 2022 (21.5% growth) and a
slightly slower growth rate in the second half of 2022 {17 4% growth), as the effacts of us proactively tightening credit criteria due to the
macroeconomic environment made an impact.

Further analysis of loans and advanees to customers, including a breakdown of the arrears profile of the Group's loan books,
is provided in Notes 15, 16, 17 and 39 to the Financial Statements.

Customer deposits include Fixed term bonds, [SAs, Notice and Access accounts, Customer deposits increased by 19.6% to
£2,514.6 million {2021; £2,103.2 miltion). Total funding ratio of 112.5% increased marginally (2021: 112.4%). As set out on page 17,
the mix of the deposit book has continuad to change as the Group has adapted to the recent Base Rate changes, with a focus on
reteining stable funds, which is reflected in the increase in fixed term bonds.

CHART REMOVED CHART REMOVED
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Financial review
continued

Investments and wholesale funding

As at the end of 2022 the Group held no debt securities (2021: £25.0 million). Amounts due to banks cansisted primarily of drawings

from the Bank of England Term Funding Scheme with additianal incentives for SMEs (TFSME"} facility.
Tier 2 subordinated liabilities

Tier 2 subordinated liabilities represent twa £25.0 million tranches of 6.75% Fixed Rate Callable Subordinated Notes (2018 Notes'},

including interest accrued. Further dstails of the note issuances are provided in Note 32, The Notas qualify as Tier 2 capital.
In February 2023 we issued £20.0 million of 10.5 year 13.0% Fixed Rate Callable Subordinated Notes, which qualify as Tier 2

regulatory capital. Our existing 2018 Notes were repurchased in February and March 2023. For further details see Nate 47.1 to the

Financial Statements.
Capital

Management of capital

Our capital management policy is focused on optimising shareholder value over the long-term. Capital is allocated to achieve targeted

risk adfjusted returns whilst ensuring appropriate suipluses are held above the minimum reguiatory requirements,
Key factors influencing the management of capital include:

* The level of buffers and the capital requirement set by the Prudential Requlation Authority {PRAY;

* Lstimated credit |osses calculated using IFRS 9 methodology, and the applicabte transitional rules;

* New business volumes; and

* The praduct mix of new business.

Capital resources

Capital resources increased over 2021 from £350.6 million to £377.3 million. This includes the propased 2022 final dividend of

£5.4 million. The increase was primarily due to CET 1 capital and was driven by retained earnings growth, offset by the impact of

changes to the |FRS 9 adjustment as set out below.

Caphtal Em"’\tlﬁii f.‘mfl.!?in
CET 1 capital 327.4 3036
Eligible Tier 2 capital B 459.9 47.0
Total capital 377.3 3506
Total risk exposure 2,335.0 2.087.4
2022 2
Capital ratios % %
CET 1 ratio 14.0% 145
Total capital ratio ; 16.2% 16.8
Leverage ratio 10.7% 10.3

The Group has elected to adopt the [FRS 9 transitional rules, Far 2022, this allows for 25% (2021: 50%) of the initial IFRS 9 transition

adjustment, net of attributable deferred tax, 1o be added back to eligible capital. The same relief is allowed for increases in

provisions between 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2017, except where these provisions relate to defaulted accounts. The seme
relief is also allowed for increases in provisions since 1 January 2020, this is applied at 75% in 2022 (2021: 100%). Al transitional

relief will taper off by 31 Decamber 2024.
The Group's requlatory capital is divided into:

+ CET 1 capital, which cormprises sharehalders’ funds, after adding badk the IFRS 9 transition adjustments and deducting

qualifying intangible assets, both of which are ret of attributable deferred tax.

s Tier 2 capital, which is solely subordinated debt net of unamertised issue costs, capped at 25% of tatal Pillar 1 and Pillar

2A reguirements.

The Group operates the standardised approach to credit risk, whereby risk weightings are applied to the Group's on and off

balance sheet exposures. The weightings applied are those stipulated in the UK Capital Requirements Regulation.

Excluding the impact of the [FRS % transitiona! rules, the Group’s CET 1 ratio and total capital ratio would reduce to 13.6% and

15.7% respectively.
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Capital requirements

The Total Capital Requirernent, set by the PRA, includes both the caleulated reqitiremant derived using the standardised approach and
the additional capital derived in conjunction with the internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process {'ICAAPY). In addition, capital is
held to caver generic buffers set at a macroeconomic level by the PRA.

2022 2073

- ,‘,‘f'?i!"f’ﬂ,,,, 77‘_—__l.mllhon

Total Capital Requirement 210.2 194.7
Capital conservation buffer 58.4 51.9
Cauntercyclical buffer 23.4 -
Total 292.0 248.6

The increase in lending balances through the year resulted in an increase in risk weighted assets over 2022, bringing the total risk
exposure up frorm £2,087.4 million to £2,335.0 million,

The capital conservation buffer has been held at 2.5% of total risk exposure since 1 January 2019. The countercydlical capital buffer was
0% throughout 2021 as part of the PRA's response to COVID-19. However this increased to 1% on 13 Decembar 2022 alongside the
removal of firm specific temporary PRA buffers. The Finandal Policy Commiittee have announced that the countercyclical capital buffer
will increase to 2% on 5 duly 2023, Far more information please see page 24,

Liquidity

Liquidity resources

We continued 16 hold significant surplus liguidity over the minimum requirements threughout 2022, managing liquidity by holding High
Quality Liquid Assets HOLA) and utilising predominantly retail funding balances from customer deposits over 2022, Liquidity remained
high at the end of the period primarily due to prefunding Real Estate Finance lending in January 2023. Total liquid assets increased to
£416.9 millian as at 31 December 2022 {2021: £304.7 million).

The Group is a participant in the Bank of England’s Sterling Money Market Operations under tha Sterling Monetary Framework and

has drawn £390.0 iillion under the TFSME. The Group has no liquid asset exposures outside of the United Kingdom and no amounts
that are either past due or impaired.

2622 2021
tiquid assets Emillion fmiflion
Aaa — Aa3 370.1 259.0
Al--A2 41.6 42.6
Unrated ] 5.2 5.1

416.9 3067

We continue to attract customer deposits to support balance sheet growth. Although we have continued to focus on attracting ISA
account funding, we have increased acquisition fevels of fixed term bands which are a more stable form of funding. The composition
of customer deposits is shown in the table below.

2022 2021
Customer depesits % %
Fixed term bonds h 54 44
Notice accounts 20 37
iSA 17 12
Access accaunts - o 7 5
- ' 100 100

Management of liquidity

The Group uses various measures to manage liguidity. These include:

+ The Overall Liquidity Adequacy Requirement (OLAR'), which is the Baard's view of the Group's liquidity needs as set out in the
Board approved Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process [[LAAPY).

s The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR'), which is a regulatory measure that assesses net 30-day cash outflows as a proportion of HOEA.

+ Total funding ratio, as defined in the Appendix to the Annual Report.

+ High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) are held in the Bank of England Reserve Account and UK Treasury Bills. For LCR purposes the HQEA
excludes UK Traasury Bills which are encumbered to provide collateral as part of the Group’s TFSME drawings with the Bank of England.

The Group met the LCR minimurm threshold throughout the year and the Group's average LCR was 270.1% (based on a rolling
12 month-end average).
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Business review

Consumer Finance

Retail Finance Gl6

We provide quick and easy finance options Arranged very quickly and kept up to date with
at point of purchase: the whole process from start to finish. [ would

* Helping consumers purchase |ifestyle goods and services use again and recommend.”
without having to wait,

* Supporting the growth of UK retailers by offering
integrated finance options which drive sales.

Customer feedback
Retail Finance customer

LOGOS REMOVED

2022 202 Movement Maovement

E£million £eméllion Emillion %

New business 1,124.3 7715 352.8 457
Lending balahce 1,054.8 7164.8 289.7 319
Total revehue 78.0 67,7 10.3 15.2
Impairment charge 14.4 50 2.8 196.0

What we do

-

We operate a market leading anline e-comimerce service to retailers, providing unsecured, prime fending products to UK customers
to facilitate the purchase of a wide range of consumer products including bicycles, music, furniture, cutdoor/leisure, electronics,
dental, jewellery, home improvernents and football season tickets. These markets include a large number of household names.

The finance products are either interest bearing ar have prameotional interest free credit subsidised by retailers. For interest free
products, the customer pays the same price for the goods ragardless of whether credit is taken or not. Taking the credit option
allows the customer to spread the cost of the miain purchase into more manageable monthly payments, and afford andillary exiras
and add-ons, which can also be financed. Interest free atiracts a large proportion of high credit quality custemers.

The online processing system allows customers to sign their credit agreements digitally, thereby speeding up the pay-out procass,
and removing the need to handle sensitive personal docurnents,

The business is supported by a highly experienced senior team and workforce.

2022 performance

Strong lending growth during 2022 of 37,.9% (2021: 16.2%}, resulting from an increase in our market share of the retail store and
online credit market!,

Extension of our footprint with key retail partners as well as the introduction of hew retailer refationships as we leveraged our strong
track record of systems integration.

Lending and revenue growtr has corme mainly from interest free lending into the furniture and jewellery sectars, which attracts a
prime customer at a lower credit risk but a lower net interest margin. At the end of the year, 85.1% (2021: 80.2%) of the landing book
related to interest free lending.

We have canscdiously focused on primer seciors in response to the detericrating economic environment. As a result, impairment
charges have benefited from the improved credit quality of the book, with cost of risk reducing to nearly half of the pre-

pandemic levels.

We anticipate further lending growth from our existing retail partners and our operetiona! plans are focused on digitalising all key
processes to improve the custormer and retail partners experience.

The acquisition of AppToPay will provide an additional reguiated product in the new digital Buy Now Pay Later markets using mobile
application-based technology.

. Source: Finance & Leasing Association {FLAT New business values within relall store and online credit 2022: 1° £% (2021: 8.4%): FLA total and Retail Firance new business of

£9,844 million {2021: £9,144 mitkon}and £1,124.3 million (2021: £771 5 million) respectively.
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Vehicle Finance (GG

We help to drive more business in UK Everything was carried out so quick and
car dealerships: smooth. Excellent customer services. |'ve gone
* Providing funds to customers to help them buy used {rom owning a fali“])/ ald car to getting a reaﬂy
vehictes from dealers via Vehicle Finance. hice updated one in a matter of hours.”
* Providing funds to dealers to help them buy vehidles for
their forecourts and showraams via Stack funding. Customer feedback
- Vehicle Finance customer
I; LOGOS REMOQVED
2022 2021 Mavement Movarment
fniilian £rnillion £million %
New business 401.7 199.8 201.9 1.t
Lending balance 37341 2633 109.8 4117
Total revenue 48.0 393 8.7 221
Impairment charge 21.3 a1 21.2 21,200.0
What we do

* Wea provide lending products which are secured against the vehicle being financed. The majority of vehicles financed are used cars
s0ld by independent dealers.

* We also provide vehicle stock funding whereby funds are advancad and secured against dealer forecourt used car stock; sourced
fram auctions, part exchanges or trade sources.

*» Finance is provided via technclogy platforms allowing Vehicle Finance to recelve applications online from its introducers; provide
an automated decision; facilitate document production through to pay-out to dealer; and manage in-life loan accounts.

2022 performance

* Proactively tightened lending criteria several times during the year to manage the credit quality of new business written,

« Continued Jending growth, with our market share increasing to 1.1%' (2021: .7%). During 2022, the market for used cars bought on
point-of-sale finance was 7.6% higher,than in 20212 The amount of finance advanced increased by significantly mare ever the same
period, up 18.3%, to £23.5 billion', reflecting the increase in used vehicle values.

* New Prime Hire Purchase and PCP affering, launched in 2021, deliverad £83.4 million and £10.4 million of new lending respeactively
during 2022, which now represents 24.2% (2021: 5.3%) of the fending bool.

* Lending book growth exceaded revenue growth due to the increased mix of higher credit guality, lower net interest margin, prime
business. New business growth exceeded lending growth due to the short-term duration of Stock Funding.

* 2021 impairment charges were driven by a release in provisions arising from more benign macroeconorrnic conditions, as anticipated,
this was not repeated in 2022 with a return to more normalised impairment provisians.

* Agpart of the continuing Motor Transformiation Programma, in 2022 we success(ully deliverad the first phase of the new collections
platform for the near prime portfolio. Phase 2 of this programme will incorporate the prime portiolic and develop integrations with
our third-party suppliers in 2023.

1. Source: FLA. Cars hought an finance by cansumers through the point of sabe: New business values: Used cars: 2022, FLA total and Vehicle Financa talal of £23,472 million (2021: 19,818
millian} and £242.9 milion (2021: F134.3 miflion) respectively.
2, Sowrea: FLA, Cars bought on linsnce by consumers through the point of sale: Mew business number of used cars
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continued

Business Finance

Real Estate Finance GG

We lend money against residential The refinancing of Russeli View is key to Tatiana
properties to professional landlords Limited’s growth plans and will ensure we
and property developers: can continue to develop similar high-quality

*» Providing morigage-style borrowing to professional residential assets around the country. The
landlords to allow them to improve and grow their portfolio.  support we had from Secure Trust Bank was

* Providing development facilities to property developers exceptional frorn start to finish and enabied
and SME house builders to help build new homes for sale us to finalise the deal without de|ay."
or letting.
Raj Shah
Agent for Tatiana Limited
2022 2021 Movemant Mavement .,
Emillion £million Emillian %
New business 384.5 3761 8.4 22
Lending balance 1,145.5 1,109.6 5.9 Ds
Total revenue 57.7 54.8 29 53
Impairment charge 1.3 0.1 1.2 1,200.0
What we do

* We provide lending secured against property assets to a maximurn 70% lean-to-value ratio, on fixed or variable rates over a term of
up to five years.

+ Finance apportunities are sourcad and supported on a relationship basis directly and via introducers and brokers.

= We have an experienced specialist team, with many years of property expertise, who are nimble and responsive within the market.

= We maintain a strong risk management framework for existing and prospective custorners.

2022 performance

* Growth in total revenue and lending balances during a challenging trading year. Revenues were higher reflecting growth in average
lending balances, increases in interest rates and one-off {ees offset by a lower mix of development lending.

* On the back of a strong first half of the year, new business lending hit a record level. The interest rate volatility in the second half of
the year restricted lending growth as both borrowers and lenders became more cautious. Whilst new business siowed in the second
half, early loan repayments also reduced, and we focused on continuing to support our customers.

* As at year end B5.0% of the loan book provided lending for residential investment financing, which included £144.6 million of our
Greener Hormes Scheme loans, which support borrowers 1o meet the UiCs clean growth strategy by 2035.

Collateralised loan book with an average loan-to-value of 57.7% (2021: 56.0%), reducing the level of inherent risk to credit losses.

During the year electronic documentation exceution was implemeanted to improve the customer experience as well as reduce costs.
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Commercial Finance (G364

We support the growth of UK businesses We are really pleased Secure Trust Bank

by enabling effective cash flow: was able to provide the fadility to support

* Providing working capital finance to UK SMEs. our grOWth' The team has taken the time to

« Providing funds for strategic events. understand the business and stayed close
to us throughout the process. Its support
has been invaluable, and we look forward
to working together in the future.”

Caroline Farquhar
Financial Directar at WHP Engineering

2022 2021 Maovement Mavement
fmillion gimillion Ermillian %
New businass 157.3 93.7 63.6 679
Lending balance 3764 3133 &3.1 201
Total revenue 293 174 1.9 684
Impairment charge/f{credit) 0.8 0.2) 1.0 {500.0}

What we do

Our fending remains predominantly against receivables, typicatly releasing funds against 90% of qualifying invoices under invoice
discounting facilities. Other assets can also be funded either long or short-term and across a range of loan-to-value ratios alongside
these facilities.

We also provided additional fending to existing customers through the Government gueranteed Caronavirus Business Interruption
Loan ("CBIL} Scherne, Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan {'CLBIL) Scheme and Recovery Loan Scheme (RLS).

Business is sourced and supported both directly and via professional introducers, bt is nat reliant on the broker market.

& The Commerdial Finance team has a strong reputation across the Asset Based Lending market. The experienced specialist team

works effectively with its partners across private equity and tier 1 and 2 accountancy practices,

2022 performance

Strong growth in revenue and lending balances in 2022 reflects the contribution of new dients onbearded and low client attrition
across both 2021 and 2022, as well as the increases in UK Base Rate throughout the year,

The Group cantinues to administer UK Government CBIL, CLBILS and RLS and was accredited by the British Business Bank to offer
the RLS Phase 3 product. At 31 December 2022, the outstanding lending balances under these schernes totalled £28.9 million
{2021: £42.9 million) against the original total lending under the various schemes of ¢ £58 million. Commercial Finance took the
conscious decision not 1o participate in the UK Government’ Bounce Bank Loan Scheme, which closed in March 2021,

The decline in economic activity, rising inflation and cost pressures are adding financial stress across our customers and this is
recagnised by a modest increase in impairments this year,

in 2022, the business implernented a new client relationship management system to improve customer service and drive
operational efficiency.
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Business review
continued

Savings
Savings GG |

Customers trust us to look after their savings ~ Opening my new account was extremely

and provide a competitive return: straightforward and hassle free!l Also great

+ Helping our customers save for special events such interest rates.
as a holiday, wedding or retirement.

¢ Helping our lending businesses fund their product sets to
enable them to lend in the market we competa in.

Customer feedback
Trust Pilat, Savings custormer

2022 2023 Movement Mavement
Emillian fmillian Emillion %
Eixed term bonds 1,414.0 974.6 4394 45.1
Notice accounts 500.7 79 {271.2) (35.1)
1SAs 421.8 255.0 166.8 65.4
Access accounts 178.1 101.7 76.4 75.1 ’
2,514.6 2,103.2 4114 19.6

What we do

* Wa offer a range of savings accounts that are purposely simple in design, with a choice of products from easy access to 180-day
notice, and six month to seven year fixed terms across both bonds and 1SAs.

s Accounts are made available and priced in ling with our ongeing funding needs, allowing each individual to hold a maximurm
balance of £1 million,

Our range of savings products enables us to access the majority of the UK personal savings markets and compete for significant
liqquidity poals, achieving a lower rmarginal cost with the volume, mix and the competitive rates offered; optimised to the demand !
of our funding neads. i

2022 performance

2022 saw increases in the Bank of England Base rate, which in tum impacted the rates offered within the savings market, increasing
the Group's cost of funds.

= The 2022 savings market was considerably more dynamic in terms of product pricing than recant years, during which we raised over
£1.6 billion of new deposits.

» The increasing attractiveness of fixed rate markets during 2022 drove customer preference for shorter-dated fixed term deposits.
» Further diversification of our product range saw the introduction of our Access account to new and existing customers in April,
expanding our ability to raise deposits in this segment of the savings market. Access accounts were also a popular customer choice

in 2022 given the elevated rate environment. However, the Natice sccount praduct has become less attractive due to the strong
rates offered on fixed rate bonds and access accounts in the markst.

At the end of 2022, we widened our range of Fixed Term products to include six and nine month bonds, to address the demand
for very short term products. This supports smaothing of cur maturity profite and monthly deposit raising over time. In addition,
we also saw a continued growth of 15A balances.

Savings have continued to deliver improvemnents to the customer experience during the year. Enhancernents to our online ;
application processes improved the customer journey at account opening, through utilising group capahility to verify i
customer details.

Adoption of Confirmation of Payer services for validating customers” nominated accounts was cornpleted at the end of 2022,
reducing the need for customers 1o send supporting documentation as nart of the application process. We plan to use this as the
base to introduce the service for inbound payments during H1 2023, requested by customers fundirg new accounts during the year.

Suitable custorners were advised our prirary channel of communication would move to digital. Over 89% of customers have
adopted this approach, and statements and interest certificates moved 1o being available through our anline banking platform
during 2022. Further opportunities to reduce paper throughout our account processes will be reviewed in 2023,

2023 will alse see the enhancement of our digital proposition with the launch of amobile app.
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" Market review

The Group operates exclusively within the UK and its performance is influenced by the macroeconomic environment in the UK, As the
Group's revente is derived almost entirely from custamers operating in the UK, the Group is particularly exposed to the condition of
the UK economy. Custamers' borrowing derands are variausly influenced by, among ather things, UK property markets, employment
lavels, inflation, interest rates, and customer confidence. The economy affects demand for the Group's praducts, margins that can be
earned on lending assets and the levels of loan impairment provisions.

As a financial services firm, the Group is subject to extensive and comprehensive regulation by governmental and regulatory bodies in
the UK. The Group conducts its business subject to ongoing reguiation by the Financial Conduct Authority {FCA) and the Prudential
Regulation Authority (PRA). The Group must comply with the regulatory regime across many aspects of its activity, induding the
training, authcrisation and supevision of personnel, systems, processes and documentation.

Economic review

Economic growth as measured in UK Gross Domestic Praduct {GDP?) slowed in the sacond half of the year with zero growth in GDP
recorded in the three months to December 2022, Annual GDP of 4.0%' represents a fzll from the post pandemic recovery in 2021
{GDP: 7.5%). Global energy and food supply shocks caused by the Russian invasion of Ukraine saw huge rises in European wholesale
gas and commadity prices. Rising energy, food and ather goods prices drove inflation to a high of 11.1%' in Getober 2022, The Bank
of England has responded with rises in its Base Rate of interest throughout the year to a level of 3.5% at the end of December 2022,
which is the highast leve! since the 2008 financial crisis. Economists had predicted the UK would be in recession for the majority

of 2023, but are now more aptimistic that zero GDP is more likely. The increases in the real cost of living will adversely impact on
consumners’ disposable incomes and challenge the affordability of household bills and consumers’ appetite for discretionary spending.

Employment levels are encouraging at 75.6%!. Unemployment remains at a low level of 3.7%', and vacancies in the labour market
remain at high levels o circa 1.2 million'. Given the recessionary outlock and continued pressures on employers from borrowing and
energy costs, unermployment is expected to rise towards 4.5% in early 2024,

House prices continued to grow in 2022. However, growth slowed in the second half as falling incomes and higher interest rates take
effect on property transactions. The move in recent years of the mortgage market to fixed rates has provided a level of insulation to
borrowers with regard to the extent of forced sales. However, 2 housa price correction is expected in 2023 and 2024,

The UK Government has provided over £100 billion? in support measures throughout the year including the May 2022 cost-of-living
package, the September energy package which provided enargy cost suppert for households and businesses, tax cuts announcad

in September that were largely reversed in October, and in the Novembser Autumn statement further nearterm support through cost-
of-living payments for those in receipt of benefits. It is estimated that Governmant intervention on energy costs reduced the peak of
inflation by 3.5%2 but will weigh on growth as Government horrowing increased.

Outlook

Whilst inflation does appear to have peaked in Q4 2022, interest rates are expected 1o continue to rise in 2023 peaking at between 4%
and 4.5% in early 2023 with the Monetary Policy Committee target inflation rate of 2% not expected to be achieved until 2025, The UK
economy Is expected to contract in 2023, house prices are expected to continue to fall after s long period of successive incraases,

and unemplayment is expected to rise from its current low levels. With ongoing geopolitical uncertainty the balance of risks to the UK
remains skewed to the downside.

Government and regulatory

This has been anathar eventful year for Government and requlatory snnouncerments which potentially impact the Group. The key
announcemants in 2022 are set out below.

Prudential regulation

The Group became subject to revised regulatory requirements from 1 January 2022, as set out in the palicy statements PS21/21
'The UK Leverage Ratio Framework’ and PS22/21 'Implementation of Basel Standards: Final Rules'. These changes had an impact
on the Group's regulatory requirements, including capital, large exposures, net stable funding and leverage, and Pillar 3 reporting.

The PRA consulted on proposals for a strong and simple prudential framewark for non-systemic banks and building saciaties. In April
2022 within the consultation paper CP5/22; "The Strong and Simple Framewark: a definition of a Simplerregime Firm'. This set out
the proposed eligibility requiremants to qualify under this regime. The Group is Iikely to qualify for this regime.

During June 2022, the PRA issued CP&/22 "Model risk managament principles for banks’ consulting on strunger governance
axpeciations for modet governarice to address observed shortcomings within the industry. The prapaszls reference making a board
member responsible for madel risk management matters and references a proportionate approach, potentially with less onerous
requirernents for firms considered as ‘Simpler Regime’ fums. The PRA prapose to incorporate these revised expectations into a new
Supervisory Statement which is expected to be issued during 2023. A working group has been established to review the potential
implications for the Group. ‘

1. Source: Otfice for Natienal Stetistics, data as at 31 Decamber 2022 unless othenvise stated.
2. Source: Office of Budget Respansibility: Economle and Fiscal Outlock November 2122,
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continued

In Novemnber 2022, the PRA issued CP16/22 'The PRA consults on proposals for implementation of the Baseal 3.1 standards’ setting out
its proposed changes to regulatory requirements, which are expected to become effective on 1 January 2025. The proposals set cut
changes to the regulatory envirorsment, including significant changes to the capital requirementts for credit risk and operational risk.

" The guidance also proposes allowing those firms which are eligible for the Simpler Regime to apply for a waiver not to adopt Base! 3.1
and instead remain on the current UK Capital Requirements Regulation regime until the capital rules applicable to the Simpler Regime
are launched. Further consuliation papers for requirements under this regime are not expected until 2023 and 2024, and for which an
implementation date is still to be announced. The Group is reviewing CP14/22 to understand the potential impact under the proposed
fullt rules and decide whether it will adopt the full rules or defer and adopt the Simpler Regime.

As expected frorm 13 Decemmber 2022, the UK Countercydlical Capital Buffer { CCyR') rate increased from 0% to 1%. In July 2022,
the Financial Policy Cammittee (FPC’) confirmed a further increase in the UK CCyB rate to 2% from 5 July 2023. The FPC have
subsequently stated that they will continue to monitor the CCyB rale due 1o the current uncertainty around the economic outlook.

In response to the normalisation of the CCyB towards its 2% target [evel, the PRA announced on 13 dune 2022 that the temporary PRA
buffer increase te afl firms that received a Pillar 2A capital reduction under the PS15/20 *Pillar 2A: Reconciling capital reguirements and
rmacroprudential buffers’ would no longer apply from December 2022, The Group's capital planning process incorporates changes and
future expected changes to its capital requirerments.

Conduct regulation

The FCA has also published several reports and new rules. In July 2022, the FCA issuad their policy statement on the new Consumer
Duty, which sets a higher and dearer lavel of outcomes-based consumer pratection in retall financial markets. The duty comes into
force on 31 July 2023. The first key milestone for implementing the duty required firms’ boatds to approve implementation plans by
end Qctober 2022, which has haen completed by the Group. A project is in place to manage implementation across Group.

The FCA continues to focus on supporting consumers who are struggling with the rising cost of living. In July 2022 thay published &
Dear Chair letter requiring banks to improve the treatment of struggling business borrowers through their collactions and recoveries
activities. [n November 2022 the FCA published findings from their Borrowers in Financial Difficuity review, which highlighted, in the
FCA’s view, that firms need to do rmore to support customers in financial difficulty. The FCA will continue to monitor data to assess how
firms are delivering forbearance. The Group continues to review reports and guidance in this area to build on s existing processes and
procedures to support its custorners through any financial difficulty.

In October 2022, the Payment Services Regulator confirmed the extension of the confirmation of payee rollout to an additional 400
firms. The service is designed to prevent accidentally misdirected payments and authorised push payment scams.

Government and monetary policy

In May 2022, the Government responded to the Depariment for Business, Energy and Industrial Strateqy (BEIS) ‘Restoring trust in
audit and corporate governance’ which provided more detzll of the expected reforms. The timetsble for implementation remains
unclear. The proposals include a stronger sanctions regirme for directors who breach their legal duties in refation to corporate reporting
and audit, along with additianal requirements of 'large’ public interest entities. it is expected many of the propasals will not to be
applicable to the Group due to its size.

Following 2 consultation on the optimal structure for UK financial services post-Brexit, the Finandial Services and Markets Bill {the
‘FSMB) was introduced to Patliament on 20 July 2022 and aims to implement the cutcomes of the Government's future regulatory
framework review and to meke changes to update the UK regulatory regime. The FSMB intends to move away fram the on shored EU
legisiation towards the historical approach taleen under the FSMA, whareby primary respansitility for regulation is delegated to the
UK requlatary autharities, subject ta the oversight of Parliament. The FSMB would implement the results of HM Treasury’s wholesale
mazkats review response publishad in March 2022, and provisions in respect of digital settlermnent assets, direct supervision of critical
third-party service praviders, changes to the financial promotions regime and insurers in financial difficulties among other things.

In December 2022, the UK Governmant released a package of proposed reforms to financial services regulation referred to as the
‘Edinburgh Reforms’. The reforms are wide ranging, featuring thirty separate anncuncements and inchiding {(without limitation)
proposed amendments to the ring-fencing and non-performing exposure regimes. HM Treasury has also propesed 1o use post Brexit
legislative flexibility to modernise UK financial services legislation by relaxing certain EU-derivad provisions of prudential regulation.
Details of the reforms and timing of implementation are not yet fully known, therefore the impact on the Group remains uncertain.

The Bank of England MPC announced eight consecutive increases in the UK Base Rate over the course of 2022 taking rates up from
0.25% at the start of the year to 3.5% at the end of December 2022, Rising interest rates have had a significant impact on the Group's
funding costs and appropriate action has been taken to manage new business pricing and overall net interest margin.

An increase to future Corporation Tax rates was announced and legislated in 2021. After some contrary announcements the increase
was confirned by the 2022 Autumn Statement along with changes to banking surcharge that had been legislated for earlier in

2022. The Corporation Tax rate will increase from 19% te 25% with effect from 1 Apri 2023, having a negative impact on the Group's
earnings. At the same time, the banking surcharge will reduce from 8% to 3% and the surcharge sllowance ava'lable to banking groups
will increase from £25 millien to £100 million. This change to the barking surcharge will have a positive impact on the Group but results
in a deferred tax charge in 2022 due Lo a reduction to deferred tax asset values calculated from expected future tax relief based on
enacted rates.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk management

The effective management of risk is a key part of the Group's strategy and is underpinned by our Risk Aware value. This helps to
protect the Group's customers and generate sustainable returns for sharsholders. The Group is focused on ensuring that it maintains
sufficient levels of capital, liquidity and operational control, and acts in a reputable way.

The Group's Chief Risk Officer is raspansible for leading the Group's Risk function, which is independent from the Group's operational
and commercial teams. The Risk function is responsible for designing and embedding appropriate risk management frameworks,
processes and controls, and making sure that they are sufficiently robust, so that key risks are identified, assessed, monitored and
accepted ar mitigated in fine with the Group's risk appetite. The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for reporting to the Board on the
Group's principal risks ahd how these are being managed against agreed risk appetite.

Risk appetite

The Group has identified the risk drivers and major risk categories relevant to the business, which has enabled it to produce a
camprehensive suite of risk appetite statements and metrics which underpin the strategy of the Group. The Board approves the
Group’s risk appetite staterents, which define the lavel and type of risk that the Group is prepared to accept in the achievement
of its strategic objectives.

Risk culture

A strong ¥isk aware culture s integral to the successful delivery of the Group's strategy and the effective management of risk.

The Group's risk cutture is shaped by a range of factars induding risk appetite, risk frameworks and policies, values and behaviours,
and a clear tone from the top of the organisation.

The Group has an ongoing focus on developing its risk management practices and enhancing its risk culture. In 2022, the Group
revised its risk frameworks and policies, delivered training at all levels of the Group, and has driven increased accountability and
ownership of Risk within the first line of defence.

Risk governance

The Group's approach to managing risk is defined within #ts Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Framewark. This provides a clear
risk taxanomy for the Group and provides an overarching framewaorle for risk management supported by individual risk discipline
frameworks and policies, which set the standards on risk identification and assessment, mitigation, monitoring and reporting.

The Group's risk management frameworks, pslicies and procedures are regularly reviewed and updated to reflect the risks that the
Group faces in its business activities and are appropriate for the nature, scale and complexity of the Group’s operations. The Group’s
risk management frameworks suppart decision-maldng across the Group and are designad to ensure that risks are appropriately
managed and reported via risk-specific committees,

Established risk committees are in place at Board, Group and individual business unit level to enable clear oversight of risk
management, including robust risk identification and mitigation across the Group,

An Executive Risk Cornmittes, chaired by the Chief Risk Officer, reviews key risk management information from across the risk
disciplines, with material issues escalated to the Executive Commitiee and/or the Risk Committee of the Board, as required.
The Group oparates a Three Lines of Defence’ model for the management of its risks. The Three Lines of Defence, when taken
together, control and manage risks in line with the Group's risk appetite. The three lines are:

« First line: all employeas within the business units and associated support functions including Operations, Finance, Treasury,
Human Resources and Legal. The first line has ownership of and primary responsibility for their risks;

+ Second line: specialist risk management and compliance teams reporting directly into the Chief Risk Officer covering Credit risk,
Operational risk, Prudential risk, Compliance and Financial crime. The second line are responsible for developing framewarks to
assist the first ling in the management of their risks and providing oversight and challenge designed to ensure these are managed
within appetite; and

s Third line: is the Internal Audit function which provides independent assurance on the effectiveness of risk management across
the Group.

Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022 25



Stratagic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties

continued

Board Committees

* See Corporate Governance section an pages 60 to 119

l

Executive Officer.

Group Executive Cammittee
Chair: Chief Executive Officer

Provides an exacutive oversight of the on-going safe and profiteble operation of the Group. It reports 1o the Board through the Chief

Responsible for the execution of the strategy of the Group at the direction of the Chief Exeautive Officer.

Executive Risk Committee
Chalr: Chief Risk Officer

»

Assets and Liabilities Committee {{ ALCO)
Chair: Chief Financial Officer

Responsible for averseeing the Group’s risk profile, its adherence « Responsible for implementing and controliing the liquidity,

to regulatory compliance and monitoring these against the risk and asset and fiability management risk appetite of the Group,

appetite set by Board.

praviding high leve! control over the Group balance sheet and

« Monitors the effective implementation of the risk management assodiated sisks.

frarnework across the Group.

* Sets and controls capital deployment, treasury strategy guidelines
and limits and focuses on the effects of future plans and strategy on
the Group's assets and liabilities.

Credit
Committees
Responzsible for making decisions on

lending, inclusive of aversight of credit
scorecards and modeliing.

Meodel Cther
Governance Committee Committees
Respensible for understanding, The: activities of the Executive Risk
challenging, and assessing risk, Committee and ALCC are also supported
weaknass, and appropriateness by various specialist sub-committess and
of statistical and financial models and working groups, covering: Liguidity,
to challenge model assumptions and Financial Crime, Compliance and
suitable model validation, Regulation, Operational Risk, Assumptions

and Climate Change.

Principal risks

Executive management performs ongoing monitoring and assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that
would threaten its business model, future performance, salvency or liquidity.

Further details of the principat risks and the changes ta risk profile seen during the 2022 finandal year are set out below. In line with the
Group's updated Enterprise-Wide Risk Managament Framewark, Madel risk has been added as a principal risk and Regulatory risk has
been incorporated within Cornpliance and Conductrisk,

The Group alse regularly reviews strategic and emerging risks and analysis has been included to detail cutput of these reviews for 2022,

Notes 39 to 42 o the Financial Statements provide further analysis of credit, liquidity, market and capital risks.

Further details of the Group’s risk management framewaork, including risk appetite, can be folind on the Group's website:

www.securaetrustbank.com/our-corporate-information/risk-management
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Credit risk

Description
The risk of loss to the Group from the failure of dients, customers, ar counterparties ta honour fully their abligations to the firm,
including the whole and timely payment of principal, interest, collateral, or other receivables.

Mitigation

¢ The Group has a defined Credit risk framework, which sets out how Credit risk is managed and mitigatad across the Group.
Risk appetite is cautious with the Group focusing on sectors and products where it has deep experience.

Specialist Credit tearns are in place within each business area to enable new lending that is originated in line with Group

risk appetite.

For Business Finance, lending is secured against assets, with Real Estate Finance lending, the majority of which is at fixed rates,
secured by property at conservative loan-to-value ratios and short dated Commercial Finance lending secured across a range
of assets, including debtors, stock and plant and machinery.

For Consumer Finance, security is taken for Vehicle Finance lending and Retail Finance is unsecured, however positioned
towards lower risk sectors. The majority of Retail Finance lending is interest free for consumers, with remaining consurner
lending at fixed rates, which mitigates the direct impact of rising interest rates on affordability. Consumer Credit risk is assessed
through a combinatian of risk scerecatds, cradit and affordability policy rules.

Portfolio performance is tracked closely and reported via specialist management review meetings, into the Executive and
Board Risk Committees, with ability to make changes to policy, affordability assessments or scorecards on an active hasis.
Although the Group does not rautinely offer forbearance, it may offer temporary arrangements where appropriate.

Further information can be found in Note 39.2 to the Financial Staternents.

Management monitors and assesses concentration risk for aill lending against control limits. The diversification of lending
activities and secured nature of larger exposures mitigates the exposure of the Group to cancentration risk.

The Group routinely monitars the credit ratings of the counterparties in relation to the Group's loans and advances to banks.

Change during the year Heightened @

During the second half of 2022, economic conditions deteriorated in the UK with price increases, particularly energy prices,
leading to high levels of inflation and cost of living pressures for consumers. In addition to energy prices, businesses experienced
supply chain end labour market pressures. Both consumers and businesses started to be impacted by rising interest rates at the
end of the period.

The Group's lending portfolios performed well in 2022. Retail Finance arrears remained low by histotical comparison as a result
of a move into lower risk sectors, and whilst an increase was seen in Vehicle Finance, this refiected the return back to the market
following the pandemic with overall provisions at an equivalent level to pre pandemic, Business Finance had low levels of
provisions in the period, representing robust client selection and the secured nature of lending in these areas.

Overall rating for the year is driven by the uncertainty of the operating envirenment.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
continued

Liquidity and Funding risk

Description

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its liquidity cbligations as they fall due or can only do so at excessive
cost. Funding risk is the risk that the Group is unable to raise or maintain funds to support asset growth, or the risk arising from
an unstable funding profile which could result in higher funding costs.

Mitigation
Liquidity and Funding risk is managed in line with the Group's Prudential Risk Management Framewaork and the Liquidity and
Funding Risk policy. The framework defines:

« The governance arrangements for managing and reporting these risks;
+ Risk appetite statements and associated thresholds and metrics; and
* The escalation protess in the svent of a breach of risk appetite.

The Group has a defined set of liquidity and funding risk appetite measures which are monitored daily and monthly.

The Group manages its liquidity and funding in line with internal and regulatory requirements, and at least annually assesses its i
exposure to liquidity risks and adequacy of its liquidity resources as part of the Group's Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment :
Process {'ILAAP).

In Iine with the Prudential Regulation Authority’s { PRA]) self-sufficiency rule, the Group always seeks ta maintain liquid resources
which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, and managed to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities
cannot be met as they fall due under stressed conditions. The Group defines liquidity adequacy as the:

* ongoing ability to accommaodate the refinancing of liabilities upon maturity and other means of deposit withdrawal at
acceptable cost;

=+ ability to fund asset growth; and

= otherwise, capacity to meet contractual obligations thraugh unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market rates.

The Group conducts regular and comprehensive liquidity stress testing to identify sources of potential liquidity strain and to check
that the Group's |iquid[ty position remains within the Board's risk appetite and prudential regulatery requirements and limits.

Contingency funding plans

The Group maintains a Recovery Plan which sets out how the Group would maintain sufficient liquidity to remain viable during
a severe liquidity stress event. The Group also retains access to the Bank of England liquidity schemes, including the Discount
Window Facility.

Change during the year Stable @

Stress tests performed as part of the ILAAP confirmed that the Group has sufficient funds to meet il regulatory requirements
and that there is no significant risk that liabilities canniot be met as they fall due. The rising interest rate environment has
increased competitive pressures in deposit pricing and impacted customer behaviour. Despite this, the Group has maintained
its liquidity ratics in excess of requlatory requirements throughout the year.
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Capital risk

Description
Capital risk is the risk that the Group will have insufficient capital resources to meet minimum regulatory requirements and to
support levels of grawth,

The Group adopts a canservative approach to managing its capital. It znnually assesses the adequacy of the amount and quality
of capital held under stress as part of the Group's Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (1CAAPY),

Mitigation
Capital management is defined as the operational and governance pracesses by which capital requirements are identified and

capital resources maintained and allocated, such that regulatory requirements are met while maximising returns and supporting
sustainable growth.

The Group manages its capital requirements on a forward-looking basis against minimurn regulatory requiraments and the
Board's risk appetite to ensure capital resources are sufficient to support planned levels of growth.

The Group will take opportunities to increase averall levels of capital and to optimise its capital staclk as and when appropriate.
In addition ta the ICAAR the Group performs regular budgeting and reforecasting exercises which consider a five-year time
harizen. These forecasts are used to plan for future lending growth at a rate that both increases year-eon-year profits and
maintains a healthy capital surplus, taking inta consideration the impact of known and anticipated future requlatory changes
induding the astimated impact of the re-introduction of the countercyelical capital buffer requirement. The PRA proposed
increase ta this buffer is explained an page 24 has been reflected in capital planning.

The Group also models various stressed scenarios looking over a five-year time horizon, which consider a range of growth rates
over those years as part of the viability and going concern assessments.

Further inforrmation on the Group's capital requirernent is contained within the Pillar 3 disclosures which are published as a
separate document on our website www.securetrustbank.com/investors/news-annauncements/results-reports/pillar-3.

Change during the year Stable @

The Group continues to meet its capital ratio measures taking into consideration the increased requirements driven by planned
growth and ircreasing regulatory requirements and continues to operate within agreed risk appetite. Details of the comman
equity tier 1 ratio, total capital ratio and leverage ratic are included in the Financial review on page 14.

The 2022 ICAAP showed that the Group can continue to meet its minimum regulatory capital requirements, even under extrerme
stress scenarios. The COVID-19 pandemic demonstrated the benefit of the relatively short duration of the Group' lending
portfolios. This feature of our balance sheet allows us to flex lending growth rates in response to changing economic conditions.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
continued

Marlket risk

Description

Market risk is the risk to the Group's earnings and/or value from unfavourable market movements such as interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. The Group's market risk primarily arises from interest rate risk. Interest rate risk refers to the exposure
of the Group's financial position, balance sheet and earnings to movements in interest rates,

The Group's balance sheet is predominantly denominated in GBP, although a small number of transactions are completed in
US Dollars, Euros and cther currendies in suppert of Commercial Finance customers. The Group has no significant exposures
to foreign currencies and hedges any residual currency risks to Sterling.

Mitigation

The Group's principal exposure comes from the term structure of interest rate sensitive iterns and the sensitivity of the Group’s
current and future earnings and economic value to movements in market intarest rates, The Group does not take significant
unmatched positions through the application of hedging strategies and does not operate a trading book. The main contributors
to interest rate risk are:

+ tha mismatch, or duration, between repricing dates of assets and liabilities; and

* customer optionality, for example, early repayment of loans in advance of contraclual maturity dates.

The Group uses an interest rate sensitivity gap analysis which informs the Group of any significant mismatched interest rate risk
positions that require hedging. This takes into consideration the behavioural assumptions for optionality as approved by ALCO.

Risk positions are managed through the structural matching of assets and liabilities with similar tenors and the use of derivative
instrumnents to hedge the residual unmatehed position and minimise the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group has a defined set of market risk appetite measures which are monitored monthly. Interest rate risk in the banking
book is measured from an intemal management and regulatory perspective taking into consideration both an economic value
and earnings-based approach.

The Graup monitors its exposure: ta basis risk and any residual non-GBP positions. Processes are in place ta review and react
1o movements to the Bank of England Base Rate.

All such exposures are maintained within the risk appetite set by the Board and are monitored by ALCO.

Change during the year Stable (<)

Despite material increases in the Bank of England Base Rate in 2022 following a period of very low rates, the Group remained
within risk appetite in respect of interest rate risk and market risk throughout the year.

The Group has made further enhancements to market risk management in 2022, including the implementation of a new Asset
and Liabilty Management systern.
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Operational risk

Description
Operational risk is the risk that the Group may be expesed to direct or indirect foss arising frem inadequate ar failed internal
processes, personnel and sucgession, technology/ infrastructure, or from external factars.

The scope of Operational risk is broad and includes business process, business continuity, third party risk, Change, Hurman
Resources, Information Security and [T risk, including Cyber risk.

Mitigation

The Group has an Operatianal Risk Framework designed in accardance with the 'Principles for the Sound Management of

Operational Risk’ issued by the Basel Commitize on Banking Supervision. This framework defines and facilitate these activities:

+ arjsk and control seif-assessment process to identify, assess and mitigate risks across ail business uniis through improvements
ta the control environment;

* the governance arrangements for managing and reporting these risks;

* risk appetite statements and associated thresholds and metrics; and

* an incident management process that defines how incidents should be managed and asseciated remediation, reporting and
root-cause analysis.

The framewark is designed to ensure appropriate governance is in place to provide adequate and effective oversight of
the Group's operational risks, The governance framework includes the Group Operational Risk, Executive Risk and Board
Risk Commitiess.

The Group has a defined set of qualitative and quantitative operational risk appetite measures. These measures cover all
cateqories of aperational risk and are reported and monitored monthly.

In addition to the delivery of frarmework requirements, the Group has focused on these thematic areas of Operational Risk in 2022:

Supplier management —The Group recognises that it is important to manage supphiers effectively and has embedded a suite
of standard controls for all its material suppliers to reduce the risk of operational impacts. The Group has implemented the
regulatory requirements for Third-Party Risk Management.

Operaticnal and IT rasilience — The Operational Risk Framewotk supports the ongoing resilience of the Group’s operational
and IT services, including business continuity management, disaster recovery, incident management, process managemaent,
and the cyber strategy. The Group has implemented the regulatory requirements for operational resilience.

Inforrmation security and cyber risk — The Group has paid considerable attention to ensuring the effective management of
risks arising from a failure or breach of its information technology systems that could result in customer exposure, business
disrupticn, financial losses, or reputational damage.

Hybrid working — The Group now permanently operates in a hybrid environment. To ensure alignment with the Financial
Canduct authority’s (FCAY) hybrid/ remote working expectations (published in October 2021), detailed risk and control
assessments were performed to check control functions remained effsctive.

Change during the year Stable @

The Group uses the The Standardised Approach’ for assessing its operational risk capital, in recognition of the erhancements
made to its framework and embedding this across the Group. The Group continues o invest in resource, expertise, and systems
1o support the Operational Risk Frarnework. In 2022 the Group has continued to enhance these standards and has introduced
several improvernents to the control framewarks in place across its operational risks. Overall, the assessment is that the lavel of risl
has remained stable.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
continued

Model risk

Description

Madel risk is the potential for adverse consequences from maodel errors ar the inappropriate use of modelled autputs to infarm
business decisions.

The Group has multiple models which are used, amongst other things, to suppert pricing, strategic planning, budgeting,
forecasting, regulatory reporting, credit risk management and provisioning.

Model risk has been elevated to a principal risk following & review of the Group's Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Framewaork.
Mitigation

The Group has a Model Risk Management palicy which governs its approach ta model risk and sets out:

« Model risk appetite

* Maodel and model risk definitions

* Roles and responsisilities for model risk management

As required within its policy, the Group maintains a model inventary and a risk register incorporating specific modef related risks,

Change during the year Heightened @

The Group, supported by the output of an Internal Audit review has taken steps to improve its approach to model risk
management, including recruiting new roles and working with a specialist third party to support a refresh of its policy and
established enhanced monitoring and reporting. This work will continue in 2023, This aligns with the expectation of an updated
supervisory staterment in H1 2023. Heightened status reflects increased internal focus end regulatory expectations.

Compliance and Conduct risk

Description

The risk that the Group’s products and services, and the way they are defivered, result in poor outcomnes for customers or markets
in which we operate, or cause harm ta the Group. This could be as a direct result of poor or inappropriate execution of our
business activities or behaviour from cur employees. This now incorporates regulatory risk which was presented as a separate
principal risk in the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts.

Mitigation

The Group manages this risk through its Compliznce and Conduct Risk Management Framework. The Group takes a principles-
based approach which inciudes retail and commercial customers in our definition of ‘customer’, with coverage across all business
units 2nd both regulated and unregulated activities.

Risk managerment activities include horizon scanning of ragulatory changes, oversight of regulatary incidents, and reporting
agafnst risk appetite metrics.

The Group's horizen scanning activities track industry and regulatory developrments including the PRAS work on a strong and
simple prudential framework for nan-systemic banks and building societies, the implementation of the Basel 3.1 standard, the
Government’s national data strategy and the PRA and FCA's transformation agendas related to data.

Key initiatives continuing into 2023 are the Cansumer Duty {for which a Group project is in place ta deliver the agreed
implementation plan); changes to the Appointed Representatives regime; and confirmation of payee requirements.

Change during the year Stable @

The Group has continued to operate within overzl! risk appetite, remaining focused on delivering gooa customer outcomes.

32 Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022




Strategic Report Corporate Governance Report Financial Statamants

Financial Crime risk

Description

The risl that the Group fails to prevent the farilitatinn of financial arime by nat having effective systems and controls in line with
regulatory requirements,

Mitigation

Wa operate in a constantly evelving financial crime environment, with the economic climate impacting the leve! and type of
threat faced by the financial services industry by those atternpting to take advantage of the period of uncertainty.

The Group has no appetite for failing to maintain effective, systems, resources and controls and robust oversight to mitigate the
risk of the Group's products and servicas being used to facilitate finandial crirme.

The Graup has a Financial Crime Framework designed te meet regulatory and legislative obligations which includes:

* Mandatory annual calleague training and awareness initiatives and regular reviews of our policies and standards.

* Horizon scanning and regular management information production and analysis conducted to identify emerging threats,
trends and typologies as well as preparing for new legislation and regutlation.

+ Financial crime focused governance forums and risk committees providing senior management oversight, challenge and
risk escalation.

* Participating in key industry forums (or associations) such as those hosted by UK Finance.

Change during the year Stable @ ;

The Group appeinted & new Head of Financial Crime and Money Laundering Reporting Officer in Novemnber 2022. The Group
continued to enhance its Financiat Crime Framework in 2022, recognising the evelving nature of financial crime risk, with
measures including:

* Completion of annual Enterprise-Wide Risk Assessment and Money Laundering and Reporting Officer reports.

* Group-wide anti-bribery and corruption, facilitation of tax evasion and fraud standards have been implemented to enhance
further the econormic crime framework, and work to help ensure that sanctions risk is minimised.

* Spedialist economic crime training has been provided to the Board and Executive and the internal financial crime awareness
campaign under the banner of 'Spot the signs, stop the crimes’ is regularly communicated across the Group. :
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Principal risks and uncertainties
continued

Climate Change risk

Description

Climate change, and sodiety’s response to it, present risks to the UK financiai services sector. While some of these risks will
only fully crystallise ever an extended period, there are some shorter-term risks reflective of the strategic responses from other
organisations, governments and regulatars,

Mitigation

The Group has now established processes to manitor our risk exposure to both the potential ‘Physical’ effects of climate change
and the "Transitional' risks fram the UK’s adjustment towards a carbon neutral economy. A Climate Change Working Group,
reporting to the Executive Risk Committes, is in place and meets regularly with senior representation from across the Group.
Stress testing work has bean complstad for our Vehicie Finance and Real Estate Finance businesses to test the resilience of our
portfolios and strategies to manage the risks and opportunities of climate change. Further detail is provided within the Climate-
related financial disclosures section of the Annual Report and Accounts (see pages 50 to 59).

Change during the year Stable @

The Group's direct exposure to the physical impacts of dimate change is relatively limited, given its footprint and areas of
operation. However, it has established robust controls to manage the associated risks and will continue to develop our business
plans in the future as the risks evolve. Disclosures are made in this year’s Annual Report and Accounts in line with the guidance
from the Task Force on Climate-related financial disclosures'. Specific detail on each of the key risks identified and mitigation are
coverced within the ‘Strategy’ section of our Climate-related financial disclosures on page 51.

Strategic and emerging risks

In addition to the principal risks disclosed above, the Board and Executive Committee regularly consider strategic and emerging
risks, including key factors, rends and uncertainties which could impact the performance of the Group.

The key strategic risk identified by the Executive and reported through to the Risk Cammittee was the macroecanomic
enviranment in the UK. The Group operates exclusively within the UK and therefore its performance is influcnced by the
performance of the UK ecanomy. Weaknesses in economic position ar autlook can impact the demand for the Group's products,
returns that can be achieved and the level of impairments.

2022 saw rapid increases in inflation, driven principally by increases in energy costs as a result of the conflict in Ukraine and other
supply chain and labour market issues. The Bank of England response to higher inflation has been to increase interest rates, with
continued upward pressure into 2023 creating uncertainty for consumers and businesses.

The Group has taken proactive action to reflect these changes in lending parameters to continue to operate within its Credit risk
appetite and mairtain support for its customers.

Whilst material direct fmpacts have not yet been seen, the Group continues ta monitor closely the macroeconomic environment
to assess the impact of these changes on its customer and finandal performance.
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Viability and going concern

Going concern

tn assessing the Group as a going concern, the Directors considered the faciors likely to affect its future performance and
development, the Group's financial position and the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, as set out in the Strategic
Report. The Group uses various short and mediumn-term forecasts to monitor future capital and liquidity requirements, and these
indude stress testing business planning assumptions to identify the headroom on regulatory compliance measures, The detalls of the
forecasts and stress tests are explained in the Business viability secticn below.

Accordingly, the Directors cenclude that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to cantinue in operaticnal existence
for a period of at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the Financial Statements and therefore it is appropriate to continue
to adopt the going cancern basis in preparing the accounts.

Business viahility

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corperate Governance Code, the Directors confirm that there is a reasonable expectation

that the Company and the Group wifl be able to continue in operation and meet their liabilities as they fall due, for the periad

up to 31 December 2027, As the Group's financial planning harizon is five years, the Group considers a five-year period for its

viability assessment.

The Directors are confident of the Group's viability cver the longerterm after considering all the principal risks affecting the Group,

including these factors:

+ The Group has delivered strong profit arowth and capital management in 2022 and the 2023 annual budget process indicates
long-term growth potential.

+ The Group successiully navigated through the real-life business and finandial stresses resulting fram the COVID-19 pandemic.

The tegacy of the pandemic is that the Group has adopted new working practices, proved it can take necessary action on credit
policy to manage risk and control business volumes, and demonstrated its operational resilience.

Our deposit base is made up of retail customers and 95% of total deposits are fully covered by the Financial Services Compensaticn
Scheme {'FSCS".

In H2 2022, in response to the ecanamic downturn and uncertainty, multiple changes were made to scarecard cut-offs and
affordability checks in the Consumer Finance business to manage the credit quality of customer applicetions accepted. Similarly the
Group has not targeted higher risk lending in the Business Finance division and has focused on working with its existing custormers,

Our stress testing indicates the Group's ability to manage its capital and liquidity requirements through the regulator’s prescribed
financial swesses. The Group has maintained capital levels in excess of its internal risk appetites and regulatory requiremnents
throughout the year and is forecast to continue ta do so aver the five-year planning harizen.

In the area of climate change, the Board recagnises the long-term risks and following a review will launch its full ESG strategy in
2023. The impact of climate change is reflacted in the business planning process and risks associated with climate change are
considered zs part of the annual ICAAP. Material impacts of climate change on the Group's markets and business model will emerge
over the lengerterm horizon and beyond the period of viability assessment. Notwithstanding this, the Group is mindful of the nead
to sdapt its business model to changes in the markets it operates in as a result of climate change.

-

Furthermore, the Board considers that the circumstances required to cause the Group to fail, as demonstrated by its strass testing
procedures, are sufficiently remote, :

The Directors have based their assessment on the results of thase activities:

¢ The latest annual budget process, which contains information on the expected financial and capital positions and performance of
the Group over the 2023 to 2027 period.

The Group monitors its key performance indicators across profit, capital, liquidity, and different risk categories to mitigate any
changes in risk outside of its risk appetite,

.

{n additian to the annuat budget process, key sensitivities are measured through other forecasting activity undertaken over the
course of the year, which would impact on capital and liquidity over the planning horizon.

L 2

The Group's ILAAP, approved by the Board in June 2022, provides assurance that the Group can maintain liquidity resources
which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as
they fall due. This risk was tested under the financial stresses outlined below. The Group has maintained liquidity levels in excess
of its liquidity risk appetite and regulatory requirements throughout the year and is forecast to continue to do 5o over the ILAAP
planning horizon.

The Group's ICAAP, which considered the PRA’s published macroeconomic stress and severe scenarios in order to assess the
adequacy of capital resources over the 2022 to 2026 period, was approved in September 2022, Within this process, the Group
considered the extent of the credi, operational and market risks it is exposed to and how such risks affect its required capital levels.
Under the macroeconomic stress, the details of which are set out belaw, at no point were minimum regulatory capital requirements
breached and capital buffers held at the start of the stress were confirmed to be adequate.
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Viability and going concern
continued

*« The latest Group Recovery Plan was approved in December 2022 and confirmed that the Group has sufficient recovery options
available to recover from the savere econemic stress scenario modelled over the 2022 to 2026 peried. The primary recovery options
are to raise new deposits and reduce the level of new lending.

» Consideration of the other principal risks, as set out on pages 25 to 34, identify any other severe but plausible scenarios that could
threaten the Group’s business medel, future performance, solvency or liquidity. :

A summary of the different financial stresses are set out below:

ILAAP

The Group’s 2022 ILAAP included idiesyncratic, markel wide and combined stress scenarios.

The idiosyncratic liquidity stress test assumed poor levels of customer service leads to adverse media coverage on financial websites '
and on television, making it materially more challenging to retain matwing term bonds and resuiting in higher notice being served on :
savings accounts.

The market wide stress is based upon the UK economy entering a severe recession with rising unemployment and inflation,

falling house and equity prices, and subdued wage growth and a contraction in GDP due to prolonged economic uncertainty.

Higher customer default rates (in line with ICAAP stress testing) and customer requests for payment halidays or short-term forbearance

results in lower payment inflews. Comnpletions on consumer contracts fall while requests for refinancing from business customers also i
contracts in line with reduced econornic activity. The Group seeks to maintain market presence in all material business lines and so
continues lending but on a more selective basis, so avoiding potential reputational damage from full market withdrawal. The prevailing
ecanomic conditions results in some increase in notice being served on savings accounts and lower bond retention as customers
migrate to more liquid easy access savings products.

The combined strass includes elements of the idiosyncratic and market stresses whereby the UK econormy enters a severe recession,
and the Group suffers outflows due to poor eustomer services at tha same time.

In addition, the ILAAP includes sensitivity analysis to model the impact of adverse variances in stress assumptions used in each of the
above scenarios.

Reverse stress test modelling was also performed to identify the type and severity of a stress required for the Group to be no longer
able to meet its liquidity requirermnents. The chosen scenario included the impact of an immediate repayment of amount drawn under
the TFSME due to the ineligibility of collateral to support this funding.

ICAAP

The Group's ICAAP considered a PRA published macroeconomic stress and severe scenarios 1o assess the adequacy of capitat

resources over the 2022 to 2026 pericd. The maaoeconomic stress included an unemployrnent peak of 9.2% in Q2 2023, a 33%

property price decline by mid-2024, and an economic recovery beginning in 2024. Atno point under the stress were the Group’s ;
minimurm capital requirements not met and capital buffers held at the start of the stress were confirmed to be adequate. ‘ ,
Reverse stress test modelling was also performed to assess the level of stress required for the Group to be no longer able to meet its

capital requirements. This required a significantly mere severe scenaric, induding peak unemployment of 12.7% and a sharper decline

in house prices ta 50% of the starting values.

The ICAAP alse utilised scenario modelling for elements of the Group’s Pillar 2A capital assessment to support the assessment of

operational risk and credit risk. f 1

Recovery Plan

The latest Group's Recovery Plan confirmed that the Group has sufficient recovery options available to recover from the severe strass
scenarios madelled over the 2022 to 2026 period. H
The combined capital stress test incduded peak unemployment of 12.7%, a 50% decline in property prices, and an increase in
operational losses based on the ICAAP Pillar 2A scenario modelling. The idiosyncratic liquidity stress test assumed a loss of confidence
in the Group resulting in a run on the bank with a rapid loss of Access and 1SA deposits and significantly increased Notice Account
outflows. \n addition, it was assurmed that there would be a significart increase in requests to withdraw funds from fixed term bonds 1
prior to the original maturity date. At the same time, to reflect a layering of liquidity risks, iending outflows ware increased due to i
higher levels of pipeline completion.
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Managing our business responsibly
Environmental, social and governance strategy

elivering value
for all stakeholders

Qur focus areas  Sustainable Development Goals

Climate
action/risk

Customer trust

Equality, diversity
and inclusion
{'ED&")

IMAGE REMOVED—‘

Education
and skills

Communities
and charities

Acting
responsibly

What is our environmental, social and governance ('ESG’) strategy?

During 2022 the Group established its ESG strategy. Our ESG strategy is to:

* prioritise the ESG factors which we determine as material. These are issues of significant concern ta our stakeholders which influence
the delivery of our business strategy and our ability to achieve success; and

* act responsibly by aligning our activities with external standards relevant te us.

Ouwr stakeholders are our customers, shareholders and capital providers, smployees, wider saciety and the enviranment, requlators,
and suppliers.

How did we develop our ESG strategy and priorities?

The Group continues to work with Business in the Community (BiTCY, the Responsible Business Network. in 2021 we taok part in BiTC's
Responsible Business Tracker, Building on this, in 2022 wea pricritised the ESG issues material to our stakeholders and our success, to
help develop our ESG strategy. There are several external standards that also helped us to develop our ESG strategy, indluding the UN
Sustainable Development Goals {UN SDGs'), the World Economic Forum, and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board ('SASBY).
None of these standards directly align to the Group, therefore, we made judgements about the material ESG issues for us and our
stakeholders and distilled them inta our ESG focus issues,

Who owns our ESG strategy?

Ultimate ownership and oversight of our ESG strategy is with the Board as il suppoits the business strategy set by it. The Board delegates
the implementation of our ESG strategy to the Chief Executive Officer { CEO') and through him to the Executive Committee.

What is the governance that supports our ESG strategy?

The Executive Committes is supportad by the Executive Risk Committee and working groups covering environment, climate change,
equality diversity and inclusion, and customer experience. It is also supported by our Charity Committea which coordinates cur choices
of our prefarred charities, communicates activities that support them and promotes £-for-£ ratch charity funding and volunteering.
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Managing our business responsibly

Environmental, social and governance strategy
continued
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Focus issue

Measures/Disclosures

We airn to minimise the harmiul impact of our business on
the environment by reducing Scope 1 and 2 emissions from
our operations and to use less and re-use more.

Reduce Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 50% from

31 December 2021 to 3t December 2025.

Compliance with the Task Force for Climate-related
Financial Discfosures { CHD') requirements and related
PRA regulations/Listing Rules,

Build the trust of our customers through the way we treat
them, by enhancing their experience, achieving high
standards of custamer service excellence and through the
outcomes we enable for them.

Accreditetion with the Government backed Customer
Service Excellence quality mark.

Feefo Trusted Awards,
Awards from Moneyfacts.
HM Government Cyber Essentials Plus certificate.

Our vision is ta be a successful inclusive business where all
our people feel respected, can confidently be themselves
and fulfil their potential.

-

Maintaining/improving Great Place to Work® rankings for
large companies, women and wellbeing.

H Trezsury Women In Finance Charter published targets.
Annual Gender Pay Gap reporting.

Maintaining/improving our Employer Network for Equality
and Inclusion {ENE!) TIDE Mark.

Maintaining our Disability Confident accreditation.

Help alf our colleagues through a wide range of skills and
development opportunities to build their specialisaticns,
increase their confidence, plan their career progression and
make it happen.

Meaintaining/ improving Great Place to Work® scores for
career development.

Make a positive contribution to the communities in which we
work and conduct our business.

Bi-annual report on supplier payment peried in days.
Annual modern slavery statement setting out steps

taken to eradicate modern sfavery in our businesses and
supply chains.

Total charities supported and annual fundraising for charity
by colleaguies and matched by the Group £-for-£.
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Managing our business responsibly
Section 172 statement

This section incorporates both our approach to Managing Business Responsibly and our section 172
statement. The Directors are bound by their duties under Section 172(1)(a} to {f} of the Companies
Act 2006 and the manner in which these have been discharged. The following pages 40 to 49
demonstrate how the Directors have discharged this duty, in particular their duty to act in the way
they consider, in good faith, promotes the success of the Company for the benefit of its members
as a whole and outlines decisions taken by the Board, detailing how stakeholder interests were
considered and balanced.

Customers

Link to strategy

Care Grow

Why we act responsibly for our customers

Qur purpose is to help more consumers and businesses fullil their ambitions. Our zim is to build the trust of our custamers through the
way we treat them, by enhancing our customers’ experience, achieving high standards of customer service excellerce and through the
outcormes we enabile for them. Preparing for the incoming Consumer Duty rules has given us the oppartunity to enhance our existing
approach to our customers and the cutcomes we reach for them.

We have rigorous policies and procedures designed to make our lending resparsible, fair and appropriate to the customer's circumstances,
thereby enabling customers to make informed borrowing decisions.

We only approve lending once we have checked a customer's creditworthiness and ahility to meet repayments. The customer
experience is considered at every paint in the design process for products and services. We reqularly seek customear opinion on new
initiatives befare prormating these to the wider population and the customer design approval process makes sure that we can provida
strong evidence that customer needs have been considered before a new product is launched.

We continue to adopt digital solutions to pravide good cutcomas for customers and imprave the customer experience. For example,
in the Retaill Finance business, we now offer customers more choice and convenience through open banking to repay their loan.

We have alsa lzunched the new streamlined parsonal loan eligibility check in partnarship with Freedom finance and the Savings team
has continued a preject to improve the custormer's digital experience.

in 2022 we renewed our Cyber Essentials Plus certification as part of our oversll information security protections.

Two-way engagement

Listening to our customers is paramount. We continue to use Feefo as an independent source of customer feedback, providing
valuable insight into our customer relationships. In addition, our customers can use Trustpilot Lo share their views about the Group.
Feefa scoring and customer service awards are monitored by the Board. We are keen to continually improve cur services and
complaints data is reviewed by the Executive and Board Commiitees. In 2022;

= our average Feefo rating, remained 4.6 out of 5 (2021: 4.6); and
» the average Trustpilot rating, improved to 4.7 out of 5 {2021: 4.6).

We also collected feedhack from our SME customers and satistaction scores, in 2022 these were:
* 92% for Real Estale Finance; and

* 97% for Commercial Finance.

We take pride that our ratings demonstrate our cullure of putting the customer at the centre of what we do. When poor feedback is
received, we treat each case individually and attempt to resolve the issue with the customer. This feedback is monitored alongside
complaints data and where emerging trends are noted, we seek to design and implement solutfans to fix the prablem.
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Outcomes

Customer service awards

For the tenth successive year, the Group has been accreditad with the Government-backed Customer Service Excellence {{CSE)

quality mark. This follows an in-depth external assessment against criteria that research has indicated are a priority for customers, with
pe Licalar fuetss on customer insight, culture, information, service defivery and quiality of service. The standard puts an emphasis on
developing customer insight, understanding the user’s experience and robust measurement of service satisfaction. It is designed to offer
organigations a practical tool for driving customer focused change. The final written report was very positive, particularly in relation to
putting the customers first: and states 'Secure Trust Bank is a progressive organisation that prides itself on innovation and its unwavering
ambition to provide excellent customer-centric services. Ongoing certification to the CSE Standard continues to be fully justified and
well-deserved.’ We have also been awarded Best Notice Account Provider by Moneyfacts in December 2022,

Feefo Trusted Awards

We also continue to be recognised through the Feefo Trusted Awards. In January 2023, it was announced that we've been awarded
Platinuim Trusted Service by Feefo for our Moneyway and V12 Retail Finance businesses as well as Trusted Service Award for cur Secure
Trust Bank ('STB'} Savings business. This independent seal of exceflence recognises that our businesses are delivering exceptional
experiences, rated by real customaers. These accreditations give clear external recognition that ocur customer focused approach runs
throughout our arganisation.

The Board

The Board receives updates on customer views. This helps us to shape the products and services we offer to suit our customers’ neads.
Key topics discussed at meetings have included:

villnerable client needs;
customer trends in 2022;
reviewing key business streams and lending products against customer feedback;

customer affordability;
receiving Feefo and Trustpilot ratings and customer service awards; and

-

aligning management reward with Feefo ratings.

How has the customer voice helped the Board make decisions on strategy?

As praviously reported, the Board decided to acquire AppToPay Ltd owner of the digital Buy Now Pay Later {BNPL) technology
platform following clear demand for this product from retail custorners and retailers. During 2022, the technology owned by the
entity has been further enhanced to integrate Into our existing systems in preparation for the launch of a regulated BNPL product,
The decision to acquire and integrate the AppToPay technalogy aligns our customer needs with our growth strategy, which is also
at the core of our shareholders’ interests.

One of our key values as a Group is ta be customer focused. Part of our ESG strateqy is enabling good outcomes for customers.
Together this value and strategy fit well with the forthcoming Consumer Duty rules, giving us an epportunity to review all aur products
and processes and see il we can make therm even betier. In 2022, the Board considered how it would meet the requirements of the
new Consumer Duty rules and appointed Finlay Williamson as the Consumer Duty Champion to help ensure that the consumer voice
is heard at the Board.

LOGOS REMOVED
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Section 172 statement
continued

Shareholders

Link to strategy

Care Grow

Why we act responsibly for our shareholders

The views of those who own STB and support us financially are impaortant as they provide us with the capital we use to run
our business,

Two-way engagement

The Board scught and received feedback from our principal shareholders during 2022 via our Chairman and CEO. Qur comimittee
chairmen, as well as the Senior Independent Director, were available to meet with sharehalders on request. The Remuneration
Committee Chairman consulted with our top shareholders regarding the Proposed Directors” Remuneration Policy (sse page 81 for
moare infarmation on the consultation process).

We foliowed up the success of the 2021 Capital Markets day with several investor meetings with key shareholders and investors
during 2022,

The Board also receives updates from the Head of Investor Relations, appointed in 2022, and Company Secretary on correspondence
received from sharehalders throughout the year.

Outcomes

The relaxation of the COVID-192 sadial distancing rules allowed us to hold cur 2022 AGM in person for the first tirme since 2019.
Sharcholders continued to be able to submit questions electronically ahead of the meeting with STB committing to publish responses
on our corporate website.

The Board

The Board is responsible for safeguarding our sharcholders’ investrent and we seek their feedback on our stewardship,
Key tapics discussed by the Board this year have includad:

s dividends;

* divestment and simplification of the Group;

* growth strategy; and

s trading updates,

How has the shareholder voice helped the Board make decisions on strategy?

The Board continued to follow its dividend palicy of returning 25% of earnings to shareholders, and declared an interim dividend of
16,0 pence per share in 2022 fallowing the 2021 final dividend of 41.1 pence per share.

‘The migration of the Debt Managers (Services) Limited loan portfolio camplated in Navembar 2022 fallowing the decision to divest

the Group of this business. Following a decision by the Board, the Group also completed the acquisition of AppToPay Ltd in May 2022
{o support the planned entry, through its Retail Finance business, into the requlated digital Buy Now Pay Later market.
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Employees

Link to strategy

Sustain

Why we act responsibly for our employees

We balieve that praviding our employaes with an effective voice contributes to building trust, innovation, productivity and
organisational improvement. By considering our people as a key stakeholder in our decision making, we seek to attract the best
people for aur business, gain their commitment and retain them long-term to fulfil their ambitions at work. The employee voice is
pivotal in creating diversa, inclusive and safe working environments.

Two-way engagement

We gperste Ermployee Councils in each of aur businesses, consisting of department representatives elacted by their colleagues,

The Councils meaet on a regular basis and encourage a two-way process of communication between employees, senior managers and
the 8oard. In addition, we have a Group Employse Councit that meets with the CEO, HR Director and Is chaired by the independent
Nor-Executive Director designated for workforce engagement, Paul Myers. The Group Employee Councit aims to promate further
employes engagement and provide a structured forum for teatrs to share their views, provide insight, feedback and suggestions to
make the Group continue to be a great placa to work, Throughout 2022, cur Employee Coundils were pivotal in helping us shape our
future warking practices and fully consider the views of all cofleagues, Paul Myers provides an update to the Board folfowing each
meeting so that the employee voica can be heard by the Board,

We complete an annual "Your Vaice’ employee survey conducted by the Great Place to Work® ('GPTW®) Institute,

This comprehensive survey explored the levels of trust and employee engagement across the Group and includes values such as
credibility, fairness, respect, camaraderie, honesty and pride. The results are benchmarked against many of the most progressive
workplaces in the UK and are considered by the Board. In November 2022, the Group participated in the survey for the fifth time.
We were thrilled ta maintain a high Trust Index rating of 85% (2021: 80%) with 88% of respondents stating that *Secure Trust Bank
is a great place to work’ (2021: 81%)\. The Trust Index is the average of the core survey statements and is used as the Group's key
performance indicator for employee satisfaction.

Qur Your Voice results are used o drive continuous improvement at both Group and team level throughout the year. Progress is
communicated and enabled by a team of calleague volunteers called Your Voice champions. Our Your Voice Champions meet
quarterly and act as a conduit between senior management and the wider colleague community and are instrumental 1o driving and
reporting progress in key areas at both a Group and departmental level.

We were delighted to be recognised at the UK’s Best Workplaces™ awards in April 2022, being ranked in the top 40 in the UK's Best
Workplaces™ Large category (?021: 23rd), the UK's Best Workplaces™ for Women category and, newly for 2022, in the UK’s Best
Workplaces™ for Wellbeing.

We have also maintained our partnership with the Emplayer Netwaork for Equality and Inclusion ('ENEF) and once again completed
the TIDE diversity benchmarking tool to identify areas of focus. In 2022, we were awarded the sitver standard for eur approach to and
prograss on diversity and inclusion. The results of the evaluation have shown an increase in our score to 78% from 74% in the previous
year and 60% in 2020, This is the fourth consecutive year that we have baen awarded both a UK Best Warkplaces™ for Women award
and an ENFi TIDE Mark, showing that employees feel a strong sense of trust, fairness and wellbeing in thair workplace.

The Board has adepted a hybrid working paolicy which enables the vast majarity of employees to work remotely as wealt as in the office.
The decision to move to a hybrid working policy was based on feedback received that employeas wanted the flexibility that remote
working provides.

During 2022, we invited ali eligible employees to participate in the Group's Sharesave plan. We communicated the launch with
employees via news articles on the intranet, a webinar, communications with teams as welt as drop in sessions with members of the
Company Secretariat. Feedback was scught on the views from employees on the benefit of the plan and will be reflected on when
considering the 2023 invite.

1. Resyl(s exclude Debt Managers (Sendces] Limited,
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Section 172 statement
continued |

QOutcomes

Employee development

Employee developrent remains a priority. We have a comprehensive induction programme for new employees, a wide range of
specialist professional qualifications and numerous other development opportunities. These include a comprehensive four-level
teadership academy and ICE', our Individual Contributor Excellence Programme for those in spedialist and non-leadership roles.
These progrsmmes have continued to be delivered either virtually or face to face during 2022 to ensure that the focus on personat
development is maintained. We also launched several line manager masterclasses to build further confidence in leading teams,
including compulsory Everyday Allyship training for line managers. We cantinue to partner with Everywormnan te provide extensive
online and self-managed learning that is so important for our hybrid working teams.

QOur personal growth programme, Blazing My Trail, sponsored by our Nan-Executive Director designated for workforce engagement i
helps colleagues to build confidence, plan their progression and make it happen. It remains extremely popular and oversubscribed at :
each intake and includes a variety of prestigicus external speakers who help attract excellent feedback.

In 2020, the Chairman launched the Alan Karter scholarship fund to give four individuals per year the epportunity to attend
professional development progiarames with Cranfield Business School. There are two programmes that provide individuals with either
leadership skills or training on how to develop impact and influencing skills for use in aither their current role or ta enable them ta
progress to a more senior one. In 2022, the calibre of applications was sa high that an additional place was funded by the Group.

Employee engagement and recognition

Research has consistantly shown a clear link between high performance and team engagement. To recognise colleagues for their

contribution, we have a suite of recognition tools to celebrate exceptional performance and behaviours, These range from simple :
e thank you cards to the Group’s annual OQutstanding Achievers awards, where 30 winners are selected by the Executive Committee. !

These schemes together with our annual incentive programme continue to help embed exceltence within the culture. We provide
colleagues with a wide range of training for persenal and professional development. The Group supports employees in achieving
recognised qualifications from the London Institute of Banking and Finance and other bodies.

Employee wellbeing

It is critically important to provide a positive and healthy working environment, so colleagues have the opportunity and support to
enhance their own wellbeing. Following positive feedback, we have continued to focus on employee wellbeing during 2022, building
on the wellbeing progress previously made and resulting in STB being recognised as a Great Place to Work for wellbeing in 2022.

In 2022, we continued our successful wellbeing hour initiative. This gives colleagues an hour each month during their working day to
dedicate to supporting their wellbeing. We maintained the Wellbeing Cafe launched in the pandemic, allowing colleagues to cannect
with athers supperted by one of our many Mental Health First Aiders, Additional employee communications about financiai wellbeing
highlighted resowurces both available as part of existing remuneration packages and externally, including the launch of 'My Rewards’
that is an improved voluntary benefits portal that also offer attractive discounts at a wide variety of retailers. i

Equality, Diversity & Inciusion (‘'ED &'}

In 2022, we published our fifth Gender Pay Report and supporting commentary. We are committed to diversity in the workplace at all

levels and the actions outlined in the repart demonstrate this and show our commitment to improving the position at senior manager

level. In 2022, women comprised 25% {2021; 21%) of our Executive Committee, Our ED&| agenda remains an area of focus for us and

we are conscious we still have more to do. We continue to wark closely with Everywoman in pragressing our Inclusion Agenda with twa

members of the senior leadership team having been appointed as Everywoman Ambassadors. In June 2022, §TB becarne signatories of

the Women in Finance Charter.

In addition, we introduced our ED&l workforce champions {Inclusioneers’). Qur Inclusioneers champion our Group vision and provide :
valuabie feedback to our ED&l Steering Committee. They are supported by our Advisory Committee that consists of the relevant
subject matter experts. These groups are critical in halping us to take meaningful action in ensuring everyday inclusion is a reality.
We [aunched Everydey Allyship in 2022, a learning and development opportunity for our people tnanagers which shows how to
promote inclssion and the wellbeing of others by taking action to support those in marginalised groups. :
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At the year-end, the split by gender of the Group’s employees was as foflows:

CHARTS REMOVED J

The Board

The Board acknowledges that the strength of our service is set by our people. It is dear that having a talented, healthy, diverse family
of individuals who are engaged in their roles is essential to bringing the Group's vision to be the most trusted specialist lender in the
UK to life and fundamental to the long-term success of the Group. By pratecting mental health and listening to employee ferdback

and implementing ideas for improvements, we stand the best chance of maintaining morafe, boosting productivity and retaining the
individuals that malke the Group work on a day-to-day basls.

Key topics discussed by the Board this year have included:

* communication of our refreshed strategy to cur people;

+ diversifying the workfarce;

« “Your Voica' results:

+ aligning Manhagement reward with employee engagement; and

« upskifling existing employees 1o provide a talent pipeline for the Group through initiatives such as the Confident Leader Acadery,
Blazing My Trail and an extensive range of professional qualifications.

How has the employee voice helped the Board make decisions on strategy?

The Board recognises employees and workforce colleagues as key stakeholders and takes the perceived or actual views of that
constituency into consideration when making key strategic decisions, such as the impact upon employees when seliing the Debt
Managers {Services) Limited loan portfolio and hosting consultation sessions on a range of issues in addition to those required as part
of that process,

Cost of living impacts on employees have been a focus of muliple Board discussions and in the Summer in 2022 the Board approved
an exceptional one-off payment to be made {6 colleagues with an annual satary below £35,000, In addition, our annual pay review
prioritised our lower salary banded colleagues.

tn 2022, we have also had a focus on menopause and employee wellbaing. The Board adopted a menopause policy setiing out
haw colleagues going through menopause will be supported within the Group. Awareness sessions were held during the year and
additional rescurces were made available to all of our colleagues on the employee intranat.
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Environment

Link to strategy

Sustain

Why we act responsibly towards our environment

We continue to recegnise the importance of acting responsibly in relation to the environment and our ESG Strategy, which has been
developed following engagement with a wide range of stakeholders, includes environment as a key focus area.

Two-way engagement

In 2027, the Group adopted an Environment Acticn Plan for our Solihull head office as well as Cardiff and Rotherham offices.

This programme of wark continued in 2022 aided by a newly formed Environment Steering Committee, The Cornmittee has used
the outputs from Business in the Community's Responsible Business Tracker survey, to davelop and guide our environment strategy,
embed our Environmentai Policy and help the Group develop its approach to reducing CO» equivalent {COze’) emissions and
improving its environmental impact.

In 2022, the Board has developed and approved our ESG strategy, more information can be found on pagas 37 ta 39.

Outcomes

Our Environmental Palicy sets out key areas of focus for the business and also commits the Group to follow environmental guidance,
where reasonably practicable, provided by the UK Government, the financial services sector and environmental organisations.

This includes reporting our progress using key metsics related to our envirenmental footprint. More infarmation about our progress
in this srea can be found in the following section which sets out how we are disclosing information in line with the expectations of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.

We continued to develap our digital capabilities to provide customers with increased opportunities to self-serve on their accounts.
Tha majority of STB's custemers are now accessing savings statements and certificates of interest online via internet banking, reducing
baoth costs for STB and environmental impacts.

We monitor emissions from our operations and recognise STB's impact on the environmeant. We review the business model to assess
what the indirect impact of financing of certain industries, such as Vehicle Finance, can have on the environment.

The Board

The Board recognises the importance of our impact on the environment and that making decisions that help to improve our impact on
the environment suppart aur long-term sustainability, It also enables us to agree STBY priorities in line with the expectations of future
generations of customers.

Key topics discussed by the Board this year have included:

« ESG strategy including how STB can offset its environmental impact from its operations:

+ maasuring emissions from our aperations and setting COse reduction target for Scope 1 and 2 emissions;
* aperating madel; and

* roadmap to carbon neutrality.

How has the environmental voice helped the Board make decisions on strategy?

In developing strategy, environmenta! impact has been a key feature of Board discussions. The Board continues to be mindful of

both STB' direct and indirect impacts on the environmant. fn 2022, an ESG strategy to improve STB%s environmental impact has been
developed and adopted by the Board. In doing so, the Board has received specific training on climate change risk and ESG, It has a'so
progressed strategic initiatives such as finance for second-hand electric vehicles.
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Wider society

Link to strategy

Care Grow

Why we act responsibly for our society

We remain mindful of our need to adt responsibly in sodety and comply with the wide range of laws and regulations applying to
financial services companies generally in the UK,

Two-way engagement

Our established community-focused schemes rernain in place and our Charity Committee continues to empower colleagues from
different business areas to drive forward charitable activities.

As we transitioned 1o a post COVID-19 environment in 2022, there were increased opportunities for fundraising and community
outreach. We chose to continue to match £-for-f donations raised by Group employees. In 2022, we supported 17 charities and raised
over £54,000 for goad causes.

The STB Volunteers Scheme, which entitles all colleagues to use one paid day a yearto malce a difference in their local area, was
impacted by the pandemic. In 2022, we saw a ten-fold increasa in hours used by colleagues and we are proud to continue to support
this initiative.

We are proud of the wark to date i this area and we fully anticipate that our ongoing partnership with Business in the Community and
the results from our Responsible Business Tracker will guide our ESG (Responsible Business) strategy and result in new initiatives which
address additional social issues that are of high importance to our stakeholders.

Qutcomes

The Group has a governance framework and policies designed to enable us to meet our responsibilities and adhere to the highest
professional and ethical standards when dealing with customers, suppliers, employees, local communities and ather stakeholders,

The scope of our Group-wide policies and regulations includes:
* anti-bribery and carruption;

¢ anti-money laundering;

* employment health and safety;

» whistleblowing; and

« human rights and tackling modern slavery.

All employees are required to complete the relevant regulatory training on ar annual basis with further training offered when required.

The Board

The Board is proud that $1B is a good corporate diticen and funds businesses which fuel our ecanomy. We are mindful of our impact
on wider society and supportive of our employees’ efforts with local communities and stakeholders.
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Régulators

Link to strategy

Care Grow

Why we act responsibly for our regulators
We have a duty to engage transparently and proactively with our regulators.

Two-way engagement

We interact with our regulatars through meetings on a monthiy basis with our Directors and senior management. Engagement is
also conducted thicugh thematic reviews in which the Group participates. Informally we regularly consider correspondence and
publications frem the requlatory sphere. Engagement is also periodically conducted through UK Finance, the relevant trade bady.

We adhare to the FCAs 11 Principles for business, which is the foundation for FCA regulated firms operating in a regulatory environment.

Outcomes

We require our peaple to acl with integrity and provide themn with the necessary training to conduct themselves with due skill, care and
diligence. Amongst other things, this approach ensures the suitability of the advice we provide to our customers.

We review consultation papers as they provide insight on where key risks and opportunities may be within the industry and allow us to
learn from our peers on industry wide challenges. This enables us to evolve our business processes to become more resilient and to
identify apportunities to take advantage of aur spedalisations and/or cur technology. This helps us to serve our customers in the best
way we can,

Our horizon scanning processes and controls safeguard sgainst the risk of missing or not responding to regulatery change impacting
the Group as set cut on page 32.

The Board

By taldng part in regulatory initiatives and having transparent communication with our regulators, we are able to understand the

key drivers for regulatory change which, in the Board's view, promote the long-term success of the Group. It also provides us with a
platform to provide input into the regulstory environment in which we operate. By supporting the regulatory regime in which we have
been granted a licence to operate, we ensure, collectively with our peers, continued customer confidence in the industry.

Key topics discussed by the Board this year have induded:
« irnplementation plans for the new Consurner Duty,
* operational and eyber resilience; and

s themnatic reviews.

How has the regulators’ voice helped the Board make decisions on strategy?

Knowing regulatory and industry expectations allows us to enhance and adapt our existing operating model. it alse provides us with 2
steer on what is needed when implementing our growth strategy.
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Suppliers

Link to strategy

Care Grow

Why we act responsibly for our suppliers

Cur suppliers support 2 wide range of services and systems which underpin our oparating madel.

Two-way engagement
The Group has a structured supplier governance framework operated by management to manage material and other suppliers.

Outcomes

The Board is committed to acting ethically and with integrity in all of its business ralationships. The Board has adopted a number of
policies which reinforce this commitment including the procurement palicy, the supplier management palicy and the anti-bribery and
corruption policy.

During 2022, STB Group assessed 573 suppliers within its supply chain to determine which, if any, potentially presented a higher risk of
modem slavery and human trafficking. The suppliers identified were required to provide additional assurance of the programmes they
had in place 1o address this risk. The Group’s supply chain management process invelves the assessment and ongoing monitoring of
critical cantractors and suppliers in line with STB's policies. The Group invests in training for employees on modern slavery.

The Board and Risk Committee have considered the resilience of our cutsourced IT services. 578 Group have had a continued

focus en ensuring our mest critical services and processes are resilient to disruption through a structured programme of supplier
management, testing and supplier assurance activities. This has included risk assessment of our supply chain, with reviews of business
continuity, disaster recovery plans and recovery test results of over 40 suppliers including those identified as a key dependency for
the delivery of STB Group's important business services. We are content with the provision of services and diligence undertaken by
management in assessing the continuity of services.

The Board

Delivery of our vision to be the mast trusted specialist lender in the UK depends, in part, on ensuring the continuity of aur services.
Key topics discussed by the Board this year have included:

* gperaticnal resilience of material suppliers; and

* commitments to avoid madern slavery by cur suppliers.

How has our suppliers voice helped the Board make decisions on strategy?
Awvailability and engagement of suppliers help to deliver some of our operating strategy and enhance our customers’ experience.

Non-financial information statement
The Group complies with the non-financial information reporting requirements contained in sections 414CA and 414CB of the
Companies Act 2006. This is intended to help stakeholders understand the Group's posttion on key non-financial information.

Infermation regarding environmental matters, employees, social matters, respect for human rights and anti-carruption and anti-bribery
matters are included in this 'Managing our business responsibly’ section.

The location of the other information required is set out in the table below:

Reporting Requiremant Section B : Pages
Policy embédding, due diligence and outcomes Principal risks and uncertainties 25to 34
Description of principal risks and impact of business activity  Principal risks and uncertainties B
gﬁqp;lon of the business mode! - Our business model 8and 9
Non-financial key performance indicators Key parforrmance indicators N 2end3
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Climate-related financial disclosures

Climate change

Climate change, and saciety's response to it, presents risks and opportunities to the UK financial services sector. While some of these
risks may not crystalise in the short-term, the industry neads to take action now to suppart and help mitigate the mediurn to long-term
implications of climate change-.

The Group has assessed its risk exposure to both the potential ‘physical’ effects of dimate change and the ‘transitional’ risks from the
UkK’s target lo bring all greenh()use gas ('G HG’) emissians to net zero by 2050,

In order to express how the Group is responding to these risks, this report has been structured to align with the four key parts of the
guidance from the "Task Force for Climate-related Financial Disclosures’ { TCFDY), being Governance, Strategy, Risk management and
Metrics and targets. The key risks, their mitiganis and assessments are covered under the Strategy and Risk management sections of
this report below.

The Group has complied with the requirements of the Financial Conduct Authority's Listing Rules 2.8.4R by including climate-related
financial disclosures consistent with the TCFD recommendations and recommended disclosures. There is one aspect of these
recommendations whare, in line with others across the industry, the Group is still developing its approach to reporting. This is in
relation to Scope 3 emissions and the TCFD recommendation to 'Disclose Seope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse
gas {GHG') emissions, and the related risks’. The Group has already established reporting for Scope 1 and 2 emissiens and during
2022 undertook work to assess its material Scope 3 emissions. A summary of the reporting of all categories of Scope 3 emissions is
included in the Metrics and targets section of this report. Financed emissions form the most significant part of the Group's Scope 3
emissions, although a lack of consistent disclosure standards across the industry limits the Group's ability to provide comprehensive
reporting in this regard. What is being reported is 2 summary of Financed emissions associated with our Vehicle Finance business, with
2 plan to add reporting for our other lending areas in future periods when cansistent standards are available. Assurance in relation to -
disclosed Scope 3 emissions is planned for 2023

ln the Group's 2021 Annual Report and Accounts two gaps were identified in our TCFD disclosures, scenario testing and risk appetite,
with both closed in these updated 2022 disclosures.

Governance

In accordance with the requiraments of the $53/19 — PRAS Supervisory Statement ‘Enhancing banks' and insurers’ epproaches to
managing the financia! risks from climate change’, the Group allocated responsibility for identifying and managing the risks from
climate change to the relevant Senior Management Function, namely the Chief Risk Officer (CRO'). The CRO chairs the Climate
Change Risk Working Group ({CCRWG'), with represantatives from across the first line risk ownars and the second line Risk leads that
are managing the key risks identified across the Group. The CCRWG is responsible for identifying, assessing and defining mitigating
responses to these risks.

The CCRWG reports to the Executive Risk Commitiee 'ERC') chaired by the CRO. The ERC monitors progress and oversees all
aspects of climate change risk, including proposing associated risk appetite statements and metrics for appreval at Board and Risk
Committee respectively.

The Board has delegated respansibility for oversight of climate change risk to the Risk Committee. The Risk Committee has
undertaken periodic reviews of the risk assessments in relation to diimate change and is kept informed of management's responses to
these risks. It reviews and approves all associated risk appetite metrics and threshelds and receive associated reporting against thess
metrics. The Group’s risk governance structure can be found on pages 25 1o 26,

Reporting during 2022,

* The CCRWG met on seven occasions to monitor progress, initiate action to meet existing and new insight/quidance and manage
the: associated risks. Atzendees received briefings and training on new developments associated with climate change within the
finaricial services sector.

* The ERC met on eleven occasions in 2022, A Climate Change Risk dashboard is reviewad at each meeting.

* The Risl Cormmitiee approved the Climate Change risk appetite statement and supporting metrics in 2022. The Climate Change
Risl dashboard is reviewed at each meaeting and feedback provided to management where necessary.
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« In Juna the Board received a prograss repart covering all aspects of climate change risk management. Specifically, this included
the strategic responses to cimate change as defined by our Real Estate Finance and Vehicle Finance businesses. These reviews
considered both the risks and opportunitias that climate change present to our business. Furthermore, in November 2022 the Board
reviewed and agreed a proposal to reduce our Scope 1 and 2 CO; equivalent (COqze) emissions {more detail under Metrics and
targets from page 53). The Board received & specific training briefing in 2022.

* The CRO and a senior member of the risk function are members of the UK Finence TCFD, Disclosure & Consultations Working
Group. They attend numeraus industry meetings and have engaged with external expertise to enhance their skills in order to
develop the Group's response to the risks associated with climate change. This knowladge and understanding s disseminated to
first-line business leads through the CCRWG.

Strategy

The Group, through the governance model described above, has identified several risks and opportunities associated with dimate
change and these are described below with sepporting commentary on the implications for our future strategy. The Group integrated
the: consideration of climate change risks and opportunities within their annuat business planning cydle.

The Graup’s environmental policy has been incorporated inte the Groups new environmental, social and govermnance {ESG') strategy. .
A comprehensive environmental strategy has been approved at Board level and includes strategic objectives to support climate
change, the clrcular economy and nature stewardship. The strategy also includes the Group's target to achieve a 50% reductian

in Scope 1 and 2 COye emissions by December 2025, compared with a 2021 baseline. The Group is on track to achieve this target
following the successful implementation of initiatives in 2022 and the planned delivery of the Environmental Action Plan in the next
few yaars. In 2023, the Group plans to review its longer-term approach to all emissions, including Scope 3, in the context. of the
Government’s 2050 Net Zero target.

Risk management

Whilst dimate change risk has been recognised as a principal risk within the Group, the management of this risk has been integrated
and embedded within existing risk management frameworks and associated processes, and is governed through existing risk
governance structures, including reporting te the ERC and the Risk Commitiee and manitoring for any new regulation threugh
established horizon scanning processes,

Physical risks and transitior.af risks are managed and integratad within the Operational Risk Framework and the Credit Risk Framawork
respactively. This includes how risks are identified, assessed, mitigated and any associated stress testing and scenario analysis.

However, all climate change risks are reported collectively to enable the Executive and Board to understand and consider the scale
and breadth of the climate change risk profile.

The Group's climate change risks are identified through workshops with representatives from each businass ine and the Risk team.
Thase reviews consider bath physical and transitional risk and all relevant sources of risk as desaribed within the guidance tables
provided by TCFD. This qualitative review is undertaken annuatly and all risks identified are assessed against three time horizons, being
one year, five yaars and ten years plus. The potential impact of the risks are assessed against an established hierarchy contained within
our risk framewarks which cover tha potential financial, regulatory/reputational, business disruption and customer impacis. Each risk
has an executive owner,

The risks are callectively reviewed and agread at the ERC. Thereafter the risks are reported to the Risk Committee for oversight.

As described belowthe businesses have also undertaken scenaria analysis. This analysis has improved the Group’s understanding of
the key drivers ta their risks and therefore the mitigating actions required. We plan to cantinue to refine this analysis in 2023 to better
understand the risks and oppertunities that climate change presents.

The Group cansiders remuneration policies to be an important incentive to achieving our organisation's goafs and objectives.
The management of all risks (induding climate change risk) is embedded within the executive’s remuneration policy and processes.
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Summary of climate change risks

Climate change risk Source Arez Risk Timeframe

Physical Acute/ Operations Impacts of climate change interrupt our internal Shart, medium

risk Chronic operations e.g. floods. - and long-term
Acute/ Operations Impacts of climate change interrupt our supply chain Short, medium
Chronic e.g. floods. __andlong-term
Acute/ Real Estate The value of the Group'’s security may be negatively Short, mediurm
Chronic Finance impacted due to increased risk of flood associated and long-term

with climate change.
Transitional Technology/ Vehicle Failure 1o respond/recognise that the value of the loan  Short, medium
risk Market Finance security may be negatively impacted by ‘transitionai’ and long-term

effects from climate change.

Current and

Reat Estate

Failure to respond/recognise that the value of the loan
security may be negatively impacted by the effects of

SHort, mediurn
and [ong-term

emerging Finance

regulation climate change or through "transitional’ impacts.

Market/Current  Comwmercial Profitebly or viability of our clients may be impacted Shart, medium
and emerging Finance by the transitional effects of climate change. and long-term
regulation i

Reputation Group The Group’s reputation is negatively impacted due to  Short, medium

failure to meet:
¢ climate change regulation;

* stakeholder expectations; and

* responding strategically to changing market/
cansumer demands/preferences.

and long-term

Operations

Disruption to the Group's and third-party suppliers’ operational sites through dimate change related impacts,

such as severe weather

The Group has undertaken a review of the physical risks associated with the location of sach of its oparational sites. Similarly, we have
consulted with our material suppliers in relation to their contingency plans in the event of flooding or other severe weather. From the
floed risk data and energy performance ratings of our internal sites and the responses from our material suppliers, we do not consider

there to be any material risks in the short-tarm.

In strategic terms, these risks and their associated risk appetites will be assessed, and influence any proposed changes to nur
operational sites, and during the selection and on-boarding processes for any new suppliers.

In addition, scenario analysis has been undertaken in relation to the operational impact of a savare flood at ona of our key sites.

Given the operational changes we have introduced during the pandemic {induding our employees werking from home), the
operational impacts of such a scenario are limited and we would be able to continue to cperate within service lavels and risk appetite.
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Vehicle Finance

Transitional impacts of climate change within the motor industry as consumers and the industry respond to the move tawards
non/low-carbon fuelled vehicles.

The key area of risk for the Group is the implications of an accelerated transition to the use of nen-fossil fuelled vehicles’ on the
residual values of our security on intemal combustion engine vehides. Our current planning assumption is based on an orderly
transition to non-fossil fuelled vehicles.

As part of our strategic planning process, the Baard has reviewed and approved our respanse to this climate change risk for the
Vehicle Finance business. We have already amended our credit policy to allow lending for electric vehicles ('EV’). However, given that
we operate in the used vehicle sector where 99% of transactions are for internal combustion engine vehicles (source: SMMT Used car
sales: Q3 2022), the current level of lending associated with EV and hybrid vehicles is small.

We are committed to supporting our customers where they wish to transition to EV and hybrid vehicles. To support this, we are actively
enhancing our market intelligence in this sector, and dosely monitoring the key factors that will influence changes in this market

(e.g. customer preferences, Government intervention, infrastructure and vehicle developments). In addition, we are working with our
‘Intreducer’ base to understand how we can develop our product base and lending criteria to better support demand for £V and
hybrid vehicles.

To support the strategy outlined above we have set risk appetite metrics that monitar the proportion of alder vehidles (with higher
emissions} that we are willing to fund, and metrics that monitor custormner behaviour.

In order to better understand the potential implications of the transition to vehicles with lower emissions, the Group has undertaken &
review of a range of scenarios to help assess the level of risk from climate change on our Vehicle Finance business. These scenarios are
linked to the Bank of England’s Climate Biennial Exploratory Scenarios ('CBES') that are based on those developed by the Network for
Greening the Financial System and are designed to support central banks to bring greater consistency and comparabifity to stress-
testing exerdisas. Two routes to meeting the nat-zero carbon dioxide emissions targets by 2050 were considered: an ‘Early Action
scenaric’ and a ‘Late Action scenario’. A third scenario explored what might happen in terms of the physical risks materialising if
governments around the world fall to take action to address climate change: the 'No Additional Action scenaric’.

Whilst it is recognised that the economic impacts of these scenarios were set by the Bank of England prior to the current inflationary
environmeant, the results do still provide the Group with an understanding of the potential impacts of these transitional risks on our
Vehicle Finance business.

Ire thes unlikely event of the Group not taking any action Lo mitigate the potential impacts from these scenarios, the increase in the level
of cradit losses would likely peak arcund 2031 for the Early Action and Late Action scenarios, albeit at a lower level in the Early Action
scenario, Management have monitaring tools in place that closely monitor the key indicators and, should elements of the scenarios
unfeld, the Group would take corrective action through amending credit policies to reduce foan-to-value rates and/or reduce lending
to those vehicles that are likely to see the most significant reduction in value as a result of the transition.

The outcomes from the analysis indicate that currently there 1s no significant link to credit losses due to dimate change factors and
the Group is resilient across the scenarios assessed. The results will be factored into the Group's 2023 internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process (1CAAP').

The Group plans to further develop the scenario analysis undertaken and will continue to use the results to identify climate change
risks/opportunities and how these may inffuence our business plans.
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Real Estate Finance

Climate change related impacts on the valuations of property securing our Real Estate Finance portfolio.

There are two areas of potential risk that could impact the performance of the Group. The first relates to the risk that dimate change
has an increased impact on the weather conditions across the UK and the properties we hold as security for our lending are subject to
an increased risk of flooding or similar risks associated with severe weather.

In order to mitigate flood risk, existing on-boarding and due diligence processes require 2 full valuation from a RICS qualified surveyor
which includes an assessment of the flood risk. Based on this information, the Group may choose net to proceed with lending, ar will
lock to ritigate the risk thraugh acceptable insurances. It should also be noted that, unlike a residential mortgage, the maximum term
of our loan facilities is currently five years so this limits the potential impact from any change to the level of flood risk and ensures we
have recent valuation assessmerits. Therefore, we are confident that the level of risk is not currently considered to be material.

Notwithstanding these due diligence chiecks, the Group has alsa undertaken a raview of assets it currently halds as security against an
external flood risk data (Hometrack). Recording of property details differs between this source and the land registry, however to date
we have matched two thirds of aur investrent portfolio and are working with the external provider to further enhance this matching
rate. The matched results show that 3.9% of the properties we hold as security are classed as having a *high’ or ‘very high' level of risk
from flooding, compared to a national average of 4% (source: Hometrack). Development sites are not currently captured in third party
flood risk data.

The second area of risk is where the value of our security could be impacted by transitional changes % of investment losn
made or imposed on the sector through Government intervention to improve the energy efficiency oo reng . pertiolio by valus
of residentiz| praperty. The UK Government has set a minimum Energy Performance Certificate C ar above 66.9%
(EPC') rating of E for tenanted properties. This is due to be raised from Eto Cfromthe 1 Aprit 2025 [ and E 32,89,

for new tenancies, and from 1 April 2028 for existing tanancies. In order to understand the potential

risks, the Group has reviewed the EPC rating for properties we hold as security. The results are Below E 0.3%

presented on the right.

To mitigate this risk, new lending facilities are provided on the basis that all properties are compliant (unless exemgt) with current EPC
requirements. In addition to this the Group also requires an assessment from the berrower regarding their strategy to comply with the
2025 EPC C rating requirement. For existing expasures this is reviewed on an annual basis. Therafore, the Group does not consider the
tisk associated with transitioning to the new EPC reguirernents to be material.

Furthermore, in arder to better understand the potential irmplications of these risks, the Group has undertaken a review of a range

of quantitative scenaric assessmerts, linked to the Bank of England’s CBES scenarios (as described above under Vehide Finance),

to help assess the jongerterm level of risk from climate change on our Real Estate Finance business. The analysis considered the
potential econamic implications of the transitioning to net zero and the most severe patential impacts of floading on property values.
The analysis showad that the Group's approach to surveying/valuing properties and the short-term nature of the lending facilities
provided, enabled us ta minimise any impact from flooding within the planning period and adapt lending policy to withstand the mast
severe longerterm economic impacts. The outcomes from the analysis indicate that currently there is no significant bnk to credit losses
due to climate change factors and the Group are resilient across the scenarios assessed. The results will be factored inta the Group’s
2023 1CAAP.

The Group plans ta further develop the scenario analysis undertaken and will continue to use the resulis to identify climate change
risks/opportunities and how these may influence our business plans.

The Group has also considered how Real Estate Finance can suppaort our clients to manage the transitional impacts of climate
change. In June 2021 Real Estate Finance identified an opportunity to support its clients through enhancing its existing loan products
to specifically support borrawers investing in higher energy perfarmance rated properties or upgracing less efficient properties.

This product offered favourable interest rates and has been popular with our customers and to date we have committed facilities
totalling £120 millicn, These preducts were relaunched in 2022, although an a2 variatle interest rate basis only. As a resJlt of the current
interest rate environment, this product has not generated significant lending volumes.

In June 2022, the Board reaffirmed its desire to support our clients’ transition. Through planned training to our relationship managers,
we will continue 1o work with our clients end irdustry professionals to identify opportunities where we can support them with adapting
and reducng their impact on climate change.
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Commercial Finance
The potential impacts on our Commercial Finance clisnts as they respond to any changes ta their business from the effects of
climate change and associated transitional impacts on their clients.

The Group’s Commercial Finance clients cover a broad range of sectors and there is a risk that their businesses and/or customers could
be affceted by the trangitional iImpacts of climate change, which in turn could affect their ability to service their lending with the Group.

In order to understand and evaluate the risk to our business, the Group has developed an approach to formally assess the climate
change risks associated with each of its Comrnercial Finanee clients. The assessments consider all of the following areas of risk (i) client
risk; (il geography; (i) product risk; (iv) debtor risk; {v} supply risk; and {vi) collaterat risk.

This bespoke model allows our Commercial Finance business to focus on the most relevant areas of our credit risk assessment and
thereafter engage with those current and prospective dients that may have material or spadific risks to understand and support them
with any mitigations necessary.

To support this approach, the Group has defined its risk appetite that it will not engage with clients whase residual risk rating from
the above assessmant is considered to be ‘high' risk in relation to the impacts and implications of climate change. Rather than sector
specific risk appetite, Commercial Finance operate a business model that makes appropriate client by client decisions to reflect the
climate change risk associated with each individual facility.

Whilst the client risk reviews have provided useful insight, the level of risk is not currently considered to be material since the
Cormmercial Finanice portfolic is primarily composed of short-term, self liquidating facilides secured principally by debtors and stock.
Shauld there be any material concems or risks relsting to the impact of climate change on the viability of the dient, these facilities can
be reviewed, reduced or additional collateral taken where required.

Metrics and targets

The Board has approved zn overarching risk appetite statement in relation to dimate change of: ‘Secure Trust Bank seeks to
understand and quantify its climate change risk exposure, so the Bank working with its customers and clients can minimise the financial
risks associated with the transition to a low carbon economy and any impacts from climate change to our business'.

This statement s supported by a set of metrics and thresholds, approved by the Risk Committee, that measure and monitor the level
of risl for each key risk identified.

The metrics and threshalds include:
* Operations — No appetite for any internal sites with madium or high flaod rating or EPC rating below rating E.

* Supply chain— Metrics that monitor whether there are any material risks that could affect the service offering from our
material suppliers.

Vehicle Finance — A series of metrics that measure and limit the concentration within the partfolio of funding for ofder (higher
emissicn) vehicles, Metrics that monitar custormer preferences and the potential impacts on the residual values of carbon
fuelled vehiclas.

Real Estate Finance — Metrics that monitor the praportion of the lending portfolio that is secured on properties that are within high
risk of flood or require investrent to improve their energy performance to acceptable levels.

Commerclal Finance — No appetite for funding customers that are assessed as having an overall *high' residual risk (internally rated
assessment) to the impacts and implications of climate change.
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Scape 1, Scape 2, and Scope 3 GHG emissions,

This section of the report covers the Group's GHG emissions, with work ongoing across the Group to evaluate our financed and supply
chain emissions. In line with accepted industry approaches, and chce complete the Graup will consider additional targets and metrics
to cover these emissions.

The following tables set out the Group's energy consumption and COse emissions for 2022 in accordance with TCFD, and the
Companies Act 2006 {Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Requlations 2013 and the Companies {Directors’ Report) and Limited
Liability Partnerships {Energy and Carbon Report) Reguiations 2018,

We have calculated our emissions using the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reperting Standerd {revised edition).

Energy consumption and GHG emissions are reported as single totals, by canverting thern to the equivalent amount of kwh and COqe
respectively using emission factors from the Ul Gaovernment's GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2022, This approach

is consistent with previous years. All energy consumption and emissions relate to the UK and cover all Group entities and therefore is
aligned with the financial reporting of the Groug.

Year on Year

2022 2031 Vatiance
Measure N K¥h Wh %
-Scope 1 — Building eneray: gas consumption 7 "210,6057 194,723 82
Scope 1 - Emer-g_;:ncy generator: gas ofl consurnption - 4,733 4,733 =
Scope 1— Business travel: Group leased vehicles 195,579 NC! N/A
Scope 2 — Building eneray: electricity consurnption ' 1303946 1475676 1.e
Scope 3 - Business travel; employee owned vehicles ) 126,748 NCE N/A
Total energy consumption . 1,841,611 1,675,132 2.9
2022 2021 ¥ear on Year
COze COme Variance
Mezsure {Location-based emissions?) ) tornes tanaes %
Scope 1 — Direct emissions from the combustion of fossil fuel T 1483 1324 12.0
Scope 2 — Indirect emissions from purchased electricity . 252.2 313.3 (195
Scope 3~ Other indirect emissions 91.5 452 102.4
Total Scope 1 to 3 COze emissions - 492.0 490.9 - 0.2
Year on Year
Measuro ) ) 2022 2021 Variance (%)
Group operating income £ million {continuing and discontinuad) ) 178.2 164.5 8.3
Environmental intensily indicator (I'c_ntal emissions per frm Group Operat‘ing incoma} 2.8 3.0 (6.7)

* Scope 1 emissions resulting from activities owned and controlled by the Group. These are direct emissions and includes the
combustion of natural gas for heating buildings and fuel for Group owned vehicles.

» Scope 2 ermnissions are indirect emissions generated from purchased electricity in relation to the Group's activities, but occur at
saurces which the Group does not ewn or cantrol.

+ Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions generated by the Group's activities, but occur at sources which the Group does not own or
control. Emission data included in the table relate to Scope 3 categories (3} Fuel and energy related adtivities {not included in Scope
1 or 2) and &) Business travel, nating business travel on public transport has been induded for the first time in 2022, For further
information an Scape 3 categories and applicability to the Group, see Scope 3 COse emissions section below,

The Group is reporting a small increase in emissions in the year. Increases in emissions primarily caused by the addition of ‘Business

travel: public transport’ reporting {32.1 tonnes COse} and the increase in air conditioning leakage (67.1 tonnes COze) have been

offset by the implementaticn of envirenmental initiatives such as switching the Group's fleet of leased vehicles to PHEVs and EVs,

The increase in air conditioning leakage mostly caused by the age of the equipment at our main site, is unlikely to recur as the Group

plans ta exit this site in 2023. Delivery of the Group's carbon saving initiatives in the year have reduced the Environmental intensity of its

operations year on year.

‘The majority of the Group's offices have used renewable electricity during 2022, Under location based? emissions, electricity emissions
were 252.2 tonnes of COye (included in the table ahove in Scope 2). Market based® emissions exclude premises which use 100%
renewable electricity. This reduces electricity emissions to 95.3 tonnes of COze. The Group will continue to work with landlords to
switch to 100% renewable electricity at the remaining Group offices.

1. Not calculored in 2021 due to absence of Gavernment issued canversion faciors.
2. Location based emissions ara caleulated by multiplying electricity consumption for all sites by the Governments conversion factor for UK electrizity.
3. Market basad emissions ere calculated by excluding the sites that use 100% renewable glecticity fram the location based caleulation.
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CHARTS REMOVED

Reported energy consumption has increased year on year for natural gas but has decreased for electricity. This is primarily due to

adopting a more accurate assessment of the energy consumption at our leased offices.

Mileage far all vehicles has increased significantly as pandemic travel restrictions were lified in 2022, Mileage for Group leased vehicles
has returned to pre-pandemic lavels as sales teams find face to face meetings more effective. However, mileage for employee owned
vehicles remains below pre-pandemic levels as office based employees now favour a mix of face to face and remote meetings.

COze emissions {tonnes) five-year trend

CHART REMOVED

*Graph is prepared on tacation based ernissions,

COse emissions for natural gas, electricity and employee owned vehicles are following the trend set by the energy consumptian data
for these categories. However, whilst Group feased vehides mileage has increased, emissions have significantly decreased following

the switch to PHEVs and EVs.
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Environmental initiatives
Achievements
A programime of enviranmental initiatives is being implemented across the Group. Racent achievemnents include:

Sectar Achievements

Climate Change s Our offices in Cardiff, Solihull, Londan, Reading and Leeds have now switched to 100% renewable electricity.
Our offices in Manchester and Birmingham are currently using 50%+ renewable energy.

» Gas and electricity cansumption has been reduced by the dosure of one of cur Cardiff offices.
» EV charging peints have been installed at our Cardifl and Solihull offices.
* Almost afl Group leased vehicles have been switched from petrof and diesef vehicles to PHEVs and EVs.

Circular Economy = Many of our customer buik maifings have been switched to a more efficient external print service provider and
same have been switched to digital channels,

* Waste recyding has baen established at our main offices in Cardiff and Solthull,
s lterns such as batteries, toner cartridges and IT equipment are recycled.
» Unwanted office furniture is re-used through donations to lacal schools, colleges and charities.

Planned activities
The Group’s programme of ervironmental initiatives will cantinue to be implemented throughout 2023, The table below iustrates
sorne of the key initiatives planned:

Sector Planned activitias

Climate Change « |nvestigate transitioning our remaining sites to 100% renewable electricity.
s Present a business case for the installation of photovoltaic cells solar panels} at cur Cardiff and Salihull offices.
» Closa two further offices, thereby reducing gas and electricity consumption.

Review the fleet of Group leased vehicles with a view to switching from PHEVs to EVs.

-

» Underiake a review to consider how we can encourage employees who use their own vehicles for business
travel to switch to PHEV and EVs and how we can reduce business travel.

-

Undertake a review of our premises 1o consider how we can reduce energy consumption and improve
energy efficiency.

Circular Economy s Cantinue to switch customer bulk mafings to our external print service provider and from paper and post to
digital channels.

Continue to manitor waste from our offices, considering ways to reduce overall waste and to increase the
propaertion of recyclable wasta.

Review purchased products across the company to determine which other iterns can be switched to recycled or
sustainable products.

»

-
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Scope 3 CO,e emissions
The Group has assessed the relevance and materiality for each category of Scope 3 emissions within the table below.

Scope 3 Category

Status

1 Purchased goods and services Supply chain analysis underway, to be completed in 2023

2 Capital guods B Supply chain analysis underway, to be completed in 202 .

3 Fuel and energy related activitias Reported in 2022

(nat included in Scope 1 or Scope 2)

4 Upstreamn transportation and distribution Supply chain analysis underway, to be completed in 2023

5 Waste generated in operations Unlikely to be material. Analysis to be completed in 2023

& Business travel Reported in 2022, o

7  Employee commuting Anzlysis to be completed in 2023.

8  Upstream leased assets All material emissions from leased assets are included in Scope 1and 2
ernissions.

9 Downstream transportation and distribution Mot applicable for the Group.

10 Processing of sold products Not applicable for the Group.

11 Use of sold products Not applicable for the Group,

12 End-ofdife tremiment of sold products Nat applieable for the Group.

13  Downstream leased assets Material assets leased in 2022 have now been terminated.
Not applicable in 2023.

14 Franchises Not applicable for the Group.

15  Investments (Financed emissions) Analysis of financed emissions undarway, to brercompleted in 2023,

See below for further details.

Financed emissions

In 2022, the Group commenced work to evaluate a baseline for Financed emissions assodated with cur key lending portfolios.
Financed emissions are the indirect emissions attributable to the Group due to the financing we provide to our customers. In line with
Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials { PCAF) methadology, we have established the data for Financed emissions across the
majority of the properties and vehicles we finance, This data will be used to determine a baseline position for future targets, Whilst we
are already wtilising this data to understand the impacts of our business on climate change, we recognise the importance of the
accuracy of this data so will be undertaking formal assurance over these assessments and will report more detail in our 2023 Annual
Repaort and Accounts.

The Financed emissions analysis for all vehicles financed follows the formula prescribed in the PCAF standard.

As at
31 Decembrer
2022
Financed Vehicle Finance loan bock (fm)
Emissions |~ Z Attribution Factor x Vehicle Emissions (excluding Stock Funding) 351.8
J Average COze tonnes per annum per vehicle'? 1.99
Outstanding loar value Annual Km » Total annual COse tonnes!? 101,000
Original vehicle value COKg/Km Total annual Scope 3: Financed emissions COze tonnes 44,600

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 29 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Napid MCreadeg

David McCreadie
Chief Fxacutive Officer

1. Internal cambustion engine {Scope 1; direct erissians fram fuet combustion in vehicles), EVs (Scope 2: indirect emissions from elactricity consumed) and Plug-in hybrid EVs (Scope § and 2)
estimates hased on the annual mileage provided In tha contract, or where nat avallable based on an estimate from the Bepartment ol Transport data {(Z019). tnterna! combustion engine and
plug-in hybrid EVs teiloipe emissions use recognised manufacturer data for all vehicles. EV emission dats uses Govammant averages far COz/km.

2. Tha afficial figures for grammas af COuken are (rom the reguiatory testing either elder New European Driving Cycle "'NEDC) or phased in from ¢2017 "Warldwide harmonised Light-Vehicle
Testing Protedure {WLTP?. Ar uplift is applied to the emission figure on vehides on the earlier test te more reflect 'real world’ CO; emissions.
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Chairman’s introduction

(36

We believe that both the Board

collectively and Directors individually have
L IMAGE REMOVED

a responsibility to set and demonstrate
high standards of corporate governance.”

Lord Fersyth
Non-Executive Chairman

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present our Corporate Governance Report and confirm our campliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code published in July 2018, far the year ended 31 Decembear 2022, We believe thst both the Board collectively and
Directors individually have a responsibility to set and demonstrate high standards of corporate govemance. The following pages outline
the structures, processes and procedures by which the Board ensures that this is achieved.

The Corporate Governance Report in its entirety, pages 60 to 109, explains how the Group has applied and complied with the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 and the Companies {Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 for the year
to 31 December 2022.

The Report includes a statement disclosing its compliance with the UK Carporate Governance Code 2018, which can be found on page
&4, and 2 disclosure of how the Company engages with its stakehalders, which can be found on pages 40 to 49. The Non-Executive
Directers, all of whem the Company regards as independent, bring considerable experience to the Board across a number of specialisms.
They challenge management constructively, develop dear strategy and are actively involved In ehairing and attending Committees.
The Executive Directors implement Board strategy to deliver growth and returns, actively managing the portiolia of businesses
through each of the business unit Managing Directors.

The Board was able to meet both physically and virtually on a regular basis during 2022, to collaborate and maintain control of its
governance processes and activities in what has been s successful year

The Board is required to confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as 2 whale, is fair, balanced and understandable,

and provides the infermation necessary for shareholders 10 assess the Group's performance, business madel and strategy. The Audit
Commmittes has again assisied the Board in its assessment of thesa matters, together with those of Going Concern and Viability
Staternent disclosures. The full Audit Committae Report is set ot on pages 7010 74.

Lord Forsyth
Chairman
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Strong leadership
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The Rt Hon Lord Forsyth
of Drumlean PC Kt

Non-Executive Chairman

David McCreadie FCBI
Chief Executive Officer {CEQT

Rachel Lawrence ACMA
Chief Financial Officer ('CFQ"

Appointed to the Beard on 1 March 2014
as an Indepandent Non-Executive Director
and as Chairman of the Company on

19 October 2014, Chair of the Nomination
Committee and member of the
Remuneration Committee.

Skills and experience

Lord Forsyth is a former Chairman of
Hyperian Insurance Group, and former
Deputy Chairman of tP Morgan UK and
Evercore Partners Iaternational. He was
appointed to the Privy Council in 1995,
knighted in 1997, and joined the House
of Lords in 1999, He was 2 member of

the House of Commons for 14 years and
served in Govemment for 10 years, latterly
as o Cabinet Minister,

Long-term contributions:

His backgreund in the public and private
sectors has given Lord Forsyth a broad
experience of matters relevant to the
business of the Group induding strategy,
governarnce, operations, marketing,

risk and human capital. His experience
enables him to pravide valuable insights
at committee mestings and to chair the
Board effectively.

Other appeintments include:

Lord Forsyth is a director of J&J Denholm
Limited and Denholm Logistics Group
Limited. He stepped down from his role as
Chairman of the Heuse of Lords Economic
Affairs Comimittee in January 2022
following his appointment as Chairman of
the Association of Canservative Peers on
15 September 2021,

Appointed to the Board on 17 December
2019 and appointed as CEC an
5 January 2021,

Skills and experience

David McCreadie hes many years of
banking experience and is a Fellow of the
Chartered Banking Institute. He spent
more than 20 years at The Rayal Bank of
Scotland (now NatWest Group plc) halding
rolas in Branch Banking, Consumer Finance
and several Group central functions.

From 2004 to 2008 David was appointed
the CEO of Kroger Parsonal Finance, a
joint venture between RBS and Kroger Co,
based in Cincinnati, USA. David joined
Tesce Personal Finance in 2008 and was
amember of the executiva team that

built Tesca Bank. David was an Executive
Directar and Managing Director of Tesco
Bank, with responsibility for the banking
and insurance businesses, from 2015

to 2019,

Long-term contributions:

His executive career and wealth of
experience in banking, risk management,
governance, consurmner facing businesses
and retailing provide David with the skills
needed to manage the day-to-day activities
of the Group. His strong feadership and
strategic expertise enable him to lead the
Group in a sustainable way and create
shareholder value.

Appointed to the Board on
23 September 2020,

Skills and experience

Rachel has considerable experience in
financial services gained from a career
spanning more than 20 years. She has
field senior finance roles in Metro Bank,
where she was part of the eriginal team
that sel up the bank, and Shawbrook
where she was part of the successful Initial
Publtic Offering ('IPO"). Prior to joining
Secure Trust Bank ple, Rachel was CFO at
AlB Group (U<) plc. She brings a wealth
of banking axperience focused on high
growth starl up organisation and wider
financial services experience gained in
asset management, life, pensions and
ganeral insurance. She is a qualified
chartered management accourntant,

Long-term contributions:

Rachel's considerable axperiance in finance
and banking proves invaluable in her role
as CFO. She has a deep understanding

of the Graup's businesses and strategy

and has a strong track record of ceating
shareholder value.

Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022

&1

i
H



H
|
i

Corporate Governance Report

Board leadership
Board of Directors
continued

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMOVED

Ann Berresford ACA

Senior Independent Director

Paul Myers ACIB

Independent Non-Executive Director

Victoria Stewart
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed to the Board on 22 November
2014, appointed Chairman of the Audit
Comimittee on 23 September 2017.
Member of the Risk and Namination
Committees. Ann was appointed as the
Senior Independent Director following the
close of the 2020 Annual General Meeting.

Skills and experience

Ann Berresford is 2 Chartered Accountant
with a background in the financial services
and energy secters. She has held positions
at Bath Building Society, the Pensions
Regulator, Hyperion Insurance Group,
Triodos Renewables plc, the Pension
Protection Fund, Bank of Ireland Group,
Clyde Petroleurn plc and Grant Thornton,

Long-term contributions:

Her career has given Ann experience

in morntgages, pensions, operations,
accounting, finance and risk, Her previous
expetience in the renawable sectors gives
her a long-term outlook. The insights she
has gained from her career mean that she
is a strong Senior [ndependent Director
and an excellent addition to the Board
and committees she serves. Her financial
background makes her an excellent
Chairman of tha Audit Committea.

Other appointments include:

Ann is the Senior Independent Director
and Chafrman of the Audit Committee of
Albion Venture Capital Trust PLC.

Appointed ta the Faard on 28 November
2018 and as Chairman of the Risk Committee
an 31 March 2020, Member of the
Remuneration and Nomination Cormmittess.
Paul is the Non-Executive Director
designated for Workforce Engagement and
the Chairman of the Employee Coundil.

Skills and experience

Paul Myers has many years of banking
experience, ga‘ned initially in Barclays
where he spent 24 years in a variety of retail
banking roles. He was part of the small team
that founded and built Aldermore Rank,
where he servad as Chief Operating Officer,
Corporate Development Director and on the
board as an Executive Director. Paul had a
wide range of responsibilities at Aldermore,
including IT, operations, transformation,
marketing and digital as well as buiiding
and developing the retail and SME savings
operations. Faul also has previous experienca
as CEO of a FinTech new banking ventute,
GKBK Limited. Paul is an Assodiate of the
Chartered Institute of Bankars.

Long-term contributions:

Pauls career has given him a wide range
of experiences and responsibilities,
including 1T, operations, transformation,
marketing and digital as well as building
and developing retat and SME savings
operations. His insight into banking and
particularly IT and operations provide &
unique viewpaint that complements the
Board and the Committee he serves well.
His broad experience positions him well as
Chairman of the Risk Committee.

Other appointments include:

Pautis currently a Non-Executive Director and
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee at
Ashman Bank Limited, a new bank start-up.

Appaintad to the Board on 22 November
2016. Appainted Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 21 July
2017. Member of the Nomination and
Audit Cammittaes.

Skills and experience

Victoria Stewart has over 25 years’ experience
in the financial sewvices sector and was for
many years a fund manager and investor in
UK small companies. Victora has knowledge
of corparate structures and capital markets
with particular experience in smaller
companies listed on the Main Market and
the Alternztive investment Market. She has
held a number of positions at Rayal London
Group and Chiswell Asseciates ormerly
Cantrade investment Management Limited
and now part of Sarasin & Partners).

Long-term contributions:

Victoria's background has given her vast.
experience in remuneration, governance,
corporate strategy, investor relations,
accounting, finance and risk. Her investor
relations experience provides her with
valuable insight from a shareholder
perspective which the Board benefits
from. Her experience in remuneration and
governance make her a suitable choice
for the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and membar of the
Nomiration Committee.

Other appaintments include:

Victoria is a Non-Executive Director

of Artemis Alpha Trust ple, Aberfarth
Smaller Companies Trust plc and JP
Morgan Ciaverhouse Investment Trust plc.
She is a member of the ICAEW Investment,
Cammittee and a former member of the
ICAEW Corporate Governance Committee.

Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022




Stralegic Report

Corporate Goveritance Report

Financial Statemants

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMOVED

Former Directors who served
during the year

Finlay Williamson CA
FCIBS

Independent Nan-Executive Diractor

Mark Stevens FCG
Compary Secretary

IMAGE REMOVED

Appainted to the Board on 30 June 2021
and member of the Risk and Nomination
Committees, Appeinted to the Audit
Committee and as Consurnar Doty
Champion on 27 QOctober 2022.

Skills and experience

Finlay Williamson is a qualified accountant
with many yaars of banking experience,
gained inftially at The Royal Bank of
Scotland Group PLC {now NatWest Group
ple) and then at Virgin Money Holdings
(UK} plc where he was CFO prior to the
tPQ, Finlay was previously a Non-Executive
Director at Paragon Banking Group PLC,
where he was 3 mamber of the Audit
Committee and chaired the Group and
Bank Risk Committees.

Long-term contributions:

His carear has given Finfay experience in
retail, SME and auto finance banking as
well as real estate domain experience.

He afso has experience of corporate
acquisitions and subsequent integrations,
with significant experience of change

and wransformation, Finlay has developed
good relationships with the FCA and PRA
during his career and is up to date with
their priorities and processes. He also has
prier appoinhtrents on plc Boards and
Committees. The skills and experience
he has gained from his career mean that
he is a strong addition to the Board and
committees he serves.

GOther appointments include:

Finlay is currently the Chairman of the
Audit Cammittae and Senior Independent
Director of Hampden & Co PLC.

Appointed as Company Secretary
tn June 2019 and a member of the
Executive Committee.

Skills and experience

Mark Stevens is a Charterad Secretary and
qualified gavernance professional with

a wealth of experience in the financial
services sector. Mark previously was Group
Company Secretary of Amlin pic, 2 FTSE
250 internztional insurance company, where
he overhaufed the governance practices
and teams, and implemented a new
gavernance framework in six jurisdictions

in consuftation with local regulators.

Priar to his role in Amlin, Mark was Deputy
Secretary of the retailer Dixons, worked at
AT Global Services as Head of Governance,
MEMNA and trained with Ernst & Young.

Long-term contributions:

His leng career has given Mark
experience in insurance, banking,
telecoms and retail, working within
multiple reguiatary environments and
complex remuneration structures.

A gualified share schemes practitioner,
Mark brings his extensive experience and
knowledge of rermuneration and corporate
governance to Board and Fxecutive
Committee discussions.

Baroness Lucy
Neville-Rolfe DBE CMG

Independent Nan-Executive Director
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Corporate Governance report

UK Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’) — Statement of Compliance

Throughaut the period under review, the Board confirms that the Group has complied with the provisions and applied the principles :
of the Code. A copy of the Code can be found on the Financial Reparting Council’s website.

The Chairman, who was independent upon his appointrment as Chairran in October 2016, is being recornmended for reappointment at
the upcoming AGM and has served as a Diractar for mare than nine years since his appointment in March 2014. The Board is comfortable
that the knowledge, tenacity and experience that the Chairman brings to the Board outweighs the nsed for mandated time independence,
particularly during this period of growth for the business and is content that the Chairman remains independent in character and
judgement. Further details can be found in the Nomination Committee report on pages 67 to 69 for more information.

The governance sections of this report describe the Group's governance arrangements and how the Board has applied the principles
of the Code.

Board leadership and Company culture

The corparate purpose, values and strategy of Secure Trust Bank ('STR') are set out at the beginning of the Annual Report and are !
embedded into employee abjectives aligned to STB' core values of Grow, Sustain and Care. Every year, an all-employee apinion
survey is issued and the feedback is reviewed by the Board to assess how well these aims are understood and followed by the ;
worlkforce. The result of this year's survey, conducted by Great Place to Work®, was a continued improvernent for the third consecutive

year on what were already positive scores, demonstrating that the culture and values of STB are understood and ingrained in the

organisation {please see page 43 for more information).

The Board beliaves it is important that colleagues can raise concerns in confidence and, if they wish, anonymously. Information on
the Group's whistieblowing arrangements can be found on page 74. Regular interaction with key stakeholders takes place via the
Chairman, the Non-Executive Director designated for workforce engagement and each of the cormmittee chairmen. This enables
stakeholder impact to be fully considered in Board discussions across a range of topics, In addition, workforce engagement remains
a standing itern on the Board agenda. Further information on this and how the Group Employee Council operates can be found on
page 43.

The Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer {CEQ’) and Chief Financial Officer ({CHO') meat with analysts and institutional
investors to seek and understand their views and report back to the Board. The committee chairmen and the Senior Independent
Director are available to engage with shareholders on significant matters relating to their areas of responsibility. For example, the
Chairman of the Rermuneration Committee wrote to our top shareholders ahead of the publication of the proposed Directors’
Remuneration Policy {please see page 81 for more information). Further detail on stakeholder engagement can be found in the
Managing our business responsibly section starting on page 40. The Chairman meets with the Non-Executive Diractors without the
Executive Directors, or other mermnbers of senior management, present at least annually and did so twice during 2022,

The Board delegates authority to execulive management 1o run the business and to implement the strategy set by the Board. A brief
description of the responsibilities of the Executive Commitiee and a description of the governance frameawork can ba found on STB's
corporate website. Two members of executive management, the CEQ and the CFO, are Executive Directors of the Board. The CEC
is the Chairman of the STB Group Executive Committee.

The Board sets the Group's risk appetite and oversees risk management practices by management, The Board meats regularly
and, both as 2 Board and through its various committees, pravides oversight of and direction to management through censtructive
challenge, strategic guidance and specialist advice. Regular confirmation is sought from management that the necessary resources
are in place to enable STB to meet its objectives and rmeasure performance.

Board attendance and composition

No. of scheduled maetings

Membars eligible to attend Attended

Lord Forayth - 11 1"

Ann Berresford 11 11

Rachel Lawrence 11 il CHART REMOVED .
David McCreadie 11 1 :
Paul Myers 11 11
Victoria Stewart 11 11 J
Finlay Williamson 1 11

Baroness Neaville-Rolfe g 8
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Division of responsibilities

The Board is led by the Chairman who is resporsible for the Board's overall effectiveness and who encourages a culture of opennass
and debate. The Board provides strategic leadership to the Group, sets its long-term strategic abjectives and exerdises oversight aver
the implementation of the strategy and the activities of menagement. The Board is aware of its responsibllities to all its stakehalders
and is mindful of this in Board discussions as set out on pages 40 to 49. The Board has appeinted a Senior independent Direcior, Ann
Berresford, whao is avallable to shareholders if they have concerns, where contact through the normal channels of Chairman, CEO or
other Executive Directors has failed or is inappropriste. The Senior Independent Director was appointed in June 2020 and fulfifled this
role thraughout 2022 (please see the Board biographies on pages 61 to 43 for further information).

The responsibilities of the Chairman, CEO and Senior Independent Director are outlined in writing and a brief summary of their roles
can be found on STB' corporate website. The role of each of the Non-Executive Directors s to hold management to account on
activities by providing constructive challenge and strategic guidance at Board and committee meetings. The Board has delegated
specific authorities to its four committees; Audit, Risk, Remuneration and Nomination, via each committee’s respective terms of
reference which are available to view on the STB website. There is a schedule of matters reserved for consideration by the Board,
These include, amongst other matters, the determination of dividends, material acquisitions or disposals and the issue of new shares,
The Board exercises oversight of the work of its committees via formal updates from committee chairs. There is a clear division of
responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executive leadership of the Company. Internal processes are in place to
enable the Board to have access to necessary information and resources to function effectively, including the maintenance of anline
portals of up-to-date compary polides, timely dissemination of information and access to independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company. All Directors have accass to the Company Secretaty’s advice and services, Directors have accass to the
necessary information and resources to be able to effectively discharge their respensibilities. The Company Secretary provides support
and acts as z first paint of contact for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors. The Company Secretary is also responsible for the
induction of new independent Non-Executive Directors.

Delegation of authority within limits set by the Board

Subject to certain matters reserved for the Board, the CEQ has been delegated authority limits and powers within which to manage
the day-to-day affairs of tha Group. Fach Executive Committee member has authority delegated from the CEO within which they
manage the day-to-day affairs of the business or function for which they are accountable, and the Group and Business Unit Executive
Committees and other Committees assist them in assessing and controlling risk.

Composition, succession and evaluation

Information on Board and Committee succession
planning can be found within the Nomination
Committee report starting on page &7. The length
of service for each Non-Executive Director in
years as at 31 December 2022 is outlined to the
right. Baroness Neville-Rolfe stepped down from CHART REMOVED
the Board on 21 Septermber 2022, The Nomination
Committee censiders the membership and

tenure of the Board as a whaole and considered
proposals for refreshing membership during the
year. Please see the Nomination Cormmittae report
starting on page &7 for more information,

Conflicts of interest

Alt Directors are required to disclose to the Board any outside interests which may conflict with their duties to the Group (including
any related party transactions). The Board is required to approve any actual or potential conflicts of interest. On appointment, new
Directors are required to disclose their ather interests. Conflicts of interest are also governed by the Articles of Association of the
Company and company law. Directors are under a continuing obligation to disclose external appointments and ta confirm they have
sufficient time to discharge their duties to the Group. Additional external appointments require pricr authorisation by the Chairman
and an internal schedule of conflicts is mairtained.

Financial reporting

A description of the responsibilities of the Directors for the preparation of the Annual Report and Accounts is set out on page 109,

The approach taken by the Board to ensure that the Annual Report and Accounts are fair, balanced and understandable is set out on
page 72 and the information necessary for sharehalders to assess the Company’s position and perdormance is sat out in the Strategic
report starting on page 2. An explanation of the business model and the strategy for delivering the objectives of the Company is set
out on pages 8 to 11, A staternent of the responsibility of the External Auditors for the Annual Report and Accounts is set out on page
116. The basis on which the Board reached its decision to adopt the gaing concern basis of accounting is described on pages 35te 36,
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Corporate Governance report
continued

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining the Group’s system of internal cantrol, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, and for reviewing its effectiveness. This system is designad to manage risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and to provide reasonable assurance against the risk of material misstatement or loss. The systemn of internal control was in
place throughout the financial year, and up to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, and was reviewed by the
Board and its cormmittees. The Board, through the Risk Committee, confirms that in reviewing the Annual Report it has completed a
robust assessmeant of the Group's emerging and principal risks and has included a description of its principal risks as set out on pages
25to 34.

The key risk management principles include the following:

Risk appetite
The Board has adopted a Group risk appetite statement which sets out the Board’s attitude to risk and internal control.

Risk management framework

The Group has adopted a Three Lines of Defence” model to control and manage risks in line with the Group's risk appetite. Please sec
the description of Prindipal risks and uncertainties on page 25 for a description on how the Three Lines of Defence operates at STB
Group. Eadch of the second [ine functions that set policy, provide guidance and oversee risk management or compliance has the
appropriate expertise in order to fulfil its responsibllities and this is overseen by the Board Committees.

Risk identification and monitoring

The Board, through the Risk Committee, confirms that in reviewing the Annual Report it has completed a robust assessment of

the Group's ermnerging and principal risks and has induded a description of its principal risks as set out on pages 25 ta 34. Key risks
identified by the Directors are formally reviewed and assessed annually by the Board and the Risk Cormmittes. Key business risks are
also identified, evaluated and managed on an ongoing basis by management. The Board and the Risk Committee also receive reqular
reparts on any material risk matters. Significant risks identified in connection with the development of new activities are considered by
the Board and the Risk Committee in conjunctian with the approval of any such new activity.

Review of the effectiveness of the Internal Control System

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the effecliveness of the internal control system. The Audit Committee receives
reports of reviews undertaken by the internal Audit function as well as reports from the Externat Auditers, Deloitte |LLP, which

include details of internal control matters they have identified as part of their external audit. Other key elements of the Greup's
system of internal control include regular meetings of the Executive and business unit Risk Committees and maonthly financial and
operational reporting.

The reports of the Audit Committee and Risk Commiitee starting on pages 70 and 75 respectively set out further details of how those
responsibilities are discharged.
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Nomination Committee report
Statement by the Chairman of the Nomination Committee

GG

Diversity and inclusion plays an important
part in our workforce engagement and
succession planning.”

L IMAGE REMOVED

Lord Forsyth
Chalrman of the Momination Committea

The Committee’s focus in 2022, has been on gverseeing the planned changes to the senior management team following the retirement
of Executive Committee members Jon Bowers, Managing Director, Real Estate Finance and Asset Finance, and David Nield, Managing
Director, V12 Vehicle Finance, and commissioning and responding to the external evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board and

its Committees,

The sudden departure of Baroness Neville-Rolfe from the Board following her appointment to the Government in September
2022, required the reallocation of her role as the Non-Executive Director responsible for Workforce Engagement and Chairman

of the Employee Council to Paul Myers, who has stepped into the rofe following a short induction. The Board also appointed Finlay
Williamson to the Audit Cormmittee and as Consumer Duty Champion and cur approach to treating our customers fairly Is set out
on pages 40to 41,

Until Baroness Neville Roife stepped down, the Board was gender halanced. Diversity and inclusion plays an important part in our
workforce engagement and succession planning. As we look to recruit a further Non-Executive Director during the course of 2023
there will be an oppartunity to broaden the diversity of the Board whilst ensuring that all our appointments continue to be made
on merit.

The external evaluation concluded that the Board remains effective and has the right level of challenge to and oversight of

Senior Management.

As we progress into 2023, | would like to express my thanks to the Committee members for their continued support.

Lord Forsyth
Chairman of the Nomination Committec
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Nomination Committee report
continued

Nomination Committee attendance and composition

No. of scheduled meetings
Members eligible ta attend Attended

Lord Forsyth 2
Anr Berresford

Paul Myars CHART REMOVED

Victoria Stewart
Finlay Williamson

— N NN
— NN RN N

Baroness Neville-Rolfe

Membership and meetings

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprised five members, as set out in the attendance table above, and was
compliant with the Code provision regarding its composition throughout 2022, Baroness Neville-Rolfe ceased to be a member of the
Committee in September 2022,

The Committee meets at least twice a year or as fraquently as its Chairman may require, and met twice in 2022, The Company
Secretary, or their akernate, acts as Secretary to the Committee and other Directors or members of the senior management team
attend at the request of the Committee Chairrnan. Buring the year the Chief Executive Officer attended a meeting by invitation.

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board on the outcome of Committee mestings and any recommendations made by
the Committee.

Role and activities of the Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committes is responsible for considering the size, composition and balance of the Board: the retirement and

appointment of Directors, including Executive Directors; succession planning for the Board and senior managemeant, focused on the
development of a diverse succession pipeling; and making recommendations to the Board on these matters.

The Committee’s roles and responsibilities are covered in its terms of reference which were reviewed and updated during the year and
are available on our corparate website www.securetrustbank.com

Board effectiveness and Non-Executive Director evaluation

During H2 2022 an externally facilitated independent board evaluation, as set out by the Code, was conducted by Board Alchemy
Limited (‘Board Alchemy’} and reviewad by the Committee and the Board in Q1 2023. The appointment of Board Alchemy was
through a competitive tender process conducted in early 2022, Board Alchemy has previously conducted the External Quality
Assessment of the Internaf Audit function in 2021 and conducted a review of corporate governance effectiveness in 2018, the latter

as @ co-sourced provider of the Internal Audit team. Both prior instructions assisted the evaluation of the Board as they provided a
framework for how the Board has continued to develop its oversight of the business and internal contrels. Board Alchemy has no other
connection to the Cempany, the Directors or Senior Management.

The external evaluation consisted of observing the Board and its Committee mestings, together with interviews with Directors and
Senior Management and the completion of a short questionnaire. The cutcome of the evaluation was discussed with the Chairman
and input into the report was provided to clarify matters of factual accuracy or historical context. The evaluation concluded that 'STB's
Board (was) effective’.

The Committee reviewed the results and a report by the Chairman an the individual Directors’ performance evaluations and a report
from the Senior Independent Director on the review of the Chairman, The Committee agreed with the results of the evaluation and
concluded that the Board was performing well and exerdising the right level of judgement with due regard to the duties placed on
Directars under company law, indluding section 172 of the Comianies Act 2006. The Committee acknowledged that the Directors had
bean mindful of the provisions of the Code and their responsibilities as Directors and, where applicable, as senior managers under the
Senior Managers Regime, when reaching their assessment of Board effectiveness and individual Director contributions.

The 2022 Board effectiveness review noted the evolving Board dynamic following changes te both the Board and the Executive
Committee and noted that these would continue to change as members of the Board and Executive Commitlee retired from the
business and were succeeded during the course of 2022 and 2023,
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The external avaluztion raised discussion paints for the Board to consider regarding the format of management information and

the interaction of tha senior management team and the Board past pandemic and following changes to personnel. The Board had
already given consideration to the majority of the points raised and action to address those paints was underway, validating the
Board’ judgement on these areas, The Board is considering the remaining discussion points and will report on the points in the 2023
Comrmittee report.

Composition and independence

The Committee confirmed to the Board that 1t is satisfied that all Non-Executive Directors are independent and that Lord Forsyth,
who was considared to be independent upon his appaintment in March 2014 and upon his appointment as Chairman in 2016
remained independent, meeting the independence criteria set out in the Code.

The Committee reviewed the Board’s compuosition during 2022 and concluded that it had the right balance of skills, knowledge and
experience. The Committee continues to be mindful of the composition of each of the Board Commitiees and the Board and to hava
at least half of the Board members as independent non-executive directors.

Succession planning and Director recruitment

The Nemination Committee has considered the Company's succession plans, both at Board and at Senior Manager level. The plans
identify potential internal candidztes, short-term solutions in the event of unanticipated changes in circumstances and external
recruitment, as well as reallocating regulatory responsibilities as required. The need for requlatory approval of the persons performing
Senior Manager Functions under the Senior Managers Regime is incorporated into the suggestions of proposed individuals outlined in
the succession plan.

The Committee, when considering the succession plans for individuals on the Board and in Senior Management, reviews the
contingency {immediate), medium {one to two yesr) and longer-term {two to three year) proposals. The Committee also receives
updates on the mentoring programmes for ‘High Potential’ individuals identified by the Executive Committee.

The Committee, having reviewed the succession plan and the mix of the Board's skills and experience-atthe end of 2021 decided that
the recruitment of a further Noen-Executive Director would not be required during the course of 2022 and that further consideration
would be given to non-executive recruitment during the course of 2023, The sudden resignation of Baroness Neville-Rolfe gave rise to
the Board and Committee considering recruitment earlier in 2023 to enhance the mix of skills and experience of the Board and to add
further diversity ta the Board. The Board has identified the skills and capabilities that would assist the business in the medium to long-
term and a role profils, which will be reviewed for gender and other bias pricr to being approved, is baing developed.

Board policy on diversity

The Board appointment process and composition is overseen by the Nomination Committee. The Committee conducted the annual
review of the Baard Policy on Diversity, which outlines the Groups commitment to providing equal opportunities and the Board’s belief
that diversity includes gender, race, ethnicity, sge, disability, religious belief, sexual orientation, marital status, gender identity, and
pregnancy ltogether 'diversity’). A copy of the Board Policy on Diversity is available on our Company website.

Any appointments made to the Board are made on merit, against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board at the thne of the appointment and having regard to long-term planning in relation to Board composition and strategy.
The Committee has not set quotas or targets for the Board’s compaosition, The Board had equal representation of men and wemen
throughout the majority of 2022, and currently has a 34 split of women:men which is in excess of the 33% target set by the Hampton-
Alexander review. Diversity, including ethnic diversity, will continue to be a factor taken into consideration during future appoiritments
and as part of refreshing the Board,

Board training and development

The Board receives detailed reports from executive rmanagement on the performance of the Group at its meetings, Updates are
provided on relevant legal, corporate governance and financial reporting developments. In addition, the Board, on the
recommendation of the Committee, adopted a training programme during 2022 for 2022/23 and received training on strategic,
reguiatory, ESG, Consumer Duty and Financial Crime matters. This training was delivered through both internal experts and external
consultants. Directors are encauraged to attend external serminars on areas of relevance to their rale and to keep a record of their
external training. A training plan for 2023/24 is being censidered and will reflect business, regulatary and governance matters.

On appaintment as Consurmer Duty Champion, Finlay Willizmson received a comprehensive induction pragramme and a tailored
programme upon his appeintment to the Audit Committer. Paul Myers also received a tailored induction when he became the
Non-Executive Director for Warkforce Engagement.
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Audit Committee report 5
Statement by the Chairman of the Audit Committee

(a3 |

The Committee has been focused

IMAGE REMOVED on the impact of a volatile
— macroeconomic environment.” ‘

Arnn Berresford
Chairman of the Audit Committee

| am pleased ta present the report of the Audit Committee for the financial year ended 31 Decernber 2022 and this report sets out
some of the key matters on our agenda over that period.

One of our significant priorities during 2022 has been the impact of the rising cost of living and customer affordability in what have
been volatile economic circumstances. The Committee has spent significant time considering the macroeconomic scenarios and the
impact of those on key accounting judgements including those affecting provisions. The Committee has also considered accounting
and reporting matters arising from the sale of Debt Managers (Services) Limited’s loan portfoio.

The Committee has continued to receive valued support from a number of internal and external stakeholders including the Chief ‘
Internal Auditor, Chief Financial Officer, senior members of the Finance team, and the External Auditors. The Committee received an i
update at every meeting on internal audit activity and | met with the Chief Internal Auditer for a monthly update on progress against
the internal audit annual ptan. | have also regularly met with the External Audit Partner. Deloitte LLP are approaching the conclusion
of their fifth year of appointment and the Committee has assessed the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process.

The Committee remain satisfied that it continues to be effective and therefore recommend their reappointment as Auditor for 2023
to the Board at the 2023 Annual General Meeting {AGM').

During the year, we welcomed Finlay Williamson to the Committee and have benefited from his insight and support since joining.
Lucy Neville-Rolfe stepped down from the Committee in September 2022 whan she resigned from the Board. | would like to thank
Lucy for her contribution during her tenure.

Ann Berresford
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Committee governance
The Audit Committee met four times during the year. Members' attendance is summarised in the table below.

Meetings of the Committee were regularly sttended during the year by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Internal Auditor, the Chief
Financial Officer and sentor members of the Finance teamn, as well as the External Audit Lead Partner and other senior members of
the External Audit team and nther members of the Board at the invitailon of the Committee. The Cormmittee malintains a close and
open dialogue with the External Auditor and Chiel Internal Auditor, routinely holding a private session with them following Committes
meetings and as required between maetings.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports to the Board on the autcome of Carmimittee meetings and any recormendations arising
from the Committee. The Company Secretary, or their alternate, acts as Secretary to the Audit Commitiee. Commitiee materials and
minutes from the meetings are made available, as appropriate, to all Board members.

The Committee membership complied with the Code pravision for independence throughout 2022, Bath Ann Berresford and Finlay
Williamson-are considered by the Board to have recent and relevant financial experience and the Audit Committee, as a whole, has
competance relevant to the sector in which the Group operates.

Role of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in, amongst other matters, discharging its responsibilities with regard to ragulatory reporting,
financial reporting, including menitoring and reviewing the integrity of the Company’s annual financial statements, reviewing and
monitoring the extent of the non-audit work undertaken by external auditors, advising on the appointment, reappaeintment, removal
and independence of external auditors and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit activities, internzl controls and
risk management systems including the Company’s whistleblowing framework. The uldmate responsibility for reviewing and approving
the Annual Report and Accounts and the Interim Report remains with the Board. The Board confirms the Annual Report, taken as

a whole, is fair, balanced, and understandable and provides the infarmation necessary for shareholders to assess the Company's
position, performance, business modal and strategy. The Audit Committee assists the Board in reaching those condlusions, including
reviewing significant financial reporting judgements, fallowing appropriate executive govemance, and assessing that the narrative
reporting in the Strategic Report aceurately reflects the financial staterments. The Audit Committee is supported in this assessment by
an effective external audit, the assessment of internal controls by internal audit and by challenging managemant on the integrity of
financial and rarrative statements.

Matters discussed at Audit Committee meetings since 1 January 2022

Meetings of the Audit Commitiee are scheduled to align with key dates in the Group's financial reporting cycle. The Cornmittee
maintains a schedule of maetings with a forward lack agenda that facilitates the even distribution of items and the effective
management of Committee time. Additionally, the Committee also deals with other matters as they arise,

Audit Committee attendance and composition

Nao. of scheduled meetings

Members . eligible to attand Attendad
Ann Berresford ' 4 4
Victoria Stewart 4 4 CHART REMOVED
Fintay Williamson 1 1
Baronass Neville-Rolfe 2 2
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Audit Committee report
continued

Dluring the year, the Audit Committee reviewed its Terms of Reference, the forward-lock agenda, the Internal Audit Charter, and the
engagement contract with the Fxternal Auditors, Other principal matters considered are set out as follows:

Financial and regulatory reporting
The Audit Committee has reviewed the following matters in connection with the annual and interirn financial statements and considers
that the Company has adopted appropriate accounting policies and made appropriate estimates and judgements:

Accounting policies, key judgements The Audit Committee reviewed the key accounting judgements proposed by the
and assumptions used in preparing Exscutive following rigorous review by the Assumptions Commitiee in preparing the
interim and annual financial statements financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, the interim financial statements

for the six months ended 30 June 2027, the stock exchange announcements and
investor presentations that accompanies those statements. An economic advisory firm
was engaged in 2022 to support the Assurmnptions Committee in formulating the macro-
aconomic scenarios and weightings prior to recommendation to the Committee.

The Audit Committee has considered the financial reporting treatment of the
sale of Debt Managers (Services) Limited's loan book, including its treatment as
discontinued operations.

I July 2022 the Audit Committee considered whether Secure Trust Barnk (STB’) had
sufficient distributable reserves to pay a dividend and cenfirmed to the Board that the
Board could pay an interim dividend on that basis.

External factors have continued fo evolve following the pandemic and the Cornmittee

has considered updates and overlays to judgements and assumptions to take account

of developments in the macroeconarmic environment and demonstrated impacts on

STB. In 2022, the Committee reviewed the outputs from the Group’s JFRS 9 models and
considered the quantum and rationale for post mode! adiustments in ensuring the adequacy
of the levels of impairment provision. The Committee has approved the inclusion of expert
credit judgements regarding cost of living/affordability, new business and (o reflect inflated
values in the used car market and considered the impact of these on the financdial statements.

The Audit Committee undertook horizon scanning of future accounting changes,
including as a consequence of audit reform, to understand changes or veluntary
measures STB may, or will be required to, implement.

In making its recommendations to the Board to approve the annual and interim financial
statements the Committee has considered matters raised by the External Auditor on
matters of judgement.

Use of the going concern basis in The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Group and Company are
preparing the financial statements each a going concem. The Audit Committee has reviewed management’s explanations
and long-term viability of the group as to the appropriateness of the going concern basis in preparing the Group and

Cormpany financial statements and has not identified any material uncertainties as to the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern for the peried of 12 months from the
approval of the accounts,

The Audit Committee has reviewed and challenged the basis for assessing long-term
viability, including the period by reference to which wiability is assessed, the principal risks
1o long-term viability and actions taken or planned to manage those risks. This included
consideration of specific stress tests and the Committee’s conclusions are tzken into
account in the Board's viability statement on page 35 to 34.

Presentation of a fa'r, bajanced The Audit Committee, having reviewed the content of the Annual Report and
and understandable Annual Report _considering relevant matters including the presentation of material sensitive items, the
and Accounts reprasentation of significant issues, the consistency of the narrative disclosures in the

Strategic Report with the financial statements, the overall structure of the Annual Report
and the steps taken to ensure the completeness and accuracy of the matters included,
has advised the Board that the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts indude a “fair,
batanced and understandzble’ essessment of the Group and Company's businesses.

Regulatary reporting The Committee has monitored regulatory reporting processes and oversees
developments in the averall control environment for regulatory reporting.
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External audit

Deloitte LLP has continued in their position as External Auditor since their appointment in May 2018 and 2022 will be Matthew Perkins’
last year as the lead External Audit Partner. The Committee has considered and duly agreed to recommend the reappointment of
Deloitte and that a new lead partner be appointed for 2023.

During the year the Committes reviewer and approved the external audit terms of engagement, the scope of the external audit,
timetable, materiality and audit strategy as well as the letter of representation.

The Audit Committee reviews reports prepared by the External Auditor setting out thelr audit approach and conclusions on matters of
judgement impacting the financial statements, any internal control findings identified during the external audit, their independence,
and approves additional services and related fees. The External Auditor also highlighted upcoming aress of interest to the Cornmittee
to assist with their horizan scanning. The principal matters that the Committee discussed with Deloitte are set out in their report
starting on page 110.

During 2022, the Committee assessed the effectiveness of the external audit process for 2021. The capabilities of the external audit
team, their independence and challenge of management, the scope of the work, the quality of their communicaticns, and fees were all
censidered. The assessment also considered the views of the finance team. The Committee concluded that the external audit process
was satisfactary and that the External Auditor was performing well. The review did not highlight any reason for the Audit Committee
not to recormmend their reappointment,

The Audit Committee agrsed a fee increase with the External Auditor in 2022. After significant discussion, the Committee was satisfied
that the level of audit fees payable in respect of the audit services provided, being £757,000 (2021 £689,000) was appropriate and that
an effective audit coud be conducted for such a fee. The existing authority for the Audit Committee to determine the remuneration of
the External Auditor is derived from shareholder approval granted at the AGM held in May 2022 and a similar resolution is proposed at
the AGM ta be held in May 2023,

Independence of the External Auditer, fees, and non-audit services

Deloitte has confirmed 1o the Audit Cornmittee that it has policies and procedures in place to satisfy the required standards of
objectivity, independence, and integrity, and that these comply with the Financial Reporting Councdil’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

The Audit Committee has cansidered matters that might impair the independence of the External Augitor, including the non-audit
fees paid to the External Auditor, and has confirmed that it was satisfied as 1o the independence of the external audit firrn Deloitte.

As previously mentioned, 2022 will be Matthew Perkins’ last year as the lead External Audit Partner and the Commiittee has considered
and agreed with Deloitte that a new lead partrier be appointed for 2023,

The Group has agreed a policy on the provision of nen-audit services by its extemal auditor. Tha policy ensures that the engagement
of the external auditor for such services requires pre-approval by appropriate fevels of management ar the Audit Committee and does
not impair the independence of the external auditor, and that such engagements are reported to the Audit Committee on a regular
basis. The external auditor will orly be selected for such services when they are best suited to undertake the warl and there is no
contlict of interest.

The total of audit and non-audit fees paid to Deloitte during the period is set cut in Note 7 on page 137. The non-audit services fee of
£110,000 (2021: £110,000) was in respect of, but nat limited to, tha review of the interim financial statements and other ad hoc advice.
In the case of each engzgement, management considered it appropriate to engage Deloitte for the work because of their existing
knowledge and experiance of the organisation. Non-audit fees represented 14.5% of audit fees in 2022,
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Internal audit

The Group has an independent Internal Audit function led by the Chief Internal Auditor, augmented by external subject matter sxperts
from a panel of internal audit co-source providers. The Chief Internal Auditor reports to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and they
reet frequently through the year.

The primary role of the Internal Audit function is to help the Board and Executives protect Lhe assets, reputation and sustainability of
the Group, by providing independent and abjective assurance on the design and eperating effectiveness of the Group’s governance,
risk management and control framework and processes, following a risk-based approach.

The Committee reviewed and approved the 2022 internal audit plan and oversaw internal audit activity throughout the year, including
adjustments to the plan to respond 1o external and internal events and pricrities induding the impact of internal change and extemal
volatility on the Group’s processes. In approving the internal audit plan, the Committee was satisfied that the team has the appropriate
resaurce to deliver its plans.

The Committee received and considered all reports issued by the internal audit team. Key themes addressed in 2022 included:

¢ the effectiveness of governance and second line of defence, including model governance and financial crime risk management;

« Transformation and Changs;

* Operational Resilience including IT resilience and risk management;

+ working arrangaments and culture; and

* Finance, Treasury and Prudential risks.

The Committee also reviewed the Internal Audit function’s assessment of the overall effectiveness of the gevernance and risk and
control frarmewaork and Intarnal Audit’s conclusions on employee behaviours in the context of the Group's framework of values

and culture.

Internal Audit quality and independence

During the year the Committee reviewed the performance and independence of the Internal Audit function and was satisfied as to the
effectiveness, quality, experience, expertise and independence of the function and the Chief Internal Auditor.

Internal controls and risk management

The Audit Committee manitors the effectiveness of the Group's governance, risk, and control framework. A statement approved by the
Committea regarding the operation of the risk and control framework is set out on page 65.

During 2072, the Committee reviewed the procedures for detecting fraud affecting financial reporting, and a report from the Chief
Compliance Officer on the systems and controls far the prevention of bribery.

Whistleblowing

The Audit Committee assumes responsibility for oversight of the effectiveness of whistieblowing arrangements and the Chairman
of the Audit Cornmittee is the Whistleblowers” Champion. The Committee receives reports on the effectiveness of whistleblowing
arrangemnents from the Chief Compliance Officer during the year as well as quarterly reports an any issues raised in the period.
There was ona new case during the year (2021: two}. Cases are assessed and, where required, subjact to investigation in accordance
with the Group’s Whistleblowing Policy. An annual report on the whistleblowing incidents is received by the Board.

Audit Committee effectiveness

During the reporting period, Board Alchemy considered the Committee’s parformance as part of the wider Board effectiveness review.
The result of the evaluation was that the Committee and other participants considered that the Committee was performing effectively.
Please see the Nomination Cornmittee report starting on page 47 for more information.

Looking ahead
The Commillee’ priorities for 2023 will include a continuing facus an finencial reporting in the context of external market volatifity
and responding to developments in relation to the UK Gavermment's consultation and proposals for the future of the UK external

audit market.
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Risk Committee report
Statement by the Chairman of the Risk Committee

(05

Understanding and managing
our risks are key to our business.”

IMAGE REMOVED Paul Myers

Chairrman of the Risk Commmittes

| am pleased to present the report of the Risk Commiittee for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. This year has seen further
significant change in the wider macroacenomic environment. The UK has seen heightened gec-political instability, energy cost increases,
high levels of inflation and a rapidly rising interest rate envirenment, all of which contributed to a growing cost of living challenge for UK
consumers. The rigks to the Group posed by these challenges have featured prominently in discussions at the Committes as we continue
to review and challenge existing models to assess whether risk appetite is set appropriately Lo continue to support the Group’s mediumn-
term strategy.

The year was another busy ane for the Comrmittee. Additicnal meetings were held to discuss trending thermes such as customer
affordability as well as the Group's responses on regulatory matters. The Committee has continued to monitor the full range of risks
facing the Group and has oversean the setting of appropriate risk appetites to suppaort the introduction of new products such as the
Group's personal contract purchase offering.

The Group has continued 1o operate the hybrid working model stuccessfully adopted during the COVID-19 pandemic, and the
Committee has assessed both the risk challenges and opportunities this presents for customers, employees and the Group's
businassas, The Committee reviews the Group's current information security practices and pelicies to make sure that the Group is
abreast of challenges in a continually changing threat landscape.

Throughout 2022, the Committee maintained its focus on financial crime. The Committee has received regular reports on the Group's
Financial Crime Transformation Programme {FCTP), on progress made to date as well as how it davetails with other operational
efficiency initiatives taking place. The Group continues to invest in the ongoing development of its financial crime risk management
framework, efficiencies and capabilities.

Climate risk has been ancther key area of focus for the Committee. Discussions on the Group's climate exposure, both faor the Group
and to individual business areas, have been held with chaliengas made to metrics and thresholds presented by Manzgement.
The Comimittee is mindful of both the direct and indirect impacts of dimate risk.

The Committee heard directly from the different business Managing Directors, to discuss performance and risks/challenges relevant to
their business area. An overview of the risks associated with the integration of the acquisition of AppTePay technolegy into the Retail
Finance business was also discussed.
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continued '

The Risl and Compliance teams have continued to provide the Committee with effective oversight of the changing risk landscape of
the Group. Regulatory updates, including the cutputs of the Compliance Monitoring Pregramme and horizon scanning of amerging
regulatory requirements and cansequential impacts on the Group were alsa considered. Formal reporting from the Executive Risk
Committae 'ERC" and Assets & Liabllities Carnmittee {ALCO') has continued to mature during the year and the Committee received
updates at each meeting on relevant matters discussed at ERC and ALCO. .

We have focused on updating our internal processes in line with regulatory guidance. Considerable time has been spent on hearing
how the Group is adopting processes to align with guidance on Operationai Resilience, Model Risk and Consumer Duty.

As we look ahead to 2023 and beyond, economic headwinds remain a key focus as consumers adjust to elevated energy costs, general
higher levels of inflation and higher interest rates. The assessment of customer affordability Is the cornerstone of our lending decisions
and the Group will continue to monitar closely iis appetite, lending policies and processes in light of changing circumstances.
Adjustments will be made where necessary with the underlying aim to continue providing appropriate support to our custormers.
Further information on the activities of the Committes during the year is provided in the fallowing report and additional information
about risk-related matters can be found in the Principal Risks section an pages 25 to 34.

Finally, | would {ike to thank my Board colleagues for their expert input on risk matters through what has been another busy period for
the Committee.

Paul Myers
Chairman of the Risk Cormmitiee
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Composition

The Group has had separate Audit and Risk Cornmittees for over a decade and both Committees continued to oversee the
development and evolution of the risk management and internal control frameworks in 2022, as they have done since inception.

The Code provides that where a company has a separate risk committee it should be comprised of independent non-executive
directors. The Company considers that it has complied with this provision during 2022, The Risk Committee is required to meet
formally at least four times a year and otherwise as required. The Commitiee had six scheduled meetings and three ad-hoc meetings
held during the year, the chart and table below summarises attendance of members during the year. The Company Secretary or their
alternate acts as Secretary to the Risk Committee, Cther individuals attend at the request of the Committee. During the year the Chief
Exacutive Officer (' CEQ", Chief Risk Officer (CRQOY), Chief Financial Officer {CFQ"), Chief Operating Officer, Group IT Directer, Chief
internal Auditor, Chief Compliance Officer, Group Head of Operational Risk, Chief Information Security Officer, Group Treasurer, Head
of Financial Crime and other senior managers attended meetings to present their reports and answer guestions from the Committee.
The Chairman of the Risk Committee reports to the Board on the cutcome of each Committee meeting and any recormmendations
arising from the Committee.

Role of the Risk Committee

The Risk Committee reviews the design and implementation of risk management policies and systems as well as risk-related strategies
and the procedures for monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of this process. It considers the Group's risk appetite in relation to
the current and future strateqy of the Group; confirms the Group’s Recovery Plan, [ICAAP and ILAAP scenario selection, and principal
risks {see pages 25 to 34 for more information) whilst overseeing the processes and outputs from these; and oversees the risk and
credit exposures of the Group. The Committee exarcises its internal centrol and risk management role through the comprehensive
management information and reporting it receives across all risk disciplines. This includes regular updates from the ERC (via the CRO),
the ALCO {via the CFO) and the Executive Cormnmittee, as well as ather reports via the Chief Internal Auditor, the CEO, other members
of management and other consuftants. The Commitiee assesses emerging trends impacting the Group's inherent risks with particular
focus on Operational Resilience and Model Risk.

Risk Committee attendance and composition

No, of scheduled
meetings eligible

Members B to attend Attended
Paul Myess 6 6 CHART REMOVED
Ann Berresford b &
Finlay Wiliiamson ) b

Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022 77




Corporate Goverhanca Report

Risk Committee report

continued

Matters discussed at Risk Committee meetings since 1 January 2022

The Risk Cormmittee has a forward jook agenda which details standing agenda items for discussion at each of the scheduted meetings.
The forward agenda is presented at each scheduled meeting with a 12-month look-zhead. [tis updated in real time to indude any new
or emerging issues pertinent to the Group, The principal matters discussed during the year and up to the date of this report were;

Subject area

Matters considerad

Group risk appetite statement and key
risk indicators

The Group's key risk appetite metrics, which are reviewed annually and recommended
for approval to the Board. The Commitiee reviewed performance against agreed risk
appetites by reference 1o the key risk indicatar metrics and supporting management
information provided to each maeting. A number of changes and enhancements were
made, reflecting latest views on local and macro risk environments.

Strategic and operational risks

The Committea oversees the management of strategic and operationat risk across the
Group. The Group Head of Operatianal Risk presented the outcomes of the Strategic
and Operational Risk Review ta the Committee and responded to challenges raised on
the robustness of the approsch taken. Stralegic risks were discussed and challenged
throughaout the year. In assessing strategic risks, the Commitiee has due regard to the
existing process and internal controls in operation and reviews the recormmeandations
from the Risk and Compliance functions on how to adapt the controls to mitigate
those risks. During the year, the Group acquired AppToPay Ltd as part of its strategic
objective for growth, The Managing Director for Retail Finance presented an overview
of how the AppTePay technology would integrate within the Retail Finance business.
The Committee has agreed the identified principal sisks set out on pages 25 to 34.
When reviewing the strategic and operational risks the Committee also considered
emerging risks, incduding the likelihood and impact upon the Group. Mare infarmation

on this process can be found on page 34 and in the Internal Control section on page 66,

Climate risk

The Committee has raceived reports from Management on the Group's direct and
indirect exposure to climate risk, Risk sppatite thresholds, such as flecd risk for the Real
Estate Finance business, have been challenged and approved by the Committee during
the year. For further information on the Group’s response ta dimate risk please see the
Group’s Climate-related financial disclosures on pages 50 to 59 for more information.

tacro risk

Updates from the CRO were provided to the Committee on the impacts of customer
affordability, the geopolitical environment, monetary and fiscal policy on the Group.

Credit risk

The Committee receives reports on key risk indicators for credit risk, together with
quarterly assessments of each portfolios credit prafile including impairments, bad debits,
watch-fists, collections data and any policy exceptions. Credit risk perfarmance for all
businesses was kept under reqular scrutiny,

Operational resilience and risk, including
cyber, information sacurity resilience risk
and business continuity

The Cormmittee aversees the operational risk policy including metrics and key risk
indicatars reporting and business unit management risk and control self-assessmenit.

To assist In understanding how the risk framework is embedded within the Group and
to challenge the effectiveness of the risk management function, the Committee receives
a quarterly review of material operational risk eventsfliosses, performance against the
key Operational Risk Appetite Metrics, together with the key findings from annual Risk
and Control Self Assessments. This includes a key focus on the effectiveness of the
Operational Resilience control framework and plan.

The Committee received updates on the strategies undertaken within the Group to
understand, identify, monitor and respond to current and upcaming ayber threats,

The Committee reviewed ongoing progress on development of the Operational
Resilience Plan and frameworks against agreed tolerances. The Committee challenges
Management an the ratings recommended in reparting to assess whether the tolerances
applied remain appropriate.

The Committee raceives regular reporting from the Head of Information Security
on the Group'’s cyber resilience profile. Please sec page 4% in Managing our
business responsibly for further information on how this has factored into our
supplier relationships.
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Subject area

Matters cansidered

Capital and liquidity risk

The Committee has primary responsibility for reviewing and making a recornmendation
to the Board on the Group's ICAAP, ILAAP and the Rasolution and Recovery Plan,

The Committee also reviewad key assurmiptions, stress test scenarios and outputs used in
these processes. The Committee also reviewed and approved the Group's annual Pillar
3 disclosures.

Regulatory and conduct risk

The Committas receives regular reperts on key risk indicators for regulatory, reputational
and conduct risk, requlatory incidents and key advisory activities of note, horizon
scanning and actions to implement new and revised requlations or legisiation and

the outputs of the 2022 Compliance Monitoring Plan. Any exceptions were discussed
and challenged with management, including effectiveness and resourcing of the
Compliance function, The Committee reviewed the Data Protection Officer’s Report,

as well as six monthly complaints data. The Committee challenged and appreved

the Cornpliance Monitoring Plan for 2023 and reviewed the Group's Consumer Duty
implementation plan.

The Committze oversees the management of regulatory risk forthe Group. Conduct risk
and cultura remain a key focus within the Group, particularly with the hybrid working model.

Financial crime

The Committee received regular reports from the Financial Crime Team on the progress
of the FCTP, the Annual Report from the Moneay Laundering Reporting Officer and
approved the Financial Crime Manitering Plan for 2023,

Governance

During the year the Risk Committee reviewed its terms of reflerence and various policies.
Adull copy of the terms of reference for the Risk Committee can be obtained via the
Group's website at: www.securetrustbank.com.

Curing the reperting perlod, Board Alchemy considered the Committee’s performance
as part of the wider Board effectiveness review. The result of the evaluation was that
the Committee and other participants considered that the Committee was pearforming
effectively, Please see the Nomination Committee report starting on page &7 for

more information.

This table is not a complete list of matters considered by the Committee but highlights the most significant matiers for the period
in the opinion of the Risk Committee. For more information on the framework for managing risks within the business please see the
Principal risks and uncertainties section an pages 25 to 34.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Statement by the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

GG
2022 has focused on the cost of living

IMAGE REMOVED impact on our employees.”

Victoria Stewart
Chairman of the Rermuneration Committee

OCn hehalf of the Remuneration Committee, | am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the financial period which
ended on 31 December 2022,

This has been a busy year for the Committee in which we have further developed our oversight of remuneration practices across the
Group in a number of areas, with a particular focus on monitoring the outcomes of our senior management scorecards as well as
making sure that all our employees receive appropriate remuneration.

2022 — a year of reflection

Considerable thought has been given to the cost of living impact on our employees. A one-off cost of living payment was made during
the year to all our employees sarning less than £35,000 per year, This was viewed by the Committee as a positive step to address

the concerns of our emplayees and retaining their commitment to our business in this uncertain time. This was in addition to a salary
review in Q1 2022 that targeted higher than average increases to the lower salary bands {further detail can be found on page 83).

A similar approach to 2022 has been adopted in 2023, Whilst average pay increases will be 5.8%, these are again higher than average
for tha lower paid roles (between 5% and 7%) and limited to 3% for senior management.

Executive remuneration — pay and performance

During the year, the Committee agreed the performance rmetrics for each of the Executive Directors as well as Senior Management
within the Group. In 2022, the Chief Executive Officer { CEO') and Chiel Financial Officer { CFO') had shared financial objectives and
taflored non-financisl objectives (see pages 85 and 87).

‘The Committee received a detailed ‘Quality of earnings’ report covering the financial ocut-turn for 2022 against the agreed metrics.
After two volatile years driven by lock-down impacts on the business, it is encouraging to note a steady and slightly ahead of target
overall performance for 2022 despite significant external events including the Ukraine war and inflation.

The Committee approved the cut-turn of 31.59% {out of a possibie 65%) for financial performance metrics. This was largely driven by
outperformance on costs offset by underperformance on return on average equity {ROAE’), driven in large part by changes to tax
rates, and commen equity tier 1 ratic due ta the mix of risk weighted assets. The out-turn for non-financial metrics was 22.5% (out of

a possible 35%), which resulted in an overall bonus of 54.09% (out of 2 possible 100% of base salary) for each of the Exacutive Directors.
More detail is shown on pages 84 and 87.

In accordance with the existing Directors” Remuneration Palicy {DRPY), 50% of bonus outcomes for Executive Directors are deferred into
shares under the Deferred Bonus Plan (DBPY). Deferred shares will vest in equal tranches after one, two and three years following deferral.
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Use of discretion during 2022

During the year, the Committee did not exercise diseretian in assessing performance for any incentive plans. For completeness, neither
Executive Director had Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIP'Y awards which have vested during the pericd. The 2020 LTIP awards, which the
CFO is a participant of, are stifl within their performance period and will be reperted on in the 2023 Annual Report and Accounts.

Forward look

No significant change to the structure of Executive Director reward is proposed under the 2023 DRP: The Committee has taken time
to carefully consider both the annual bonus metrics and LTIP performance metrics for awards due to be granted this year, For the 2023
LTIP grant, we have returned to financial metrics and the 2023 LTIP metrics will include ROAE, and earnings per share (EPS), as well as
relative total shareholder retarn (TSR’ and risk {please see page 93 for more information).

Discussions have also been held an our reward structures, including the Sharesave Scheme, and the dilutive impact of share awards
from new issue sharas. After a comprehensive discussion, the Board approved the establishment of an Employes Benefit Trust (EBT)
and the intention is to use the EHT to satisfy certain future awards by market purchase shares.

Proposed Directors’ Remuneration Policy 2023-2025 {2023 DRP')

During the second half of 2022, the Cammittee agreed the 2023 DRP which will be put to shareholders for approval at the 2023 Annual
General Meeting AGM?). This invalved discussions with the Executive Directars as well as communication with our tep shareholders.
In designing the 2023 DRP, we listenad carefutly to advice from FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP (F1T") which incorparated Marlet
Practice trends as well as Proxy Vating Agency views, and considered the recommendations with regard to Executive Remuneration

in the latest Corporate Governance Code. Feedback was not sought from the Group Employee Council, but the remuneration of the
Executive Directors was discussed at that farum. The 2023 DRP can be found on pages 94 to 104 of this report.

There are no increases to guantum of oppartunity proposed and the changes propesed are designed to further zlign the Executive
Directar interests with sharehalder interests. The changes proposed are as follows:

» |ncrease the Cxecutive Director minimum shareholding requirernent fram 100% to 200% of salary.

* Implement a post-vasting holding period of two years for shares resufting from vested share awards.

Concluding thoughts

Raroness Meville-Rolfe stepped down from the Committee in September 2022, following her departure from the Board. | would like to
thank her for her cortributions made to discussions whilst on the Commiittee and to further thank all the Committee members for their
contributions this year.

As Securg Trust Banlk continues to execute its strategy, the Commiltee is satisfied that the 2023 ORP is appropriate and that the
managernent team is aptly incentivised and retained. The Committee welcomes all input on remunaeration and if you have any
comments or questions on any element of the Annual Report on Remuneration please email me via Mark Stevens, Group Company
Secretary, at companysecretariat@securetrustbank.co.uk.

Finally, | would like to thank our sharehaolders for their continued support throughout the year.

Victoria Stewart
Chairman of the Rernuneration Committee
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Remuneration Committee attendance and composition

No. of scheduted
meetings eliglble

Memhers ta attend At(nndgd
Victoria Stewart 5 5 CHART REMOVED
Lord Forsyth 5 5 R
Paul Myers 5 5 B
Baroness Nevilla-Rolfe a 4
Executive Directors; Remuneration at a glance
Executlve Director Pay as at 31 December 2022
David McCreadie « Base salary — £669,500 per annum
Appointed CEO 5 January 2021 » Pension contribution — 5% base szalary

« Annual bonus — 100% base salary maximum bonus
« UTIP ~to participate in 2023 LT1P; annual award 100% base salary

Rachel Lawrence Base salary — £420,240 per annum

Appointed CFO 7 September 2020« pension contribution - 5% base salary

Annual bonus ~100% base salary maximum bonus

LTIP — to participate in 2023 LTIP; annual award 100% base salary

-

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Commitlee comprised three members and was compliant with the Code provision, to be
formed of at least twe independent Non-Executive Directors, throughout the year. The Company Chairman may also be & member of
the Committee where, as is the case with Secure Trust Bank PLC, he was censidered independent on appointment as Chairman,

The Remuneration Committee meets at least twice and ordinarily four times a year and when required to address non-routine matters,
The Committes had five scheduled and one ad hoc meeting durirg the course of 2022.

The Company Secretary or their alternate acts as Secretary to the Remuneration Committee. Other individuals attend at the raquest of
the Remuneration Committee Chairrman and during the year the CEQ, HR Director, Chief Internal Auditor, other senior managers and
the external remuneration cansultant attended meetings to report to or advise the Committee.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee reports to the Board on the ocutcome of Committee rmeetings and any
recommendations arising from the Committee.

A copy of the Committee’s terms of reference can be obtained via the Group's website at www.securetrustbank.com

Role of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Comrnittee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to remuneration including, amongst other
matters, determining the policy for the individual remuneration and benefits packages of the Executive Direclors and the senior
rmanagement below Board level. The Committee also reviews workforce remuneration, related policies and how executive and wider
workforce pay are zligned to the culture of the Group.
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Key matters considered by the Committee from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 wera:

Subject area

Matters consldered

Executjve Directors’ remuneration

The Committee reviewed the recommendations and approved the annual bonus cutcomes
{for both the CFO and CEO for the 2021 performance year as well as their respective salary
inrtanses for 2002, which were made broadly in line with the average employee salary increase.,

Senior Managers' remunaeration

The Cornmittee identified and approved individual remuneration for Material Risk Takers
’MRTs") using benchmarking data and assessed the autcomes of scorecards used to assess
parformance for banusas. The Committee approved the quantum of awards used for the LTIP
and DBP grants. The Committee reviewed and approved remuneration packages for several
senior rolos within the business, balancing the need for packages to remain competitive whilst
appropriate for a group the size of Secure Trust Bank PLC.

Chairman’s remuneration

The Committee considered the Chairman’s fee during the year. The Chairman received

an increase in line with the all-employee population and other Non-Executive Directors, A
mechanical process was implemented in 2019 to increase the Chaimman’s and Non-Executive
Directors’ fees in line with employees’ average salary increases in the prior year. The Committee
decided, sfter consideration, not to deviate from this process in the current year.

Wider workforce remuneration

In March 2022, the Cormmittee reviewed the proposed Group bonus poal to be paid in April
2022 in respect of pedformance for the 2021 financial year. The Committee, having regard to
the guidelines issued by institutional investors regarding reward, guidance from the Group’s
ragulators, as well as the review of the going concern and viability statements conducted by the
Audit Committee and conduct review by the Chiaf Risk Officer, concluded that the payment
of a bonus to all employees was appropriate and in the best interests of the Company. The
Committee reviewad and agreed management’s recommendation concerning the distrit>ution
and quantum of the Group bonus pool, The Committee reviewed the dashboard information,
processes and guidelines for annual remuneration for the entire employee workforce including
the compliance and risk functions. Pay rises were focused towards junior employees and
increases to entry level salaries were approved. The Committee reviewed the Group's benefits
package and recommended approvals to the Board. The Committee also reviewed the
outcomes of the Group's gender pay gap reporting which, whilst not where we would seek

it to be, has improved year on year. The Committee spent considerable time discussing the
consequential impact of the rise in living costs for employees and over the Summer in 2022
approved an ad hac payment to employees who earn less than £35,000 a year.

Discretionary share plans

The Committee reviewed the performance metrics for the 2019 LTIP grant, which matured in
April 2022 with a 40.63% vesting. The Committse elected not to utilise its discretion to modify
the formulaic outcome of the vesting of the awards. The Committee reviewed the metrics for
the 2022 ITIP grant which were agreed to remain the same as those for the 2020 and 2021 LTIP
grant, focusing on TSR and risk management. The Committee considered that the performance
metrics were appropriate, given the market conditions at the time of grant, as wel! as stretching
and in line with shareholders’ interests, please see page 88 for more detail. Malus and clawback
provisions were reviewed, and clauses were updated for inclusion in alf LTIP and DBP standard
documentation. The 2023 LTIP grent performance conditions were also discussed during the
year, The Committee agreed to reintroduce an EFS performance criteria, which further aligns
the LTIP with shareholders and waz previously used in LTIP grants prior to 2020, and also
agreed to introduce a ROAL metric which is reflective of the Group’s medium-term targets. The
relative TSR and risk management perlormance metrics have been retained. The Committee
discussed the dilution impact to shareholders as a result of settling awards via new issue shares,
Accordingly, a recommendation for an EBT was presented to the Committee. After rigoreus
review, the EBT was approved by the Board and established in October 2022,

All-Employee Sharesave
plan and dilutian

The Committee reviewed and approved the 2022 Sharesave plan invite to all

eligible employees.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
('DRR") and other disclosures in
the Annual Report and Accounts

‘the Committee considered the disclosures required in the Annual Report and Accounts and
recommended its approval te the Board. The Comrmnitlee received advice from the Campany
Secretary, HR Director and HT Remuneration Consultants when compiling the DRR and the
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

continued

tem Comment

Directors' Remuneration Policy {'DRP’) The Committee started the tiiennial review process of the existing DRP, taking into

2023-2025 account changes to the Code and cument market practice, culminating in the drafting of
the new 2023 DRP.

Governance matters The Commitlee received and reviewad the autcomes of the annual internal audit of the

implermentation of the remuneration policy. During the reparting period, Board Alchemy
considered the Committee's parformarice as part of the wider Board effectivenass
review. The result of the evaluation was that the Committee and other participants
considered that the Cormmittee was performing effectively. Please see the Namination
Cormmittee report {starting on page 47} for more information. The Committee has
reviewed a number of workforce paolicies including the Application of Propertionality
and Material Risk Takers policies as well as the All-Employee Remuneration Policy. The
Remuneration Policy Statement was also approved. The Committee agreed a forward
look agenda for 2023. Four meetings are scheduled to be held in 2023 to address
routine matters. A review of the effectiveness of FIT as remuneration advisers took place
in February 2023. It was concluded that they remained appropriate advisers for Secure
Trust Bank.

This teble is not a complate list of matters cansidared by the Committee but highlights the most signfficant matters for the pariod in the opinion of the Remuneration Committea.

Remuneration Consultant and Committee advice

During the year, the Committee received external advice fram FIT. The appointment of HIT to advise the Committee was made in
September 2020 foliowing a competitive tender process.

FIT has no other significant connection with the Group or its Directors other than the provision of advice on executive and employes
remuneration, and related matters. FIT is a member of the Remuneration Consultants’ Group and abides by its code of conduct that
requires remuneration advice to be given abjectively and indapendently. The total fee paid for the provision of advice to the Committee
during the year was £104,221 (excluding VAT}. FIT also provided support ta the HR and Legal teams on remuneration implementation.
The Committee is satistied that the advice provided in the year by FIT on remuneration matters is objective and independent.

The Commitice received advice on specific matters f-orm internal advisers, management and the Company Secretary.

The Committen is satisfied that the Committee has exercised independent judgement when evaluating the advice received from all
its advisers.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

The infarmation contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report is subject to audit, where indicated in the Report, in accordance
with The Large and Mediurn- sized Companies and Groups {(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended). The Directors’
Rermuneration Report contains the Annual Remuneration Report which explains the operation of remuneration-related arrangements
for 2022. The 2023 DR for Executive and Non-Executive Directors, which is subject to sharehelder approval at the 2023 Annual
General Meeting and an illustration of the application of that Remuneration Palicy in 2023, is included after this Report.

AAull copy of the existing Directars' Remuneration Policy, which was approved by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting,
can be found on the Company’s website at www.securetrustbank.com.

How we link executive remuneration to our strategy

The key principles behind the Directors’ Remuneration Policy are to:

* be simple and transparent in order to reflect the Group’s purpose;

* promote the lang-term success of the Group, with transparent and demanding performance canditions;

* provide alignment between executive reward and the Group’s values, risk appetite and sharehalder retumns; and

* have a competitive mix of base salary and short and long-term incentives, with an appropriate proportion of the package linked to
the delivery of sustainable long-term returns. ‘

In daveloping and implementing the Remuneration Policy we have also had regard 1o requlatory requirements for senior

managers under the Senior Manager Regime. The Group s currently a Level 3 firm within the clessifications applied by the financial
regulators for regulated entities. This means that the Group is not required to satisfy in full all elements of the remuneration codes.
Notwithstanding this, in formulating and applying the Remuneration Policy the Committee has had regard to the remuneration cades
when considering existing and proposed remuneration, The Committee has been compliant with the existing DRP approved by
shareholders at the 2020 AGM and Principles ¥, O and R of the Code. With the adopticn of the new 2023 DRP at the 2023 AGM, the
Committee takes account of compliance with remuneration provisions 32-41.
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Single figure table (audited information)
The fallowing table sets aut total remuneration earmad for each Director in respect of the year ended 31 December 2027 and the

prior year.
Total Total fixed Total variabin
Safary and fees! Henefits Annual bonus? Pension Shares? remuneration remuneration remuneration
2022 20 gz AR 2022 Zazi 2022 2071 2022 2024 2022 2024 2022 2021 2022 2021

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £4000 £000 £'600 F000 £'a60 000 £'000 £000 £4900 £000

Exocutive Directors

D McCreadie! 465 650 1 1 362 485 32 32 . s 2 1080 1,170 698 483 362 487
R Lawrence 417 406 22 2 227 304 21 20 - — 887 752 440 448 227 304
E’:n—Execdt‘i;é

Directors®

M Forsyth 224 217 2 3 - - - - - - 226 220 - 220 - -
A Berresford 118 116 1 1 - — — - - - 119 17 - 117 - —
P Myerst 98 92 - - - — - - - - 98 92 - 9% - -
V Stewart 98 96 1 1 - - - - - - QP 97 97 - —
F Williamson’ 79 38 1 1 - — - - - ~ 80 39 - 39 - -
Former Director

L Neville-Ralfe® 42 80 - - - — - - - — &2 80 - 80 - -
i‘ﬂa| 1761 1,695 28 2% 589 789 53 52 - 2 2431 2547 1,158 1,776 589 79

1. The 2022 base salary figures are based on 3 montha of saleries approved In April 202§ {David McCreadie £650,000 and Rachel Lawrence £408,000), and ¢ months of salaries approved in

]

a1

Apiit 2022 {David McCreadia £669,500 and Rachel Lawrence £420,240). The 2021 base salary figures are based on salaries on appuintment far David McCreadie (£450,000 - sppainted
5 January 2021) and Rachet Lawrence’s Is based on 3 manths of her safary on appointment (£400,000) and 9 months af (£408,000) approved in April 2021

. In respect of the 2022 financial yaar, David McCreadie recaived an anmual bonus of £3562,135 of which £181,088 will be deferred inta share awards and Rachel Lawrence received an

annual borus of £227,310 of which £113,855 will be deferred into share awards.

. Thig includes the value of the Sharesave aption granted ta David McCreadie on 20 September 2021 {calculating the number of shares in the option {1,483 shares) muldplied by the

difference in the aption price {1,069.4p) and the market value of the shares on 21 September 2021 {1,192.50)). Detalls of awards rmade under the (TP and DBP can ba found an pages
88 and 89.

4. David McCreadie was appointed as CEQ oa 5 January 2021,

w

~

8.

. Nan-Executive Directars ate reimbursed expenses that are Incurred for business reasons. Any tex that arises on these reimbursed expenses is paid by the Campany. These expanses

And tha related tax have not been Included in benefits listed in the tabfe sbove.

. Paul Myars was appointed 25 the Non-Executive Ditector designated far wordorce engagement on 27 October 2022 and his fee wae increasad accordingly (oleasa see paga 93 for

fhote information).

7. Finlay Williamson was appointed io the Board on 30 June 2021 and was appsinted to the Audit Cornmittee and appointed as the Consumer Duty Champion with effect from

27 October 2022 and bis fee was increased accordingly [please see page 93 for mara information).
Baroness Neville-Rolfe stepped down from the Board an 21 September 2022

The figures in the single figure tables above are derived from the following:

Salary and fees The amount of safary/feas received in the year.

Benafits The taxable value of benefits received in the year. These are principally private medical health insurance, and car

and trave! allowances,

Annual bonhus The value of the bonus earned in respect of the finandial year (including the proportion of the amount eamed

which is subject to deferral).

Pension The amount of payments in lieu of Company pension contributions received in the year.

Shares The value of share options received in the year. These are the vaiue of Sharesave options granted during the

year. Sharesave options are valued based on the difference between the market value of the shares at grant and
the exarcise price.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
continued

Additional disclosures in respect of the single figure table (audited information)

Base salary and fees
Base salaries for the Executive Directors in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 are as follows:

2022 2021

base salary base salary

£000 £1000

[ McCreadie 670 650
420 408

R Lawrence

The Executive Director base salaries are the annual salaries as agreed by the Remuneration Committee for each year.

Bonus arrangements

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022, Executive Directors were eligible for an annual bonus award of up ta 100% of salary,
45% of the honus was subject te financial metrics and risk performanee metrics and 35% of the bonus was subject to a mixture of
strategic, customet, operatiorizl and employee performance {Non-financial’} metrics.

Financial and risk performance metrics

The financial and risk performance metrics were based on the delivery of Board agreed key performance indicators in accordance with

the schedule below.
Executive Directors

Threshold On-target Stretch Banus
f\l}etric (0% payabla) _(EO% payahle) {100% payzble) Achigved Metric weight payable
Grow
Underlying continuing profit before tax'? £360m £40.0m £44.0m £40.15m 5% 12.98%
Continuing return on average equity? 9.00% 10.00% 11.00% 944% 10% 2.21%
Sustain
Underlying continuing costs? £100.4m £95.6m £90.8m £91.98m 10% 8.79%
Cost of risk? 1.50% 1.40% N 1.30% 1.38% 10% 5.83%
Common Equity Tier 1 ratic? ] 13.10% 13.80% 14.50% 13.36% 10% 1.79%
Total 65% 31.59%

1. Figures include continued aperations only which have been adjusted for ona off costs.

2. Underlying continuing profit before tax and underlying continuing costs For annual bonus calculations were adjusted ta exclude corporate costs incurred in relation to explaring actions
in the year which were not anticipated at the time that the 2022 targets for these metiics were estabiished. The Committee was satisfied that the steps taken which resulted in the costs
haing incurred were fully in the shareholders' best interests and accordingly exduding these unforeseen costs maintained the integrity of the 2022 bonus relative 1o the original full year
businass plan.

3. Plaasa refer ta the key perfarmance indicators on pages 2 and 3for an explanation af why these are measuted and how they are linked to our stzatagy. To sea how we have progressed
against aur strategic priorities during the year plesse see page 11.
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Non-financial metrics

Bonus Bonts
paysble  payable
Objectiva Targets {summaty) Achiavement Weight CED CFo
CEO Improve eperating * Develop a plan to deliver » Successfully implemented a plan to deliver 10% 5% N/A
effectiveness of operational effectiveness operational effectiveness.
the Group across the Group. + Annualised cost savings of £3 million
¢+ Develop and agree plans for delivered. Five year benefits of in excess of
the delivery of cost savings, £15 miflion expected.
= Develop a new property « Property stralegy developed to complement
strategy for the Group hybrid working arrangements with cost
following the implementation savings expected in 2023.
of the Hybrid Working Policy.
CFO Develop the * Reforecast the medium to *» A plan was developed in 2022 to raise 10% N/A 5%
Groups mediumto  longererm capital plan and additionat capital in an unprecedented
long-term capital develop a plan for the raising economic and political envirenment. This was
plan in line with of any additional capital successfully delivered in Q1 2023,
Group strategy in 2023,
Shared Streamline the * Progress sale and wind down » Debt Manager (Services) Limited loan 10% 7.5% 7.5%
objectives  businessin line with  of discontinued business portiolio sale completed in Q4 2022 with
Graoup strategy streams in line with rogulatory a pre-tax gain of £6.1 million recognised in
expectations and with 2022 (please see Note 10 te the Financial
clear communications to Statements for more information).
all stakeholders. Effective commumication was issued to
all stakeholders including customaers,
employees, regulators, and sharehclders.
Stakeholder + Maintain effective and + Meetings held with shareholders and 10% 7.5% 7.5%
engagernent constructive zelationships prospective shareholders, Two new brokers
with the Graup's covering the Group during the year and a
various stakeholders. new Head of Investor Relations appointed to
« Develop a plan for increase dialogue with investors.
develapment of the Group's ¢+ Maintained close relztionship with Prudential
commitments to managing Regulation Autharity:
Climate change risks. * Plan developed and agreed by Board to
* Deliver an improvement in reduce Scope 1 and Scope 2 COse emissions
the employse survey trust by 50% by December 2025, Further detail can
index score. be found on pages 50 to 5%.
s High customer service ratings maintained and
improved during the year. Please see pages
40 and 41 for mare information.
« Employee survey trust index score in
Your Voice' survey improved to 85%
from 80% in 2021. Please see page 43 for
mare information.
Diversity * Develop effective strategies + Racruitment process enhanced, implemented 5% 25% 2.5%
and inclusion to recruit and attract & mare and operating to increase diversity in
diverse applicant peel for alf candidata pools. In 2022, a number of senior
role vacancies. roles were filled by female applicants.
* Develop plans o improve * Wamen in Einance Charter signed, and
diverse talent pipeline for headline gender diversity targets set for
senjor fevels, Group Executive Committea. All members
of the Fxecutive Commillee have a shared
diversity and inclusion shared objective.
¢ Awarded the Silver Award for the Talent
inclusion and Diversity Evaluation {TIDE')
Mark for second year by tha Employers
Network for diversity and inclusion improving
the Group’s TIDE score ta 78%.
« Listed as a Uids Best Workplaces™ for
Womenfor the 4th year in a row.
Fotals: 35% 22.5% 225%
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
continued

2020 LTIP awards maturing by reference to 2022 performance

LTiP awards were granted on 22 October 2020 which are capable of vesting by reference to performance conditions measured to

30 September 2023. Within the current Executive Directors, only Rachel Lawrence received these awards as David McCreadie was not
appointed as CEO until January 2021, Nif value is shown in the single figure table for shares for Rachel Lawrence as these awards have
not yet reached the performance assessment date. Qutcomes will be disclosed in the 2023 Annuat Report and Accounts,

Awards exercised during the financial year (audited information)
Neither Executive Director exercised an award during 2022.

Awards granted during the financial year (audited information)
2017 Long Term Incentive Plan ('LTIP")

MNaorninal-cost share options were granted to Executive Directors an 5 April 2022 in accardance with the rules of the LTIP as follows:

Face value of

Racipient Date of grant Basis of award  Number of shares award £'000 Performance period
D McCreadie 05-Apr22  100% of salary 53,065 670 1 January 2022 ta 31 December 2024
R Lawrence 05-Apr22  100% of salary 33,308 420 1 January 2072 to 31 December 2024

1. Based an a share price of £12.6186 being the avarage mid-market price determinad between 31 March 2022 and 4 April 2022,

Vesting of the share options is subject to a blend of three TSR and risk management performance metrics, assessed aver a three-year
parformance pariod as summarisad helow,

Measurement basis Relative TSR vs paer Relativa TSR vs FTSE SmallCap

and % weighting group [25%) {ex. investment trusts) {25%) Absalute TSR [25%) Risk management {25%}

Target range Median to upper quartile  Median to upper quartile,  10% to 30% 3-year CAGR  Maintaining appropriate risk
Peer group is: Arbuthnot  Measured against practices over the performance
Banking Group, Close constituents of FTSE period reflecting the longer-
Brothers, OSB Group, SmallCap (excluding term strategic risk management
Metro Bank, Paragon investment trusts), of the Group, including
Barking Group, consideration of:

the nurnber of customer

Vanguis Bank and S&4U.
complaints received;

the number and nature of
material risk events within

the Group;

credit lasses compared 1o
the Boards assessment of the
Groups risk appetite; and

3

management of regulatory
capital limits.

Underpin Vesting for TSR elements also subject to an underpin as follows:
{a) the Board's assessment of the Company's general financial performance and shareholder experience over the
performance pericd;
{o) the Board's assessment of the Company's risk management perdormance over the performance period; and
{c) the Board's assessment of progress against, in particular growth in responsible lending, progress on balance sheet
management and customer satisfaction.

For each metric, threshold attainment is 25% of that part, with vesting on a straight-line basis to 100% for maximum attainment.

For all TSR elements, TSR will be measured using a market normal three-month average TSR to the beginning and end of the
performance period {which is the three year period from 1 January 2022).

Awards vest to the extent that the perfarmance metrics are achieved and are subject to a further twa-year holding periad,
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2017 Deferred Bonus Plan {{DBP’)
Normninal-cost share options were granted to Executive Directors on 5 April 2022 in accordance with the rules of the DBP as follows:

Face value of

Recipient Date of grant Number of shares Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3 award £'000* i
D McCreadie 05-Apr-22 19,214 6,405 6,405 6,406 242
R Lawrence 05-Apr22 12,062 4,020 4,020 4,022 152

1. Based on a share price of £12.8166 being the average mid-market price determinad betwaen 3t March 2022 2nd 4 April 2022.

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited information)

A formal shareholding guideline requires Executive Directors to build up and rnaintain a shareholding of at feast 100% of base salary,
over time, by retaining shares from awards granted under the Group's share plans that vest (net of income tax and National insurance).

The interests of the Diractors and thelr connectad persons in the Company's ordinary shares as at 31 Decemnber 2022 were as set out
below. Any changes to a Director’s sharehaolding are set out in the notes below the table, !

Directors’ shareholding and share interests

. Unvested,
Shares Options Optians QOptions not Unvasted,

e Siimea {exered Crre 31 0acmbs  Owned  Vesdbyt pritle | tbjectto ;

Director Typa 2022 year the yaar the year the year 2022 ouleight unexercised conditions conditions
D McCreadie'? Shares 5000 58477 - - - 10,847 10,847 - — -
2017 LTIP 55,319 — 53065 - — 108,384 - - ~ 108,384

2017 DBP - ~ 19216 - - 19216 - ~ 19,216 ~

2017 SAYE 1,683 - - - - 1,683 - - 1,683 -

R Lawrence'?  Shares — 346480 — - - 3,648 3,648 - - —
2017 LTI 44,927 — 33,308 - - 78,235 - - w 78235

2017 DBP - 12062 - - 12,062 - - 12,062 -

2017SAYE 3,388 - - - - 3,388 - - 3388 -

MForsyth  Shares 650 - - - 6510 6500 - N _
A Berresford  Shares — — - - — - - - —- —
P Myers Shares 5,500 - - - - 5500 5,500 - - -
V Stewart Shares - - - - - - - — - -
FWilliamson  Shares - - - - -~ - - - - - '
Formar Director .
L Neville-Rolfe  Shares 1,273 - - - - 1277 1,271 ~ - - :

123,588 9,495 117,651 - — 250,734 27,766 - 36,349 186,619

. Executive Directors are required o hold shares not purchased on the open market post their empiayment in fine with the minimum shareholding requirements policy.

. Neither David McCreadie nar Rachel Lawrance have achieved the required 100% of base salary shareholding requirement based on sheres awred outright. 8ath are calculated using :
the number of shares awned outright, the Group's Sharesave or 53% of unvested share awards that are not subject to performance conditians {2017 DBP). Shares held by David ‘
MeCreadlie (23,344 sharas), ara warth £175000 when using the 2022 year end share prica of £7.50 (26.15% of 2022 annual base salany). Shares held by Rachel Lawrence {13428 shares)
are worth £100,710 when using tha 2022 year end share price of £7.50 {23.26% of base salary).

. ravid McCreadie purchasad 1,808 shares on 31 May 2022, On 2 Septernber 2022 David, and a person closely associated to him, collectively purchased 4,039 shares.
. Awaids granted under LTIP rules on 03 April 2022 are set cut on page 88,
. Awards granted under DBP rutes an 05 Apiil 2022 are set out above,

]

. On 5 August 2022, Rachel Lawrence, and a person dosely associated to her, callestively purchased 3,648 shares,

~ oo E W

. The number of shares for Baroness Neville-Rolfe is based an disclosed sharehaldings at the date of her resignation.
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Payments made to former Directors during the year {audited information)
No payments were made to former Directors during 2022 other than for Bareness Neville-Rolfe for the period that she was a Non-
Executive Director (2021: nil).

Payments for loss of office made during the year (audited information)
No payments for loss of office were made in the year to any Director of the Company,.

Performance graph and historical CEO remuneration outcomes

Total sharehalder return

The graph below shows the TSR performance for the Company'’s shares in comparison to the FTSE SmallCap Index (excluding
investment trusts) for the period fiom 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2022, For the purpose of the graph, TSR has been calculated as
the percentage change during the period in the market price of the shares, assuming that dividends are reinvested. The graph shows
the value, by 31 December 2022, of {100 invested in the Group over the period compared with £100 invested in the FTSE SmallCap
index {excluding investment trusts). The FTSE SmallCap Index (excluding investment trusts) has been chosen as a cormparator as this is
the rost appropriate reference point given the market capitalisation of the Company.

L CHART REMOVED

The table below shows details of the total remuneration, bonus and share options vesting {as a percentage of the maximum
opportunity) for the CEQ over the last ten financial years.

Total Bonus as a % of LTiPas a

rerauneration maximum % of maximum

£000 appartupity’ osppartunity?

20223 ) 1,060 53.1 N/A
20213 1,170 74.6 N/
2020 1,045 nil nil
2019 ’ 1,804 45 15
2018 1857 50 N/A
2017 1,657 333 N/A
2016 5542 N/A 100
2015 1,459 N/A N/A
2014 3,671 N/A 100
2013 1,031 N/A N/A
2012 870 N/A MN/A

1. Pre Main Market admission, bonses were detarmined by the Committee on a discretionary basis taking into account Group ¥narcia' and individ. al performance during the
financial year.

2. NolTIP shares ware sligible to vest in respect of the years 2012, 2013, 2005, 2017, 2018, 2021 and 2022

3. 202% ang 2022 refllects David McCreadie 25 CEO.
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Directors’ pay increase in relation to all employees

The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration of the Directors and amployees of the business between 2019, 2020,
2021 and 2022 financial years.

pE e S B ooseten  Goralt Bane  orbmii  Besite onn
Employees’ 2.9%  00%  (3.3)%  29% U% 6% 29% 2% 68%
E-;;ecutive Directars:?
D McCreadia® 3.0% 0.0% {(25.4)% N/A NAA N/A, 2.9%* 0.0% N/A
R Lawrance® 3.0% 0.0% (25.3)% 2.0% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Non-Exacutive Directars:4
M Forsyth 2.9% 0.0% N/A 3.0% 0.0% N/A 29% 0.0% N/A
A Berresford 2,9% 0.0% N/A 3.0% 0.0% N/A 29% 0.0% N/A
P Myers 2.9% 0.0% N/A 3.0% 0.0% N/A 2.9% N/A N/A
V Stewart 2.9% 0.0% N/A 3.0% 0.0% N/A 2.9% 0.0% N/A
F Williamson 2.9% 0.0% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A NIA
Former Director: ¥4 o
L Neville-Rolfe 2.9% 0.0% N/A 3.0% 0.0% N/A 2.9% N/A N/A

. The strict legaf requirement is to anly provide details of smployees of Secure Trust Bank ple, hawevar we heve decided to veluntarlly disclose in respect of all Group employees.
2. The calculation is prepared an a full tme equivalent basis.

3. Whera figures are shown s N/A it reflects that the individual commenced a rofe part way through the relevant year or left during the relevant yaar, and accordingly. theee is no
comparable previous year figura.

o~

. David McCreadie was appointed as CEQ with effect from 5 January 2021 therefore no Increase in salary, benefits or bonus was awarded for 2021, In 2020 David McCreadie was a Non-
Executive Dlrector.
Rachel Lawrence received an incragse to salary in line with employees for 2024, adjusted ta refleet her joining the Group part way through the year.

o

Fach of tha Non-Executive Diractars received a 2.9% incraase to their base fee with efect from 1 January 2022 which was based an the employee salary increase for 202t.

2022 CEO pay ratio

Our finalised CEO pay ratio for 2022 is set out in 1he table below. These figures are on a Group-wide basis, as per the regulations:

25th percantile Median 75th percentils
Year Method pay ratio pay ratio pay ratia
2022 ) Option A 40:1 29:1 171
201 T Option A 43:1 31:1 17:1
2020 Option A 471 36:1 19:1
209 Option A 961 71:1 36:1
Total UK employee pay and benefits figures used to calculate the CEO pay ratio for 2022;

25th percentile Median 75th percentife
Salary £25,000 £33,000 £58,000
Total pay and benefits £26,000 £36,000 £62,000

The Company has chosen Option A methodology to prepare the CEQ pay ratio calculation as this is the most statistically robust
method and is in line with the general preference cf institutiona! investors. The value of each employee’s total pay and benefits, as
at 31 December 2022, was calculated using the single figure methodology consistent with the CEO, No elements of pay have been
omitted. Where required, ramuneration was approximately adjustad to be fulltime and full year equivalent basis based on the
employee’s average full-time equivalent hours for the year and tha proportion of the year they were employed.

The Committee considers that the madian pay ratio for 2022 that is disclosed in the above table is consistent with the pay, reward and
pragression policias for the Company'’s UK employees taken as a whole.

Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022 M




Caorporate Governanice Raport

Directors’ Remuneration Report
continued

Spend on pay

The following table sets out the percentage change (from the financial year ended 31 Decernber 2021) in dividends and the overall
expenditure on pay {as a whole across the organisaton). The increase in overail expenditure on pay is driven primarily by the increased
size of Group'’s warkforce, as set out in Note 8 to the Financial Statements.

2022 2071 Change

£million fmillian %

Dividands, excluding special dividends, and share buybacks 8.4 114 263
Dividerds, including special dividends, and share buybacks 8.4 1.4 (26.3)
Overall expenditure on pay’ 55.7 552 09

t, Further information can be found in Note 7 1o the Financial Statements.

Service agreements and letters of appointment
Details of the Diractors' service agreements, letters of appointment and natice periods are set out below:

Name Conunencement of current service agr ffetter of appoi 124 Nastlce period
D McCreadie 5 January 2021 " 17 months
R Lawrence 11 May 2020 12 months
M Forsyth® & October 2016 & months
A Berresford 22 November 2014 & months
P Myers 28 November 2018 6 months
V Stewart 22 November 2014 6 months
F Williamson 30 June 2021 4 months
Former‘DFrector

L Neville-Rolfe 28 Novernber 2018 6 months

. Each of the NonExeotive Directors letter of appolntment was smended in 2073 by 2 side letter confirming their respective Commiiee merbearship and thei total fes. Mo other
changes ware made 1o their existing letter of appointment.

. All Directors are subject to anmsal re-glection by sharehalders,

. Those Non-Executive Directars who are members of the Remuneration Committee are set olt on page 82,

[ZEN]

. Entered into new letters of 2ppointmant prior to the Company’s transition fram AlM to the idain Market

EN

Implementation of Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the financial year ending
31 December 2023

Details on how Secure Trust Bank intends to implement the 2023 DRP for the financial year ending 31 December 7023 are set out
as follows.

Salary

As at the date of this report David McCreadie receives an annual base szlary of £669,500. Rachel Lawrence receives an annual base
salary of £420,240.

The annual salary review date is 1 April 2023, and if any increases are made to the above base salary levels these will be in line with
firr-wide employee level salary increases.

Pensions

David McCreadie and Rachel Lawrence will each receive a ¢ 5% of base salary pension contribution, being aligned to the rate of
pensions contribution for the majority of Group employees.
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Implementation of Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the financial year ending
31 December 2023 continued

Fees
The following table sets out the Non-Executive Director {ee structure effective from 1 January 2023.

Rule 2021 fan
Chairman’ n 230
Nan-Fxecutive Director (basic fee)? 75
Senior Independent Director and Commiittae Chairman 20

Member of Audit, Risk or Remuneration Committee
Designated Non-Executive Director with responsibility for workforce engagement

Consurner Duty Champion

1. The Chairman does not receive any additional feas for his membership of any of the Board’s committees.

2. With effect from 2020 the base fae payabie to the Chairman and the Non-Exscutive Directers increases in line with the average increase of remuneration for emplayees imglemented
within the annual review of remuceration in the previaus year, The increase takes effect from 1 January each year in raspect of the preceding employee level salary incraase.

Annual bonus

The propeosad maximum annual benus opportunity for the year ending 31 December 2023 will be equal to 100% of salery. The bonus
will be subject to stretching performance metrics based on a balanced scorecard. 65% of the bonus will be subject te financial and risk
performance retrics and 35% of the bonus will be subject to a mixture of non-financial strateqic, customer, aperational and employee
parformance metrics. The financial metrics will include profit before tax {25%), net interest margin (10%), costs {10%), capital ratios
{10%) and risk (10%}. The shared non-financial metrics will include strategic devalopment (20%} as well as diversity and inclusion (5%).
The CEO and CFQ each have a 10% weighting for personal ohjectives.

The Committes is able to consider corporate performance on environmental sociaf and governance {'ESG') issues when setting
Executive Director remuneration and has considered whether the incentive structure for senior management raises ESG risks by
inadvertently mativating irresponsible behaviour.

The Committee considers that the targets are commercially sensitive. A description of the performance targets will be disclosed in the
Annual Report an Remunaration for the year ending 31 Decernber 2023 or at such time when the targets are no longer considered
commerdially sensitve,

50% of any bonus earned will be deferred into shares under the DBP. Daferred shares will vest in equal tranches after ane, two and
three years following deferral,

LTiP

The Company proposes to grant LTIP awards to the Exscutive Directors in the form of nominal share options at the level of up to
100% of salary for the CEC and CFO. For the 2023 LT grant, the performance mietrics are 25% relative TSR (measured against
canstituents of the FTSE SmallCap (excluding investment trusts)), 25% return on average equity (target range of 14% — 16%), 25% EPS
growth (target range of 3-year CAGR 20% - 30%, measured from 2022 EPS for continuing businesses) and 25% risk management,

Statement of voting at AGM
The existing DRP was approved by shareholders at the AGM in 2020. The most recent Directors’ Remuneration Report was apptoved
at the AGM in 2022; the votes cast were as detailed below.

Praxy % af proxy Proxy vates % of proxy Votes
Resolutlon B vates for _,‘f{l‘fs fast - against vates cast withheld i
To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy (2020 AGM) 13,595,855 9857 197,730 143 2323180
To receive and approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report
(2022 AGM) 12,811,078 G370 840,993 6.3 3,142,020
Approval

This Repart was approved by the Board on 29 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Vietoria Stewart
Chairrman of the Remuneration Commitiee

Vb ML e
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Proposed Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This Directors’ Remuneration Policy will be submitted to the 2023 AGM for shareholder approval.

If approved by shareholders, it will formally take effect from the date of the AGM, The Directors’
Remuneration Policy has been prepared in accordance with the regulations set out in the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended).

The policy will apply for three years beginning with the date of its approval unless a new policy
is presented in the interim,

Policy takle for Executive Directors

The Directors' Remuneration Policy proposed for approval by shareholders at the 2023 AGM is substantially consistent with the prior
policy approved by our sharehalders at the 2020 AGM. Whare any material changes from the prior policy are proposed these are
shown as indicated.

Operation Maximum cpporiunity Perfarmance matrics Changes fram prior Remunaeration Policy

Base salary

Purpose: To enable the Group to recruit and ratain the services of individuals of a suitable calibre.

Salaries are usually reviewed  While there is no maximum salary, N/A No material changes.
annually taking into account:  increases will normally be in fine

with the typical range of salary

increases awarded (as percentage

of salary) to other employees in

the Group.

+ underlying
Group performance;
s role, experience and

individual performance; . .
Salary increases ahove this level

may be awarded te take account
» of individual circumstances, such
* pay and conditions as, but not limited to:

elsewhere in the Group.

= competitive salary levels
and market forces; and

s where an Executive Director
has had an increase
in responsibil ity;

where an Executive Director
has been promated ar has had
a change in scope;

an individual’s development
or performance in role (e.g.

1o align a newly appointed
Executive Director’s salary with
the market over time); and

where an Executive Director’s
salary is no longer market
competitive (e.g. due to an
increasa in size and complexity
of the business).

Increases may be implemented
aver such time period as the
Committee deems appropriate.
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Operation

Maximum opportunity Perfermance metrics

Changes from prior Remuneration Policy

Benefits

Purpose: To pravide benefits that will be valued by the redipient.

Executive Directors recelve
benefits in line with market
practice, and these include
a car allowance, medical
insurance, life assurance
and disability insurance,

Other benefits may

be provided based on
individual circumstancas.
These may include, for
example, relocation and
travel allowances.

Any reasonable businass-
related expenses (incuding
tax thereon if determined
to be a taxable benefit)
can be reirmbursed.

Whilst the Committee has not MN/A
set an absolute maximum on
the level of benefits Exacutive
Directors may receive, the value
of benefits is set at a level which
the Committee considers to be
appropriately positioned taking
into account relevant market
levels based on the nature

and location of the role and
individual circumstances.

No material changes.

Pension

Purpose: Ta previde an appropriate level of retirement benefit (or cash allowance equivalent),

Executive Directors are
eligible to participate in the
Group defined contribution
pensiorn plan. In appropriata
circumstances, such ag
where contributions exceed
the annual or lifetime
atlowance, Executive
Directors may be permitted
to take a cash supplement
in lieu of contribbutions 1o a
pension plan.

Emplayer pension contributions  N/A
are limited to 5% of base salary.

The maximurn cash supplement

in ¥eu of pension is 5% of
base salary,

No material changes.
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Proposed Directors’ Remuneration Policy

continued

Qperation

Maximum apportunity

Perfarmance metrics Changes frem priar Remuseration Policy

Annual bonus

Purpose: Rewards performance against targets which support the strategic direction of the Group.

Awards are based on
performance {measured
over a year) against metrics

determined by the Committee.

Pay-out levels are deterrmined
by the Committee after

the yearend based on
performance against

those targets.

The Comnmittee has discretion
to amend the pay-out should
any formulaic output not
reflect the Committee's
assessment of overall
business performance.

To further link the Executive
Directors’ pay to the interests
of shareholders, Executive
Directors are required to
defer 50% of any bonus
earned into shares under

the Deferred Bonus Plan
{'DBP'). Deferred share awards
vest in equal tranches after
one, two and three yeasrs
following deferral.

Deferrad share awards will
typically take the form of a
nil-cost/nominat-cost share
option but may be structured
as an alternative form of
share award.

The Committee may decide
to pay the whole of the
bonus earned in cash where
the amount to be deferred

is less than £50,000 and
would therefore, in the
opinion of the Committee,
make aperation of the DBP
administratively burdensome,

Clawback provisions will apply
to annual bonus awards and
malus and clawback provisions
will apply to deferred share

awards as detailed on page 99,

The rmaximum annual bonus
opportunity is 100% of
base salary.

Targets are set annually The following points have

been clarified:

reflecting the Group's
strateqgy and aligned with
key finandial, strategic andfor
individual targets.

The annual bonus will

be assessed against key
financial performance

metrics of the business

snd non-financial strategic/
personal objectives, in such
proportions as the Committee
considers appropriate.

Financial metrics

No more than 50% of the
maximum potential will be
paid for on-target performance
and all of the maximum
potentia| will be paid for
cutstanding performance.

Non-financial strategic or
individual metrics

Qutcomes for the non-financial
strategic or individual metrics
will apply on a scale between
0% and 100% based on the
Committee’s assessment of
the extent to which a non-
financial performance metric
has been met.

Deferred share awards are
not subject to any additional
perfarmance metrics,

The Committee applies
a holistic overview

of performance far
annual bonuses befare
confirming outcomes.

+ 100% of base salary is
the rmaxirmum annual
bonus opportunity under
this policy. Within the
prior policy there was
scope to pay bonuses
above 100% of salary in
exceptional cases.
Clarified that the
Committee applies

a holistic overview

of perdformance for
annual bonuses before
confirming outcames.
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Qperation

Maximum appartunity

Perfarmance metrics Changes fram prier Remuneration Policy

Long Term Incentive Scheme ('LTIP’)

Purpose: To provide an effective long-term incentive award to motivate, incentivise and assist in the retention of
the services of key individuals.

Awards will be in the form
of nil-cost/nominal-cost
share options, conditional
shares ar other such form
as has the same economic
effect. Awards will be granted
with vesting dependent
on the achievernent of
performance conditians
set by the Committee,
normally over a three-year
performance period.

Awards will usually be subject
to a twa-year holding pericd
folfowing the end of the
performance period (with

the exception that sufficient
shares may be sold to meet
income tax and National
Insurance liabilities).

Awards may be seltled in
cash {or granted as a right to
a cash amount) in exceprtional
circumstances at the election
of the Committee.

Malus and clawback provisions
will apply to awards as detailed

on page 99.

The maximum award is
100% of salary in respect of
a financial year.

The Cornmittee will take into
account Company and personal
performanee during the
preceding financial year when

‘determining the maximum award

to be granted.

Performance metrics are No material changes.
selected that reflact underlying

business performance.

Performance metrics and
their weighting where there
is more than one metric

are reviewead annually to
maintain appropriateness
and relevance.

Awards will vest betwean 25%
and 100% for performance
between 'threshold’
petformance {the minimum
level of performance that
results in any level of vesting)
and ‘maximum’ performance.

The Commitiee has the
discretion te override the
formulaic out-turn of the award
if appropriate to do so to

take into account the overall
financial and operational
performance of the Company.

All employee share schemes
Purpose: To create alignment with the Group and promote a sense of ownership.

Executive Directors are eligible  Participant limits arc those set

to participate in a HMRC
tax-qualifying afl-employee
Sharesave Scheme under
the same terms as other
Group employeas.

by the UK tax authorities from
time-to-time.

N/A No material changes.
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Perfarmance metrics Changes fram prior Remuneration Palicy

Operation Maximum appartunity

Minimum shareholding requirements and post-cessation requirements

Purpose: To provide a continued focus on long-term sustainable value creation and to further align Executives'
and shareholders’ interests.

Executive Directors are
required to build up a
shareholding in the Company
equal to 200% of salary.

Execurtive Directors are
expected to retain a
proportion of the shares
vesting under the Cornpany’s
share plans until the guideline
is met. Any LTIP performance
vested shares subjectto a
halding period and any shares
awarded in connection with
annual bonus deferral will be
credited for the purpase of
the guidelines (discounted

for anticipated tax liabilities).
In addition, a post-cassation
shareholding requirement will
apply to Executive Directors
who leave the Company.
Leavers will have a requirement
to hold the share ownership
requirement or, if lower, the
level of their pre- cessation
actual shareholding for 2 years
from ceasing to work (the
earlier of commencing garden
leave or termination of servica).

N/A

N/A

The periad far application of
post-cessation sharehalding

requirements is extanded to

2 years {from one year).

The level of share ownership
guidelines are increased to
200% of salary (from 100%
of salary).

Clarified that Executive
Directors are expected

to retain shares from

share plans to atiain the
guideline requirements.

28

Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022




Strategic Report Corporate Governance Report Financial Statements

Application of malus and clawback ‘

Malus: The ability to reduce, cancel or impose further conditions on unvested awards, in the dreumstances set out below.

Clawback: The shility to cancel an award that has vested but not yet been released {in relation to an award which is subject to a

holding periad) or exercised (in relation to share options), or require the repayment of some or all of an award in the circumnstances sat

out below.

Malus and clawback may apply in the following circumstances:

* Discovery of a material misstatement rasulting in an adjustment in the audited corsolidated accounts of the Company,

* The assessment of any performancs target or condition in respect of an award was based on material error or materially inaccurate
or misleading informatior.

The discovery that any information used to determine the DBP and/or LTIP was based on material error, or materially inaccurate or
misleading information.
Action or conduct of an Executive Director which, in the reasonable apinion of the Board, amounts to frautd or gross misconduct.

» The Executive Director is subject to regulatory censure in respect af a material faiture in control,

The Executive Director's service agreement is terminated for gross misconduct or the Executive Director tecelves a formal written
warning for gross misconduct, as defined by the Company’s disciplinary policy.

+ The Company suffers a raterial [oss arising from the Executive Director operating ouiside of agreed risk policy parameters,

and as such the Committee considers a material failure in risk ranagement has occurred.

The level of the award is not considered sustainable when assessing the overall financial viability of the Company.

* The Company has suffered corporate failure such as, although not limited o, the appcintment of an administrator or a liquidator
or the Company entering into an agreement with its creditors,

A material failure of risk management and/ar regulatory non-compliance resulting in damage to the Company’s business

or reputation.

Any other circurnstances that the Board considers to have a similar nature or effect.

Malus and clawback provisions will apply aver the following time periods:

Elernent Malus Clawback
Annual bonus award To such time as payment is made. Up to three years following payment.
Deferred bonus award To such time as the award vests, Tranche of award deferred for one year:

Up to two years following vesting.

Tranche of award deferred for two years:
Up to one year following vesting.

Tranche of award deferred for three years:
No clawback provisions apply.

LTIP award Ta such time as the awerd vasts. Up to two years following vesting.

Discretions retained by the Committee in operating the LTIP and other variable pay schemes

The Committee operates the Groug’s variaus incentive plans according to their respective rules and (where applicable} in accardance
with relevant legislation and HMRC guidance. In order to ensure efficient administration of these plans, certain operational discretions
are reserved to the Committee.

These include but are not limited 1o:

determining who may participate in the plans;

determining the timing of grants of awards and/or payments under the plans;

determining the quantum of any awards and/or payments {within the limits set out in the policy table above);

in exceptional circurnstances, determining ihat a share-based award shall be settled (in full or in part) in cash;

+ determining the performarnce measures and targets applicable to an award (in accordance with the statements made in the
section below);

»

discretion to override formulaic cutcomes;
where a participant ceases to be employed by the Company, determining whether 'good leaver’ status shall apply;

determining the extent of vesting or payment of an award based on assessment of the performance conditions and the overall
perlarmance of the Campany, including discretion as to the basis on which performance is to be measured if an 2ward vasts in
advance of normal timetable (on cessation of employment as a 'good leaver’ or on the occurrence of corporate events);
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« whether, and to what extent, prarating shall apply in the event of cessation of employment as a 'good leaver’ or on the occurrence
of corporate events;

+ discretion to vary shareholding and post-cessation helding requirernents in exceptional circumstances;

+ whether malus and/or dawback shall be applied to any award and, if so, the extent to which they shall apply; or

» making appropriate adjustments to awards on account of certain events, such as major changes in the Company’s capital structure.

‘Explanation of performance metrics chosen

Performance metrics are selected that are aligned with the performance of the Group and the interests of shareholders.

Stretching performance targets are set each year for the annual bonus and LTIP awards. When setting these performance targets, the
Committee will take into account a number of different reference points, which may include the Group’s business plans and strategy
and the economic environment, Full vesting will only occur for what the Committee considers to be stretching performance.

The annual bonus performance targets have been selected to provide an appropriate balance between incentivising Directors to meet
financial targets for the year and achieving strategic and/or personal objectives,

Long term performance metrics provide a robust and transparent basis on which to measure the Group's performance aver the longer-
term and provide further alignment with the business strategy.

The Committee retains the ability to adjust or set different parformance metrics or targets if events occur {such as a change in

strategy, a material zcquisition and/or a divestment of a Group business or a change in prevailing market conditions) which cause

the Committee 1o determine that the maetrics are no longer appropriate and that amendment is required 56 that they achieve their
original purpose.

Awards and options may be adjusted in accordance with the schame rules in the event of & vadation of share capital, demerger,
delisting, special dividend or other evant which may affect the Company's share price.

Policy for the remuneration of employees more generally

Remuneration arrangements are determined throughout the Group based on the seme principle that reward should be achieved for
delivery of the business strategy and should be sufficient to attract and retain high calibre talent.

Non-Executive Directors

Etament and purpase Approach of the Company

Chairman and Non-Executive fees are normally reviewed annually.

Director fees Fees paid to Non-Exacutive Directors for their services are approved by the Board. Fees may include
To enable the Group to recruit  a basic fee and additional fees for further responsibilities (for exarnple, chairmanship and membership
and retain Non-Executive of Board committees or holding the office of Senior Independent Director). Fees are based on

Directors of a suitable calibre.  the level of fees paid to Non-Executive Directors serving on the hoard of similarsized UK listed
companies and thase in the financial services sector, as well as the time commitment and contribution
expected for the role.

Non-Executive Directors cannot participate in any of the Company's share schemes or annual bonus
and are not eligible to join the Company's pension scheme.

Non-Executive Directors may be eligible to recelve benefits such as private medical insurance, the use
of secretarial support, travel costs or ather support that may be appropriate.

Any reasonable business-related expensas (including tax thereon if determined to be a taxable
henefit) can be reimbursed.
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lustrations of application of remuneration policy

The chart below sets out for the CEO and CFO an illustration of the application for 2023 of the remuneration policy set out above.
The charis show the split of remuneration between fixed pay, annual benus (including ameunts deferred under the DBP) and LTiP

on the basis of minimum remuneration, remuneration receivable for parformance in line with the Companys expectations, maximum
remuneration {not allowing for any share price appreciation) and maximum remuneration {ailowing for 50% share price appreciation
on the [TIP award), Amounts shown are in 1 thousands.

CHART REMOVED L CHART REMOVED

In illustrating the above potential rewerd, the following assumptions have been made:

Scenaria Description Assumptions

Minimum performance Minimum remuneration receivable. Fixed elements of remuneration only ~salary
as at | January 2023, benefits and pension.

No payments under incentive plans.

Target perfarmance Remuneration receivable for achieving Fixed elements of remuneration {as above).
performance in line with expectations.

50% of maximum annual bonus earned.

25% of maximum LTIP award vesting.

Maximum performance Remuneration receivable for achieving Fixed elernents of remuneration {as ahove).
performance in excess of the maximum

p . . 100% of maximum annual bonus earned.
performance targets.

100% of maximurn LTIP award vesting. ;

Maximum performance including Remuneration receivable at maximum Fixed elements of remuneration {as ahove). ;
share price growth performance, plus 50% share price growth

; 100% of maximum annual honus earned.
on the LTIP vesting value.

100% of maximum LTIP award vesting plus
50% share price growth.

Recruitment remuneration

The policy aims to facifitate the appointment of individuals of a suitable calibre. When appointing a new Executive Director,
the Committee seeks to ensure that arrangements are in the best interests of the Group and not to pay more than Is appropriate.

The Committea will 1ake inta consideration a number of relevant factors, which may include the calibre of the individual, the
candidate’s existing remuneration package, and the specific circumstances of the individual including the jurisdiction from which
the candidate was recruited.

When hiring a new Executive Director, the Committee will typically align the remuneration package with the ahove policy.
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The Committee may include other elements of pay which it considers are appropriate, however, this discretion is capped and is subject
ta the principles and the limits refarred to below:

Base szlary will be set at a level appropriate to the role and the experience of the Executive Director being appointed. This may
include agreement on future increases up to a market rate, in line with increased experience and/ar responsibilities, subject to good
performance, where it is considered appropriate.

Pension and benefits will be provided in line with the above policy.

The Committee will not offer non-perforrance related incantive payments (for example a ‘guaranteed sign-on bonus’).

.

Other elements may be included in the following circumstances:

- an interim appointment being made to fill an Executive Director role on a shoriterm basts;

— if exceptional circumstances require that the Chairman or a Non-Executive Director takes on an executive function on a short-
term basis;

-- if an Executive Director is recruited at a time in the year when it would be inappropriate te provide a bonus or long-term incentive
award for that year as there would not be sufficient time to assess performance. Subject to the limit on variable remuneration set
out below, the quantum in respect of the months emplayed during the year may be transferred to the subsequent year so that
reward is provided on a fair and appropriate basis; and

— if the Executive Director will be required to relacate in order to teke up the position, it is the Company’s policy to allow reasonabie
relocation, travel and subsistence payments. Any such payments will be at the discretion of the Committae.

The Committee may also alter the performance metrics, performance period and vesting pericd of the annual bonwus, DBP or LTIP, if
the Committee determines that the circumstances of the recruitment merit such alteration. The rationale will be clearly explained in
the following Directors’ Rernuneration Report.

The maximum leve! of variable remuneration which may be granted (excluding "buy out” awards as referred to below) will be within
the maximum limits set out in the policy table.

Any share awards referred to in this section will be granted as far as possible under the Company's existing share plans.

If necessary, znd subject to the limits referred to above, recruitment awards may be granted outside of these plans as permitted under
the Listing Rules which allow for the grant of awards to facilitate, tn unusual circumstances, the recruitment of an Executive Director.

The Commitiee rmay make payments or awards in respect of hiring an employee to "ouy out’ remuneration arrangements forfeited on
leaving a previous employer. In doing so the Committee will take account of relevant factors including any performance conditions
attached to the forfeited arrangements and the time over which they would have vested.

The Committee will gencrally scek to structure buyout awards or payments on 2 like-for-like basis to the remuneration arrangements
forfeited. Any such payrmients or awards are limited to the expected value of the forfeited awards. Where considered appropriate, such
special buy-out awards will be liable to forfeiture or ‘malus’ end/or ‘clawback’ on early departure.

Where a position is filled internally, any ongoing remuneration abligations or outstanding variable pay elements shall be allowed to
continue according to the original terms.

Fees payable to a newly appointad Chairman or Non-Executive Director will be in line with the fee policy in place at the time

of appointmaent.

Service agreements and letters of appointment

Executive Directors’ service agrezments are on a ralling basis and may be terminated on 12 months’ notice by the Company or the
Executive Director, Service agreements for new Executive Directors will generally be limited to 12 months’ natice by the Company.
All Non-Executive Diractors' letters of appointment are on a rolling basis and may be terminated on six menths' notice by the
Cornpany or the Non-Executive Directors. All Non-Fxecutive Directars are subjact ta re-slection at intervals of not more than
three years.

Details of the Directors’ service agreements, {etters of appointment and notice period are set out on page 92,
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Payments for loss of office
The principles on which the determination of payments for loss of office wili be approached are set out below:

Scenario

Deseription

Paymant in lieu of notice

The Company has discretion to make a payment in lisu of notica to Executive Directars and Non-
Executive Directors. Such a payment would include base salary or fees for the unexpired pericd
of notice.

Annual bonus

This wili be at the discretion of the Committee on an individual basis and the decision as to whether
or not to award an annual bonus award in full or in part wilt be dependent an a number of factors,
including the circumstances of the individual’s departure and thelr contribution to the business during
the annual bonus pericd in guestion, Any annual bonus award amounts paid will be paid only to
individuals considered to be a 'goad leaver’ and will be pro-rated for time in service during the annual
bonus period and will, subject to performance, normally be paid at the usual time (although the
Committee retains discretion to pay the annual bonus award earlier in appropriate crcumstances),

Any annual bonus earned for the year of departure and, if relevant, for the prior year may be paid
wholly in cash at the discretion of the Committee.

Defarred Bonus Plan

The extent to which any unvested award will vest will be determined in accordance with the rules of
the DBF.

Unvested awards will narmally lapsa on cessation of employment. However, if a participant leaves
due to death, ill-health, injury, disability, the sale of his employer or any other reason at the discretion
of the Committee, the award will vest at the norma! vesting date other than in the case of death
where vesting shall be accelerated or in the other cases only exceptionally at the discretion of the
Committee. In either case, the extent of vesting will be determined by the Committee, 1aking into
account, unfess the Committee determines otherwise, the period of time elapsed from the date of
grant to the date of cessation refative to the deferral period.

Awards in the form of nil-cost or nominal-cost share aptions may then be exercised during such
period as the Committee determines.

Awards in the form of nil-cost or nominal-cast share aptions which have vested and been released
but remain unexercised at the date of cessation may be exercised if a participant leaves for any
reason {other than summary dismissal). Awards may then be exercised for such period as the
Compniltee determines,

LFIP

The extent to which any unvested award will vest will be determined in accordance with the rules of
the LTIP. :

Unvested awards will normally lapse on cessation of employment. However, if a participant leaves
due to death, ill-heslth, injury, disability, the sale of his employer or any other reason at the discretion
of the Committes, the award will vest at the normal vesting date cther than in the case of death
where vesting shall be accelerated or In the other cases only exceptionally at the discretion of the
Committee. Iny either case, the extent of vesting will be determined by the Committee taking into
account the extent to which the performance condition is satisfied and, unless the Committes
determines otherwise, the period of time elapsed from the date of grant to the date of cessation
relative to the performance period. Awards in the farm of nil-cast or nominal- cost share options may
then be exercised during such period as the Committee determines,

If a participant leaves for any reascn (other than summary dismissal) after an award has vested but
before it has been released {i.e. during a ‘holding period'), his award will ordinarily continue until the
normal release date when it will be released. The Committee retains the discretion to release awards
when the participant leaves. The Committea will normally align continuing holding periods after
termination with the twa year period after termination for share ownership guidelines.
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continued

Scenatie Descriptian

Change of control The extent to which unvested awards under the DBP and LTIP will vest will be determined in
accordance with the niles of the relevant plan.

Awards under the DBP may vest in full in the event of a takeover, merger or other relevant corporate
avent unless the Board determines the award will be subject ta roll-over.

Awards under the LTIP may vest early on a takeover, merger or ather relevant corporate event unless
the Board determines the award will be subject to rallaver. The Committee will determine the level of
vesting taking into account the extent ta which the performance condition is satisfied and, unless the
Cormmittee determines otherwise, the period of time elapsed from the date of grant to the date of
the relevant corporate event relative to tha performance period.

Mitigation Termination payments may be reduced where the Executive Director commences alternative
emplayment during the natice period.

Other payments Paymenis may be made either in the event of a loss of office or a change af control under the
Sharesave Scheme, which is governed by ils rules and the legislation relating to such tax-qualifying
plans. There is no discretionary treatment for leavers or on a change of control under these plans.

In appropriate circumnstances, payments may also be made in respect of accrued holiday,
outplacement and legal fees.

Where a buy-out award is made under the Listing Rules then the leaver provisions would be determined at the time of the award.

The Committee reserves the right ta make additional exit payments where such payments are made in good faith in the discharge
of an existing legal abligation {or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation} or by way of settlement or compromise of any
clairn arising in connection with the termination of a Director’s office or employment. Contributions may be made to legal fees or for
outplacement support.

Where the Committee retains discretion it will be used to provide flexibility in certain situations, taking into account the particular
circumnstances of the Director’s departure and performance.

There is no entitlement to any compensation in the event of a Non-Executive Director's fixed-term agreements not being renewed or

the agreement terminating earlier with the exception of a payment in lieu of notice as detailed in the table on page 103.

Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Company

The Committee considers the general basic salary increase, remuneration arrangements and employment conditions for the broader

employee population when determining rernuneration palicy for the Executive Directors.

Shareholder views

The Committee is committed 1o an ongaing cialogue with shareholders and welcomes feedback on Executive and Non-Executive

Directors' remuneration. Should eny significant changes be proposed to the palicy going forward, the Company will engage with its

shareholders to seek their views.

Existing remuneration arrangements

The Committee retains the discretion to make any remuneration payment or payment for loss of office outside the policy in this report:

* where the terms of the payment were agreed before the policy came into effect; andfor

= where the terms of the payment were agreed at a time when the relevant individual was not a Director of the Company, and in the
opinion of the Committee, the payment was not in consideration of the individual hecaoming a Birector of the Company.

For these purposes, ‘payment’ indudes the satisfaction of awards of variable remuneration, and inrelation 1o an award involving shares
the terms of the payment are agreed zt the time the award is granted.

104 Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022




Strategic Reporl

Carporate Gavernance Report Financial Staternents

Directors’ report

The Directors subrmnit their report, the related Strategic Report and Corporate Governance Report,
and the audited financial statements of Secure Trust Bank PLC and its subsidiaries {the 'Group’) for

the year ended 31 Dacember 2022.

Relevant information required to be induded in the Directors’ Report includes disclosures required by the FCA’s Disclosure and
Transparency Rules and Listing Rules (LR 9.8.4) and is incorporated by reference into this report as well as the following sections:

ltem

Page/Note reference

Further detall

Strategic report Pages 2 to 59 Includes particulars of important events affecting the Company
to have occurred since the end of the finandial year.

Business review and information about Pages 5to 24 Describes the principal activity as a bank {indluding depasit

future development taking and secured and unsecured lending).

Key performance indicators Pages 2tc 3

Principal risks

Pages 25to 34

Corporate Governance Report

Pages &0 to 109

Staternent of compliance with UK
Corporate Governance Code in respect
of the year

Page 64

Contains information about the Group’s corporate
governance arrangements.

Results

Pages 12t0 17

The Group made a total profit before tax of £44.0 million
(2021: £56.0 milion).

For the purposes of DTR 4.1,5R2 and DTR 4.1.8 this Directors’
report and the Strategic report on pages 2 to 59 comprise the
management report.

Share capital

Nate 34, Page 166

Details of the Compariy’s share capital and movements in the
Companys issued share capital during the year.

Allotments of cash or equity securities
‘atherwise than to shareholders in
proportion to their holdings

Note 34, Page 166

In accordance with LR 9.8.4R

Share plans

Note 36, Pages 166
e 170

The Company operatas a Long Term Incentive Plan, Sharesave
Plan and a Deferred Bonus Share Plan. Upon exercise, shares
awarded under these plans have the same rights and rank pari
passu with existing ordinary shares.

Details of any long-term incentive plans

Pages 80 1o 104 and
Nate 36, Pages 147
to 1468

in accordance with LR 2.8.4R

Directors in office during the year

Pages 6110 63

Baruness Neville-Rolfe stepped down from the Board on

21 September 2022. All Directors will be retiring and standing for
either election or re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be
held on 18 May 2023,

Directors’ intarests in share capital

Pages 80to 93

Including connected persons.

Related party transactions

Note 44, Pages 179
1o 180

Pages_35 1o 36

Going concern and viability

Future developments Page 11

Finandial risk management Page 25 financial risk management objectives and policies in relation

objectives and policies to the use of financial instruments can be found on the Group's
website: www.securetrustbank.com/our-corporate-information/
risk-management

Climate related financial disclosures Pages 50 ta 59 Required under the Companies Act 2006 {Strategic Report and

Directors’ Report) Regulation 2013 and LR 9.8.6R.
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continued

".Eﬂ:! Page/Nate referenca Further detail

Engagement with Stakeholders Pages 40 to 49 Relevant information related to 5.172 of the Companies Act
2006, Companies (Miscellaneous Reparting) Regulations 2018.

TCFD Disclosures Pages 50 10 59 Explains how we have complied and details any non-compliance
under Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
("TCFD').

Dividends

The Board recommends the payrent of a final dividend of 29.1 pence per share which represents total dividends for the year of 45.1
pence per share (2021: 61.1pence per share). The final dividend, if approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, will be
paid on 25 May 2023 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 28 April 2023.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy which takes into account the Company’s capital requirements, earnings and cash flow in the
long-term balanced with an intention that the Company will distribute 25% of its annual earnings by way of dividend.

The Directors will have regard to current and projected capita, liquidity, earnings and market expectations in determining the amount
of the dividend. On occasion, the Company may declare and pay a special dividend resulting from special circurnstances, however no
such special dividend is currently envisaged.

Share capital

The share capital of the Company comprises one class of ardinary shares with a nominal value of 40 pence each. As at 31 Dacember
2022 the Company had 18,691,434 ordinary shares in issue. Each ordinary sharte entitles the holder tc one vote.

An additional 43,4629 ardinary shares of 40 pence each were issued during 2022 (2021: 14,143) subsequent to requests to exercise
under STB% employee share schernes and as authorised by sharehalders at the 2022 AGM. Since 1 January 2023 and until the date of
the report, a further 6,414 ordinary shares of 40 pence each were issued in the Company. All the ordinary shares are fully paid and rank
equally in all respects and there are no special rights to dividends or in relation to control of the Company.

The powers of the Directaors, including in relation to the issue or buyback of the Company's shares are set out in the Companies Act
2006 and the Company’s Articles of Association. Shareholders will be asked to grant authority to the Directors to fssue and allot stares
atthe 2022 Annual General Meeting.

Urder section 551 of the Companies Act 2004, the Directors may allot equity securities only with the express autherisation of
sharsholdars which may be given in General Meeting, but which cannot [ast mare than five years.

Under section 561 of the Companies Act 2006, the Board may also not allot shares for cash {otherwise than pursuant to an employee
share scheme) without first making an offer to existing shareholders to allot such shares to them on the same or mare favourable terms
in proportion to their respective shareholdings, unless this requirement is waived by special resolution of the shareholders.

Resolutions perritting such actions will be proposed at the 2023 Annual General Meeting. Details of the resolutions for such autherity
are included in the Notice of the 2023 Annual General Meeting and in the related explanatory notes.

The Notice of the 2023 Annual General Meeting also includes resolutions specifically relating to the issue of shares associated with an
lssue of Additional Tier 1 Securities. These resalutions are in a similer form to the resclutions proposed and passed at the 2022 AGM.

Under section 707 of the Companies Act 2006 a cormpany may make a market purchase of its own shares if the purchase has first been
authorisad by a resolution of the company.

The Company did not repurchase any of the issued ordinary shares during the year ar up to the date of this repart, although it was
granted authoerity to do so by shareholders at the 2022 Annual General Meeting on 12 May 2022, That authority expires on 12 August
2023 or, if earlier, the conclusion of the 2023 Annua! General Meeting.

At the 2023 Annual General Meeting a special resolution will be proposed authorising the Company to make market purchases of
ordinary shares within the limits set aut in the resolution.

The resclution is in a similar form to that proposed at the 2022 Annual General Meeting. The Directors have no present interttion of
exercising the authority granted by the resclution but regard it as a useful tool to have available.

Or a show of hands, each member has the right to one vote al General Meetings of the Company. On a poll, each memker is entitled
1o one vote for every share hald. The shares carry no rights to fixed inceme. No person has any special rights of control over the
Carnpany’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid. Voting at the 2023 AGM will be conducted or 2 poll.

There are na specific restrictions on the transfer of the shares in the Company which are governed by the general provisions of the
Artides of Association and prevailing legislation.
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Substantial shareholders

In accordance with Disclosure and Transparency Rules DTRS, the Company as at 29 March 2023 {being the latest practicable date
before publication of this report), has been notified of disdosable interests in its issued ordinary shares as set out in the table below.

Substantial shareholders No. of ordinary sharas %
Colurnkia Threadneedle Investrments 2,889,838 15.44
Fidelity International 1,853,050 9.91
Wellington Management 1779515 9.52
Mr. Steven Cohen 1,510,412 8.08
Invesco 1,324,818 7.09
Unicorn Asset Management 1,091,156 5.84
Premier Miton Investors 1,039,988 5.56
Ennismore Fund Management 960,757 5.14

Powers of Directors
The Directors' powers are conferred on them by UK legislation and by the Company's Articles of Assoctation.

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The appointment and retirement of the Directors is governed by the Company’s Artidles of Associaticn, the UK Corporate Governance
Code and the Companies Act 2006. Further details can be found in the explanatoty notes included in the Notice of 2023 Annuzl
General Maeting.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company's Articles of Association provide that, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Company may indemnify
any Director or former Director of the Coempany or any associated company against any liablity and may purchase and maintain for any
Director or former Director of the Cormpany or any associated company insurance against any liability.

The Group has maintained Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance throughout 2022,

The letters of appointment of the Norn-Executive Directors incorporate by reference the provisions of the Articles of Association in
refation to the indemnity of Directors inte the contract established by the letter of appointment between the Non-Fxecutive Director
and the Company.

Conflicts of interest
Directors are invited to declare new canflicts of interest at each Board meeting and where an actual or potential conffict of interest has
been identified approprizte steps are taken to deal with the conflict.

A separate register of Directors” conflicts of interest is maintained by the Company.

Significant contracts

There are no contracts of significance in which a Directar is interested.

Thera are no agreements between any Group company and any of its employees or any Director of any Group company which provide
for compensation to ba paid to an employee or a Director for termination of employment or for lass of office as a consequence of a
takeaver of the Company.

There are no significant agreements to which the Cornpany is party that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control
following a takeover bid for the Company.

Employment policies and equal opportunities

The Group is an inclusive and equal apportunities emplayer and opposes all forms of discrimination. Applications from people

with disabilities will be considered fairly and if existing employees become disabled, every effort is made to retain them within the
workforce wherever reasonable and practicable. The Group also endeavours to provide equsl opportunities in the training, pramotion
and general career development of disabled employees.

Group policies seek to create a worliplace that has an open atmosphere of trust, honesty and respect. Harassment or diserimination of
any kind is not tolerated, This principle applies to all aspects of employment from recruitment and promoticn, through to termination
and all other terms and conditions of employment.
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The Group has processas in plage for communicating with its employees, Employee comrnunications include information about the
performance of the Group, on major matters affecting their work, employment or workplace and to encourage employees to get
invalved in social or community events. These communications aim to achiave a common awareness for all employees of the financial
and economiic factors affecting the performance of the Group. Further information on how the Group cornmunicates with its employees
is set out in the ‘Managing our business responsibly’ section starting on page 43.

Research and development
The Group does not undertake research and development activities.

Political donations and expenditure
The Group made no political donations and incurred no political expenditure during the year (2021: £nil).

Post balance sheet events
For details of non-adjusting post balance sheet events see Note 47 to the Financial Statements on page 180.

Disclosure of information to Auditor

Each Director in office at the date of this Directors’ report confirms that s far as the Director is aware, there is no relevani audit infermation
of which the Company's Auditor is unaware and each Director has taken all reasonabile steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s Auditor is aware of that information,

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accardance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2004,

Fair, balanced and understandabie

The Directors are satisfied that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable, and
provide the information necessary for merbers and other stakeholders to assess the Group's position and performance, strategy and
business model.

Internal contro! and risk management

The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal and emerging risks facing the Group. Including these
that would threaten its business mode), future performance, salvency or liquidity. The Board considers that the infermation it receives
enables it to review the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls in accordance with the FRC's Guidance on Risk Management, Intemal
Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting. Areas where financial controf can be improved are identified and appropriate
actions agreed as part of our intemal control systems. Senior Management, the Board and the Risk Cornmittee regularly monitor progress
towards completion of these actions. The Board considars that none of the identified areas for improvement constitute a significant failing
or weakness,

Articles of Association

Changas ta the Company’s Articles of Association must be approved by shareholders by way of a special resclution and must comply
with the provisions of the Cormpanies Act 2006 and the Financial Conduct Authority's Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules,

Auditor

Deloitte |LP was reappointed as Auditor at the Annual General Meeting held in 2022, As detailed o page 73 in the Audit Committee
reporl, the Beard is recommending the reappointment of Deloitte LLP as Auditor at the 2023 Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting

The 2023 Anrwal General Meeting will be held 2t 3 pm on 18 May 2023 at the office of Simmons & Simmeans LLP, CityPomnt, 1
Ropemaker Strest, London ECZY 95S. For more information, please see the Notice of Meeting.

By order of the Board.

M P D Stevens
Company Secreta
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Staternents for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required
to prepare the Group Financial statements in accordance with United Kingdam adopted international accounting standards.

The Financial Staterments alse comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the IASB. The Directors
have alsc chosen to prepare the parent Company Financial Statements under United Kingdom adopted international accounting
standards. Under company law the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give 2 true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing these Finandial Statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

= properly select and apply accounting policies;

* present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information; )

* provide additiona! disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements of the financizl reporting framewaork are insufficient
to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and
finangial performance; and

* make z2n assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that
the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and cther irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Respensibility statement

Fach of the Directors who are in office at the date of this report and whose names and roles are listed on pages 61 1o 43 of this Annual

Report canfirm that ic the best of our knowledge:

* the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reponting framework, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consalidation taken as
awhole;

. the Strategic Report indludes a fair review of the development and performanes of the business and the position of the Company
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as & whole, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face; and
the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

This responsibility statement was aporoved by the Board of Directors on 29 March and is signed on its behalf by:

Lord Forsyth David McCreadia
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
2hMarch 2023 29 Narch 2023

b #L’lcc'%uié
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Independent Auditor’s report
to the members of Secure Trust Bank PLC

Report on the audit of the Financial Statemants
1. Opinion

In our opinion:
« the Financial Statements of Secure Trust Bank PLC {the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries {the ‘Group’} give a true and fair view of
the state of the Groups and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 Decernber 2022 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

+ the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards and International Financial Reparting Standards {IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board {IASB);

* the Company Financial Statements have been praperly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

* the Financdial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Adl 2006.

We have audited the Financial Statements which camprise:

+ the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

» the Consolidated and Company statemaents of financial posttion;

* the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity;

* the Consolidated and Company statements o cash flows; and

* the related notes 110 47.

The financial reperting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law, United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The finandal reporting framework that has

baen applied in the preparation of the Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006,

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationa! Standards on Auditing (UIQ (1SAs {UK)') and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accardance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
Financial Statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's {the 'FRCS') Ethical Standard as applied to fisted public
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services
provided to the Group and Campany for the year are discfosed in Note 7 to the Financial Statements, We confirm that we have nat
provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC' Ethical Stendard to the Group or the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinton.
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3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matter that we identified in the current year was:
« Impairment of leans and advances to customers.

Within this report, key audit matters are Identified as follows:

&2} Similar leve! of risk

Matetiality The matertalily that we used for the Graup Financial Statements and Company Financigl Statements was £2.4 million
{2021; £2.3 million) and £2.3 million (2021: £2.2 million) respectively. This was determined using 0.75% of net assets.
Scaping We have performed a {ull scope audit on the Company and V12 Retail Finance Limited with the remaining entities subject to

testing of specific account balances.

Sighificant changes  The Debt Managers {Services) Limited {DMS) debt collection portfolio was sold in May 2022 Therefore we no longer identify a
in our approach key audit matter relating to the valuation of purchased debt.

4. Concdlusions relating to going concern

In auditing the Financial Statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the

preparation of the Financial Statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group's and Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of

accounting includad:

+ Eveluated the going concern assessment, to understand the key judgements;

= Obtained an understanding of relevant contrals around the going concern assessment including Board approval;

» With the invelvement of prudential regulation specialists, we read the most recent Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
{1ICAAPY and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process {1ILAAPY) documents, assessed the capital and liquidity projections,
assessad the results of the capital and liquidity stress testing, evaluating key assumptions and methods used in the capital and
liquidity stress testing models, and tested the mechanical accuracy of the forecasts;

» Read correspondence with regulators to understand the capital and liquidity requirernents imposed by the Group's regulators, and
evidence any changes to those requirements;

» Cbtained the capital and liquidity forecasts and assessed key assumptions and their projecied impact on capital and liquidity ratios,
particulary with respect to loan book growth and potential credit losses;

* Assessed the historical accuracy of forecasts; and

» Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the Financial Stetements in view of the FRC guidance.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainiies relating to events or conditions that,

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ahility to continue as a going concern for a period
of at least twelve months from when the Financial Statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corpaorate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add
or draw attention to in relation to the Directors' statement in the Financial Statements about whiether the Directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to geing concarn are described in the relevant sections of
this report.
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Independent Auditor’s report
continued

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial
Statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstaternent {whether or not due to fraud)
that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strateqy, the allocation of resources
in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matiers were addressed in the context of cur audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming aur opinion thereon,
and we da not provide a separate opinion on these matters. :

5.1. Impairment of loans and advances to customers @

Key audit matter  The Group held allowarices for impairment of loans and advances ta customers of £78.0 million (2021: £67.5 million} against loans
description and advances to customers of £2,997.5 million {2021: £2,598.1 million).

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, FRS 9 Financial Instruments requires the carrying value to be assessed for
impairment Using unblased forward-locking information. The measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) is complex and
involves judgements and estimates refating to probability of default (FD'), exposure at default, loss given default (LGD?) induding
collateral valuations, significant increases in credit risk {'SICR') and macroeconomic scenaric modelling. These assumptions are
infarmed using historical behaviour and the Director's experience.

The uncertain economic environment continues to increase the complexity in estimating ECLs, particularly with regards to |
determining aporapriate forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and the requirement for post model axpert credit judgements :
{ECJs"). The ECL provision requires the Director's ta mr ake significant judgements and estimates. We therefore consider this to be

a key audit matter due to the risk of fraud or error in respect of the Group's allowance for impairment.

We identified three specific areas in relation to the ECL that require significant judgement or relate to assumptions to which the
overall ECL pravision is particularly sensitive:

* The valuation of model adjustments and post model £CJs applied to the consumer lending portfolios;
* The accuracy of the macroeconomic scenarios applied to the consumer and Real Estate Finance (REF} lending portfolios; and
» The accuracy of the vehicle recovery rate component of the LGD applied in the Vehide Finance lending portfolio.

In the prior year, our key audit matier in respect of the impairment of loans and advances to customers also included the impact of
cure rates on the Vehicle Financa LGD. This is ne longer considered a key audit matter given the reduced estimation uncertainty
associated with this assumnption and its sensitivity to reasonably possiblfe changes.

Irpairment of loans and advances to customers, including associated accounting palicies is included in Note 17 of the Financial
Statements. The corresponding area in the Audit Committee report Is on page 72.
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How the scope

We ebtained an understending of the relevant controls aver the impairment provision with particular focus on controls over

of our audit significant assumptions and judgements used in the calculation of ECL.
responded to the
keypaudit matter 1o challenge the consumer portfolio rodel adjustments and EC.Js we:

+ Assessad the rationale for the model adjustments and ECJs applied;

+ With the Involvement of cradit risk specialists, we assessed and tested the methodology applied, including the mechanical
accuracy of model adjustments and ECJ calculations; and

s Tested the completeness and accuracy of the data used in deriving these adjustments and ECls,

For the macroeconomic scenarios we:

+ ‘With engagement of our economic specialist, assessed the scenarios and weightings provided by the extemal economic
provider and adapted by the Directors;

« Compared the appropriateness of selected macroeconomic variables and weightings to those used by peer lenders; and

» Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external economic pravider,

For the Vehicle Finance LGD we,

+ Assessed both the historical and forecast data used to suppaort the vehicle recovery rate, including completeness and accuracy;
and

+ Considered how the foracast rate may be impacted by both internal and external facters.

As part of our wider assessment of impairment of loans and advances to customers wes

+ Tested the source data and report logic used to extract source data from the underlying lending systems for input into the
impairment models;

+ With engagement of our rea! estate valuation specialists, assassed a sample of collateral valustions used in the LGD calculation
for the REF portfalio;

s+ Reconciled the impairment maodels to the general ladger and substantively tested a sample of loans to assess whether the data
used in the provision calculation was somplete and accurate;

s Assessed the quantitative and qualitative factors used in the SICR assessment by reference ta standard validation metrics
including the praportion of transfers to stage two driven solely by being 30 days past dug, the volatifity of loans in stage two and
the praportion of keans that spend little ar no time in stage two before moving to stage three;

s Tested tha completeness and accuracy of data used in applying the quantitative and qualitative criteria in the SICR assessment
on whether loans are assigned to the correct stage; and

+ As a stand back test, considered potential contradictory evidence, assessed changes in the overall coverage ratios and the
completaness of key judgements adapted by the Directors through comparison to industry peers.

Key Based on the evidence obtained, we found that the judgements and assumptions underpinning the allowances for impairment of

observations

loans and advances to customers were determined and applied appropriately and the recognised provision was reasonable.
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6, Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the Financial Statements that makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of
our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Financial Statements as 2 whale as follows:

Graup Financial Statements. Company Financia! Statemants
Materiality £2.4 mitlion (2021; £2.3 million) £2.3 million {(2021; £2.2 million} ]
Basis for determining 0.75% of net assets (2021: 0.75% of net assats) 0.75% of net assets {2021: 0.75% of net assets)
materiality
Rationale for the We have chosen net assets as it is considered a key metric for users of the Financiz! Statements given the
benchimari applied capital reguirernents which arise from being a regulated bank. As most

of the Group'’s operaticns are carried out by the Company, the same materiality basis was used for both.

{ CHART REMOVED '

6.2. Performance materiality

We set perforrmance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and
undatected misstatements excaed the materiality for the Financial Statements as a whole.

Group Financial Statements Company Financial Statements
Parformance materiality  70% {2021, 70%} of Group materiality 0% (2021: 70%) of Company materiality
Basis and rationale In determining performance materiality, we considered a number of factors, including: our
for determining understanding of the control environment and controls reliance obtained; our understanding of the

performance materiality business; and the number of uncorrected misstatements identified in the prior year.

6.3. Error reporting thresheld

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differances in excess of £0.1 miflion
(20211 £0.1 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matiers that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the
Finandial Staternents.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1.Identification and scoping of components
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Graup-wide controls, and

assessing the risks of material misstatement a1 the Group lavel. Based on that assessment, we performed a full scope audit on the
Campany and V12 Retail Finance Limited. For the remaining entities, we have performed testing of specific account balances.

Audit testing to respond to the risks of material misstatement was performed directly by the Group audit engagement team and
executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual entity. We have also performed testing over the consolidation process of

Group entities.
7.2. Qur consideration of the contral environment
We identified key IT systerns for the Group in respect of the financial reporting system, lending systems for Vehicle Finance, Real Estate

Finance, Comrmercial Finance, Retail Finance and the depasits system. With involvement of our IT specialists, performed testing of the .
general IT controls { GITCs") associated with these systems and relied upon [T controls in respect of these systems.

We planned to take a controls reliance approach in relation to both the lending and deposits business oycles, except for the Vehidle
Finance prime lending boolk. The Vehicle Finance prime lending book is on & different system to the remainder of the Vehicle Finance
book, and due to its refative size, we concluded that the most appropriate audit approach was a non-controls reliance approach.

We tested relevant automated and manual controls for these businass cycles and were able to adopt a controls reliance approach.
Wa did not plan to obtain controls reliance aver impairment of loans and advances to customers.

7.3. Qur consideration of climate-related risks _ ‘

We have obtained an understanding of the process for ¢onsidering the impact of climate-related risks and controls and assessed
whether the risks identified are cormplete and consistent with our understanding of the entity as part of our own risk assessment
procedures. These risks and Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCHD') are containad within pages 50 to 59 of the
Annua| Report.

In conjunction with our clirmate risk specizlists, we have held discussions with the Group to understand the process for identifying
affected operations, including the governance and controls over this process, and the subsequent effect on the financial repaorting for
the Group and the long-term strategy to respond ta climate change risks as they evolve.

Qur audit work has involved assessing the completeness of the physical and transition risks identified and considered in the Group's
clirate risk assessmeant. The condusion is that there is no matetial impact of cimate change risk on current year financial reporting.
This has been identified through assessing disclosures in the Annual Report, and challenging the consistency between the Financial
Statements and the remainder of the Annual Report.

As sat out in Note 17, the Directors do not consider that climate change risk is currently a key source of estimation uncertainty nor that
it presents a material impact to the judgements made in the financial statements.

We performed our own risk essessment of the potential impact of climate change on the Group’s aceount balances and classes of
transactions and did not identify any additional risks of material misstatement.

8. Other information

The other information comprises the information indluded in the Annual Report, other than the Financial Statements and our Auditor’s
report thereon. The Directors ara responsible for the other information contained within the Annual Report.

Our opinion on the Financial Staternents does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our raport, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the ather information Is materially inconsistent
with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material incansistencies or apparent material misstaternents, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to
a material misstaternent in the Financial Statements themsalves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material rmisstaternent of this other information, we are required to report that {act.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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9. Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary io enable the preparation of Financial Staternents that are free fram material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as i
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related ta going concern and using the going congern basis of accounting unless
the Directars elther intend 1o liquidate the Group ar the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from matarial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a

high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an sudit conducted in accardance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected ta influence the ecanomic decisians of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statemants.

Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements s located on the FRC’ website at: www.fre.org.uk/
auditars responsibilities. This description forms part of our Auditor's report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
lrregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, 10 detect material misstatements In respect of irregularities, including frauid. The extent to which aur
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstaternent in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws
and regulations, we considered the following:

+ the nature of the industry and sectar, control environment and business performance including the dasign of the Group’s
rernuneration policies, key drivers for Diractors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

results of aur enquiries of the Directors, Intermnal Audlit, the Directors and the Audit Cormmittee about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are specific to the Group's sector;

* any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their palicies and procedures relating to:

- identifying, evaluating and complying with lews and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
— detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
— the internal contrals established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

« the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including tex, real estate valuation,
ecanomic, climate risk, share based payments, data analytics, information technology, prudential regulatory and credit risk specialists
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the Financial Statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these pracedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and
identified the greatest potential for fraud in relation to impairment of loans and advances 1o customers. In common with all sudits
under [SAs (UK), we are also required to perform spedific proced.res to respand to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in, focusing on provisions of thase
laws and regulations that had 2 direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements.
The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the Finandiat Statements
but compiiance with which may be fundamental to the Group's ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the
regulation =et by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCAY and by the Prudential Regulation Autharity (PRA relating to regulatory
capital and liquidity requirernents, which are fundamental to the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. ;
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11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of perfarming the above, we identified impairment of loans and advances ta customers as a key audit matter related to the
potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and also describes the spacific
procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of
relevant taws and regulations described as having 2 direct effect on the Financial Statements;

enguiring of the Directors, the Audit Committee and in-house legat counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

due 1o fraud;

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internat audit reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC, FCA and PRA; and

in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of contiols, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members incduding
internal spedialists and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit,

Report on other legai and regulatory requirements.

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement

In our opinian the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be sudited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the strategic report and the Directors' report for the finarcial year for which the Financial Staternents
are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statemenis; and

* the Strategic Report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding cf the Group and the Company and their environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified any materia! misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ report,

13. Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country
Reparting) Regulations 2013

In our opinion the Inforration given in Nate 46 to the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 has
been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by Country Reporting)
Regulations 2013.
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14. Corporate Governance Statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors’ statement in relation to geing concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
Caorporate Governance Statement relating to the Group’s compliange with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review.

Rased on the work undartakan as part of our audit, we have canchided that each of the fallowing elemants of the Carporate
Gaovernance Statement is materially consistent with the Financial Statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit:

* the Directors’ statemant with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any
material uncertainties identified set out on pages 35 and 36,

»

the Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group's prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the pariod
is appropriate set out on pages 35 and 34;

.

the Directors’ statement on {air, balanced and understandable set out on page 108;

the Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on pages

25t 34;

the section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk rmanagement and internal control systems set
out on page 46; and

* the section describing the work of the Audit Committee set out on pages 70to 74,

15, Matters an which we are required to report by exception
15.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opiniom:

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for cur audiy; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or
+ the Company Financial Staternents are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters,
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15.2. Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have not
been made.

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our apinion certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have
not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns. We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

16. Other matters which we are required 1o address
16.1. Auditor tenure :

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Board of Directors on 16 May 2018 1o audit the
Financial Statements for the year ending 31 December 2018 and subsequent financial periods. The periad of total uninterrupted
engagement incdluding previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is five years, covering the years ending 31 December 2018
to 31 December 2022.

16.2. Consistency of the Audit Report with the additional report to the Audit Committee

Our audit apinion is cansistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in accordance with
ISAs (UK).

17. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Campany's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit wark has bean undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an Auditor’s report and for no other purpase. To the fullest extent permittad by faw, we do not accept or assume respansibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members a3 a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

As required by the FCA Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule (DTR) 4.1.14R, these Financial Statements form part of the
Furapean Single Flectrenic Format (ESEF) prepared Annual Report and Accounts filed on the National Storage Mechanism of the

UK FCA in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTS'). This Auditor's report provides no assurance aver
whethgr,the AnnughReport and Accounts has been prepared using the single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

Matthew Perlins FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Daloitte 119
Statutory Auditer

Birmingham, United Kingdom
29 March 2023
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

Restated’
2022 2021
MNote £million Emillion
Income statement T
Continuing operations
Interast income and similar income 41 203.0 1463.9
Interest expense and similar charges 41 (50.4) (27.7)
Net interest income . T4 152.6 136.2
Fee and commission income 4.2 17.4 133
Fee and cormmission expense 4.2 0.4 (0.6)
Net fee and commission income 42 17.0 127
Operating income 169.6 148.9
Net impairment charge on loans and advances to custorners 17 (38.7) (5.0
Gains on modification of financial assets 1.1 1.5
Fair value losses on financial instruments ) 0.3 0.1}
Operating expenses o 7 (33.2 (89.4)
Profit before income tax from continuing operations 39.0 55.9
Income tax expense 9 {2.4) {10.4)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 29.6 455
Discontinued operations o
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations 10 5.0 0.1
Incormne tax expense 10 [ORY] —
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 0 4.1 0.1
Profit for the year 33.7 45.6
Other compreheansive income
ltams that will not be raclassified to the income statement
Revaluation reserve movements 0.1 0.5
Taxation n 0.2 (0.1}
B 0.3 0.4
ltems that will be reclassified to the income statement
Cash flow hedge reserve movements {0.8) {0.4)
Reclassification ta the income staterment 0.1 _
Taxation 0.2 0.1
{0.5) (0.3
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax {0.2) 0.1
Total comprehensive income for the year 33.5 45.7
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 33.7 45.6
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the Company 33.5 45.7
Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company during the
year (pence per share)
Rasic earnings per ordinary share 111 180.5 244.7
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 11.2 174.7 239.4
Basic earnings per ordinary share — continuing operations 158.5 244.1
Diluted earnings per ordinary share — continuing operations 153.4. 238.9

t.Restated to reflect tha disclosu-e of discortinued operations. See Note 10 for further details.

The Notes on pages 127 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December

2022 2021

Note £million Emillion
ASSETS
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 3701 2357
Loans and advances to banis 13 505 50.3
Debt securities 14 - 25.0
Loans and advances to customers ) 15,16 22195 2,530.6
Falr value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk 18 {32.0 (3.5)
Derivative financial instruments 18 34.9 38
Assets held for sale 2 - .3
Investment property 20 - 4.7
Praperty, plant and equipment 21 10.3 2.3
Right-of-use assets 22 1.5 22
Intangible assets 23 &4 6.9
Current tax assets - 0.8
Deferred tax assets 25 55 69
Other assets 26 134 11.9
Total assets 3,380.3  2,885.9
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabflities
Due to banks 27 400.5 390.8
Deposits from customers 28 2,514.6 2,103.2
Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk 18 {23.0) (5.3)
Derivative financial instruments 18 267 62
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 19 - 2.0
Current tax Kabilities 08 -
Lease liabilities 29 2.1 3.1
Other liabilities 30 78.1 3.3
Provisions for liabilities and charges 31 25 1.3
Subordinated liabilities 32 511 509
Total liahilities 3,053.4 2,583.5
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 34 75 7.5
Share premium 822 82.2
Other reserves 35 {0.3) 1.0
Retained earnings ) o 2375 2117
Total equity N o 326.9 302.4
Total liabilities and equity 3,380.3 2,885.9

The finangcial staterments on pages 120 to 180 were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023 and were signed on its
behalf by:

{ord Forsyth David McCreadie
airman Chief Exacutive Officer ?

/1 fid PG

The Notes on pages 127 to 180 are an inlegral part of these cansolidated financial statements.
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Company statement of financial position
As at 31 December

2022 2024

Note £million £million
ASSETS
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 3701 735.7
Loans and advances to banks 13 48.9 47.4
Debt securities 14 - 25.0
Loans and advances to customers 15,16 292195 2,450.3
Fair value adiustment for porifolio hedged risk i8 (32.0) (3.5)
Derivative financial instruments 18 349 38
Investment property 20 1.0 5.7
Property, plant and equipment 21 4.7 3.7
Right-of-use assets 22 1.3 15
Intangible assets 23 4.4 5.4
Investments in group undertakings 24 57 4.3
Current tax assets - 1.5
Deferred tax assets 25 53 68
Qther assets 26 15.1 998
Total assets ) 3,378.9  2,887.4
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Oue to banks 27 400.5 390.8
Dieposits from customers 28 2,514.6 21032
Fair value adjustment for portfolic hedged risk ' 18 (2304 (5.3)
Derivative financial instruments 18 26.7 5.2
Current tax liabilities 0.6 —
Lease liabilities 29 1.9 2.3
Other liabilities 30 8n.9 438
Provisions far liabilities and charges 31 2.0 1.3
Subordinated liabilities ) ) _ 32 51.1 50.9
Total liabilities ' B ) 3,060.3  2,593.2
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 34 75 75
Shatre premium 82.2 82.2
QOther reserves 35 (1.1 04
Retained earnings ) B ) 2300 2041
Total equity - ) o _ 318.6 294.2
Total liabilities and equity 3,378.9  2,887.4

The Company has elected to take the exernption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2004 not to prasent the parent company income
statermnent. The profit for the parent company for the year of £33 8 million is presented in the Company staternent of changes in equity.

The financial staternents on pages 120 to 180 were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023 and were signed on its
behalfl by:

David McCreadie
Chief Executive Officer Registerad number: 00541132

AMJ v "Ov&wsﬁ»é’

The Notes[&m pages 127 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents,
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Other reserves

Share Share Cash flow  Revaluation Cwn Retained
coion Emilion Eihan Eoiiion fiion Emilen mlhon
Balance at 1 January 2021 75 82.2 - 0.9 . 177.0  267.6
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for 2021 - - - - - 45.4 45.6
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Cash flow hedge reserve movements — — 0.4 - - — 0.4
Tax on cash flow hedge reserve movements - 0.1 - - - 0.1
Revaluation during the year _ _ - 0.5 - - 0.5
Tax an revaluation reserve movements - - - (0.1) - - 0.9)
Total other comprehensive income - - {0.3) 0.4 - - 0.1
Total comprehensive income for the year - - {0.3) 0.4 - 45.6 45.7
Transactlons with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions ta owners
Dividends - - - - - (11.9) (11.9)
Share-based payments - - - - - 1.0 1.0
Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - - {109} {10.9}
Balance at 31 December 2021 7.5 82,2 {0.3) 1.3 - 211.7 302.4
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for 2022 - — - - - 337 337
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - {07) - - - 0.7)
Tax on cash flow hedge reserve movements - - 0.2 - - — 0.2
Revaluation during the year - - - 0.1 - - 0.1
Rewvaluation transfer - - - {0.8) - 0.8 -
Tax on revaluztion reserve movements - - - 0.2 - - 0.2
Total other comprehensive income - - {3.5) {0.5) - 0.8 (0.2}
Total comprehansive income for theuy-t—e—a"r' . - - {0.5} {0.5) - 34.5 33.5
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Purchase of own shares - - - - {0.3) - {0.3)
Dividends - - - - —- {107 {10.7)
Share-based payments - - - - 20 20
Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - - {0.3} {8.7) (9.0)
Balance at 31 December 2022 75 822 0.8 08 (03} 2375  326.9
The Notes on pages 127 to 180 are an integral part of these consalidated financial statements.
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Company statement of changes in equity

Other reserves

Share Shace  Cahflow  Revalvation Own Retained

oo haion il fwliien colen owiin £milion
Balance at 1 January 2021 7.5 82,2 - 07 169.2 259.6
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for 2021 - - - — - 458 458
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - ©.4) - - - {0.4)
Tax on cash flow hedges reserve movements B - Q.1 - - - 0.1
Total other comprehensive income - {0.3) - - - {0.3}
Total comprehensive income for the yeaf - - {0.3) - - 45.8 455
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends - — - - - (11.9 {119
Share-based payrments — - - - -~ 1.0 1.0
Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - - - {10.9) K {10.9}
Balance at 31 December 2021 7.5 82.2 (0.3) 0.7 - 204.1 294.2
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for 2022 — - - - - 338 338
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - 0.7 - - - 0.7
Tax on cash flow hedge reserve movements - - 0.2 — - — 0.2
Revaluation transfer - - - {0.8) - 08 -
Tax on revajuation reserve movernents - - - 0.1 - O.1
ﬁlrother comprehensi;e income - - {0.5) {0.7) - 0.8 {0.4)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (0.5)” (0.7} - 34.6 33.4
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Own shares - - - - 0.3) - @.3)
Dividends - - - - - {10.7) {10.7)
Share-based payments - - - 20 2.0
Total contributions by and distributioﬁs to owhers - - _ - {0.3) ] ' 777(8.7) B (9.6‘)
Balance at 31 December 2022 ' B 75 822  (0.8) - (03) 2300 318.6

The Notes on pages 127 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staterents,
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

Restated!

2022 2021
B ‘ Nate fmillon Emillion
Cash flows from operating activities
Prafit for the year 337 45.6
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense 9 103 104
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 21 1.2 1.3
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2 0.7 0.7
Amortisation of intangible assets 23 1.4 1.5
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, right of use assets and intangible assets 1.4 -
Impairment charge on loans and advances to customers 39.0 4.5
Share-based compensation : 36 20 1.0
Revaluation gain : 20,21,22 - {0.4)
{Gain}/loss on disposal of loan books 10 (8.9 1.4
g}ler non-cash items included in profit before tax 1.0 {1.1)
Cash flows from operating profits before changes in operating assets and liabilities 81.8 44.9
Changes in operating assets and labilities:
- loans and advances ta customers (497.1) (238.4)
—loans and advances to banks 0.6 (1.9}
— Other assets {1.5) 6.0
— deposits frem customers : 4114 110.7
— provisions for liabilities and charges {1.1) (0.7)
- other liabilities - 45.4 " (24,4
Income tax paid 7.0 {12.6)
_F\Et cash inflow/{outflow) from operating activities 32.7 {96.4)
Cash flows from invasting activities
Consideration on sale of loan books 10 819 804
Sale of investment property 20 3.3 -
Maturity and sales of debt securities ‘ 80.0 90.0
Purchase of debt securities (80.0) {90.0)
Purchase of property, pfant and equipment and intangible assets 21,23 (2.7) (1.3)
Nat eash inflow from investing activitias 82.5 5%.1
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of amourits due to banks 7.0 114.4
Purchase of own shares 33 (O] -
Dividends paid 12 {10.7) (1.9
Repayment of lease liabilities 29 (1.0) {0.9)
Net cash {outfiow}/inflow from financing activities {5.0) 101.6
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 110.2 64,3
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January e 3067 2424
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ¥ 414.9 306.7

1. Cash and cash equivalants in the prlor year have been resteted from £303.0 million to £306.7 million, See Note 1.3 for further details.

The Notes on pages 177 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Company statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

Restated
2022 2021
Note fmillion Emnithion
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 33.8 45.8
Adjustments for:
Incormne tax expense 6% 25
Dapreciation of property, plant and equipment 21 0.7 0.8
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22 0.4 05
Amcrtisation of intangible assets 23 1.1 1.2
Impairment charge on leans and advances to customers 378 27
Share-based compensatian 34 1.6 08
Revaluation gain 20,21,22 - {0.4)
Dividends received fram subsidiaries (14.0} {4.8)
Loss on disposal of loan books 10 - 1.4
Other non-cash items included in prafit befare tax 1.1 (1.0
Cash flows from operating profits befora changes in operating assets and liabilities 59.4 56.5
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
~ loans and advances to custamers {505.7) (244.1}
—loans and advances to banks 0.6 (1.9
— other assets 26 98.7 i1.7
— deposits fram customers 4114 110.7
- provisions for liabilities and charges .1 0.8)
- other liabilities 44,0 119.4)
Income tax paid (3.0) (11.1)
Net cash inflow/loutflow) from operating activities 114.3 (98.4)
Cash flows from investing activities
Consideration on sale of loan backs 10 - 0.4
Sale of investment property 20 33 -
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking 0.0 -
Maturity and sales of debt securities 80.0 0.0
Purchase of debit securities {800} {90.0)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible asssts 21,23 0.4) {0.8)
Net cash inflow from investing activities ) 1.9 596
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of amounts due 1o banks 7.G 1144
Purchase of own shares 35 {0.3) -
Dividends paid iz (1G.7} (11.9}
Repayment of lease liabilities . 29 0.7} 0.7
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities - (4.7) 101.8
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 111.5 63.0
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 lanuary 303.8 2408
Cash and cash équivalents at 31 December B ) 7 415.3 303.8

1. Cash and cash equivalents in tha prior year have been restated from £300.1 millian ta £303.8 million. See Nate 1.3 for futhe datails.

The Notes on pages 127 ta 18D are an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below, and if
applicable, directly under the relevant note to the financial statements. These policies have heen consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1. Reporting entity

Secure Trust Bank PLC is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales in the United Kingdom (referred to as

'the Company’) and is limited by shares. The Company is registered in Englend and Wales and has the registered number 00541132
The registered address of the Company is One Arlestan Way, Shirley, Solihull, West Midlands B90 4LH. The consolidated financial
statements of the Campany as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise Secure Trust Bank PLC and its subsidiaries
{together referred 1o a5 ‘the Group' and individually as ‘subsidiaries). The Group is primarily involved in the provision of banking and
financial services.

1.2. Basis of presentation

The Group's consalidated financial statements and the Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

UK adopted International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and UK adopted
{nternational Financial Reporting Standards. The financial statements also comply with International Financiaf Reporting Standards
('IFRSs" as issued by the IASB. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the valuation of
derivative financial instruments, investment properties and land and buildings held at fair value. The consolidated financial statements
are presented in pounds sterling, which is the functional and presentational currency of the entities within the Group.

There are no IFRSs that are issuad but not yet effective that will have a materia impact on the Group.

The preparation of financial statements in canformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consclidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 17.

The Directors have assessed, in the light of current and anticipated economic conditions, the Group’s abifity to continue as a geing
concern, The Directors confirm they are satisfied that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in business
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the 'going concern’ basis for preparing accounts, as set out in the
Viability and going concern section of the Strategic Report starting on page 35.

The cansclidated financial statements were autharised for issue by the Board of Directors an 29 March 2023,

1.3. Cash and cash equivalents prior year adjustment

During the year, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee {IFRIC") issued a clarification of IAS 7 Statement of
cash flows. IFRIC ¢larified that restrictions on use of a demand deposit arising from a contract with a third party, does not result in the
deposit no longer being treated as cash, unless those restrictions change the nature of the deposit in a way that it would no longer
meet the definition of cash in IAS 7,

In the pricr year, £3.7 miflion {2020: £10.3 million) of Loans and advances to banks was excluded from Group and Company cash and
cash equivalents. This cornprised amounts over which the Group and Company had a contractual obligation with a third party to use
the cash only for specified purposes. If the Group and Company were to use these amounts for purpases other than those agreed with
the third party, the Group and Cornpany would have been in breach of its contractual obligation. Howaver, the terms and conditions
did not prevent the Group and Company from accessing the amounts held. As the Group and Company could still access the amounts
held, these ainounts met the definition of cash. Accordingly, as a result of the IFRIC dlarification above, cash and cash equivalents in
the Cash flow statement have been restated as follows:

2021 2620
As originally Priar year As ariginalfly Frior year
stated adjustment As restated stated adjustment As rastatad
Lmillion £millioa Ermillicn Emillion £milfion Emillion
Group
Cash and cash equivalents 303.0 37 306.7 2321 10.3 242.4
Company
Cash and cash equivalenis 3001 3.7 3038 230.5 10.3 240.8

The specific lines adjusted in the cash flow statement are Changes in aperating assets: loans and advances to banks and Net cash flow
from operating activities.

The effect on the current year is an increasa in cash and cash equivalents of £0.9 million.
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

1. Accounting policies continued

1.4. Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all investees controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable

returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power aver the investee.
Subsidiarias are fully consalidated from the date on which control is transferred ta the Group.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition

is measured as the falr value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilidies incurred or assumed at the date of exchange
plus costs directly attributable ta the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and lizbilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition, excluding directly attributable costs, over the fair value of the Group'’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition i less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

The parent comnpany’s investments in subsiciiaries are recorded at cost less, where appropriate, provision for impairment. The fair value
of the underlying business of the Campany’s only material investment was significantly higher than carrying velue, and therefore no
impairment was required.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Discontinued operations

Subsidiaries are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. Discontinued operations are a component of an entity that has
been disposed of and represents a major line of business and is part of a single co-ordinated disposal plan.

1.5. Financial assets and financial liabilities accounting policy

Deracognition

Financial assets are derscognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the finandial assets have expired or where the Group has
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership or in the event of a substantial modification, There have not been
any instances where assets have only been partially derecognised. The Group derecognises a financial ligbility when its contractual
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Amortised cost measurement

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate ('&IR'}, which is the rate thst exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected kife of the fingndal instrument, minus any reduction
for impairment.
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1. Accounting policies continued

1.5, Financial assets and financial liahilities accounting policy continued

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received 1o sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, The fair valug of assets and liabilities traded in active markets are based on current bid and
ofier prices respectivaly. if the market tor a financial instrument is not active the Group establishes a fair value by using an appropriate
valuation technique. These include the use of recent arms length transactions, reference to other instrurnents that are substantially
the same for which rrarket observable pricas exist, net present value and discounted cash flow analysis,

Financial assets (with the exception of derivative financial instruments) accounting policy

The Group dassifies its financial assets at inception into three measurement categories; amortised cost', ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ {{FVOCIY) and “fair value through profit or loss’ {{FVTPL). A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both
the following conditions are met and it has not been designated as at FVTPL:

« the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the asset to collect its contractual cash flows; and
= the contractual terms of the finandial asset give rise to cash flows on specified dates that represent payments of solely principal and
interest on the outstanding principal amount.

The Group’s current business model for all financial assets, with the exception of derivative financial instruments, is to hold to collect
contractual cash flows, and all assets held give rise to cash flows on specified dates that represent solely payments of principal and
interest on the outstanding principal amount. All the Group's financial assets are therefore currently dassified as amortised cost, except
for derivative financial instruments. Loans are recognised when funds are advanced to customers and are carried at amortised cost
using the EIR methed.

A debt instrument would be measured at FVOC! only # both the below conditions are met and it has not been designated as FVTPL:

s the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting its contractual cash flows and selling the
financial asset; and

+ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows on specified dates that represent payments of solely principal and
interest on the outstanding principal amount.

The Group currently has no financial instruments classified as FVOCI.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value in ather comprehensive income. This election would be made on an investrment by investment basis. The Group
currently holds no such investments.

All other assats are classified as FVTPL

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business
mode! for managing financial assets. The Group has not redlassified any financial assets during the reporting period.

Financial lizhilities (with the exception of derivative financial instruments)

The Group classifies its financiai liabilities as measured at amortised cost. Such financial liabilities are recognised when cash is received
from depositors and carried at amortised cost using the EIR method.

1.6. Foreign currencies

Transactians in foreign currencies are inktially recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retransleted into the Company’s functicnal anrency at the rates
srevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary iterng, are included in the income statement for the period.
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
2.1. Judgements
A aritical judgernent for 2022 is disclosed in Note 17.2. No critical judgements were identified in 2021,

2.2. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimations which could have a material impact on the Group’s financial results and are therefore considerad to be key sources of
estimation uncertainty all relate to allowances for impairment of loans and advances and are therefore set out in Note 17.1.

3. Operating segments
The Group was crganised into sevan operating segments, which consisted of the different products available, as disclosed below

During the current year, the Group dispased of the Debt Management loan book and the Asset Finance and Consumer Mortgages
loan books were sold during 2021. Although these were disclosed in continuing operations in the prior year, the Directars have

reassessed this judgement and concluded that on the basis they have been previously presented as separate business segments, :
and discussed as part of the Strateqic Report, it has been deemed appropriate to include these as discontinued operations, and as :
such comparatives have been re-presented on this basis,

Accordingly, the results of all of the above businesses are now included in discontinued operations. As a result, going forward, the
Group is now organised into four operating segments: Real Estate Finance, Commercial Finance, Vehicle Finance and Retail Finance.

Continuing operations

Consumer Finance

* Vehicle Finance: hire purchase lending for used cars to prime and near-prime customers and Personal Contract Purchase lending
into the consumer prime credit market, both secured against the vehicle financed. In addition a Stacking Funding product is also
offered whereby funds are advanced and secured against dealer forecourt used car stock; sourced from auctions, part exchanges
or trade sources.

Retal] Finance: a market leading online e-commerce senvice to retailers, providing unsecured lending products to prime UK
customers te facilitate the purchase of a wide range of consumer products including bicycles, music, furniture, outdoorfleisure,
electronics, dental, jewellery, home improvements and football season tickets.

L

Business Finance

# Real Estate Finance: lending secured against property assets to & maximum 70% loan-to-value ratia, on fixed or variable rates over
aterm of up to five vears.

* Commercial Finance: lending is predominantly against receivables, typically releasing 70% of qualifying invoices under invoice
discounting facilities. Other assets can also be funded either long or short-term and for a range of loan-to-value ratics alongside
these services. Additional tending to existing customers through the Government guaranteed Coronavirus Business Interruption
l.oan Scheme, Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme and Recovery Loan Scheme is also provided.

Cther !

* This principally includes interest receivable from central banks, interest receivable on derivatives and property rental income. :

Discontinued aperations

* Debt Management: a credit management services business which primarily invests in purchased debt portfolios from third parties,
as well as fallow group undeartakings. The Dabt Management loan bock was soid during 2022.

* Consumer Mortgages: mortgages for the sel~emplayed, contract workers, thase with cormplex incorne and those with a recently
restared credit histery, sold via select mortgage intermediaries, which was sold during 2021.

* Asset Finznce: lending to small and medium sized enterprises to acquire commercial assets, which was sold during 2021,

+ Other: includes products, which are individually below the quantitative threshold for separate disclosure and fulfil the requirement
of IFRS 8.28 by reconciling operating segments to the amounts in the financial statements. Other includes principzlly Onegill
{the Group’s consumer bill management service), which was dosed during 2021 and ReniSmart (the funding and operation of
finance leases through a disclosed agency agreement with RentSmart | imited), which was sold during 2022, Assets and liabilities
it respect of the RentSrmart business were included in Assets and liabilities held for sale as at 31 Dacernber 2021 (see Nate 19 far
further details).

Asset Finance, Debt Management and Consumer Mortgages segments all fell below the quantitative threshold for separste
disclosure, but the Directors considered that they represented sufficiently distinct types of business to merit separate disclosure,
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3. Operating segments continued

Management review these segments by looking at the income, size and growth rate of the loan books, impairments and

customer numbers,

Net impairment

Interest Income Fee and Revenue  charge an loans Loans and
and simlar commlssion  from external and advances to aduancas to
Incomne incame custormners customers custamers
£miflion Emillion Emilllon semilicn emillios

31 Decembear 2022
Retail Finance 74.4 1.6 78.0 14.8 1,054.5
Vehicle Finance 46.6 1.4 480 21.3 3731
Debt Management 53 41 9.4 0.8 -~
Consumer Finance - 126.3 91 1354 369 1,427.6
Real Estate Finance 57.4 0.3 57.7 1.3 1,115
Commercial Finance 17.5 11.8 29.3 0.8 3764
Business Finance 74.9 121 87.0 2.1 1,491.9
Other 7.1 0.3 7.4 - -~
T 208.3 215 229.8 39.0  2,919.5

Of which:
Continuing 203.0 17.4 220.4 38.2 2,919.5
Discontinued (Note 10) 5.3 4.1 9.4 0.8 -
_ harentt

o o fom e jommed oo
foilion AN mion mition st

31 December 2021
Retail Finance 65.0 2.7 7.7 5.0 7648
Vehicle Finance 38.0 1.3 39.3 0.1 263.3
Debt Management 14.3 0.3 4.6 {0.6) 7946
Consumer Mortgages 13 - 1.3 - -
Consumer Finance 118.6 43 1229 45 11077
Reel Estate Finance 54.5 03 548 0.1 1,109.6
Asset Finance 0.3 - 0.3 0.1 -
Commercial Finance 8.8 8.6 17.4 {0.2) 3133
Business Finance ' 636 8.9 725 - 14229
Other ' 2.2) 14 an . - 13
- 180.0 14.3 194.3 45  2,531.9

Of which:

Continuing 163.9 13.3 177.2 5.0 2,451.0
Discontinued (Note 10) 6.1 1.0 171 (0.5) 80.9

1. Includes Assets held far Sale of £1.3 million within Other and Discontinued.

Interest expense and similar charges, fee and commission expense and operating expenses are net aligned to operating segments for
day-to-day management of the business, so they cannot be allocated on a reliable basis. Accordingly, profit by operating segment has
not been disclosed. Furthermore, no balance sheet items are allocated to segments other than loans and advances to custorners.

All of the Group's operations are conductad wholly within the United Kingdom and geographical information is therefore

not presented,
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continued

4. Operating income

All items below arise fram financial instruments measured at amortised cost unless otherwise stated.

4.1 Net interest income

2022 2001
£millian fmllon
Loans and advances to customers 7 2011 182.0
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 4.6 0.2
Debt securities 0.1
o o ' 058 1822
Income/{expense} on financial instruments hedging assets 25 (2.2)
Interest income and similar income B 208.3 180.0
Of which:
Cantinuing 203.6 163.9
Discontinued (Note 10) 5.3 16.1
Deposits from customers {38.4) (27.3)
Due to banks 6.7 0.3)
Subordinated (iabilities 3.4) {3.4)
Other ©.1) -
B o ) 47.4) @31.0
{Expense)income on financial instruments hedging liabilities (3.8 1.8
Interest expense and similar charges 7 o (51.2) (29.2)
Of which:
Continuing {(50.4) (27.7)
Discontinued (Note 10) {0.8) {1.5)

Interest income and expense accounting policy

For all finandial instrumentts measured at amortised cost, the EIR method is used to measure the carrying value and aliocate
interest income or expense. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to:

* the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
+ the amartised cost of the financial liability.

in calculating the EIR for financial instrurments, other than assats that were credit-impaired on initiaf recognition, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument {for example, early redemption penalty charges
and broker commissians) and anticipated customer behaviour but does not consider future credit losses. For financial assats that
waere impaired on initial recognition {also referred to as purchased or originated credit-impaired assets — 'POCIY, a credit adjusted
EiR is caleulated using estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses.

The calculation of the EIR includes all fees received and paid that are an integral part of the EIR, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly sttributabfe to the acguisition or issue of a
flnandial instrument,
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4, Operating income continued

4.1 Net interest income continued

For financial assets that are not considered to be credit-impaired 'stage 1’ and “stage 2’ assets), interest income is recognised by
applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial assets that become eredit-impaired subsequent
to initial recognition {'stage 3' assets), from the next reporting period onwards interast Income 1s recognised by applying the EIR
ta the amortised cost of the finandial asset. The credit risk of financial assets that bacome credit-impaired are not expected to
improve such that they are no longer considered credit-impaired, however, if this were to occur the calculation of interest income
would revert back to the gross basis. The Group's definition of stage 1, stage 2 and stage 3 assets is set out in Note 17.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initizl recognition (POCI assets), income is calculated by applying the credit
adjusted EIR to the amortised cost of the asset. Collection activity costs are not included in the amortised cast of the assets but
are included in operating expenses in the income staternent, and are recognised as incurred, in cammon with other businesses in
the sector. For such financial assets the calculation of interest income will never revert ta a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the
asset Improves.

Further details regarding when an asset bacomes credit-impaired subsequent to initial recegnition is provided within Note 7.

4.2 Net fee and commission income

2022 2021
Eeniffion £million
Fe-t;and disbursement income 19.8 125
Commission income 14 1.2
Other income ) 0.3 0.6
Eﬁ:;;and commission income 21.5 14.3
Of which:
Continuing 17.4 13.3
Discontinued {Nete 10) 4.1 1.0
Other expenses {0.4) (0.8)
aand commission expense {Continuing) (0.4} {0.6)

Fees and commission income is all recagnised under IFRS 15 Revenue from cantracts to customers and consists principally of

the following:

* Commercial Finance - discounting, service and arrangerment fees.

= Retail Finance — principally comprises of account management fees received from customers and referral fees received from
third parties.

* Vehicle Finance — primarily relates to vehicle collection and damage charges made to customers and loan administration fees
charged to dealers in respect of the Stocking Funding product.

Fee and commission accounting policy

Feaes and commission income that is not considered an integral part of the EIR of a finandial instrumen: are recognised under IFRS
15 when the Group satisfies parformance obligations by transferring promised services to custorners and presented in the income
statemnent as fee and commission income.

Faes and commission income and axpenses that are an integrat part of the EIR of a financial instrument are included in the EIR
and presented in the income statement as interest income or expense.

No significant judgements are made in evaluating when a customer obtains controf of promised gaods or services.
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continued

5. Gains on modification of financial assets

Although not included as an option within customer contracts, following regulatory guidance the Group offered payment holidays to
its Cansurnar Finance customers, which were not corsidered to be substantial. This is considered under IFRS 9 as a modification to
contractual cash flows, which requires the carrying value of these loans to be adjusted to the net present value of future cash flows.

Asmall number of payment holidays were granted during 2021, resulting in no further loan modification losses being recognised.

The movermnent during the year in the net present value of the loans remaining to be unwound as a result of the modification was
as follows:

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Vehicle Finance Retait Financa Tatal Vehicle Finance Retail Finance Total
Emillion £million £millloa £million Emillion frmiliton

Reduction in net present value
At January 1.4 0.2 1.6 2.5 0.6 31
Credit to the income statement 0.9 {0.2) (1.1 (1.1 0.4) {1.5)
Balance remaining to be unwound
at 31 December 0.5 - 0.5 1.4 0.2 1.6

Of the loan modification loss remaining, £0.3 million (2021: £0.9 million) relates to financial assets with a loss allowance based on
lifetime Expecied Credit Losses (ECL).

Modification of loans accounting policy

A customer’s aceount may be modified to assist customers who are in or have recently overcome financial difficulties and have
demonstrated bath the ability and willingness to meet the current or madified loan contractual payments. Substantial loan
madifications result in the derecognition of the existing loan, and the recognition of a new laan at the new origination FIR based
on the expectad future cash flows at origination. Determination of the origination prabability of default (PD’) for the new ioari is
required, based on the PD as at the date of the modification, which is used for the calculation of the impairment provision against
the new loan. Any deferred fees or deferred interest, and any difference between the fair value of the derecognised loan and the
new loan, is written off to the income statement on recognition of the new loan.

Where the modification is not considered to be substantial, neither the originatior EIR nor the origination probability of default
for the modified foan changes. The net present value of changes to the future contractual cash flows adjusts the carrying amount
of the criginal asset with the difference immediately being recognised in profit or loss. The adjusted carrying amaount is then
amortised over the remaining term of the modified foan using the original EIR.

6. Fair value losses on financial instruments
As a part, of its risk management strategy, the Group uses derivatives to economically hedge financial assets and liabilities. For further
information on the Group's risk management strategy for market risk see page 30 of the Group's Strategic Report.

Hedge accounting is employad by the Group to minimise the accounting volatility associated with the change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments. This voletility does not reflect the economic reality of the Group's hedging strategy, the Group only uses
derivatives for the hedging of risks.

Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in losses from derivatives and hedge accounting in the income staternent is set cut below;

2022 2021
£mitlion £milion
Fair value hedges
Fair value movement during the year — Interest rate derivatives {(10.4) 0.9
Fair value movement during the year — Hedged items 10.9 {0.8)
Ineffective portion of hedges - 0.3 01
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6, Fair value losses on financial instruments continued

The loss recagnised in other camprehensive income during the year is as follows:

2022 2021
£milllon frmillion

Cash flow hedges

Fair value movement in year — Interest rate derivatives 08 0.4

Interest reclassified to the income statement during the year (OR)} -

Fair value loss recognised in other comprehensive incoma 0.7 0.4

Although the Group uses interest rate derivatives exclusively to hedge interest rate risk exposures, income statement volatility can still
arise due ta hedge accounting ineffectiveness ar because hedge accounting is not achievable. Where such volatility arises it will net
to zero over the life of the hedging relationship. All derivatives held by the Group have been highly effective in the year resulting in
minimal hedge accounting ineffectiveness recagnised in the income staternent. Future ineffectiveness may arise as a result of:

¢ differences between the expected and actual volume of prepayments, as the Group hedges to the expected repayment date taking
inko account expected prepayments based on past experience; or

= differences inthe timing of cash flows for the hedged itern and the hedging instrument.

How fair value and cash flow hedge accounting affect the financial statements and the main sources of the residual hedge

neffectiveness remaining in the income statement are set out below. Further information on the current derivative portfolio and the
allocation to hedge accounting types is included in Note 18.

Daerivative financial instruments accounting policy

The Group enters into derivatives to manage exposures to fluctuations in interest rates, Derivatives are not used for speculative
purposes. Derivatives are carried at fair vafue with movements in fair value recognised in the income statement ar other
comprehensive income. Derlvatives are valued by discounted cash flow models using yield curves based on overnight indexed
swap (‘OIS rates, All derivatives are carried as assets whare fair value {s positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.
Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unlass the Group has both & legally enforceable right and intention to offset.

The Group does not hold contracts containing embedded derivatives.

Where cash collateral is received, to mitigate the risk inherent in the amounts due to the Group, it s included as a liability within the
due to banks line within the statement of financial position. Where cash collateral is given, to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts
due from the Group, it is incdluded as an asset in the loans and advances to banks line within the statement of financial position.

Hadge accounting

Following transition to IFRS 9, the Group has elected 1o apply 1AS 39 for all of its hedge accounting requirerments.
When transactions meet specified criteria the Group can apply two types of hedge accounting:

+ Hedges of the fair value of recagnised assets or liabilities or firm commitments {fair value hedges).
« Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability (cash flow hedges).

The Group does not have hedges of net investrents,

At inception of a hedge, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged iterns and hedging instrurenits,

as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions
are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of the hedged items (i.e. the fair value offset between the hedged item and
hedging instrument is within the 80% —125% range).

When the European Unjon adopted IAS 39 in 2004, it removed certain hedge accounting requirements, commonly referred
te as the EU carve-out. The relaxed requirements under the carve-out allow the Group to apply the "bottom up” method
when caleulating macro-hedge ineffectiveness. This option is not allowed under full IFRS. The Graup has applied the EU
carve-out accordingly.
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6. Fair value losses on financial instruments continued

Fair value hedge accounting

Fair value hedge accounting results in the carrying value of the hedged item being adjusted to reflect changes in fair value attributable
to the hadged risk, thereby offsetting the effect of the related mavement in the fair value of the derivative. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives and hedged iterns that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement.

In a one-to-one hedging relationship in which a single derivative hedges a single hedged item, the carrying value of the
underlying asset or Fability fthe hedged item) is adjusted for the hedged risk to offset the fair vafue movement of the related
darivative. In the case of a portfolio hedge, an adjustment is included in the fair value adjustments for portfolio hedged risk line in
the statement of financial position to offset the fair value movemnents in the related derivative, The Group currently only designates
portfolio hedges.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is terminated, the cumulative fair value adjustrent

to the carrying amount of a hedged item is amortised to the income statement over the period to maturity of the previously
designated hedge relationship and recorded as net interest income. If the underlying itemn is sold or repaid, the unamartised fair
value adjustment is immediately recognised in the income statement.

Cash flow hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised
in ather comprehensive incorme and presented in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in

the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts recognised in the cash flow hedge
reserve are subsequently reclassified to the income statement when the underlyng asset or liability being hedged impacts the
incame statement, for example when interest payments are recognised, and are recorded in the same income statement line in
which the incomea or expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hadge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative
gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when the hedged item affects the
income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur {for example, the recognised hedged item is
disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the
income statement.

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the curmulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective in
cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss anly when the
hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss or is included directly in the initial cost or other carrying armount of the hedged non-
financial itemns {basis adjustment).
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7. Operating expenses

2022 202)
£million £million
Employee casts, including those of Directors:
Wages and salaries 479 47.4
Sadial security costs . 57 58
Pension costs 2.1 2.0
Share-based payment transactions 1.8 09
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 21) 1.2 1.3
Depreciation of lease right-of-use assets {(Note 22) 0.7 0.7
Amortisation of intangible assets {Note 23) 1.4 1.5
Operating lease rentals 07 0.4
Other administrative expensas 40.6 4338
Total operating expenses 1021 104.0
Of which:
Continuing ' 93.2 89.4
Discontinued (Note 10) 8.9 14.6
As described in Note 3, operating expenses are not aligned to operating segments for day-to-day management of the business,
so they cannat be allocated on a reliable basis.
Post-retirement okligatians accounting policy
The Group contributes to defined contribution schemes for the benefit of certain employees. The schemes are funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds at the contribution rates agreed with individua! employees.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an
employes benefit expense when they are due. There are ne post-retirement benefits other than pensions,
Remuneration of the Auditor and its associates, excluding VAT, was as follows:
2022 2021
£2000 £000
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts - 730 639
Fees payable to the Company's Auditor for other services:
The audit of the Company's subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 27 50
Other assurance services 10 110
867 799

Other assurance servicas related to the Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs audit, Interim independent review

report and profit certification, and in 2022 a comfort letter in relation to the Tier 2 capital issuance.

8. Average number of employees

Restated

2042 2021

Number Numbar

Directors & 8
Other senior management 28 29
Other amployees 204 934
240 973

The definition of managernent at 31 December 2022 has changed to include only senior management, whereas in the prior year
management included senior management and all employeas who had people management responsibilities. Accordingly the analysis

of the prior year employee numbers has been restated on a consistent basis.
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9. Income tax expense

2022 2021
o £million gmillian
Current taxation
Corporation tax charge — current year 84 1.2
Corparation tax charge — adjustments in respect of prior years 0.1 {0.5)
' 8.5 107
Deferred taxation
Deferred tax charge - current year 1.9 07
Deferred tax charge — adjustments in respect of priot years omn 0.4
N 18 ©.3)
Income tax expense o o 10.3 Ry
Of which:

Continuing 9.4 10.4
_Discontinued {Note 10) 0.9 -
Tax reconciliation
Prafit befere tax 440 56.0
Tex at 19.00% (2021: 19.00%) 8.4 104
Banking surcharge 0.1 14
Rate change on deferred tax assets 1.2 (1.5
Prior year adjustments - 0.1
Deferred tax assets not recognised 0.2 -
Cther 04 -
Income tax expense for the year 10.3 10.4

There is a deferred tax charge in 2022 arising from a reassessment of the tax rates at which the deferred tax asset would reverse out in
future periods, mainly arising from changes to the banking surcharge. The main component of the deferred tax asset is deferred tax
onthe IFRS 9 transition adjusunent, which reverses on a straight-line basis over ten years commencing in 2018. The Finance Act 2022,
enacted on 24 February 2022, included legislation, confirmed in the Autumin Statemnent, to reduce the banking surcharge to 3% on

bank tax profits in excess of £100 million with effect from 1 April 2023,

The future tax rates used in 2021 had reflected the increase in Corporation Tax from 19% ta 25% with effect from 1 April 2023 Jegislated
in June 2021, Those rates had continued 1o assume banking surcharge of 8% on any taxable profits of Secure Trust Bank PLC in excess

of £25 million in an accounting period.

ihcome tax accounting policy

Current income tax which is payable on taxabla profits is recognised as an expense in the pericd in which the profits arise.

Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
arnounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the staterment of financiat position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is

realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.
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10. Discontinued operations

Discontinued businesses include Debt Management, Consumer Mortgages and Asset Finance. The Asset Finance and Consumer

Mortgages loan baoks were sold during 2021, Although Asset Finance and Consumer Mortgages were disdosed in continuing

operations in the prior year, the Directors have reassessed this judgement and concluded that on the basis they have been previously
presented as separate business segments, and discussed as part of the Strategic Report, it has been deemed appropiiate te include

thess as discontinued operations, and as such comparatives have been re-presented on this basis,

On 11 March 2022 the Group announced that it had agreed to sell Debt Managers (Services) Limited’s (DMS") portfolio of loans to

Intrum UK Finance Limited. The sale completed on 30 May 2022. As the Group has exited this market, the results have presented this
a5 a discontinued business, As per the terms of the contract, the Group received £81.9 million, for the carrying value of the loan boaok
at the date of sale of £71.8 millien. Direct and indirect costs incurred in relation to the sale amounted to £4.0 milfion.

2022 201
Income statement £million £millian
Interest income and similar income 53 16.1
[nterest expense and similar charges 0.8) (1.5)
Met interest income o 4.5 14.6
Fee and commission income 4.1 1.0
Net fee and cammission income 4.1 1.0
Operating income 8.6 15.6
Net impairment (charge)/credit on loans and advances to customers 0.8) 0.5
Overall profit/(loss) on disposat of loan portfolios (see below) 4.1 {1.4)
Operating expenses 8.9 (14.6)
Frofit before income tax from discontinued operations 5.0 6.1
Income tax expense {09 -
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 4.1 0.1
Basic earnings per ordinary share — discontinued aperations 22.0 0.8
Diluted earnings per ordinary share — discontinued operations 21.3 0.5
Consumer
ez prd
Eeillian Emilian Emillian Emillion
Consideration received 819 544 58 60.4
Carrying value of loan books disposed (71.8) {54.5) (5.8) (60.3)
Selling costs 1.2} (0.6 ©.1) ©0.7)
Profit/{ioss) on disposal of loan book (including selling casts) 8.9 {0.5) {0.1) {0.6)
Other closure costs (2.9) {0.8) - {0.8)
Qverall profit/{lass) an disposal of loan portfolio(s) 4.1 {1.3} {0.1} {1.4}
2022 2021
Net cash flaws £million £million
Cperating {82.4) {58.2)
[nvesting 81.9 &0.4
Financing ) {0.1) {0.1)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow {0.8) 21
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11. Earnings per ordinary share
11.1 Basic

Basic earnings per ordinary share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares as follows:

2022 2001
Prefit attributable te equity holders of the parent (fmillion) 337 45,4
Weighted average number of ordinary shares {number) 18,672,650 18,637,444
Earnings per share (pence) . 180.5 244.7

11.2 Diluted

Diluted earnings per ordinary share are caleulated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as noted above, as well as the number of dilutive share options in issue
during the year, as follows:

2022 2021
Wé‘i‘ghted average number of ordinary shares 18,672,650 18,637,444
Number of dilutive shares in issue at the year-end 417,340 407,729
Fully diluted weighted average numbher of ordinary shares 19,289,990 19,045,173
Dilutive shares being based on:
Number of options outstanding at the year-end 1,206,639 949,193
Weighted average exercise price {pence) 304 37G
Average share price during the year (pence) 1,040 1,103
Diluted earnings per share {pence) 1747 2394
12. Dividends
2022 2021
Embliion Emillion
2022 interim dividend — 16.0 pence per share {paid September 2022) 30 -
2021 final dividend — 41.1 pence per share {paid May 2022) 7.7 -
2021 interim dividend — 20.0 pence per share (paid Seplember 2021) - 37
2020 fina! dividend — 44.0 pence per share {paid May 2021) - 8.2
10.7 1.9

The Directers recommend the payment of a final dividend of 29.1 pence per share (2021: 44.1 pence per share). The final dividerd,
if approved by members at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid on 25 May 2023 with an associated record date of 28 April 2023.

Dividends accounting policy

Final dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by shareholders.
Interim dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are paid.

13. Loans and advances to banks
Maody's long-term ratings are as follows:

QGreup Group Campany Company

2022 202t 2022 2001

£million ) fenillion £milllor £rnillion

Aaa 3.7 - 3.7 -
Al -AZ 41.6 452 40.0 42.3
Arbuthnot Latham & Co. Limited - Unrated 5.2 5.1 5.2 5.1
50.5 50.3 48.9 47.4
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13. Loans and advances to banks continued

None of the loans and advances to banks are either past due or impaired. Loans and advances to banks includes £3.7 million
{2021 £2.6 million) which the Group and Ceormpany does not have access to and are therefore excluded from cash and cash
equivalents. See Note 37.1 for a reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents.

14, Debt securities
Group and Company

Debt securities consisted solely of sterling UK Government Treasury Bills (T-Bills"). The Group holds T8ills fram time to time for
liguidity risk management purpeses. The Group's intention is 1o hold the asset to callect its contractual cash flows of principal and
interest and, therefore, they are stated in the statement of financial position at amartised cost. The number of T-Bills held fell to £nil
over the year, frem £25 million.

Al of the dabit securities had a rating agency designation, based on Moody's long-term ratings of Aa3 at 31 December 2021.
None of the debt securities were either past due orimpaired.

The accounting policy for debt securities js included in Note 1.5 Financial assets and financial liabilities accounting policy.

15. Loans and advances to customers

Graup Group Company Company

2022 021 2022 2021

£million £million £million fmillion

Gross loans and advances 2,997.5 2,598.1 29975 2511.2
tess: aflowances for impairment of loans and advances (Note 17} (78.0) (67.5} {78.0) (60.9)

2,919.5 2,530.6 2,919.5 2,450.3

The fair value of loans and advances to customers is shown in Note 43, Loans and advances to customers includes finance lease
receivables of £371.2 million (2021: £284.6 million). See Note 14 for further details.

Group and Company

Retail Finance assats of £810.6 million (2021: £579.9 million) were pre-positionad under the Bank of Englands liguidity support
oparations and Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs and are available for use as collateral within the schemes.

The Real Estate Finance foan book of £1,115.5 million (2021: £1,109.4 million) is secured upon real estate, which had a lean-to-value of
58% at 31 Dacember 2022 (2021; 56%).

Under its credit policy, the Real Estate Finance business lends to a maximum loan-to-value of:

s 70% for investment loans;

* 60% for residential development loans®;

» 65% for certain residential higher leveraged development lozns*, which is subject to an overall cap on such lending agreed by
managament according to risk appetite; and

= 65% for commerdal development loans*,

* based on gross development value,

All property valuations at loan inception, and the majerity of development stage valuatians, are performed by independent Chartered

Surveyors, who perform their work in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Valuation - Professional Standards.

£6.8 million of cash collateral has been received as at 31 December 2022 in respect of certain loans and advances (2021: £3.5 million).

The accounting policy for leans and advances to customers is included in Note 1.5 Financial assets and financial liabilities
accourtting policy.
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16. Finance |lease receivables

Loans and advances to customers include finance lease recelvables as follows:
Group Group Company Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
£million fmiltion £millian grmilion
Gross investment in finence lease receivables:
— Not rmore than one year 1576 137.1 157.6 1359
— Later than ene year and ne later than five years 365.6 253.2 365.6 2529
o - 5232 390.3 523.2 388.8
Unearned future finance income an finance leases (520 105.7) {152.0) (105.5) _
Net invastment in finance leases 371.2 284.4 371.2 283.3
The net investment in finance leases may be analysed as follows: ;
-- Not more than one year 937 87.5 937 86.5
— Later than one year and no later than five years 2775 197.1 277.5 196.8
T IREE: 284.6 371.2 283.3

Finance lease receivables include Vehicle Finance loans to consumers, and in the prior year Asset Finance and the RentSmart
{can books.

Lessor accounting policy

The present value of the lease payments on assets leased to customers under agreements which transfer substantially afl the risks
and rewards of ownership, with or without ultimate legal tile, are recognised as a receivable, The difference between the gross
receivable and the present valuz of the receivable is recognised as uneamed finance income. Lease income is recagnisad over the
term of the lease using the net investrent method, which reflects a constant pariodic rate of return.

17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances
Group and Company

Not creditimpaired Creditimpaired
Stage 1: Stage % Stags 3: Grosslaans and
2B ES  WetmeEte  ielmeiy Toelmovsion cememan Ererage
£millian £milion £miltion emillion Ermiflion %
31 Dacember 2022
Consumer Finance:
Retail Finance 12.7 2.8 5.7 28.2 1,082.7 2.6%
Vehicle Finance:
Voluntary termination provision 37 - - - 37 -
L Other impairment 73 144 17.0 40.7
170 164 170 444 4175 10.6%
Business Finance:
Real Estate Finance G.3 1.1 2.0 34 1,118.9 0.3%
Commercial Finance 03 1.3 0.4 20 378.4 0.5%
T T 243 286 25% 780  2,997.5  2.6%
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

Group
Not crediy-impaired Cradit-impaired
Stage 1 Staga 2 Stage & Gruss foans and
Subject ta Subject to Subjeat ta achvances to Pravision
e "k hmie i “milion R
31 December 2021 '
Consumer Finance:
Retail Finance 10.0 7.4 4.1 27 7865 2.8%
Vehicle Finance:
Voluntary termination pravision 4.2 - - 4.2
Other impairment 37 1.9 14.4 300
7.9 1.9 14.4 34.2 297.5 115%
Debt Managernent - - 73 73 869 8.4%
Business finance:
Real Estate Finance a1 0.4 27 3.2 1,112.8 0.3%
Commercial Finance 05 0.1 0.5 1.1 3144 0.3%
18.5 20.0 29.0 46715 2,598.1 2.6%
The impairment charge disclosed in the income statement can be analysed as follows:
2022 2021
£million frnillian
Expected credit losses: impairment charge 389 4.9
Charge in respect of off balance sheet loan commitments 0.2 0.2}
Recoveries of loans written off 0.1 {0.2)
39.0 45
Of which:
Continuing 38.2 50
Discontinued {Note 10} 0.8 {0.5)
Total provisions above indlude expert credit judgements as follows:
2022 2021
£million gmillion
Specific overlays held against credit-impaired secured assets held within the Business Finance portfolio h 0.7 {0.4)
Management judgement in respect of:
Consumnar Finance affardability 25 4.6
Vehicle Finance used car valuations 13 1.5
Uncertainty over the future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic - 0.4
POCI adjustrment (see below} - 7.3
Other {1.6) (0.1}
Expert credit judgements over the IFRS ¢ model resulis 2.9 13.3

The specific overlays for Business Finance have been estimated on an individual basis by assessing the recoverability and condition of

the secured asset, along with any other recovaries that ray be made.

For further details on Vehicle Finance used car valuations and Consurner Finance affordabitity, see Notes 17.1.5 and 17.2.1 respectively.
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17. Allowances for impairment of leans and advances continued
POC! adjustmaent

During 2022, the Group sold the Debt Management loan book {See Nota 10). Prior to this the Group's debt management business
purchased credit-impairad loans from the Company and other unrelated third parties. Under IFRS 9, these were classified as Purchased
and Originated Credit-lmpaired { POCP’) loans. As a practical expedient, income on POCH loans was initially recognised by applying
the original credit-adjusted EIR to the expected future cash flows arising from the POC! assets. Tha Group's accaunting palicy was to
recognise POC! income by applying the original credit-adjusted EIR to the amortised cost of the assets. Expected changes In cash
flows since the date of purchase were recognised as an impairment gain or loss in the income statement. At 31 December 2021,
reductions in credit quality resulted in a £7.3 million impairment provision.

Recanciliations of the opening to closing allowance for impairment of loans and advances are presented below:

 Notcraditimpalad Cradit-dmpaired
Subente  Sibmts subjerto
12:month ECL Tifetime ECL lifetlme ECL Tatal
£million £mitlion Emiflion £million
At 1 January 2022 V 18.5 20.0 22.0 675
{Decrease)/increase due to change in credit risk ]
— Transfer to stage 2 (6.8) 44.3 - 375
— Transfer to stage 3 0.4 {21.4) 29.5 77
-Transfer to stage 1 2.3 4.6 - 2.3)
Passage of time {6.3) 0.7} 2.5) (92.5)
New loans originated 23.2 - ~ 232
Matured and derecognised loans (2.9 (3.8 5.2 {11.9)
Changes to credit risk parameters (2.9 {7.2) 1.9 8.2)
Other adjustments 2.4 - - 2.4
Charge to income statement 6.6 8.6 237 89
Allowance utilised in respect of write-offs €.8) - (27.6) {28.4)
31 Dacember 2022 o 243 286 251 780
During the year £8.1 million was utilised in respect of the DMS book sale.
Nat eradit-Impaired Creditimpairad
Stage 1: Stage 2. Stage 3:
P s SR oo Total
fmillion frmillion Emilian £milion
A1 January 2021 271 273 28.3 82.7
({Decrease)/increase due to change in credit risk - - ]
— Transfer to stage 7 {5.3) 2 .2 216
—Transfer to stage 3 .1 (15.7) 20.6 4.8
— Transfer to stage 1 29 (5.3) - (2.4)
Passage of time {109} 6.7 (3.0} (20.4)
New loans originated 18.2 - - 18.2
Matured and derecognisad loans 4.1 4.1 - 8.2)
Changes to model methodology 0.4 0.2) 09 0.6
Changes to aredit risk parameters (GRS} (2.3) 0.7 {9.4)
Other adjustments 0.5 - - 0.5
Charge to incorne staternent o (6.9)q-—(7;.2] 190 49
Allowance utilised in respect of write-offs (1.7) {0.1) (18.3) (20.1)
31 December 2021 o ) o 185 200 290 675

During the prior year £1.6 million was tilised in respect of the Asset Finance and Consumer Morigage book sales,
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

The tables above have been prepared based on manthly movernents in the ECL.

Passage of time represents the impact of aceounts matwing through their contractual life, the associated reduction in PDs and the
unwind of the discount applied in calculating the ECL.

Changes to mode! methodslogy represent movements that have occurred due to enhancements made to the models during the year.

Changes to aredit risk parameters represent movements that have occurred due to the Group updating model inguts. This woudd
include the impact of, for example, updating the macroeconomic scenzrios applied to the models.

Other adjustments represents the rovement in the Vehidle Finance voluritary termination provision.

Stage 1 write-offs arise on Vehicle Finance accounts where borrowers have exerdsed thelr right to voluntarily terminate

their agreements.

A breakdown of the gross receivable by intemnal credit risk rating is shown below:

2022 2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£mifllien £million £million £million Ermillion Emillian Emiilion £rmillion
Business Finance: )
Strong 127.5 - - 127.5 107.6 - - 107.6
Good 962.4 285 - 90,9 9158 26,6 - 942.4
Satisfactary 195.7 1257 1.8 3232 179.7 138.2 52 3234
Weal - 40.2 155 55.7 - 14.1 40.0 541
1,285.6 194.4 17.3 1,497.3 1,203.1 178.9 45.2 1.427.2
Consumer Finance:
Goad &01.5 774 4.0 685.1 3460.3 95.7 53 461.3
Satisfactory 495.3 60.5 9.3 545.1 3385 433 rA! 408.9
Weak 197.4 38.2 14.4 250.0 167.6 348 11.4 2138
Debt Management: - - — - — — 84,9 B6.9
1,294.2 176.3 297 1,500.2 B66.4 193.8 110.7 1,170.9
Internal credit risk rating is based on the most recent credit risk score of a customer.
Company
The Company ECL by stage, gross balances and provision coverage as at 31 December 2022 is now the same as Group. For the
Compahy disciosure, see the Group table on page 142.
V Met credit-imeaired Credit-irmpairad
Srage 1: Stage 2: Sraqe 3: Gross loans and
Subject to Subject to Subject ta advancesto Provision
o wemd sl meepue o o
31 December 2021 "
Consumer Finance:
Retail Finance S0 7.7 4.1 219 7865 2.8%
Vehicle Finance: o
Voluntary termination provision ) 4.7 - - 4.2
Other impalrment 37 123 4.7 305
L 21 14.7 347 2975 17%
Business Finance:
Real Estate Finance 0.1 0.4 2.7 3.2 11128 0.3%
Commercial Finance 0.5 0.1 05 1.1 3144 0.3%
18.4 203 22.0 609  2,511.2 2.6%
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

Reconciliations of the opening to dosing allewange for impairment of loans and advances are presented below:

Not ¢reditimpairad Creditimpaired
Stage 1: Stage Stage 3:
12:;‘:?1?52 :.r.fi’.’ili?éf lir:;:j\:céét Yotal
£milllon £million £milian £million
At 1 January 2022 i 186 203 220 409
{Decrease)fincrease due to change in cradit risk
— Transfer to stage 2 (8.8) 443 - ars
— Transfer to stage 3 {0.4) {21.4} 29.5 77
—Transfer to stage 1 23 (4.4) - (2.3}
Passage of time 6.4) {1.0) {1.8) 9.2)
New loans originated 232 - - 23.2
Matured and darecognised loans (2.9) (3.8) (5.2) (11.9)
Changes to credit risk parameters 2.9 (7.2} 1.0 9.1)
Other adjustments 2.4 - {0.2) 2.2
Charge to income statement 65 8.3 23.3 38.1
Allowance utilised in respect of write-offs ©0.8) - (20.2) (21.00
31 December 2022 ’ 24.3 28.6 25.1 78.6
Not creditimpsirad Credit-impaired
Stege : Stage 2, Siage 3
s R oy S Toud
Emillion £milfion Emillion ¢miflion
At 1 Jenuary 2021 282 29.0 227 79.9
{Decrease)/increase due to change in credit risk N T
- Transfer to stage 2 (5.4} 28.6 0.2) 72.8
- Transfer to stage 3 [(eR3) (14.5) 215 49
— Transfer to stage 1 341 (5.6} - (2.5)
Passage of time (12.5) 8.2) 4.7 (25.4}
New loans criginated 19.1 - - 19.1
Matured and derecognisad loans {4.3) 4.4) - ‘7
Changes ta madel methodaolagy on {0.2) 0.9 0.6
Changes to credit risk parameters {8.0) 2.3 0.4 2.9
Other adjustments 05 — Q.1 0.4
Charge to income statement (7.9) 8.6) 17.8 1.3
Allowance utiised in respect of write-offs .0 (0.1_) {18.5) (20.3)
31 December 2021 B 18.6 20.3 220 609

The tables above have been prepared based on monthly movements in the ECL.

Passage of time represent the impact of accounts maturing through their contractual ife, the associated reduction in PDs and the

unwind of the discount applied in calculating the ECL.

Changes to model methodolagy represent movements that have occurred due ta enhancements made to the models during the year.

Changes to credit risk parameters represent movemenits that have occurred due 1o the Group updating model inputs. This would
include the impact of, for example, updating the macroeconomic scenarios applied to the models.

Other adjustments represents the movernent in the Vehicle Finance voluntary termination provision.

Stage 1 write-offs arise on Vehidle Finance accounts that have exercised their right to voluntarily terminate their agreements.
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

Impairment of financial assets and loan commitments accounting policy

The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses {'ECL) on all financial assets carried at amortised cost,
including lease receivables and loan commitments.

Stage 1 assets
Credit loss allowances are measured as an arnount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following assets, for which they are
measured as 1 2-month ECL:

+ Financial assets determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
* Financial assets which have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition. |

* Financial assets which have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition but have subsequently
met the Group's cure policy, as set out below,

A low credit risk asset is considered to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the widely understood
definition of ‘investment grade’ assets. This is not applicable to loans and advances to customers, but the Group has assessed all
its debt securities, which represents UK Treasury bills, to be low credit risk. i

Stage 2 assets

toans and advances to customers which have axperlenced a significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition and ;
have rot subsequently met the Group's cure policy are classified as stage Z assets and are reclassified from stage 1 to stage 2,
for which ECL is meastred as lifetime ECL.

|

|

. !

The Group's definitions of a significant increase in credit fisk and default are set out below. j
!

For Consumer Finance, the credit risk of 2 financial asset is considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition where there has been a significant increase in the remaining lifetime probability of default of the asset.
The Group may also use its expart eredit judgement and where possible relevant historical and current performance data, 1
including bureau data, to determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk. ‘

For Business Finance, tha credit risk of a financlal asset is considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk where
certain early warning indicators apply. These indicators may include notification of county court judgements or, specifically for the
Real Estate Finance portfolio, cost overruns and timing delays experienced by borrowers,

As a backstop, the Group cansiders that a significant incraase in credt risk occurs no |ater than when an asset is more than 30 days i
past due for all portfolios.

Stage 3 assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired or defaulted
{stage 3. A financizl asset is considered to be aredit-impaired when an event or events that have a detrimental impact on
estimated future cash flows have occurred, or have other specific unlikeliness ta pay indicators. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

» Initiation of bankruptcy preceedings.

* Netification of bereavement.

« |dentification of loan rneeting debt sale critaria.

* Initiation of repossession procecdings.

* A material covenant breach that has remained unremedied for more than 90 days.

In addition, a loan that is 90 days or more past due is considered credit-impaired for ail portfolios. The credit risk of financial assets
that become credit-impaired are not expected to improve so they remain credit-impaired.

For Commercial Finance facilities that do not have a fixed term or repayment structure, evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes:

* tha client ceasing to trade; or
* unpaid debtor balances that are dated at least six moriths past their normal recourse period.
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

Cure policy

The credit risk of a financial asset may improve such that itis no longer considered to have experienced a significant increase in
credit risk if it meets the Group's cure policy. The Group's cure policy for all portfolios requires sufficient payments to be made to
bring an account back within less than 30 days past due and for such paymenits to be maintained for six consecutive months. i

The Group has determined stage 3 te be an absorbing state. Once a loan is in default it is not therefore expected to cure back to
stage 1 or 2.

Calculation of expected credit loss ('ECL)

ECL are probability weighted estimates of credit lesses which are measured as the present value of al} cash shortfalls. Specificaliy,
this is the difference between the contractual cash flows due and the cash flows expected to be received, discounted at the
original effective interest rate or, for porifolios purchased outside of the Group by Debt Managers {(Services) Limited, the credit
adjusted effective interest rate. For undrawn loan commitments ECL is measured as the difference between the contractual cash
flows due if the commitment is drawn and the cash flows expected to be received.

Lifetime ECL is the ECL that results from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial asset.

12-month ECL is the portion of ifetime ECL that results from default events en a financial asset that are possible within 12 manths ;
after the reporting date. ]

ECL are calculated by multinlying three main companents: the probability of default (PDY), exposure at default and loss given
default {LGD} discounted at the originz! effective interest rate of an asset. These variables are derived from internally developed
statistical models and historicat data, adjusted to reflect forward-locking information and are discussed in tum further below,
Managemaeant adjustments are made to modelled sutput to account for situations where known or expected risk factors have not
been reflected in the modelled autcome.

Probability of default ('PD’) and credit risk grades

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the PD for expasures. The Group allocates each exposure to

a credit risk grade at origination and at each reporting periad to predict the risk of default. Credit risk grades are determined
using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default e.g. arrears status and loan applications scores.
These factors vary for each joan portfolio. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may resudt in an exposure being .
moved to a different credit risk grade. In monitoring exposuras information such as payrment records, request for forbearance ;
strategies and forecast changes in economic conditions are considered for Consumer Finance. Additienally, for Business Finance
portfolios information obtained during periodic dient reviews, for exemple audited financial statements, management accounts,
budgets and projections are cansidered, with particular focus on key ratios, compliance witn cavenants and changes in senior
management teams.

Exogenous, Maturity, Vintage ('EMV) modelling is used in the production of forward-looking lifetime PDs. This method entails
madelling the effects of extarnal (axogenous) facters against coharts of lending and their time on the books creating a dlean
relationship to best demonstrate the movament in default rates as macroeconomic variables are changed. These models are
extrapolated to provide PD estimates for the future, based on forecasted economic scenarios.

Exposure at default {EAD"}

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. EAD is derived from the current exposure and potential changes
ta the current amount allowed under the terms of the contract, including amertisation overpayments and early terminations.

The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For loan commitments the EAD includes the amount drawn as well as
patential future amounts that may be drawn under the terms of the contract, estimated based an histarical observations and
forward-laoking forecasts.

For Commercial Finance facilities that have no specific lerm, an assumption is made that accounts close 36 months after the
reporting date for the purposes of measuring lifetime ECL. This assumption is based on industry experience of average client life.
These facilties do not have a fixed term or repayrnent structure bul are revolving and increase or decrease to reflect the value of
the collateral i.e. receivables or inventory. The Group can cancel the fadilities with immaediate effect, although this contractual right
is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management of the facility. Typically, demand would only be made on the failure of a
client business or in the event of a material event of default, such as a fraud. In the normal course of events, the Group's exposure
is recavered through receipt of remittances from the dient’s debtars rather than from the dient itself,

The £CL for such fadilities is estimated taking into account the credit risk mznagement actions that the Group expects to take to
mitigate against losses. These include a reduction in advance rate and facility limits or application of reserves against a facility to
improve the tikelihood of full recovery of exposure from the debtors.
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17. Allowances for impairment of Joans and advances continued

Altarnative recovery routes mitigating ECL wauld include refinancing by anather funding provider, taking security over other asset
classes or secured personal guarantees from the client’s principals.

Loss given default {{LGD')

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss in the event of default. This takes into account recoveries either through curing or, where
applicable, through auction sale of repossessed collateral and debt sale of the rasidual shorifall amount. For loans secured by real
estate property, loan-to-value ratios are key parameters in determining LGD. LGDs are czleulated on a discounted cash flow basis
using the financial instrument's otigination effective interest rate as the discount factor,

Incorporation of forwardleoking data

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of & financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. This is achieved by developing 2 number of potential
economic scenarios ahd modelling ECLs for each scenario. To ensure material non-linear relatichships between economic factors
and credit losses are reffected in the calculation of ECL, a severe stress scenario is used as one of these scenarios. The outputs
from each scenario are combined using the estimaled likelihood of each scenaric occurring to derive a probability weighted
expected credit loss. The four scenarios adopted and probability weighting applied are set out below.

The Group considers that the key drivers of credit risk and credit losses included in the macroeconomic scenarios are annual
unemployment rate growth and annual house price index growth. Base case assumptions applied for each of these variables have
been sourced from external consensus ar Bank of England forecasts, Further details of the assumptions applied to other scenarios
are presented below.

Expert credit judgements

The impairment charge comprises of modelled ECLs and expert credit judgements. Where the ECL modelled output does not
reflect the level of credit risk, judgement is used to calculate expert credit judgements, which are overlaid onto the output from
the models.

Presentation of loss allowance

Loss allowances for ECLs and expert credit judgements are presented in the statement of financial position as follows with the loss
recognised in the income statemant:

* Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the grass carrying amount of the assets.

* Other loan commitments: generally, as a provision.

For the Real Estate Finance and Commerdial Finance portfolios, where a loan fadility is agreed that includes hoth drawn and
undrawn elements and the Group cannct identify the ECL on the loan commitment separately, a combined loss allowance for
both drawn and undrawn components of the loan is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn
component, with any excess of the loss allowance over the gross drawn amount presented as a provision.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off ageinst the related ECL allowance. Such loans are written off after all necessary
procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.

Vehicle Finance voluntary termination provision

In addition to recognising aflowances for ECLs, the Group holds a provision far voluntary terminations (VT for all Vehicle Finance
financial assets. VT is a legal right provided 1o customers who take out hire purchase agreements. The provision is calculated by
multiplying the probability of VT of an asset by the expected shortfall on VT discounted back at the criginal effective interest rate
of the asset. VT allowances are not held against loans in default (stage 3 loans).

The VT provision is presented in the statement of financial pesition as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of Vehicle
Finance assets with the loss recognised in the income statement.

Write off

Loans and advances to customers are written off partially or in full when the Group has exhausted all viable recovery options.
The majority of write-offs arise from Debt Relief Orders, insolvencies, IVAs, deceased customers where there is no estate and
vulnerable customers in certain circumstances, Amounts subsequently recavered on assets previously written off are recognised
in the impairment charge in the income statement.

Intercompany receivables

The parent company's expected credit loss on amounts due from refsted companies, caiculated by applying probebility of default
and loss given default to the amount outstanding at the year-end, was not material at 31 December 2022 or 31 December 2021,
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

17.1. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimations which could have a material impact on the Group's finandal results and are therefore considered 1o be key sources of
estimation uncertainty all relate to the impairment charge on loans and advances to custormners and are therefore set out below,
The potential impact of the current macroecohomic environment has been considered in determining reasonably possible
changes in key sources of estimation uncertainty which may occur in the next 12 months. The determination of both the PD and
LGD reguire estimation which is discussed further below.

17.1.1. Incarporation of farward-locking data

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of & financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and its measurement of expected credit fass by develaping a number of potential
economic scenarios and modelling expected credit lossas for each scenario. Further detail on this process is provided above.
The macroeconomic scenarios used were provided by externzal sconomic advisors, having previcusly being internally developed
with regard to externally published scenarios. The scenarios and weightings applied are summarised below:

December 2022 UK Unemployment Rate ~ Anncal Average UK HPl - movement from December 2022

2023 2024 2025 5Yr Average 2023 2024 2025 5 Yr Average
Scenarlo Weightings % % % % % % % %
Upside 20% a1 4.0 38 3.8 (5.2} 6.3) (2.0) 1.9
Base 50% 4.4 44 40 4.1 8.4 {11.4) 9.2) 0.4
Downside 25% 54 5.5 71 4.5 (14.4) (21.3) {23.5) (2.6)
Severe 5% 5.6 70 1.4 49 {19.2) (28.8) (34.3) (5.2
December 2021 UK Unermployment Rote — Annuat Average o UK HPL— movement from Oecamber 2021 B

2022 2023 2024 5Yr Average 2022 2023 2024 5Yr Average
Seenario Weightings % % % % % % % %
Upside 20% 4.1 40 4.0 40 0.8 1.9 8.1 8.3
Base 50% 4.9 4.4 4.2 43 1.0 1.9 39 49
Downside 25% 57 5.6 4.8 49 (3.0) (1.9 2.1 27
Severe 5% &8 83 4.8 63 (107} (11.2) {1.2) 6.2)

The sensitivity of the ECL allowance to reasonably possible changes in scenario weighting is presented below:

Increase in severs stress case
weighting by 5% and reduction in

increase in downside case
wetghting by 10% and reduction in

upside case base case

2022 2021 2022 2024

£million £million £million £million

Vehicle Finance 0.6 0.2 04 02

Retail Finance 07 0.3 0.5 02

The sensitivity is immaterial for other lending praducts.

The Group recognised a total impairment charge of £39.0 miltion (2021: £4.5 million). Were each of the scenarios to be applied at
100%, rather than using the weightings set oul above, the increase/{decrease) in ECL provisions wouid be as follows:

2022 2021
Vehide Finance I:\'eiaii Finance Businass Finance Tatal Group mTJa_hicle Financa Retail Finance Business Finance Total Group
Scenzgric £million £million £millian £million ) Emillion £million £rriflion Emnillion
Upside 1.9) 10.3) @7 2.9) 1.2 2.0) 2.5 5.7)
Base (1.5) 0.4 {0.4) (1.5) 04 (0.4 (1.9 (2.7
Bownside . 838 3.0 09 4.8 1.0 1.5 0.5 30
Severe 1.6 38 17 71 a3 4.6 8.4 14.3
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17. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances continued

17.1.2. ECL modelled output: Estiration of PDs
Sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in PD could potentially result in material changes in the ECL allowance for Vehicle
Finance and Relail Finance.

A 15% change in the PD for Vehicle Finance would immediately impact the ECL sllowance by £3.1 million {2021: a 15% change
impacted the ECL allowance by £2.3 millian).

A15% change in the PD for Retaif Finance would immediately impact the ECL allowance by £2.5 million (2021: a 30% change
impacted the ECL allowance by £4.6 million).

The ahove sensitivities refiect the levels of defaults observed during the year.

Due ta the relatively low levels of provisions on the Business Finance books, sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in PD are
not considered material.

17.1.3. ECL modelled output: Vehicle Finance recovery rates

With the exception of the Vehicle Finance portfolio, the sensitivity of the ECL allowance to reascnably possible changes in the
LGD is not considerad material. The Vehicle Finance portfolio is particularly sensitive to changes in LGD due to the range of
outcomes which could crystallise depending on whether the Group is able o recover the vehida as security. For the Vehide
Finance portfolio, a 20% (2021: 20%) change in the LGD is considered rzascnably possible due te delays in the vehicle collection
process. A 20% (2021: 20%) reduction in the vehicle recovery rate assurption element of the LGD for Vehicle Finance would
increase the ECL by £1.9 million (2021: £2.0 million). There has been no change in the vehicle recovery rate assumption in the ECL
madal in either the current or prior year.

17.1.5. ECJ: Vehicle Finance used car values ,
Since March 2021, we have observed an increasea in used car prices of 17% (2021: 32%}. This increase in used car prices has been
incorporated inta the modefled LGD reducing the ECL provision by £2.0 million {2021: £3.0 million). However, the Directors believa
that used car prices will drop by 9% {2021: drop by 19%) and have applied an overlay for lower recoveries with an increased
provision of £1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 {2021: £1.5 million). H

17.1.4. Sensitivities no longer presented

At Decermber 2322 actual observed Vehicle Finance cure rates were used in the ECL model. As a result, at December 2027 this
sensitivity was no longer applicable. Additionally the sensitivity of any reasonable change in the weighting of the scenzarios used
far the LGD on Real Fstate Finance loans in stage 3 is no langer material.

17.1.7. Climate-risk impact

The Group has considered the impact of climate-related risks on the financial statemants, in particular the impact on impairment
within the Vehicle Finance business. While the effects of climate change represent a source of uncertainty (in respect of potential H
transitional risks such as those that may arise from changes in future Government poficy), the Group does not consider there io be !
a material impact on its judgements and estimates from the physical, transition and other dimate-related risks in the short-term.

17.2, Critical judgments '
17.2.1. ECJ: Consumer Finance customer affordability ;
An additions} PD estimate was applied at 31 December 2021 1o reflect the heightened risk of lower customer affordability in the ;
Consumer businesses due ta the increased cost of living. A 15% uplift was applied to the ECL on loans identified as most likely to
be impacted by increases in cost of living, which increased the ECL by £4.6 million. If the uplift factor was increased ta 20%, the
ECL would have been impacted by a further £0.9 million. At 31 December 2022, the methodology was changed to a new EMV
model which used inflation as a driver of defaults with the difference between this model and our base models informing the
expett credit judgement, ;

The expert credit judgement relating to Consumer Finance affordahility reduced to £2.5 million at December 2022 from

£4.6 million at Decernber 2021. The Directors have deemed this a critical judgement given the uncertainty of the current economic
environment and the effect that this could have on customer affordability. The Group is satisfied that it is reasonably estimating the
level of provisioning required to capture expected defaults and the impacts of costs of living.
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18. Derivative financial instruments
Group and Company

Interest rate derivatives are held for risk mitigation purposes. The table befow provides an analysis of the notional amount and fair
value of derivatives by hedge accounting relationship. The amount of ineffectiveness recognised for each hedge type is shown in Note
4. Notional amount is the amaount on which payment flows are derived and does not represent amounts at risk.

Notional Assets Liabilities Notional Assets Liatlities
2022 2022 2022 2021 2023 2021
£millian £millian £million fmillion fmillion £million
Interest rata derivatives desié;wated in fair value -
hedges
I less than one year 4689.8 39 (6.0) 382.1 0.3 0.7)
More than one year but {ess than three years 7185 15.4 {14.1) 564.4 29 (3.0}
More than three years but fess than five years 2749 15.5 (3.3) 194.3 0.4 {2.2)
Mare than five years 7.5 — - - - -
- ' 1,690.7 348  (254] 1,141.0 3.6 (5.9)
Interest rate derivatives desighated in cash flow
hedgas
More than one year but less than three years 14.1 - {1.1} 47 - 0.1
More than three years but less than five years 24 0.1 - 9.4 - 0.2
' - ' ' 16.5 0.1 (.1 14.1 s 0.3)
Foreign exchange derivatives
in tess than one year 16,7 - 0.2) 153 02 -
) 1723.9 34.9  (247) 1,70.4 3.8 16.2)

In order to manage interast rate risk arising from fixed rate financial instruments, the Group reviews interest rate derivative
requirements on a monthly basis. The exposure fram the portfolio frequently changes due to the origination of new instruments,
contractual repayments and carly prepayments made in each period. As a result, the Group adopts a dynamic hedging strategy
(sometirnes referred to as ‘mawrc’ or 'portolic’ hedge) to hedge its exposure profite by dosing and entering into new interest rate
derivative agreements on a monthly basis. The Group establishes the hedging ratio by matching the notional of the derivatives with
the principal of the portfolio being hadged.
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18. Derivative financial instruments continued
The following table sets out details of the hedged exposures covered by the Group’s hedging strategies:

Carry amount of

Arcumulated amount
of fair valua adjustments

Carry amaunt of

Accumulated amount
of falr value adjustments

hedgad item in the hedged items hedged iem in the hedged items
Assetp’(liahzlg?g Asm:f(ﬁalzi.ljig AsseU(lTabzi(I;LZyl) Assav(liaizzigzye
£miliian £million Emillion £million
ASSETS o
Interest rate fair value hedges
Loans and advances to customers
Fixed rate Real Estate Finance loans 430.7 (22.3) 3549 (2.1
Fixed rate Vehicle Finance [oans 110.5 (4.0 86.3 {0.4)
Fixed rate Retail Finance loans 249.2 (.7 160.4 (1.0)
790.4 (32.0) 6016 {3.5)
Interest rate cash flow hedges
Cash and Bank of England reserve account
Bank of England reserve 16.5 N/A 141 N/A
8069 {32.0) 615.7 {3.5)
LIABILITIES
Interest rate fair value hedges
Deposits from customars
Fixed rate customer depasits {900.3) 23.0 (539.5) 5.3
{200.3) 23.0 {532.5) 53

The accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments remaining in the statement of finandial position for hedged items that have
ceased to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses is £0.2 million (2021: £nil).

The following table shows the impact of financial assets and finandial liabilities relating to transactions where:

* there is an enforceable master netting agreerment in place but the offset criteria are not otherwise satisfied, and

s financial collateral is paid and received.

Gross amaunt

Master

Net amounts

reparted on natting Financial after
halance sheet arrangements collateral offsotting
£miflion £million £million £emillion
31 December 2022
Derivative financial assats
Interest rate derivativas 34.9 {24.5} 7.7} 0.7
34,9 {24.5) (7.7} 0.7

Derivative financial liabilities
{nterest rate derivatives (26.5) 265 - -
Foreign exchange dersivatives {0.2) - - 0.2

7 (26.7) 26.5 - (0.2)
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18. Derivative financial instruments continued

Grass amount Master
raported on neting Financial Netamounts i
balance sheat ariangements coliateral attar offsatting :
Emillion frnillion Emillion £million :
31 Decembar 2021
Derivative financial assets ‘
Interest rate derivatives 34 (3.6 - —
Foraign exchange derivatives 0.2 - - az
3.8 (3.6) - 0.2
Derivative financial liabilities
interest rate derivatives {6.2) 3.6 2.7 0.1

Master netting arrangements do nat meet the criteria for offsetting in the staterment of financial position. This is because the

arrangement creates an agreement for a right of set-ofl of recognised amounts which is enforceable only following an event of default, .
insclvency or bankruptey of the Group or counterparties. Furtharmore, the Group and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a H
net basis or realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultanecusly.

Financial collateral consists of cash settled, typically daily ar weekly, to mitigate the credit risk on the fair value of derivatives,

19. Assets and liabilities held for sale

As at 31 December 2021, assets of £1.3 million relating to a loan baok and a fiability of £2.0 million relating to collateral held, both in
STB Leasing Limited, were in the process of being sold to its partner, RentSmart Limited. Under IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations, these were required to be reclassified as 'Held for sale’ on the face of the statement of financial
position as they were axpected tc be sold within 12 months of the balance sheet date. The assets and liabilities were sold for their
carrying arnount on 31 January 2022. There was no provision held against the RentSmart loans, as the credit risk assaciated with those
loans was retained by RentSmart Limited.

The business is not significant enaugh to be classified as discontinued operations, or ta be disclosed as a separate operating segment
in Note 3.

20. Investment property

Group Company

. £million £milllon :

1 January 2021 4.3 5.3

Revaluation B N N ) 0.4 04 .

At 31 December 2021 ) ) ' ) - 47 52

Disposat (a3 (3.3)

Transfer ta property, plant and equipment a4 (1.4
At 31 December 2022 - T

As at 31 December 2021 year end the Grougp's investment praopert'es, which were let to third party occapiers, comprised:

s Secure Trust House, Boston Drive, Bourne End, SL8 5YS; and .
+ 50% of Yorke House, Arleston Way, Shirley, Solihull, B90 4LH, excluding land.
Secure Trust House was sold during the year, Additionally, the Yorke House tenant vacated during the year, and as the Group and
Company intends to occupy the property for its own use, the 50% of Yorke House that was includad in investment properties was
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Company's investment properties Included the two properties above and 25 and 26 Neptune Court, Vanguard Way, i
Cardiff CF24 5PJ, which is occupied by one of the Companys subsidiaries, k
The Company's investment property is stated at fair value as at 31 Decernber 2022. The Directors have assessed the value of the

investment property at the year-end through comparisan to current rental yields on sirnifar properties in the same area. This has

resulted in na change in values since 31 December 2021, Movements in the fair value of investment property are recognised as

operating expenses in the income statement.
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20, Investment property continued

Investment property accounting policy

Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and for capital appreciation, is measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsaquent to initial recagnition, investment property is measured at fair value. External valuations are
performed on a friennial basis. (Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the
income statement in the period in which they arise.

An investrment property is derecognised upon disposal ar when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is incdluded in the income staterment in
the period in which the property is derecognised.

21, Property, plant and equipment

Group

Freehold land Laasehold el ther

i Femion e emilion
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 6.5 0.1 2.1 15.8
Additions - - 0.2 0.2
Revaluation 0.3 - - 03
At 31 Decsmber 2021 6.9 0.1 2.3 16.3
Additions ~ - 1.0 1.0
Disposals - o {3.4) (3.5
Transfer from investment properties 14 - - 1.4
At 31 December 2022 8.3 - 4.9 15.2
Accumulated deprediatian
At 1 January 2021 - - 59 59
Depreciation charge {0.2) - (1.1) (1.3)
Revaluation 0.2 - - 0.2
At 31 December 2021 - - (7.0) (7.0)
Depreciation charge 0.5 - (.0 (1.2
Disposals - - 3.2 2
Revaluatian 0.1 - - G
At 31 Dacember 2022 - - (4.9} (4.9)
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 8.9 0.9 2.3 2.3
At 31 December 2022 8.3 - 2.0 10.3

The Group$ freehold properties, which are occupied by the Greup, comprise:

* the Registered Office of the Cormpany;
* Yorke House, Arleston Way, Shirley B90 4LH; and
s 25 and 24 Neptune Court, Vanguard Way, Cardiff CF24 5PJ.
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21. Property, plant and equipment continued

Company
. Froshold  andother

prop equlpment Total

£million £million Emillion
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 and 1 January 2022 21 &4 85
Additions - 0.3 9.3
Disposals - {0.5) (0.5}
Transfer from investment preperties 1.4 - 1.4
At 31 December 2022 35 6.2 .7
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021 - (4.0) 4.0)
Depreciation charge - 0.8) {0.8)
AL 31 Decemnber 2021 ' o - 4.8) 4.8)
Depreciation charge - (0.7) (0.7)
Disposals - 0.5 0.5
At 31 December 2022 ' B - (5.0) (5.0)
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 2.1 1.6 3.7
At 31 December 2022 35 1.2 4,7

The Company’s freehold properties are the same as Group, but exclude 25 and 26 Neptune Coust, Vanguard Way, Cardiff CF24 5P,
which is not occupled by the Company.

Freehold properties are stated at fair valua as at 31 December 2022, The Directors have assessed the value of the freehold

property at the year-end through comparison 1o current rental yields on similar properties in the same area. This has resulted in no
change in values since 31 December 2021, An increase in the fair valus of freehold property of £0.5 million was recognised in other
comprehensive income at 31 December 2021 and its carrying value was adjusted accordingly. Movements in the fair value of freehold
property are recognised in other comprehensive income, to the extent that any reductions do not exceed the initial increase.

The carrying value of freehold land which is included in the totel carrying value of freehold land and buildings and which is not
depreciated is £1.5 million (2021: £1.5 million) for the Group and £0.8 million (2021: £0.8 miliion) for the Company.

The histaricat cost of freehold property included at fair value is as follows:

Group Group Company Campany

2022 2021 2022 2021

Emillion Frrillion £milllon Enillicn

Cost B.& 7.1 3.0 1.6
Depreciation {2.3) 22 (0.1} {0.1)
Net book value 6.3 4.9 2.9 1.5
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21. Property, plant and equipment continued

Property, plant and equipment accounting policy

Praperty is held at its revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of valuation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation.
Revaluaticns are carried out annually at the reporting date, and movernents are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income, net
of any apphcable deferred tax, External valuaticns are performed on a triennial basis.

Plant and equiprnent is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
ta the acquisition of the items. Pre-installed computer software licences are capitalised as part of the computer hardware ft is
installed on. Depraciation is calculatad using the straight-line method to allocate their cast to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, which are subiect 1o regular review:

Land not depreciated

Freehold buildings 50 years

Leasehold improvements shorter of life of lease or seven years
Coemputer equipment three to five years

Other equipment five to ten years

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts. These are included in the
income statemnent.

The Group apgplies IAS 34 to determine whether property, plant and equipment s impairad,

22. Right-of-use assets

Group Company
Leasehold Leased motor leasehold teased mator
Pk e milion P evailion Eruion cmipon
Cost
At 1 January 2021 4.4 0.4 4.8 34 0.2 33
Dispaosals - {0.1) ) 0.1 - — —
At 31 Dacember 2021 4.4 0.3 4.7 31 0.2 33
Additions - 0.5 05 - 0.2 0.2
Disposals {1.3) 0.2 {1.5) - {0.2) 0.2
At 31 December 2022 31 0.6 3.7 3.1 0.2 3.3
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021 (1.4} 0.3 1.9 (1.1 0.2 (1.3)
Depreciation charge {0.6) ©.1) 0.7 0.5 - {0.5)
Disposals - 0.1 0.1 ~ - -
At 31 December 2021 (2.2} {0.3) (2.5} {1.4} {0.2} (1.8)
Depreciation charge {0.6) .1} 07 (0.4 - (0.4
Disposals 0.8 02 10 - 0.2 0.2
At 31 Dacember 2022 (2.0) 0.2 (2.2) (2.0) T (2.0)
Net book amaount
At 31 December 2021 2.2 - 22 15 - 1.5
At 31 December 2022 1.1 0.4 1.5 1.1 0.2 1.3
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22. Right-of-use assets continued

Lessee accounting policy

The Group assesses whethar a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding {ease liability with respect to all fease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases {definad as leasas with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which econamic benelfits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liahility is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments, discounted by using the rate implicitin
the leasa. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. it is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability fusing the effective interest rate method) and by reducing
the earrying amount to reflect the lease payments made, and is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of

financlal position.

The right-of-use assats comprise the initial measurernent of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges and are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and useful life of
the underlying asset. The depredation starts at the commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use assats are presented as a
separate fine in the consolidated staterment of financial position. The Greup applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset s impaired and accounts for any identified impairment lass as described in the "Property, plant and equipment’ policy.

Rentals made under operating leases for less than 12 months in duration, and operating leases on low value items, are recognised

in the income staternent on a straight-line basis over the term of the |ease.

23. Intangible assets

Group
Other

Goodell  iotenn " ieets Total

£uiflion £million Emillian £million
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 1.0 16.6 22 19.8
Additions - 1.1 - 1.4
Transfers to doud software developrment prepayments {0.4) - (Q.4)
At 31 Decomber 2021 o ’ 1.0 17.3 2.2 205
Additions - 1.7 - 1.7
Disposals - (1.8) - (1.8)
At 31 December 2022 1.0 17.2 2.2 20.4
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2021 - 103) 1.8) (12.9)
Amortisation charge - (1.3) {0.2) (1.5}
At 31 December 2021 - - o . (11.6) (2.0) (13.6)
Amortisatien charge - (1.7) G.2) (1.4)
Disposals - 1.2 - 1.2
At 31 December 2022 - (11.6) @.2) (13.8]
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 : 1.0 5.7 02 69
At 31 December 2022 1.0 5.6 - 6.6
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23. Intangible assets continued

Goodwill above ralates to the following cash genarating units, which are part of the Retail Finance operating segment:

2022 2021

£million £militon

Music businass ) 03 0.3
Vi2 i 67 0.7
Total 1.0 1.0

The recoverable amount of these cash generating bnits are determined on a value in use ealculation which uses cash flow projections

based on financial forecasts covering a three-year periad, and a discount rate of 8% (2021: 8%). Cash flow projections during the
forecast period are based on the expected rate of new business. A zero growth basad scenario is also considered. The Directors
believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the

aggregate carrying amounti to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

Other intangible assets were recognised as part of the V12 Finance Group acquisition. These were recorded at fair value, and are

being amortised on a straight-line basis as follows:

Yaars
Distribution channel ‘ 10
Company
Goodwil Ceetvens Total
£million £millian £million
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 03 12.0 123
Additions - 0.8 0.8
Transfer to cloud software development prepayments - 0.4 0.4
At 31 December 2021 0.3 12.4 12.7
Additions - 0.1 0.1
At 31 December 2022 o 03 125 12.8
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2021 - (6.1 (6.1)
Amortisation charge - . 1.2y (1.2}
At 31 December 2021 - {7.3) (7.3)
Amortisation charge - {1.1) (1.1
At 31 December 2022 ) - (8.4) (8.4)
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 0.3 5.1 5.4
At 31 Decembaer 2022 0.3 4.4 4.4
Goodwill sbove relates to the music business cash generating unit, which is part of the Retail Finance operating segrment.
The recoverable amount is determined on the same hasis as for the Group.
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23. Intangible assets continued

Intangible assets accounting policy

(a} Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the net identifizble assets
acquired at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is held at cost less accumulated impairment charge and is deemed ta have an
infinite life.

The Group reviews the goodwill for impairment at least annuzlly or when events or changes in economic circumstances indicate
that impairment may have taken piace. An impairment charge is recognised in the income statement if the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amounts.

(b) Computer scftware

Acguirad computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining compuler software programimes are recognised as an expense as incurred
unless the technical feasibility of the development has been demonstrated, and it is prabable that the expenditure will enable
the asset to generate future economic benefits in excess of its originally assessed standard of performance, in which case they
are capitafised.

These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, which are between three to ten years.

{¢) Other intangibles

The acquisition of subsidiaries has been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’, which requires the
recognition of the identifizble assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair values, As part oof this process,
it was necessary to recognise cerlain intangible assets which are separately identifiable and which are not included on the
acquiree’s balance sheet, which are amortised over their expected useful lives, as set out above.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether an intangible asset is impaired.

24, Investments in group undertakings

Company

Cost and net book value fm?lﬂii ﬁnﬁﬁjr‘l
E?]anuary o o 4.3 4.1
Addition — Investment in AppToPay Ltd 1.0 -
Equity contributions to subsidiaties in respect of share options 0.4 0.2
At 31 December 57 4.3

During the year the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of AppToPay Ltd for £1.0 million.
AppTaoPay Lid is the owner of a proprietary technology platfarm, and the acquisition is complementary to the Group's existing Retail
Finance propasition, which supports our planned entry into the Digital Buy Now Pay Later market. In additicn to this, an earn-out of
a maximum of £0.2 million is payable in 2023, subject to certain performance conditions.

The Group has elecled to use the aptional practical expedient within IFRS 3 Business Combinations which allows a simplified
assessment that a purchase is accounted for as an asset purchase as opposed to a business combination if substantially all the

fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset. AppToPay Ltd's principal asset is a software
development intangible asset. The resulting impact on the Group is an increase in intangible assets of £1.1 milfion. Since acquisition,
the assets and liabilities have been transferred across to V12 Retail Finance Limited.

Shares in subsidiary undertakings of Secure Trust Bank P1.C are stated at cost less any provision for impairrent. All subsidiary
undertakings are unlisted and nane are banking institutions. All are 100% owned by the Company. The subsidiary undertzkings were
all incorporated in the UK and wholly owned via ordinary shares. All subsidiary undertekings are included in the consolidated finandial
statemnents and have an accounting reference date of 31 December.
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24, Investments in group undertakings continued

Details are as follows:

Principal activity

Owned di};ctly
AppToPay Lid
Debt Managers (Services} Limited
Secure Homes Services Limited
STB Leasing Limited
V12 Finance Group Limited
Owned indirectly via an intermediate halding company
V12 Personal Finance Limited
V12 Retail Finance Limited

MNon-trading

Debt management
Property rental
Leasing

Holding company

Dormant

Sourcing and servicing of unsecured loans

The ragistered office of the Company, and all subsidiary undertakings, is One Arteston Way, Shirley, Solihull, West Midlands B9 4LH.

AppTaPay Ltd, Debt Managers {Services) Limited, Secure Homes Services Limited, STB Leasing Limited, V12 Finance Group
Limited and V12 Personal Finance Uimited are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating 1o the audit of
individual accounts by virtue of s479A, and the Campany has given guarantees accordingly under s479C in respect of the following

financial periods:

AppToPay Ltd
Debt Managers (Services) Limited

Secure Homes Services Limited

@ months ended 31 December 2022
Year ended 31 December 2022
Year ended 31 December 2022

STB Leasing Limited 18 months ended 30 Juna 2027 and 6 months ended 31 December 2022

V12 Finance Group Limited

V12 Personal Finance Limited

Year ended 31 December 2022
Year ended 31 December 2022

25. Deferred taxation

Group Group Company Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Emillion Emilion £million Friliar:
Deferred tax assets: )
Other short-term timing differences 55 49 53 6.8
At 31 December 55 &9 53 4.8
Deferred tax assets:
At 1 January 69 6.6 6.8 7.1
Income statement {1.8) 03 (1.8) {0.4)
Othar comprehensive income 04 - 03 0.1
At 31 December 55 6.9 5.3 6.8

Deferred tax accounting policy

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and they
relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same texable entity, or on different tax entities, whan they intend to settle
curtent tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Deferred tax assels are recognised where it is probable that fulure taxable profits will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilisad.
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26, Other assets

Group Graup Company Company

2022 2071 2022 2021

o £million Emilion £mlilion £rmiffion

Other receivables 1.7 04 1.5 0.3
Amounts due from related companies - - 31 89.3
Cloud software development prepayment 4.7 4.8 47 1.8
Gther prepayments and accrued income 7.G &7 58 54
13.4 11.9 151 92.8

Cloud software development costs, principally relating to the Group's Moter Transformation Programme, do not meat the intangible
asset recognition criteria and are therefore classified as a prepayment, which /s expensed to the income statement over the useful
economic life of the software. As a consequence of the sale of the DMS loan book, £81.9 million of the amounts due from related

companies was repaid during the year.

27. Due to banks

Group Group Company Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

Frilllion fmillion £million Emillion

Amounts due under the Bank of Englend’s liquidity support operations (Term 3900 390.0 390.0 390.0

Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs)

Amounts due to ather credit institutions 77 0.7 1.7 0.7
Accrued interest 28 0.1 28 0.1

400.5 390.8 A400.5 390.8

The accounting policy for amounts due to banks is included in Note 1.5 Financial assets and finandial liabilities accounting policy.

28. Depaosits from customers
Group and Company

‘!_SAS

2022 2024

Ermiilion £million
Access accounts 178.1 101 7
Fixed term bonds 1,414.0 9746
Notice accounts 500.7 77119
421.8 2550

2,514.6 2,103.2

The accounting policy for deposits from custamers is induded in Note 1.5 Finandial assets and financiat fabilities

accounting policy.
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29. Lease liabilities

Group Group Company Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Emiilian frmitfion Emiliion fmillion
At 1 January 341 39 23 2.9
New leases 0.5 0.2
Lease termination 0.8 - - -
Payments {1.0) 0.9 0.7 0.7
Interest expense a.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
At 31 December 2.1 31 1.9 2.3
Lease liabilities — Gross
— Neo later than one year 07 09 07 0.7
- Later than one year and no later than five yaars 1.5 23 1.3 1.7
— More than five years - G.1 - -
2.2 33 20 2.4
Less: Future finance expense 0.1) 0.2 {0.1) 0.1)
Lease liabilities -- Net 2.1 3.1 1.9 2.3
Lease liabilities - Gross
—MNao later than one year 07 0.8 0.7 0.7
—Later than one year and no later than five years 1.4 22 1.2 1.6
— More than five years - 0.1 — -
' 2.1 3.1 1.9 2.3
The accounting policy for lease liabilities is included in Nota 22 Lessee accounting policy.
30. Other liabilities
Gozs ok comany oo
£million £mition £million Ernilfion
Other payahles - 68.1 18.3 65.0 14.9
Amounts due to related companies - ~ 124 7.9
Accruals and deferred income 10.0 130 85 11.0
78.1 313 85.9 438
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31. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group Company
ECL aliowance on ECL aflowsnce on
loan commitments Othear Total loen commitments Other Total
£miliian Emillion Fmillion fmillion £million Emiliion
Balance at 1 January 2021 1.4 0.8 19 1.1 0.8 19
{Release)/charge to income statement (0.2) 0.3 0.1 (0.2 03 0.1
Utilised - ©7) 0.7) - 0.7 ©7)
Balance at 31 Dacember 2021 0.9 0.4 1.3 0.9 0.4 13
Charge to ingome statement 0.2 1.9 2.1 0.2 14 1.4
Utilised -~ ©9) 09) - ©.9 (0.9)
Balance at 31 December 2022 1.1 1.4 2.5 11 Y 20

ECL allowance on loan commitments

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 the Group halds an ECL allowance against loans it has committed to lend but have
not yet been drawn. Feor the Real Fstate Finance and Commercia! Finance portiolios, where a loan facility is agreed that indudes both
drawn and undrawn elements and the Group cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment separately, a combined lass allowance
{or both drawn and undrawn compaonents of the loan is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn
component, with any excess of the |oss allowance over the gross drawn amount presented as a provision. At 31 December 2022 and
31 Decamber 2021 no pravision was held for losses in excess of drawn amounts.

Other

Other includes:

« provision for fraud, which relates to cases where the Group has reasonable evidence of suspected fraud, but further investigation is
required hefore the cases can be dealt with appropriately;

* restructuring provision; and

* 575 Cansumer Credit Act 1974 provision.

The Directors expect all provisions to be fully utilised within the next 1 to 2 years.

Provisions for liabilities and charges accounting policy

A provision is recognised where there is a present ohligation as 2 result of a past event, it is probzble that the obligation will be
settled and it can be reliably estimated.

32. Subordinated liabilities
Group and Company

2042 07

£million gmilfion

Naotes at par value 50.0 50.0
Unamortised issue costs 0.7 0.3
Accrued interest 1.2 1.2
51 50.9

Subordinated liabilities comprises two tranches of .75% Fixed Rate Reset Callable Supordinated Notes due 2028 {'the Notes) issued
in 2018. The Notes mature in 2028 but the issuer may at Tts discretion redeem the Notes in 2023, The Notes are listed on the Global
Exchange Market of the lrish Stock Fxchange plc trading as Euronext Dubling

* The Notes are redeemable for cash at their principal emount on fixed dates.

s The Company has a call option to redeem the securities early in the event of 2 "tax event’ or a “capital disqualification event’,
which is at the fulf discretion of the Cormpany.

* interest payments are paid at six monthly intervals and are mandatory.

* The Notes give the holders’ rights to the principal amaunt on the Notes, plus any unpaid interest, on liquidation. Any such claims
are subordinated to senior creditors, but rank pari passu with holders of ather suboardinated obligations and in pricrity to holders
of share capital.
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32, Subordinated liabilities continued

The above features provide the issuer with a contractual obligation to deliver cash or ancther financial assel to the holders,

and therefore the Notes are dlassified as financial liabilities.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the Notes and are deducted from the financia! liabsility and expensed to
the income statement on an effective interest rate basis over the expected life of the Notes.

The Notes are tfreated as [ier 2 regulatory capital which is used to support the continuing growth of the business taking into account
increasas in regulatory capital buffers. The issue of the Notes is part of an ongoing programme to diversify and expand the capital
base of the Group.

For details of post-balance sheat events relating to subordinated liabilities, see Note 47.

The accounting policy for subordinated liabilities is induded in Nete 1.5 Financial assets and financial liabilities accounting policy.

33. Contingent liabilities and commitments

33.1 Contingent liabilities

As a financial services business, the Group must comply with numerous laws and regulations, which significantly affect the way it does
business. Whilst the Group believes there are no material unidentified areas of failure to comply with these laws and regulations,
there can be na quarantee that alt issues have been identified.

33.2 Capital commitments

At 31 December 2022, the Group and Company had capital comymitments of £1.5 miltian (2021: fnil),

33.3 Credit commitments
Group and Company

Commitments to extend credit to customers were as follows:

2022 207
Emillian Frmillin

Consumer Financa 7
Retail Finance 97.2 83.4
Vehide Finance 1.2 0.5

Business Finance

Real Estate Finance 53.1 689
Commerctal Finance 1465 1209
298.0 273.9
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34. Share capital

Numbar £miliion
At 1 January 2021 ’ 18,633,662 75
Issued during 2021 B 14,143 ) -
At 31 December 2021 ' h T 18,647,805 75
lssued during 2022 43,629 -
At 31 December 2022 ' 18,691,434 75

Share capitat comprises ordinary shares with a par value of 40 pence each.

Equity instruments accounting policy

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issuance costs. Any amounts
received over nominal value are recorded in the share premium account, net of direct issuance costs. Costs associated with the
listing of shares are expensed immediatcly.

35. Other reserves

Group Group Company Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

i i £million Emiflion £million £onillan

Cash flow hedge reserve (0.8) {0.3) {0.8) 0.3)
Revaluation reserve as 1.3 — a7
Cwn shares ) ~ 0.3) - ({l ) -
(0.3} 1.0 {1.1) 0.4

35.1 Own Shares

An Employae Benefit Trust (EBT') was established during the year. At 31 December 2022 the EBT held 37,501 shares (2021: nil) with
a nominal value of £15,000 (2021: £nil) and a market value of £0.3 million {2021: £nil). These shares are held in trust for the benefit of
employces who will be exercising their options under the Group's share options schemes. The trustee’s expenses are included in the
operating expenses of the Group.

Own shares accounting policy

The EBT qualifies for look-through' accounting, under which the EBT is treated as, in substance, an extension of the sponsoring
entity, which is Secure Trust Bank PLC. Own shares represent the shares of the Parent Company, Secure Trust Bank PLC, that sre
held by the EBT. Own shares are recorded at cost and deducted from equity.

36. Share-based payments

At 31 Decernber 2022 and 31 Decarnber 2023, the Group had four share-based payment schemes in operation:
» 2017 long term incentive plan,

* 2017 Sharesave plan,

« 2017 deferred benus plan, and

» 'Phantom’ share option scheme.
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36. Share-based payments continued

A summary of the movemnents in share options during the year is set out below:

Waighted Weighted
average avarage
Forfeited exercise price  exercise price
lapsed and Vested and af options of pptions
Granted cancelled Exercised Outstanding at  exercisable at outstanding at outstanding at
Quitstanding at during the durlng the during the 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
1 January 2022 year yaar year 2022 2022 Vasting 2022 2021
Number Number Number tNumber Number Number dates £ £
Equity settled
2017 long term incentive
plan 401,800 230,789 6242 (27479 611,353 11,903 2023-2025 0.40 0.40
2017 Sharesave plan 542,446 111,833 (100,873) (7,927 545,479 11,492 2023-2025 6.24 617
2017 deferred bonus plan 19,686 38,344 - (8,223) 4‘?_,_5107 — 2023-20725 D.4A0 0,40
963,932 380,966 (94,630) (43,629} 1,206,639 22,595 3.04 3.65
Weighted average
exercise price 3.65 2.66 8.57 1.34 3.04
Cash settled -
‘Phantom’
share option scheme ?4,167 — (16,000} - 78,1467 718,167 2019 25.00 25.00
Group Group Company Company
2022 2021 2022 201
£million £millian £milfion Emillion
Expense incurred in relation to share-based payments 1.8 0.9 1.4 0.9

36.1. Long term incentive plan ('LTIP’)

The LTiP was established on 3 May 2017. Two separate awards to a number of participants were made under this plan during the year,

as set out below.

36.1.1 LTIP Restricted share award

54,427 (2021: 56,023) options were awardad during the year which were not subject to any performance conditions. The awards

will vest three years from the date of grant. The original grant date valuation was determined using a Black-Scholes model.
Measuremnent inputs and assumptions used for the grant date valuation were as follows:

Awarded during  Awarded during
2021

2022
Share price at grant date 12.40 £1.73
Exercise price £0.40 £0.40
Expected dividend yield 4.39% 5.49%
Expected stock price volatility 47.27% 46.27%
Risk free interest rate 1.47% 0.00%
Average expected life {years) 3.00 3.00
Original grant date valuation ) - £10.49 £9.94

36.1.2 LTIP

176,362 (2021: 187 527) optians were awarded during the year which are subject to four performance conditions, which are based on:

« rank of the total shareholder return ('TSR') aver the performance period against the TSR of the comparator group of peer

group companies;
rank of the TSR over the performance period against the T5R of the FTSE Small Cap Index;

* growth of the TSR in absolute terms; and

of the Group.

maintaining appropriate risk pracices over the performance period reflecting the longer-term strategic risk management
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36. Share-based payments continued

36.1. Long term incentive plan 'LTIP’) continued
The awards have a performance term of three years and will be released to the participants on the vesting date, The awards will vest
on the date on which the Board determines that these conditions have been met.

All of the share options exercised during the year were exercised for shares. Of the share options exercised during the priar year,
13,317 were exarcised for shares, and 530 were exercised for a cash alternative at a deemed market price of £11.50.

The original grant date valuation was determined using a Black-Scheles mode! for the EPS and risk management tranches, and a
Monte Carle model for the TSR tranche. Measurement inputs and assumptions used for the grant date valuation were as follows:

Awarded during  Awacdad during
2022 2021

Share price al grant date £12.40 £11.73
Exercise price £0.40 £0.40
Expected dividend yield 4.39% 5.49%
Expected stack price volatility 46.87% 45.56%
Risk free interest rate 1.50% G.11%
Average expected life {years) 3.00 3.00
Original grant date valuation o £7.43 £6.99

346.2. Sharesave plan
The Sharesave plan was established on 3 May 2017.

This plan allows all employees to save for three years, subject to a maximum menthly amount of £300, with the option to buy shares
in Secure Trust Bank PLC when the plan matures. Participants cannot change the amount that they have agreed to save each menth
but they can suspend payments for up ta six months. Participants can withdraw their savings at any time but, if they do this before
the completion date, they lose the option to buy shares at the Option Price, and in most circumstances if participants cease to hold
plan-related employment before the third anniversary of the grant date, then the options are also tost. The options ordinarily vest
approximately three years after grant date and are exercisable for a period of six months following vesting.

The original grant date valuation was determined using a Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs and assumptions used were
as follows:
Avaarded during  Awarded during

2022 2021
Share price 2t grant date : £9.62 £12.45
Exercise price £8.10 £10.69
Expected stock price volatility 48.47% 53.84%
Expected dividend yield 4.39% 5.49%
Risk free interest rate : 3.24% 0.74%
Average expected life (years) o 3.00 3.00
Origira grant date valuation o £3.14 Rty
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36. Share-based payments continued

36.3. Deferred bonus plan

The defetred bonus plan was established on 3 May 2017,

In 2022 and 2021, awards were granted 1o certain Senior Managers of the Group. The awards vast in thres equal tranches after one,
two and three yoars following deferral. Aceordingly, the following awards remain outstanding under the plan, entitling the members
of the scheme 1o purchase shares in the Company:

Awards granted  Awards granted  Awards granted

Vesting after Vesting after Vesting after Awards

Nurbar fret el ol o

At 1 January 2021 11,679 18,068 21,572 51,319
Granted 4,057 4,340 4,626 13,023
Exercised (B24) - - (824)
Cancelied ©183) (155720 (19075  (43,830)
At 31 December 2021 B 5727 6,836 7,123 19,686
Granted 12,779 12,779 12,786 38,344
Exsrcised (5,727) 12,496) - (8,223)

At 31 Dacember 2022

12,779 17,119 19,909 49,807

Vested and exercisable

38,344 swards were made under this plan in April 2022, {1,702 in April 2021 and 11,321 in Septernber 2021). The original grant date
valuation was determined using a Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs and assumptions used were as follows:

Grartad in 2022 Granted in 2022  Granted in 2022
Awards vesting  Awards vesting  Awards vasting
after aneyear  after two years after three years

Share price at grant date
Exercise price

Expected dividend yiald
Expected stock price volatility
Risk free interest rate

Average expected life (years)

£12.40 £12.40 £12.40
£0.40 £0,40 £0.40
4.39% 4.3%% 4.39%
32.04% 42.03% &47.27%
1.39% 1.46% 1.47%
1.00 2.00 3.00

Original grant date valuation

£11.47 £10.97 £10.49

Granted in
April 2021
Awards vasting
after ane year

Grantedin Granted in Granted in Granted in Granted in
Agpril 2021 April 2021 September 2021 September 2021 Saptember 2021
Awards vesting  Awardsvesting  Awardsvesting  Awardsvesting  Awerds vesting
sfter twn yeors  after three years after ane years sfter bwia years  after three years

Share price at grant date £11.73 £1173 £11.73 £1245 £12.45 f12.45
Exercise price £0.40 £0.40 £0.40 040 040 £0.40
Expected dividend yield 5.49% 5.49% 5.49% 5.49% 5.49% 5.49%
Expected stock price volatility 46.54%  S320%  4627%  42.06%  60B6%  53.84%
Risk free interest rate 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74%
Average expected life {ysars) 1.00 2.00 3.00 0.58 1.58 2.58
Original grant date valuation £1085  £10.39 €994  £11.54  £11.06  £10.59
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36. Share-based payments continued
34.4 Cash settled share-based payments

On 16 March 2015, & four-year ‘phantom’ share option scheme was established in order to provide effective long-term incentive

to senior management of the Group. Under the scheme, no actual shares would be issued by the Company, but those granted

awards under the scheme would be entitled to a cash payment. The amount of the award is calculated by reference to the increase

in the value of an ordinary share in the Company over an initial value set at £25 per ordinary share, being the price at which the

sharas rasulting from the exercise of the first tranche of share options under the share option scheme were sold in Novernber 2014,

The options vested during 2019 and are exercisable for a period of 10 years after grant date.

As at 31 December 2022, the estimated fair value has been prepared using the Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs and

assumnptions used were as follows:

z0z2 2021

Share price at reporting date N £7.50 £12.35

Expecied stock price volatility 38.68% 45.30%

Expected dividend yield 4.39% 5.49%

Risk free interest rate 3.39% 0.55%

Average expeacted life {years) 2.21 3.34

Fair value ) N ~ £0.04 £1.06
This resulted in the following being recognised in the financial statements:

milion Eonion

Liability ' - i - 0.1

For each award granted during the year, expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s

share price over the period equivalent to the expected term of the optians being granted. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on mahagement's best estimate, for the effacts of non-transferability, exercise restrictions,
and behavioural considerations.

Share-based compensation accounting policy

The fair value of equity settled share-based payment awards are calculated at grant date and recognised over the period in

which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards (the vesting periad}, The amount is recognised in operating
expenses in the incomme statement, with a corresponding increase in equity. Further details of the valuation methodology are set

out above.

The fair value of cash settled share-based payments is recognised in operating expenses in the income statement with a
corresponding increase in liabilities over the vesting period. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at the
settlement date based on the fair value of the options granted, with a correspanding adjustment to operating expenses.
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37. Cash flow statement
37.1. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with less than three
months’ maturity from the date of acquisition.

Restaled Restated

Group Group Company Company

2022 2021 2022 2023

N £million £millkon Fmillion fmillion

Cash and Bank of England reserve account 3701 2357 370.1 2357

Loans and advances to banks {Note 13} 50.5 50.3 489 474

Debt securities _ L - 250 - 250
Less:

Cash ratic deposit (3.7 1.7 3.7 1.n

Collateral margin account - (2.6) - {2.5)

3.7 @3 (37) 4.3

Cash and cash equivalents 416.9 306.7 415.3 303.8

Cash and cash equivalents in the priar year has been restated from £303.0 million in the Group and £300.1 miflion in the Company.
See Note 1.3 for further details,

The Group and Company has no access to the cash ratio deposit or the collateral margin accounts, so these amounts do not meet the
definition of cash and cash equivalents and accordingly they are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

37.2. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

All changes in liabilities arising from financing activities arise from changes in cash flows, apart frorm £0.1 million (2021: £0.1 million} of
lease liabilities interest expanise, as shown in Note 29, and £0.2 million (2021: £0.1 million) amortisation of issue costs on subardinated
liabilities, as shown in Nota 32

Cash and cash equivalents accounting policy

Faor the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comnprise cash in hand and demand deposits, and cash
equivelents, being highly liquid investments which are convertible into cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value with a
maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition, induding certain loans and advances to banks and short-term highly
liquid debt securities.

38. Financial risk management strategy

By their nature, the Group’ activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments. The Oirectors and senjor management
of the Group have formally adopted a Group risk appetite statement which sets cut the Board’s attitude to risk and internal controls.
Key risks identified by the Directors are formally reviewed and assessed at least once a year by the Board. In addition key business
risks are identified, evaluated and managed by operating management on an ongoing basis by means of procedures such as physical
controls, credit and ather authorisation limits and segregation of duties. The Board also receives regular reports on any risk matters
that need to be brought to its attention. Significant risks identified in connection with the development of new activities are subject
io consideration by the Board, There are budgeting precadures in place and reports are presented regulariy to the Board detailing
the results of each principal business unit, variances against budget and prior year, and other performance data.

A more detailed description of the risk governance struciure is contained in the Principal risks and uncertainties section beginning
an page 25.

Included within the principa! financial risks inherent in the Group’s business are credit risk (Note 39), market risk {(Note 40}, liquidity risk
(Note 41), and capital risk (Note 42).
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39, Credit risk

The Cormpany and Group take on expesure to credit risk, which is the risk that 2 counterparty will be unable to satisfy their debt
servicihg commitments when due. Counterparties include the consumers to whorn the Group lends on & secured and unsecured
bhasis and small and medium size entarprizes (SME") to whom the Group primarily lends on a secured basis as well as the market
counterparties with whom the Group deals.

Impairment provisions are pravided for expected credit losses at the statement of financial position date. Significant changes

in the economy could resultin losses that are different from those provided for ot the staternent of financdial position date.
Management therefore carefully manages the Group's exposures to credit risk as it considers this to be the most significant risk to
the husiness. Disclosures relating to collateral on loans and advances to customers are disclosed in Note 15.

The Board monitors the ratings of the counterparties in relation to the Group's loans and advances to banks. Disclosures of these at
the year-end are contained in Note 13. There is no direct exposure to the Eurazone and peripheral Eurozane countties.

See page 27 for further details on the mitigation and change during the year of credit risk.

Group and Company

With the exception of loans and advances to customers, the carrying amount of financisl assets represents the maximum exposure
ta credit risk, The maximum exposure ta credit risk for loans and advances to customers by portfolio and IFRS 9 stage without taking
account of any collateral held or other credit anhancernents attached was as follows:

Staga 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total gross
<= 30 days > 30 days it purchased Purchased s
feailion Fmitton Femilion e R Sredign cmiven B
21 Dacember 2022 '
Consumer Finance
Retail Finance 987.4 85,4 38 89.2 6.1 — 6.1 1,082.7
Vehicle Finance 3046.8 83.3 3.8 871 23.6 .- 23.6 4175
Business Finance
Real Estate Finance 9579 122.9 21.3 144.2 16.8 - 16.8 1,118.9
Commercial Finance 327.7 50.2 - 50.2 05 - 0.5 3784
Tota! drawn exposure 25798 341.8 28.9 370.7 47.0 - al0 29975
Off balance sheet
Loan commitments 298.0 - - — - - - 298.0
Total gross exposure 2,877.8 341.8 28.9 370.7 47.0 - 47.0 3,295.5
Less:
tmpainment allowance (24.3) 23.9) (4.7) (28.6) (25.1) - 25.1) 78.0)
Provision for loan
commitments {1.1) - - - - - = (1.1)»
Total net exgostre  2,8524 317.9  24.2 3421 21,9 - 21,9 32164

£16.1 miliien (2021: £50.3 million) of collateral in the form of property has been pledged as security for Real Estate Finance Stage 3
balances of £14.8 million (2021: £37.3 million). £11.2 rmillion (2021: £8.9 mitlion) of coliateral in the form of vehicles has been pledged
as security for Vehicle Finance Stage 3 balances of £6.4 million (2021: £5.0 milfion).
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39, Credit risk continued

Group :
Stage 1 Stzge 2 Stage 3 1’{0‘::;?;?; :
<= 30 days > 0 days Excl. purchased Purchased advances to
millon Cemiion aniion i gpies coedltimpalod cmilron “ition
31 December 2021 7
Censumer Finance |
Retail Finance 6594 1201 2.6 122.7 4.4 - 4.4 78465 =
Vehicle Finance 2070 68.9 22 71.1 19.4 - 19.4 2975
Debt Management - - - - 108 76.1 86.9 86.9 '
Business Finance ;
Real Estate Finance 114 161.4 - 161.4 400 - 40.0 1,128 *
Commerdial Finance 2917 17,5 - 17.5 5.2 - 5.2 314.4 :
Total drawn exposura 2,069.5 3467.9 4.8 372.7 79.8 76,1 155.2 2,598.1
Off balance sheet
Loan commitments 271.0 2.9 - 29 — - - 2739
Total gross exposure 2,340.5 370.8 4.8 375.6 79.8 76.1 155.9  2,8720
Less:
Impairment allowance (18.5) {16.6} (3.4 {20.0) {23.1) 5.9 {(290) (67.5)
Provisian for foan l
commitments 0.9) - - - - - - 0.9 s
Total net exposure 2,321.1 354.2 1.4 355.6 56.7 70.2 126.9  2,803.6 i

A recanciliation of opening to closing allowance for impairment of loans and advances to customers is presented in Note 17.

Company ’
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Tfnt::‘gg]ss
R oot il oediimmred cadimaoed Tl o
_ Emilion fmillion million Fmillion £million £miilion £millian fmillion
meczember 2021
Consumer Finance :
Retall Finance 6594 120.1 2.4 122.7 44 - 44 786.5
Vehicle Finance 207.0 &89 2.2 711 19.4 - 194 2975 }
Business Finance 1
Rea! Estate Finance 9114 161.4 . 161.4 200 - 1060 11128
Commercial Finance 29t.7 17.5 - 17.5 5.2 - 52 3144 ;
Total drawn exposure 2,069.5 367.9 4.8 372.7 9.0 - 590  2,511.2 |
Off balance sheat
Loan commitments 271.0 29 - 29 — - - 273.9
Total gross exposure  2,340.5 3708 4.8 375.6 69.0 e 69.0 27851
Less:
Impairment allowance (18.6} (16.7) {3.8) (20.3) (22.09 - (22.0) (60.9)
Provision for loan .
commitments 0.9 - .- - - - — {n.9)
Total net exposure 2,321.0 354.1 12 ass3 470 - 470  2,723.3
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39, Credit risk continued

39.1. Concentration risk

Management assasses the potential concentration risk from geographic, product and individual loan concentration. Due to the nature
of the Group's lending operations, the Directors consider the lending operations of the Group as & whole to be well diversified.
Details of the Group's loans and advances to customers and loan cammitrents by product is provided in Notes 3 and 33 respectively.
Geographical concentration

The Group's Real Estate Finance loan book is secured against UK property only The geographical concentration of these business
laans and advances to customars, by location of the security is as follows:

Group and Company

fanillian frmillion

2022 2021

Central England 7 1019 90.1
Greater Landon 489.7 4619.7
Northern England 687 66.2
South East England (excl. Greater London) 1895 258.7
South West England ] 204 307
Scotland, Wales and Nerthern frefand 48.7 47.4
Gross loans and receivables ) h ) 1,118.9 11 12—8
Allowance for impairment {3.4) 3.2
Total ) ' 11155  1,109.6

39.2. Forbearance
Consumer Finance

Thraughout the yaar Group did not routinely reschedule contractual arrangerments where customers default on their repaymaents.
In cases where it offered the customer the option to reduce or defer payments for a short petiod, the loans retained the normal
contractual payment due dates and were treated the same as any other defaulting cases for impairment purposes, Arrears tracking
would continue on the account with any impairment charge being based on the ariginal contractual due dates for all products.

Ali forbearance arrangements are formaily discussed and agreed with the customer. By offering customers i financial difficulty

the option of forbearance the Group potentially exposes itself to an increased level of risk through prolanging the period of non-
contractual payment and/or potentially placing the custarmer into a detrimental position at the end of the forbearance period.

All forbearance arrangements are reviewed and monitored regula-ly to assess the ongoing potential risk, suitability and sustainability
to the Group. As at the year end, the Consurner Finance business approximately had the following cases {by volume) in forbearance:

* Retail Finance 0.15% (2021: 0.12%); and
s Vehicle Finance: 0,16% (2021: 0.12%).

In respect of Vehicle Finance, where forbearance measures are not possible or are considered not to be in the customer’s best
interests, or where such measures have been tried and the customer has nat adhered to the forbearance terms that have been agreed,
the Group will consider realising its security and taking possession of the vehicle in order to sell it and clear the outstanding debt.
Where the sale of the vehicle does not cover all of tha remaining |oan, normal credit collection procedures may be carried out in order
ta recover the outstanding debt, or the debt may be sold to a third party debt recovery agent or in certain circumstances the debt may
be written off.

Real Estate Finance

Where clients provided evidence of payment difficulties, they were supported by being granted ene ar both of extensions to loan
maturity dates and partia or fuli short-term payment holidays. A small number of clients who experienced difficulties in meeting

their financial commitments were offered concessians {{acility restructures) which Real Estate Finance would not have provided under
normal circumstances. As at 31 December 2022, 1.3% of accounts were classed as forborne (2021: 1.4%). Where forbearance measures
are not possible or are considered not to be in the client’s best interests, or where such measures have been tried and the customer
has not adhered to the forbearance terms that have been agreed, the Group will consider realising its security.
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40. Market risk

The Group's, market risk is primarily linked to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk refers to the exposure of the Group's financial pasition
to adverse movements in interest rates.

When interest rates change, the present value and timing of future cash flows change. This in turn changes the underlying value of
the Group's assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments and hence its economic value. Changes in interest rates also affect the
Group’s earnings by altering interest-sensitive income and expenses, affecting its net interestincome.

The principal currency in which the Group operates is Sterling, although a small number of ransactions are completed in US doliars,
Luros and other currencies in the Commercial Finance business. The Group has no significant exposures to foreign currencies and
hedges any residual currency risks to Sterling. The Group does not operate a trading book.

See page 30 for further details on the mitigation and change during the year of market risk.

Interest rate risk
Group and Company

The Group seeks ta 'match’ interest rate risk on either side of the statement of finandial position and hedges residual mismatch in
accordance with risk appetites. However, this is not a perfect match and interest rate risk is present on the mismatch between fixed rate
loans and savings products and variable rate assets and liabilities,

The Group menitors the interest rate mismatch on at least a rnonthly basis using market value sensitivity and earnings at risk, which
were a5 follows at 31 December:

2022 2021
£million £miliion
Market value sensitivity
+200bp parallel shift in yield curve 1.8 2.7
-200bp parallel shift in yield curve (1.9) (2.7
Earnings at risk sensitivity
+100bp parallel shift in yield curve 1.2 1.4
{1.2) {0.4)

-100bp paraliel shift in yield curve

The Directors consider that 200bps in the case of Market value sensitivity and 100bps in the case of Earnings at risk are a reasonable
approximation of possible changas.

41, Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity and funding risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations as they fall due or can only do so at excassive cost.
The Group maintains adequate iquidity resources and a pruderit, stable funding profile at all times to cover Fahilities as they fall due in

normal and stressed conditions,

The Group manages its liquidity in line with internal and regulatory requirements, and at least annually assesses the robustness of the
liquidity requirements as part of the Group's Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP).

See page 28 for further details on the mitigation and change during the year of liquidity and funding risk.

The tables below analyse the contractual undiscounted cash flows for financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings:

Mot more Mare than three More than

Grass nominal than three  months but less one year but fess Mose than
Carrying amount outflow months than one year  than five years five years
£riillion £mililan Emitlion £redilion £million Fritlion

At 31 Decernber 2022
Due to barks 400.5 438.7 10.6 10.2 417.9 -
Deposits from customers 2.514.4 2,565.0 Q54,7 1,030.0 5/7.2 1.1
Subordinated liabilities 511 53.4 0.8 528 - —
Lease liabilities 2.1 2.2 0.2 0.5 1.5 -
Gther financial tiabilities ] 68,1 68.1 681 - -
3,035.4 3,127.4 1,0386.4 1,093.3 9296.6 1.1
Derivative financial lisbilities 267 275 4.4 12.2 10.9 —
3,063.1 3,154.9 1,040.8 1,105.5 1,007.5 1.1
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41. Liquidity and funding risk continued

Netmore  Mare than three More than

Comroament oy o g o Lo el
E£million Emillion £mlilion Emillion Emiltion £rniflion
At 31 Decamber 2021
Due to banks 3208 3941 0.1 1.0 3930 -
Deposits from customers 2,103.2 2139 7528 8074 566.1 5.8
Subordinated liabilities 50.9 56.8 0.8 25 535 -
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 20 20 2.0 - - -
Lease liabilities 31 33 0.2 23 0.1 -
Other financial liabilities 18.3 18.3 18.3 - — ~
2,568.3 2,606.4 7747 813.2 1,012.7 5.8
Derivative financial liabilities 8.2 55 a1 185 39 7 -
) 25745 26119 774.8 8147  1,016.6 5.8
Company
The contractual undiscounted cash flows for financial liabilities of the Company are the same as above except for the following:
Not more  More than three Mare than
Gross nominal than three  months but less one year but fess More than
Carrying amaunt outflow months than oneyear  than five years five years
£miflion £miflion £miflian Emillion £hafifion gmiition
At 31 December 2022
Lease Kabilities 1.9 20 0.2 a5 1.3 —
Other financial liabilities 174 N 77.4 ~ - -
Non-derivative financial liabilitles 3,0455  3,1365 1,057 10933 9964 1.4
Total 3,072.2 3,164.0 1,050.1 1,105.5 1,007.3 1.1
Notmore  More than three Mare than
Gross nominal thanthree  moriths but lass  ona yaar but less bdore than
o Enton s thancpeyen onie s ok
At 31 December 2021
Lease liabilities 23 24 0.7 1.7 - -
Other financial liabilities : 328 328 328 - - -
Non-derivative financial liabilities ' 25800  2,6180 787.0 812.6 10124 5.8
Total 2,586.2 2,6235 787.1 814.1 1,0165 5.8
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42. Capital risk

Capital risk is the risk that the Group wilt have insufficient capital resources to meat minimum regulatory requirements and to support
the husihess. The Group adopts a conservative approach ta managing its capital and at least annuzlly assesses the robustness of the
capital requirements as part of the Group’s Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ['ICAAPY). The Group has Tier 1 and Tier 2
capital resources, neting the regulatory adjustments reguired in the table below.

Further information on capital is included within our Pillar 3 disclosures, which can be found on the Group's website,

See page 2% for further details on the mitigation and change during the year of capital risk.

The following table, which is unauditad and therefore not in scope of the Independent Auditor’s Report, shows the regulatory capita!
resources for the Group. The Group has adapted the [FRS 9 wansitional rules. For further detail see page 16 of the Financial review.

Tier 2 capital comprises solely subordinated debt, excluding accrued interest, capped at 25% of the Pillar | and 2A requiremnents as set

by the PRA.
2022 2021
£rmillion £milion
{unaudited) funauditad)
CET1
Share capital 75 )
Share premium 82.2 82.2
Ratained earnings 237.5 211.7
Revaluation reserve 0.8 1.3
Own shares {0.3) -
[FRS ¢ transition adjustments 11.7 1329
Goodwill (1.0) (1.0)
Intangible assets net of attributable deferred tax {5.8) 4.3
CET1 capital before foreseeable dividend 3328 311.3
Foreseeable dividend (5.4 wn
CET1 and Tier 1 capital 327.4 303.6
Tier 2
Subordinated liabilities 49.9 50.9
Less ineligible portion - (3.9
Total Tier 2 capital 499 47.0
Own funds 377.3 350.6
Reconciliation to total equity:
IFRS 9 transition adjustments (11.7) {13.9)
Eigible subordinated liabilities {49.9) (7.0
Cash flow hedge reserve {0.8) (0.3)
Goodwill and other intangible assets net of attributable deferred tax &6 5.3
Faresecable dividend 54 7.7
Total equity 326.9 302.4

The Group is subject to capital requirements imposed by the PRA on all financial services firms. During the year, the Group complied

with these requirements.
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43. Classification of financial assets and liabilities
Group

Tl g Falr valtza Fairvaln Faic ualue Fair yalue
£million £milllan  hierarchy level femillion £emil fon hiararchy level
2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 3701 3701 level 1 2340 234.0 Level 1
Loans and advances to banks 50.5 50.5 Level 2 520 52.0 Level 2
Debt securities - - 250 25.0 Level 1
Loans Emd_a dvances to customers 29195 28956 Leval 3 2.530.6 2,568.6 Lavel 3
Derivative finandial instruments 34.9 349 Level 2 3.8 38 Level 2
Assets held for sale - - 1.3 1.3 Level 3
Other financial assets 1.7 1.7 Level 3 0.4 04 Level 3
S 3,376,7  3,352.8 2,847.1  2,885.1
Due to banks 400.5 A00.5 Leve} 2 390.8 390.8 Level 2
Deposits from customers 2.514.6 2,494.0 Level 3 2,103.2 2,1069 Level 3
Derivative financial instruments 267 267 level 2 6.2 6.2 Level 2
Liabilities held for sale - - 2.0 2.0 Level 3
tease liabilities 2.1 2.1 Level 3 3.1 31 Level 3
Cther financial liabilities 681 68.1 Level 3 18.3 18.3 level 3
Subordinated liabilitias 51.1 435 Level 2 50.9 50.7 Leval 2
3,063.1 3,034.9 2,574.5 2,578.0

Allfinancial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2027 were carried at amortised cost, except for derivative
financial instruments which are at fair value through profit and loss. Therefare, for these assets and liabilities, the fair value hierarchy

noted above relates Lo the disclasure in this note only.

Company

e Fale value Pl o Faiealus Fairvalue

£miflion Froilion  hlerarchy level fmiliion fmilion  hierarchy level

2022 2022 2022 2071 2001 2021
At 31 December 2022 7 7
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 370.1 3701 Level 1 234.0 2340 Level 1
Loans and advances to banks 489 48.9 Leve! 2 491 491 Level 2

Debt securities - - 250 250 Level 1
Loans and advances to customers 29195 2,895.6 Level 3 24503 2,487.1 Ltevel 3
Derivative financial instrurments 349 He Level 7 3.8 38 Level 2
Other financial assets 4.6 4.6 Level 3 89.6 89.6 Level 3
' 33780  3,354.1 2,851.8  2,888.6 o
Due to banks 400.5 400.5 level 2 390.8 390.8 Level 2
Deposits from customers 2,514.6 2,494.0 Level 3 2103.2 2,106.9 Level 3
Derivative financial instrurments 26,7 247 Levei 2 4,2 652 Leve! 2
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - - 20 2.0 Level 3
Lease liabilities 1.9 1.¢ Level 3 2.3 23 Level 3
Other financial fiabilities 774 774 level 3 32.8 328 Lovel 3
Subordinated liabiiities 511 435 Level 7 50.9 50.7 Level 2

3,072.2 3,044.0 2,588.2 2,591.7
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43, Classification of financial assets and liabilities continued
Al finandial assets and lizbilities at 31 Decrmber 2022 and 31 December 2021 were carried at amortisad cost except for derivative
financial instruments which are valusd at fair value through profit and loss. Therefare, for these assats, the fair value herarchy noted
above relates to the disclosure in this hote anly.
Fair value classification
The tables ahove include the fair values and fair value hierarchies of the Group and Company's financial assets and liabilities.
The Group measures fair value using the fallowing fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making measurements:
=+ Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
* Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or lability, efther directly
{L.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices).
* Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs).

Loans and advances to customers and Deposits from customers

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is calculated based upon the present value of the expected future principal and
interest cash flows. The rate used to discount the cash flows was a market rate of interest at the balance sheet date. For [oans and
advances to customers, the same assumptions regarding the risk of default were applied a5 those used to derive the carrying value.
Debt securities

The fair value of debt securities is based on the quoted price where available.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative finandial instruments is caiculated based on the present value of the expected future cash flows of the
instruments. The rate Used to discount the cash flows was the SONIA forward curve at the balance sheet date.

Subordinated liabilities

The fair value subordinated labilities are calculated based on quoted market prices where available, or where an active market quate
is not available, a proxy is used from similar issuances.

For all remaining financial assets and liabilities, the fair value of finandial assets and liabilities is calculated 10 be equivalent to their
carrying value, due to their short maturity dates.

44, Related party transactions

Related parties of the Company and Group include subsidiaries, key management personnel, close family members of kay
management personnel and entities which are controiled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced, or for which significant voting
power is held, by Key Management Personnel or their close family mermbers.

No transactions wera entered into with Key Management Persannel or their close family members during the current or priar year,

The Company undertook the following transactions with other campanies in the Secure Trust Bank Group:

2022 2021

£rmillion £million
H’:terest income and similar income ) (26.2) {21.0)
Gain on sale of defaulted debt 0.2 0.1
Operating expenses {0.4) {0.7)
Waiver of intercompany balance {0.2) -
investment income ’ - 14.0 4.8
o o {12.8) {16.8)

Equity contribution to subsidiaries re. share-based payments 0.4 0.2
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44. Related party transactions continued

The loans and advances with, and amounts receivable and payable to, related companies are noted below:

Company Comgany

2023 2024
. £miliion {milh’on_

Amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings 3.1 89.3
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings B (12.4) {17.9)
(9.3} 71.4

All amounts above are repayable on demand and the Company charged interest at & variable rate on 2mounts outstanding.

Directors' remuneration

The Directors’ emaluments (including pension cantributions and benefits in kind} for the year are disclosed in the Directors’
Remuneration Report beginning on page 80.

At the year end the ordinary shares held by the Directors are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report beginning on page 80.
Details of the Directors’ hoidings of share options, as well as details of those share options exercised during the year, are also disclosed
inthe Directors' Report.

45. Immediate parent company and ultimate controlling party
The Company has had no immediate parent company or ultimate controlling party.

46, Country-by-Country reporting

The Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 introduced reporting obligations for institutions within the
scope of CRD M The reguirements airn to give increased transparency regarding the activities of Institutions. The Country-by-Country
Information is set aut below:

Average Tax paid

Nature Turnover  number of FTE  Profit before tax on profit

Name of activity Lacation Frniton employaes £mittion £miltion
Banking

31 Dacember 2022 Secure Trust Bank PLC services UK 208.3 940 440 7.0
Banking

31 December 2024 Secure Trust Bank PLC services UK 194.3 973 56.0 12.6

47. Non-adjusting post balance sheet events

47.1 Subordinated liabilities

On 28 February 2023, the Group and Company issued £90.0 million 13.0% Fixed Rate Reset Cailable Subordinated Notes due August
2033 {the "MNew Notes”). The New Notes are treated as Tier 2 regulatory capital and are listed on the International Securfties Market of
the London Stack Exchange. This issuance is in line with the Group's funding strategy and supports the Group'’s stated medium-term
growth ambitions,

The Group and Company redeemed all of its exdsting 6.75%. Fixed Rate Reset Callable Subordinated Notes due in 2028 in two
tranches: £25.0 million on 28 February 2023; and £25.0 million on 20 March 2023.

47.2 Loans and advances to customers

Post year end, 2 dispute has arisen between a Business Finance client of the Group and its customer. As a result of this post balance
sheet event, the client 1s now in default and the Group is evaluating its options to recover amounts due to it through its legal security
and other such rights, Un:il this evaluation has been completed, the Greup cannot reasonably quantify any cash shortfalis which could
arise once better information is known.
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Five-year summary {(unaudited)

Restated Restated Total Total
2022 2021 2020 2013 2018
£million gmillion £radion Emillion £enillion
Profit for the year
Continuing operations
Interest and similar income 203.0 163.9 173.1 1914 - 169.2
Interest expense and similar charges (50.4) (27.1 (39.4) (46.0) (35.5)
Net interest income 152.6 136.2 133.7 145.4 133.7
Net fee and commission incorme 7o a7 10.8 20.1 17.9
Operating income 169.6 148.9 144.5 165.5 151.6
Net impairment charge on loans and advances to customers {(38.2) [5.08 (41.4) (32.6) (32.4)
Gains/{losses) on modification of financial assets 1.1 1.5 (3.1 — —
Fairvalue losses on financial instruments {0.3) 0.1y - — -
Operating expenseas {93.2) {89.4) {81.8) {96.8) (84.5)
Profit before income tax 39.0 55.9 18.2 36.1 34.7
Discontinued operations
Profit before income tax 50 0.1 0.9 - —
Total profit before income tax 44.0 56.0 19.1 36.1 34.7
Cantinuing Continuing Contlnuing
2022 2071 2020 2019 2018
£miliion fmillion Ermilfion £rmillion Fraillion
Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders
of the Company during the year (pence per share)
Basic earnings per erdinary share 168.5 2441 827 168.3 153.2
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
£nillion Lmillion Emillion £amillion £million
Financial position
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 3701 2340 1815 105.8 169.7
Loans and advances to banks 50.5 52.0 63.3 484 44.8
Debt securities - 250 - 250 149.7
Loans and advances to customers 2,919.5 2,530.4 2,358,9 2,450.1 2,028.%
Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk (32.0) 3.5) bt (0.9) -
Derivative: financial instruments 49 38 48 09 -
Other assets 7.3 440 47.0 51.4 51.2
Total assets 3,380.3 2,885.9  2,661.2  2.480.7  2.444.3
Due to banks 400.5 90.8 276.4 308.5 263.5
Deposits fram customers 2,514.6 2,103.2 1,992.5 2,020.3 1,847.7
Fair value adjustment for portfalic hedged risk (23.0) (5.3) 4.7 {0.7) -
Derivative financial instruments 267 62 4.1 0.6 -
Subordinated liabilities 511 h0.9 50.8 50.6 50.4
Other jiabilities 83.5 377 631 49.4 48.4
Total shareholders' equity 3269 302.4 2&7.6 2520 237.1
Total liabilities and sharcholders’ equity 3,380.3  2,8859  2,661.2  2,6807 24443

The 2021 and 2020 profits far the year have been restated to reflect the disclosure of discontinued operations.
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Key performance indicators and other alternative performance measures

All key performance indicators are based on continuing operations and continuing loans and advances to customers, unless
otherwise stated.

{iy Continuing loans and advances to customers

A reconciliation of total loans end advances to customers to contiruing operations loans and advances to customers is set out below:

2022 202t 2020
£milllon Fmillion Eiliion
Loans and advances to customers 2,919.5 2,530.6 2,358.9
Assets held for sale — loan portfclios - 1.3 -
E{;i loans and advances to customars 2,919.5 25319 7 2,358.9
Less discontinued loans and advances to customers:
Asset Finance (sold during 2021) — - (10.4)
DMS (sold during 2022) - (79.6) (81.8)
Consumer Mortgages (sold during 2021) - - (71.7}
Other ) - {1.3) (4.1)
Total discontinued operations loans and advances to customers - iSO.‘)) (174.0)
Continuing leans and advances to customers 2,9195 2.451.0 2,184.9

{iiy Net interest margin ratio

Net interest margin is calculated as interest income and similar income less interast expense and similar charges for the financial year
as a percentage of the average loan book. The calculation of the average loan book is the average of the monthly balance of loans and
advances to customers, net of provisions, over 13 months:

2022 2021

Fmillian firlllion

Interest income and similar 203.0 1639
Interest expense and similar charges B (50.4) (27.0
l‘\iginterest income ] 1526 136.2
rOpTaning loan book ) 2,451.0 2,184.9
Closing loan bock ) 29195 2,451.0
E\Eage loan book 2,699.3 2,240.5
Net interest margin 5.7% 6.1%

The net intarest margin ratio measureas the yield net of funding costs of the loan book

182 Secure Trust Bank PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2022




Strategic Report Carporate Governance Repart Financial Statements

Key performance indicators and other alternative performance measures continued
{iii) Loans and advances to customers annual growth rate

Annual growth rate is calculated as the annualised grawth in loans and advances to customers based on the nurmber of days in the

periad since 31 December 2020.

2022 2021

£raililan Emillion
Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 29195 24510
Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2020 2,184% 21849
Compound annuzl growth rate 15.6% 12.2%

The annual growth rate measures how quickly the loan book is growing, measured against a 2020 benchmarle.

{iv) Total return on average equity

Annualised return on average equity is calculated as the total profit after tax for the previous 12 months as a percentage of average

equity. Average equity is caiculated as the average of the monthly equity balances.

2022 2021

£miltien fmilkion
Total profit after tax 33.7 45.4
Opening equity 3024 267 .4
Closing equity 3269 3024
Average equlily 3137 287.0
Return on average equity 10.7% 15.9%
Return on average equity is & measure of the Group's ability to generate profit from the equity availsble to it.
(v} Cost to income ratio
Cost to income ratic is calculated as operating expenses for the financial year as a percentage of operating income for the
financial year:

2022 2021

Emilfion £mifiian
Operating expenses 93.2 894
Operating income 169.6 148.9
Cost to income ratio o - 55.0% 50.0%
The cost to income ratio measures how efficiently the Group is utilising its cast base in producing income.
{vi) Cost of risk
Cost of risk is calculated as the total of the net impairment charge on loans and advances to custormners and gains and losses on
maodification of financial assets for the financial year as a percentage of the average loan book

milion frmlion
Net impairment charge on joans and advances to customers 382 5.0
Galns on modification of financial assets - (1.1 (1.5
Total 371 3.5
Average loan book 246993 2,240.5
Cost of risk 1.4% 0.2%

The cost of risk measures how effective the Group has been in managing the credit risk of its lending portfolios
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{vii) Cost of funds
Cost of funds is calculated a5 the interest expense for the finandal vear expressed as a percentage of average loan book

2022 221

~ __fmillion Emillion

Interest expense and similar charges ' 504 2.7
Average loan book ) ) o 2,699.3 2,240.5
Cast of funds 1.9% 1.2%

The cost of funds measures the cost of money being lent to customers,

{viii) Funding ratio and loan to deposit ratio

The funding ratio is calculated as the total funding at the year-end, being the surn of deposits from customers, borrowings under the
Bank of England’ liquidity support operations, Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs, Tier 2 capital and equity,
divided by total loans and advances to customers at the yearend, The loans to deposit ratio is calculated as total loans and advances
to custormners at the year-end divided by depaosits from customers at the year end:

2022 2021
Ecallian £millian
Deposits from customers ) 2,_514.6 2,103.2
Borrowings under the Bank of Enoland’s liquidity support operations ~
Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs (including accrued interest) 3928 390.1
Tier 2 capital {including accrued interest) 51,1 50.9
Equity - 3249 302.4
Total loans and advances to custamers 2,919.5 2.531.9
Funding ratio 112.5% 112.4%
L.oan to deposit ratio 116.1% 120.4%

The funding ratio and loan to deposit ratio measure the Group’s excess of funding which provides liquidity.

{ix) Profit before tax pre impairments
Prafit befare tax pre impairments is profit before tax, excluding impairment charges and gzins ony modification of financial assets.

2022 2031

£nmillion Ernillion

Profit before incoma tax i w0 55.9
Excluding:

Net Impairment charge on loans and advances to customers 32 5.0

Gains on medification of financial assets ) (1.1 {1.5)

Profit before tax pre impairments T - 761 - 59.4

Profit before tax pre impatnments measures the eperational performance of the business.
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Glossary

Term

Explanation

ALCO

The Assets and Liabilities Committee. The remit of the Committee can be found on the Greup's
website: www.securetrustbank.com/our-corporate-information/rislemanagement,

Compound Annial
Growth Rate {CAGR')

CAGR is the annual growth rate calculated as the annualised compound growth in continuing loans
and advances to customers since 31 December 2020.

CET 1 capital

Common Equity Tier 1 capital comprises share capital, share premium, retained earnings, revaluation
reserve and regulatory adjustments.

CET 1 capital ratio

Capital requirement

The Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio is the ratio of the bank's CET 1 capital to its Total Risk
Exposure. This signifies a bank’s financial strength. The CET 1 capital ratio is monitared by regulators
and investors because it shows how well a bank can withstand financial stress and remain solvent,

The revised Capital Requirements Directive and Regulation, commonly referred to

regulation and CRDV as CRD V and CRR 2, refine and continue to implement Basel |l by the UK, making important
amendments in a number of areas incdluding large exposures, leverage ratio, liquidity, market risk,
counterparty credit risk, as well as reporting and disclosure requirements.

Feefa Feefo collects independent reviews from the customers of businesses across many sectors,

including financial services,

Financial Conduct

Authority

High Quality
Liquid Assets

The Financial Conduct Authority is the conduct regulator for financial services firms and
financial markets in the UK. lts aims are to protect consumers, enhance market integrity and
promote competition.

High Quality Liquid Assets are assets with a high potential to be converted easily and quickly into cash.
This comprises of cash, the Bank of England reserve account and Treasury Bills.

ICAAP

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process. A firm must carry aut an ICAAP in accordance with the
PRA’s rules. These indude reauirements on the firm to undertake a regular assessment of the amounts,
types and distributian of capital that it considers adequate ta cover the level and nature of the risks to
which it is or might be exposed.

The Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Pracess allows firms to assess the level of liquidity

and funding that adequately supparls all relevant current and future liquidity risks in thelr business.

In undertaking this process, a firm should be able ta ensure that it has apprapriate processes in place
to ensure compliance with the CRD. This requires firms to develap and use appropriate risk and
liquidity managament techniques.

LCR

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio regime requires management of net 30-day cash outflows as a
proportion of High Quality Liquid Assets. The Group has set a more prudent internal limit than that set
by the regulator.

OLAR

in the Board approved 1LAAR

The Overall Liquidity Adequacy Rule is the Board's own view of the Group's liquidity neads as set out

Pillar 1, Pillar 2
and Pillar 3

Basel lll uses a “three pillars’ concept - (1) Pillar 1 — minimum capital requirements {addressing risk)
using a standardised approach far credit, market and operational risk, {2) Pitlar 2 — supervisory review
process and (3) Piflar 3- - rmarket discipline and enhanced disclosures.

PRA

The Prudential Regulation Authority is a part of the Bank of England and responsible for the prudential
regulation and supervisian of banks, building sacieties, credit unions, insurers and major investment
firms. It sets standards and supervises financial institutions at the level of the individual firm. The PRA's
ohjectives are set out in the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, but the main objective is to
promote the safety and soundness of the firms it reguiates.

Small to medium-sized enterprises.
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continued

Term

Explanation

Term Funding Scheme
with additional incentives

The TFSME was launched in March 2020 as part of measures to respond to the economic shock from
COVID-19. The scheme is designed to incentivise eligible participants to provide credit to businesses
and households to bridge through the current period of econemic disruption, with additional

Both schemes allowed access to four year funding at rates very close to Bank of England Base Rate,

for SMEs {TFSME)
incentives to provide credit to SMEs.
allowing eligible participants to borrow central bank reserves in exchange for eligible collateral,
Tier 2 capital Tier 2 capital is the secondary compaonent of bark capital, in addition to Tier 1 capital, and is
composed of suberdinated liabilities, net of issue costs.
Total Capital

Requirement

Guldance given ta a firm about the amount and quality of capital resources that the PRA considers
that firm should hold at all times under the overall financial adequacy rule as it applies on a solo level
or a consolidated level.

Total Risk Exposure

Total Risk Exposure is the tatal of the Group's risk-weighted assets.
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